Castlewood Holdings LTD Form S-4/A November 29, 2006

As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 29, 2006 Registration No. 333-135699

## UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

## AMENDMENT NO. 3 to Form S-4 REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933

#### CASTLEWOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Bermuda

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

6331 (Primary Standard Industrial Classification Code Number) Not Applicable (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

P.O. Box HM 2267 Windsor Place, 3rd Floor 18 Queen Street Hamilton HM JX Bermuda (441) 292-3645

(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of registrant s principal executive offices)

Richard J. Harris Chief Financial Officer Castlewood Holdings Limited P.O. Box HM 2267

# Windsor Place, 3rd Floor 18 Queen Street Hamilton HM JX Bermuda (441) 292-3645

(Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)

#### Copies to:

Robert F. Quaintance, Jr., Esq. Debevoise & Plimpton LLP

919 Third Avenue New York, New York 10022 (212) 909-6000 John J. Oros President and Chief Operating Officer The Enstar Group, Inc. 401 Madison Avenue Montgomery, Alabama 36104 (334) 834-5483 Robert C. Juelke, Esq. Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP

One Logan Square 18th & Cherry Street Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103 (215) 988-2700

**Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the public:** As soon as practicable after this registration statement becomes effective and the satisfaction or waiver of all other conditions to the merger of a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the registrant with and into The Enstar Group, Inc., or Enstar, pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May 23, 2006, or the merger agreement, attached as Annex A to the proxy statement/prospectus forming part of this registration statement.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are being offered in connection with the formation of a holding company and there is compliance with General Instruction G, check the following box: o

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act, please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(d) under the Securities Act, check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration statement for the same offering. o

The Registrant hereby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to delay its effective date until the Registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Section 8(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 or until this Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Securities and Exchange Commission, acting pursuant to said Section 8(a), may determine.

The information in this proxy statement/prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This proxy statement/prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

## SUBJECT TO COMPLETION DATED NOVEMBER 29, 2006

## THE ENSTAR GROUP, INC. PROXY STATEMENT FOR ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS To Be Held on , 2006

## MERGER PROPOSED YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT

This proxy statement/prospectus is being furnished to the shareholders of The Enstar Group, Inc., or Enstar, in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the board of directors of Enstar for use at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on , 2006, or the Annual Meeting, at Flowers Hall, Huntingdon College, at 1500 East Fairview Avenue, Montgomery, Alabama 36106, at 9:00 a.m., local time, and at any adjournment thereof.

Enstar and Castlewood Holdings Limited, or Castlewood, a partially-owned affiliate of Enstar engaged in the acquisition and management of insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off and the provision of management, consultancy and other services to the insurance and reinsurance industry, have agreed on a merger transaction involving the two companies. If the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement are approved and the merger is consummated:

each share of Enstar common stock will be exchanged for one ordinary share of Castlewood;

Enstar will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood;

Castlewood, which will be renamed Enstar Group Limited and which we sometimes refer to in this proxy statement/prospectus as New Enstar, will be a publicly-traded company;

Enstar shareholders as of the applicable record date will receive a \$3.00 per share cash dividend on their Enstar common stock, which will be paid immediately prior to the merger; and

current shareholders of Enstar will own approximately 48.7% of New Enstar s issued ordinary shares, and current Castlewood shareholders, other than Enstar, will own the remaining approximately 51.3% of New Enstar s issued ordinary shares.

Castlewood has applied to have the New Enstar ordinary shares listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the ticker symbol ESGR.

After careful consideration, Enstar s board of directors, including all its independent directors, has determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement are fair and in the best interest of Enstar and its shareholders. In addition, Enstar s board of directors, with all of Enstar s directors present and voting, has

unanimously approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and unanimously recommends that you vote for the approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Some of Enstar s directors and executive officers have interests in the merger and relationships that are different from, or in addition to, yours. These interests and relationships are discussed in Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 60 and Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 60 and Certain Relationships and Related Transactions beginning on page 182 of the enclosed proxy statement/prospectus. In order to consummate the merger, Enstar s shareholders must approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

As of November 22, 2006, Enstar s directors and executive officers owned 1,904,753 shares of Enstar common stock, representing approximately 33.2% of the voting power of Enstar common stock on that date. Three of those directors, who owned Enstar common stock representing 30.1% of the voting power on that date, have entered into a support agreement with Castlewood pursuant to which such directors have agreed to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. All other Enstar directors and officers have also indicated that they intend to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

Enstar s annual meeting, at which shareholders were to elect directors and ratify the appointment of Enstar s independent registered public accounting firm, was originally scheduled for June 2, 2006. On May 21, 2006, Enstar s board of directors voted to postpone the June 2, 2006 annual meeting so that the merger transaction could be described to Enstar shareholders and voted on by them at the same meeting. This proxy statement/prospectus describes the merger transaction.

Enstar s board of directors also recommends that you vote for T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis to hold office as directors of Enstar until the 2009 annual meeting of shareholders of Enstar, or until their successors are duly elected and qualified, and to vote for the proposal to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006. If the merger is consummated, New Enstar, as the sole shareholder of Enstar, will be able to determine the composition of the board of directors of Enstar and select the independent auditors of Enstar in the future.

All shareholders of Enstar are invited to attend the Annual Meeting. Your participation at the Annual Meeting, in person or by proxy, is very important. Even if you only own a few shares, we want your shares to be represented at the Annual Meeting. The merger cannot be consummated without the approval of the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting power of the common stock of Enstar.

The affirmative vote of a plurality of the shares of Enstar common stock present in person or by proxy at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote is required to elect directors. The affirmative vote of the majority of the shares of Enstar common stock represented at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter is required with respect to the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Enstar s independent registered public accounting firm and the approval of any other matter that may properly come before the Annual Meeting.

Whether or not you plan to attend the Annual Meeting, please take the time to vote by completing, signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card in the enclosed postage-prepaid envelope. If you sign, date and mail your proxy card without indicating how you want to vote, your proxy will be counted as a vote for approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, for the election of T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis as directors and for the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006. If you fail to return your card, the effect will be a vote against the merger. Each proxy is revocable and will not affect your right to vote in person in the event you attend the Annual Meeting.

This document is a prospectus of Castlewood relating to the issuance of its ordinary shares in connection with the merger and a proxy statement for Enstar to use in soliciting proxies for its Annual Meeting. It contains answers to frequently asked questions beginning on page Q-1 and a summary description of the merger beginning on page 1, followed by a more detailed discussion of the merger and related matters. You should also consider the matters discussed under **RISK FACTORS commencing on page 21 of the enclosed proxy statement/prospectus.** We urge you to review the entire document carefully.

Nimrod T. Frazer Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer The Enstar Group, Inc.

None of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any state securities regulators, the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda or the Bermuda Monetary Authority has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed on the adequacy or accuracy of this proxy statement/prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

This proxy statement/prospectus is dated , 2006, and is first being mailed to shareholders on or about , 2006.

# THE ENSTAR GROUP, INC.

## NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS To Be Held on , 2006

To the Shareholders of The Enstar Group, Inc.:

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of The Enstar Group, Inc., or Enstar, will be held on , 2006 at Flowers Hall, Huntingdon College, at 1500 East Fairview Avenue, Montgomery, Alabama 36106, at 9:00 a.m., local time, for the following purposes:

(i) to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the Agreement and Plan of Merger, or merger agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, by and among Castlewood Holdings Limited, CWMS Subsidiary Corp. and Enstar, and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

(ii) to elect two directors for three-year terms expiring at the annual meeting of shareholders in 2009 or until their successors are duly elected and qualified;

(iii) to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar to serve for 2006; and

(iv) to transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Enstar will not be able to consummate the merger unless its shareholders approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

The board of directors of Enstar has fixed the close of business on September 28, 2006 as the record date for the determination of shareholders entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting and any adjournment thereof. A list of shareholders as of the record date will be open for examination during the Annual Meeting.

The board of directors of Enstar, with all of Enstar s directors present and voting, has unanimously approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and unanimously recommends that the shareholders of Enstar vote for the approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. The board of directors of Enstar also recommends that you vote for T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis to hold office until the 2009 annual meeting of shareholders, or until their successors are duly elected and qualified, and that you vote for the proposal to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006.

Your attention is directed to the proxy statement/prospectus submitted with this notice. This notice is being given at the direction of the board of directors of Enstar.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Cheryl D. Davis Chief Financial Officer, Vice-President of Corporate Taxes and Secretary Montgomery, Alabama , 2006

## WHETHER OR NOT YOU EXPECT TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING, PLEASE COMPLETE, SIGN AND DATE THE ENCLOSED PROXY AND RETURN IT PROMPTLY IN THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE. IF YOU ATTEND THE MEETING, YOU MAY REVOKE THE PROXY AND VOTE IN PERSON IF YOU WISH, EVEN IF YOU HAVE PREVIOUSLY RETURNED YOUR PROXY.

# **Table of Contents**

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER AND THE ANNUAL MEETING Q	-1
SUMMARY	1
The Companies	1
The Proposed Merger	2
Recommendation of Enstar s Board of Directors Relating to the Merger	4
Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger	4
Reasons for the Merger	6
What Enstar Shareholders Will Receive in the Merger	7
The Enstar Dividend	7
Treatment of Enstar Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units	7
Ownership of New Enstar after the Merger	7
Listing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares	8
Effects of the Merger on the Rights of Enstar Shareholders	8
Risk Factors	9
Conditions to the Consummation of the Merger	9
Termination of Merger Agreement	10
Support Agreement	11
Recapitalization Agreement	11
Other Related Agreements	11
Regulatory Approvals	12
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger	12
Accounting Treatment of the Merger	12
No Dissenters Rights	12
Information about the Enstar Annual Meeting and Voting	13
Enstar Shareholder Votes Required	13
Recent Developments	13
SUMMARY HISTORICAL AND PRO FORMA FINANCIAL DATA	15
Castlewood Summary Historical Financial Data	15
Enstar Summary Historical Financial Data	17
Summary Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Data	18
Comparative Per Share Information	19
Per Share Market Price Information	19
Dividend Information	20
<u>RISK FACTORS</u>	21
Risks Relating to the Merger	21
Risks Relating to New Enstar s Business	22
Risks Relating to Ownership of New Enstar Ordinary Shares	29
Risks Relating to Taxation	32
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	35
INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING	37
General	37
Record Date	37
Voting and Proxies	37

i

	Page
Expenses of Solicitation	38
Approval of the Merger Agreement and the Transactions Contemplated by the Merger Agreement	38
Election of Enstar Directors	39
Ratification of Appointment of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm of Enstar	42
THE PROPOSED MERGER	44
General	44
Enstar Proposal	44
Background of the Merger	44
Enstar s Reasons for the Merger	51
Recommendation of the Board of Directors of Enstar	53
Castlewood s Reasons for the Merger	54
Accounting Treatment	55
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger	55
Regulatory Matters Relating to the Merger	57
Rights Agreement	58
Federal Securities Laws Consequences: Stock Transfer Restriction Agreements	58
Stock Exchange Listing: Delisting and Deregistration of Enstar Common Stock	59
INTERESTS OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN THE MERGER	60
New Employment Agreements with John J. Oros, Paul J. O Shea, Nicholas A. Packer and Dominic F. Silvester	60
Enstar Director and Executive Benefit Plan	60
Payments to, and Other Interests of, Certain Executive Officers and Directors	60
New Enstar Board of Directors	61
Indemnification of Directors and Officers; Directors Indemnity Agreements	61
Tax Indemnification Agreement	62
THE MERGER AGREEMENT	63
General	63
Closing Matters	63
Merger Consideration; Treatment of Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units; Board and Management	63
Exchange of Stock in the Merger	64
Listing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares	64
Covenants	65
Other Covenants and Agreements	67
Representations and Warranties	67
Conditions to the Consummation of the Merger	68
Termination of Merger Agreement	70
Amendments, Extensions and Waivers	71
MATERIAL TERMS OF RELATED AGREEMENTS	72
Recapitalization Agreement	72
Support Agreement	76
Registration Rights Agreement	77
No Transfers Letter Agreement	80
Repurchase of Shares Letter Agreement	80

	Page
INFORMATION ABOUT CASTLEWOOD	81
Business	81
Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	119
Quantitative and Qualitative Information about Market Risk	156
INFORMATION ABOUT ENSTAR	158
Enstar Executive Officers	158
Executive Compensation Enstar Executive Officers	159
Report of Enstar Compensation Committee	160
Enstar Audit Committee Report	162
Enstar Stock Performance Graph	164
Other Matters Related to Enstar	165
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION	166
Enstar Group Limited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet as of September 30, 2006	167
Enstar Group Limited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Income Statement for the Year Ended December 31,	
2005	168
Enstar Group Limited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Income Statement for the Nine Month Period Ended	
<u>September 30, 2006</u>	169
Notes to Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements (Unaudited)	170
MANAGEMENT OF NEW ENSTAR FOLLOWING THE MERGER AND OTHER INFORMATION	177
Directors and Executive Officers of New Enstar	177
Compensation of Directors	179
Board Committees	179
Employment Agreements	180
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS	182
Castlewood	182
Enstar	184
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	185
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management of Castlewood	185
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management of Enstar	187
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management of New Enstar	188
PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK AND DIVIDENDS	191
Castlewood	191
Enstar	191
<u>New Enstar</u>	192
COMPARISON OF SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS	193
DESCRIPTION OF NEW ENSTAR S SHARE CAPITAL	208
Overview	208
Ordinary Shares	208
Non-Voting Convertible Ordinary Shares	208
Preference Shares	209
Change of Control and Related Provisions of New Enstar s Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws	209
Limitation on Voting Power of Shares	209
Restrictions on Transfer	210
Unissued Shares	210

	0
Classified Board of Directors, Vacancies and Removal of Directors	211
Limitation of Liability of Directors	211
Other Bye-Law Provisions	212
Differences in Corporate Law	212
Registration Rights Agreement	212
Listing	217
Exchange Agent and Registrar	217
MATERIAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS OF HOLDING AND DISPOSING OF NEW ENSTAR	217
ORDINARY SHARES	218
Taxation of New Enstar and Subsidiaries	218
Taxation of Shareholders	222
LEGAL MATTERS	228
EXPERTS	228
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM	229
FUTURE SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS	229
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	230
GLOSSARY OF SELECTED INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE TERMS	G-1
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES	F -1
ANNEXES	
Annex A Agreement and Plan of Merger	
Annex B Support Agreement	
Annex C Recapitalization Agreement	
Form of Certificate for the Ordinary Share	
Opinion of Conyers Dill & Pearman	
Opinion of Debevoise & Plimpton LLP	
Opinion of Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP	
Deloitte & Touche Letter Regarding Castlewood Deloitte & Touche LLP Letter Regarding Enstar	
List of Subsidiaries	
Consent of Deloitte & Touche	
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP	
Consent of Deloitte & Touche	
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP	

#### NOTE ON REFERENCES TO ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

THIS PROXY STATEMENT/PROSPECTUS INCORPORATES IMPORTANT BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE ENSTAR GROUP, INC. THAT MAY NOT BE INCLUDED IN OR DELIVERED WITH THIS DOCUMENT. THIS INFORMATION IS AVAILABLE WITHOUT CHARGE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF ENSTAR AT A WEBSITE MAINTAINED BY THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION AT HTTP://WWW.SEC.GOV, AS WELL AS UPON WRITTEN OR ORAL REQUEST TO:

THE ENSTAR GROUP, INC. CORPORATE SECRETARY 401 MADISON AVENUE MONTGOMERY, ALABAMA 36104 (334) 834-5483 Page

IF YOU WOULD LIKE TO REQUEST DOCUMENTS, PLEASE DO SO BY , 2006 IN ORDER TO RECEIVE THEM BEFORE THE ANNUAL MEETING.

## QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER AND THE ANNUAL MEETING

The following are some questions that you, as a shareholder of The Enstar Group, Inc., or Enstar, may have regarding the merger and the other matters being considered at the Annual Meeting of Enstar s shareholders and the answers to those questions. You are urged to read carefully the remainder of this proxy statement/prospectus because information in this section does not provide all the information that might be important to you with respect to the merger and the other matters being considered at the Annual Meeting. Additional important information is contained in the remainder of this proxy statement/prospectus, the annexes to this proxy statement/prospectus and the documents referred to or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus.

## **Q:** When is the Annual Meeting?

A: Enstar s Annual Meeting of shareholders will take place on , 2006, at 9:00 a.m., local time, at Flowers Hall, Huntingdon College, at 1500 East Fairview Avenue, Montgomery, Alabama 36106.

## Q: What am I being asked to vote upon?

A: You are being asked to approve the merger agreement entered into among Enstar, Castlewood Holdings Limited, or Castlewood, and CWMS Subsidiary Corp. and the transactions contemplated by that agreement. Castlewood, after the merger, is sometimes referred to in this proxy statement/prospectus as New Enstar. You are also being asked to vote for T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis to hold office as directors of Enstar until the 2009 annual meeting of shareholders of Enstar, or until their successors are duly elected and qualified, and to vote for the proposal to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006. If the merger is consummated, the composition of the board of directors of New Enstar will be different from the current composition of Enstar s board of directors. Following the merger, New Enstar s board of directors will consist of ten members. Four of these individuals Messrs. T. Whit Armstrong, Paul J. Collins, Gregory L. Curl and T. Wayne Davis are current directors of Enstar, three of these individuals Messrs. J. Christopher Flowers, Nimrod T. Frazer and John J. Oros are current directors of both Enstar and Castlewood, and the other three individuals Messrs. Nicholas A. Packer, Paul J. O Shea and Dominic F. Silvester are current directors and/or executive officers of Castlewood. In addition, New Enstar, as the sole shareholder of Enstar following the merger, will be able to determine the composition of Enstar s board of directors and select the independent auditors of Enstar after the merger.

#### **Q:** Does the Enstar board of directors support the merger?

A: Yes. The Enstar board of directors, including all of its independent directors, has determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement are fair and in the best interests of Enstar and its shareholders and that the merger agreement is advisable. In addition, the Enstar board of directors, with all of Enstar s directors present and voting, has unanimously approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and unanimously recommends that the Enstar shareholders vote FOR the approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Some of Enstar s directors and executive officers have interests in the merger and relationships that are different from, or in addition to, yours. See Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 60 and Certain Relationships and Related Transactions beginning on page 182.

## **Q:** Will I be able to trade New Enstar ordinary shares that I receive in connection with the merger?

A: Yes. The New Enstar ordinary shares issued in connection with the merger will be freely tradeable, unless you are an affiliate of Enstar. Generally, persons who are deemed to be affiliates of Enstar must comply with Rule 145 under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, if they wish to sell or otherwise transfer any of the New Enstar ordinary shares received in connection with the merger. You will be notified if you are an affiliate of Enstar.

## Q: Can I dissent and require appraisal of my shares of Enstar common stock?

A: No. Enstar shareholders have no dissenters rights under Georgia law in connection with the merger.

Q-1

## Q: When should I send in my Enstar share certificates?

A: After the merger is consummated, the exchange agent for the merger will send written instructions to Enstar shareholders that explain how to exchange Enstar share certificates for New Enstar share certificates. The exchange agent will also send a letter of transmittal that must be executed by Enstar shareholders in order to obtain New Enstar share certificates. Please do not send in any share certificates until you receive these written instructions and the letter of transmittal.

## **Q:** What will happen at the Annual Meeting?

A: At the Annual Meeting, holders of Enstar common stock will vote on whether to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting power of Enstar s common stock on September 28, 2006, or the Record Date.

As of the Record Date, Enstar s directors and executive officers owned 1,904,753 shares of Enstar common stock, representing approximately 33.2% of the voting power of Enstar common stock on that date. Three of those directors, who owned Enstar common stock representing 30.1% of the voting power on that date, have entered into a support agreement with Castlewood pursuant to which such directors have agreed to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. All other Enstar directors and officers have also indicated that they intend to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. For a more detailed description of the support agreement, see Material Terms of Related Agreements Support Agreement beginning on page 76.

The holders of Enstar common stock will also vote at the Annual Meeting on the election of T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis to hold office as directors of Enstar until the 2009 annual meeting of Enstar s shareholders, or until their successors are duly elected and qualified, and on the proposal to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006.

#### **Q:** What do I need to do to vote?

A: Mail your signed and dated proxy card in the enclosed return envelope as soon as possible so that your shares may be represented at the Annual Meeting. In order to assure that Enstar obtains your vote, please follow the voting instructions on your proxy card even if you currently plan to attend the Annual Meeting in person. The Enstar board of directors recommends that Enstar s shareholders vote FOR the approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. The Enstar board also recommends that Enstar s shareholders vote FOR T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis to hold office as directors until the 2009 annual meeting of Enstar s shareholders, or until their successors are duly elected and qualified, and that Enstar s shareholders vote FOR the proposal to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006.

# Q: How do I vote my shares of Enstar common stock if they are held in the name of a bank, broker or other fiduciary?

A: Your bank, broker or other fiduciary will vote your shares of Enstar common stock with respect to the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement only if you provide written instructions to them on how to vote, so it is important that you provide them with instructions. Your bank, broker or other fiduciary has the discretion to vote your shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the election of

T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis as directors and the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006. If you wish to vote in person at the Annual Meeting and hold your shares of Enstar common stock in the name of a bank, broker or other fiduciary, you must contact your bank, broker or other fiduciary and request a legal proxy. You must bring this legal proxy to the Annual Meeting in order to vote in person.

#### **Q:** May I change my vote even after returning a proxy card?

A: Yes. If you are a record holder, you can change your vote by:

completing, signing and dating a new proxy card and returning it by mail so that it is received before the Annual Meeting;

sending a written notice to Enstar s Secretary that is received before the Annual Meeting stating that you revoke your proxy; or

attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person or by legal proxy.

If your shares of Enstar common stock are held in the name of a bank, broker or other fiduciary and you have directed such person(s) to vote your shares of Enstar common stock, you should instruct such person(s) to change your vote or obtain a legal proxy to do so yourself.

# Q: What if I do not vote, abstain from voting or do not instruct my broker to vote my shares of Enstar common stock?

A: If you do not vote your shares, it will have the same effect as a vote against the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, but will not affect the outcome of the voting on any other matter presented to Enstar s shareholders at the Annual Meeting assuming that a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting has been achieved.

If you return your proxy card, but mark it that you wish to ABSTAIN from the vote on the proposal to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement it will also have the same effect as a vote against the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Similarly, if you mark your proxy card ABSTAIN on the proposal to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006, it will have the same effect as a vote against that proposal. If you ABSTAIN on these proposals, your shares will still be counted for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting.

Broker non-votes are proxies from brokers or nominees indicating that those persons have not received instructions from the beneficial owners of the shares as to certain proposals on which the beneficial owners are entitled to vote, but with respect to which the brokers or nominees have no discretionary power to vote without instructions. Broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting but will not be counted for purposes of determining the number of votes cast with respect to the particular proposal on which the broker has expressly not voted. Consequently, if you do not instruct your broker to vote your shares, it too will have the same effect as a vote against the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Brokers or nominees, however, can exercise their discretion to vote your shares in favor of T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis to hold office as directors until the 2009 annual meeting of Enstar s shareholders, or until their successors are duly elected and qualified, as well as in favor of the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006.

If you sign your proxy card but do not indicate how you want to vote, your shares of Enstar common stock will be voted FOR the approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, FOR T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis to hold office as directors until the 2009 annual meeting of Enstar s shareholders, or until their successors are duly elected and qualified, and FOR the proposal to ratify the

appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for 2006.

## **Q:** Where can I find more information about Enstar and Castlewood?

A: Business and financial information about Enstar and Castlewood is contained in this proxy statement/prospectus. You can also find more information about Enstar and Castlewood from various sources described under Where You Can Find More Information on page 230.

## SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information from this proxy statement/prospectus and may not contain all of the information that is important to you. To fully understand the Agreement and Plan of Merger, or the merger agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, among Castlewood Holdings Limited, CWMS Subsidiary Corp. and The Enstar Group, Inc. and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, you should carefully read this entire document and the documents to which we refer you. See Where You Can Find More Information on page 230. See also the Glossary of Selected Insurance and Reinsurance Terms beginning on page G-1 for an explanation of terms related to the insurance industry.

The Companies (see Information About Castlewood on page 81 and Information About Enstar on page 158)

Castlewood Holdings Limited P.O. Box HM 2267 Windsor Place, 3<sup>rd</sup> Floor 18 Queen Street Hamilton HM JX Bermuda (441) 292-3645

Castlewood Holdings Limited, or Castlewood, is a Bermuda company that acquires and manages insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off (insurance and reinsurance companies that have ceased underwriting new policies) and provides management, consultancy and other services to the insurance and reinsurance industry. Castlewood currently is privately owned, and its shares do not trade on any stock exchange or other quotation system. Upon completion of the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, Castlewood will change its name to Enstar Group Limited and will continue to engage in the business of acquiring and managing insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off and providing management, consultancy and other services to the insurance and reinsurance industry. Castlewood has applied to have its ordinary shares listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, or Nasdaq, under the symbol ESGR. The listing will take effect at the effective time of the merger. As of September 28, 2006, Castlewood had approximately 44 shareholders of record.

The terms New Enstar, we, us and our in this proxy statement/prospectus generally refer to Castlewood following t merger.

CWMS Subsidiary Corp. 401 Madison Avenue Montgomery, Alabama 36104 (334) 834-5483

CWMS Subsidiary Corp., or Merger Sub, is a recently-formed Georgia corporation that is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood. At the time of the merger, Merger Sub will have conducted no business other than in connection with the merger agreement.

The Enstar Group, Inc. 401 Madison Avenue Montgomery, Alabama 36104 (334) 834-5483

Table of Contents

Internet address: www.enstargroup.com

The Enstar Group, Inc., or Enstar, is a Georgia corporation engaged in the operation of partially-owned affiliates in financial services businesses, including principally the acquisition and management, through Castlewood and another such affiliate, of insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off. Enstar s common stock trades on Nasdaq under the symbol ESGR. As of September 28, 2006, Enstar had 2,627 shareholders of record.

Currently, Enstar owns an approximately 32.0% economic interest and 50.0% voting interest in Castlewood. Enstar s investment in Castlewood represents a very substantial portion of Enstar s business. After the merger, Enstar will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood and will change its name to Enstar USA, Inc.

Nimrod T. Frazer, John J. Oros, Cheryl D. Davis and J. Christopher Flowers, current officers and/or directors of Enstar, serve on Castlewood s board of directors. As of September 28, 2006, certain of Castlewood s officers, directors and employees owned, directly or indirectly, a total of 115,139 shares of Enstar s common stock, including 110,239 shares of Enstar common stock owned by Dominic Silvester, Castlewood s Chief Executive Officer.

## The Proposed Merger (see page 44)

Under the terms of the proposed merger, Merger Sub, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood, will merge with and into Enstar with Enstar surviving as a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood. The merger agreement is attached as Annex A to this proxy statement/prospectus. We encourage you to read the merger agreement carefully and fully as it is the legal document that governs the merger.

The following charts depict (1) the organizational structures of Castlewood and Enstar, prior to the merger, and (2) the organizational structure of New Enstar upon consummation of the merger.

## **Prior to the Merger**

\* Percentages are not calculated on a fully-diluted basis. Unless otherwise indicated, percentages reflect voting and economic interest. Inactive subsidiaries of The Enstar Group, Inc. are omitted.

2

## Upon Consummation of the Merger

\* Percentages are not calculated on a fully-diluted basis. Unless otherwise indicated, percentages reflect voting and economic interest, except that the ownership percentages of New Enstar may, in some cases, be subject to the limitations on voting power that will be set forth in New Enstar s bye-laws. Inactive subsidiaries of Enstar USA, Inc. are omitted.

#### 3

## Recommendation of Enstar s Board of Directors Relating to the Merger (see page 53)

Enstar s board of directors, including all of its independent directors, has determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement are fair and in the best interests of Enstar and its shareholders and that the merger agreement is advisable. In addition, Enstar s board of directors, with all of Enstar s directors present and voting, has unanimously approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

# Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger; Certain Relationships and Related Transactions (see pages 60 and 182)

When you consider the recommendation of Enstar s board of directors that you vote in favor of approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, you should be aware that Messrs. Flowers, Frazer and Oros, officers and/or directors of Enstar who also serve on Castlewood s board of directors, negotiated the terms of the merger on behalf of Enstar, and some of Enstar s directors and executive officers have interests in the merger and relationships that are different from, or in addition to, yours. These interests include:

A new employment agreement between New Enstar, Castlewood (US) Inc., a subsidiary of Castlewood, and Mr. Oros, Enstar s President and Chief Operating Officer, that will take effect at the effective time of the merger. Under the terms of Mr. Oros employment agreement, he will be paid a salary of \$282,500 and will be entitled to participate in New Enstar s incentive compensation programs. He will also receive other employee benefits consistent with those provided to New Enstar s other executive officers. New Enstar expects that Mr. Oros will spend approximately 50% of his working time on matters related to New Enstar, but there is no minimum work commitment set forth in his employment agreement.

Accelerated vesting of 80,000 options granted to certain Enstar directors and officers pursuant to one of Enstar s equity incentive plans. Of these options, options to purchase 30,000 shares of Enstar common stock are held by Mr. Frazer, Enstar s Chief Executive Officer, and options to purchase 50,000 shares of Enstar common stock are held by Mr. Oros.

A severance payment of \$350,000 to Mr. Frazer under his existing employment agreement.

A tax indemnification by Castlewood of Mr. Flowers, a director of Enstar and its largest shareholder, pursuant to which Castlewood will reimburse and indemnify Mr. Flowers for, and hold him harmless on an after-tax basis against, any increase in Mr. Flowers U.S. federal, state or local income tax liability (including any interest or penalties relating thereto), and reasonable attorneys fees, incurred by Mr. Flowers as a result of certain dispositions by Enstar or New Enstar of shares or assets of Enstar, within the period beginning immediately after the effective time of the merger and ending five years after the last day of the taxable year that includes the effective time.

Registration rights expected to be granted by New Enstar to Mr. Flowers and other holders of New Enstar ordinary shares, pursuant to which Mr. Flowers and such other holders may request after the first anniversary of the merger that New Enstar effect the registration under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, of certain of their ordinary shares of New Enstar, and registration rights expected to be granted by New Enstar to the other directors of Enstar pursuant to which they may participate in certain registration statements filed by New Enstar under the Securities Act and sell their ordinary shares of New Enstar acquired

in the merger pursuant to such registration statements.

Rights of T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis, directors of Enstar, to each sell up to 25,000 ordinary shares of New Enstar to New Enstar.

Service of the current Enstar directors on New Enstar s board of directors following the merger.

Indemnification by New Enstar of past and present directors and officers of Enstar for losses in connection with any action arising out of or pertaining to acts or omissions, or alleged acts or omissions, by them in their capacities as such at or before the effective time of the merger.

4

Payments on the first anniversary of the merger to Ms. Davis, the Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Corporate Taxes and Secretary of Enstar, and Amy Dunaway, the Treasurer and Controller of Enstar, in an amount equal to 75% of their annual salary in consideration for their waiver of certain severance payouts to which they are entitled in connection with the merger pursuant to their severance benefits agreements with Enstar.

In addition, each of Enstar and Castlewood has entered into transactions with companies and partnerships that are affiliated with Messrs. Flowers and/or Oros, and an entity of which Mr. Flowers is a director and the largest shareholder owns a minority interest in a subsidiary of Castlewood. See Certain Relationships and Related Transactions beginning on page 182.

While Enstar does not believe that such interests and relationships adversely affected the efforts of representatives of Enstar to negotiate favorable merger terms, or the terms that were ultimately negotiated, you should take into account the possibility that such efforts or terms were adversely affected by such interests or relationships. The board of directors of Enstar considered such interests and relationships and considered whether it should appoint a special committee of independent directors to evaluate and negotiate the transactions and whether interested directors should participate in the deliberations concerning, and vote on, the proposed transactions. Enstar s board of directors based such conclusions on its judgment that, notwithstanding such interests and relationships, Enstar and its shareholders would be better served by:

having Messrs. Flowers, Frazer and Oros assume principal responsibility for the negotiation of the merger, given their expertise, experience and familiarity with Castlewood, the relative immateriality, in the board s view, of such interests and relationships to them personally, when compared to their interests as Enstar shareholders, and that their interests as Enstar shareholders were aligned with those of the other Enstar shareholders;

having all of the Enstar directors participate in the board s deliberations concerning the merger, given the directors expertise, experience and familiarity with Castlewood, the relative immateriality, in the board s view, of such interests and relationships to them personally, the fact that Georgia law permits interested directors to participate in deliberations so long as their interests are disclosed and the fact that, in the board s view, with disclosure, the board would be able to appropriately weigh the views expressed by interested directors and not be inappropriately influenced; and

having all of the Enstar directors vote on the merger, given the board s desire to know, and the advisability of being able to advise the shareholders of, the positions of all directors regarding the merger, the relative immateriality, in the board s view, of such interests and relationships to them personally, the fact that Georgia law permits interested directors to vote so long as their interests are disclosed, and the fact that the merger would only be approved if a majority of the disinterested directors approved the merger.

The board did determine that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement would not be approved unless they were approved by a majority of the four independent Enstar directors.

Enstar s board of directors also considered whether to retain an independent financial adviser to review the terms of the proposed transaction, but concluded that the cost of doing so outweighed the potential benefits provided. In part because of Enstar s existing investment in Castlewood, Enstar s board of directors believed that it was sufficiently familiar with Castlewood s business and, therefore, did not need assistance in analyzing the financial terms of the

transaction from a third-party that was not familiar with Castlewood s business. Further, the board believed that because Enstar s investment in Castlewood constituted a very substantial portion of Enstar s business and because the other assets that Enstar would effectively transfer to the combined company in the merger, which principally consist of cash and other investments, are relatively easy to value, the board did not need third-party assistance to evaluate the fairness of Enstar s shareholders effectively

exchanging their interest in such other assets and their indirect interest of approximately 32.0% in Castlewood for a direct interest of approximately 48.7% in Castlewood.

You should also note that Messrs. Flowers, Frazer and Oros control in the aggregate approximately 30.1% of the shares of Enstar s common stock entitled to vote on the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Further, Enstar s shareholders are not entitled to dissenters rights under applicable Georgia law.

#### Reasons for the Merger (see page 51)

The boards of directors of Castlewood and Enstar believe that the merger potentially will result in increased revenues and enhanced shareholder value for New Enstar. Specifically, Enstar s board of directors believes that the merger will:

Enhance the existing and proven close working relationship between Enstar and Castlewood management and further align the incentives of Castlewood management with the interests of Enstar s shareholders. Castlewood s current ownership structure consists of several classes of shares that provide different voting rights to shareholders, with Enstar directly (and the Enstar shareholders indirectly) owning approximately 32.0% of the economic interest and 50.0% of the voting interest in Castlewood. Each of Enstar, Trident II, L.P. and certain of its affiliates, or Trident, and members of Castlewood senior management who own Castlewood shares has the right, among other things, to nominate a certain number of members of Castlewood s board of directors. Major transactions are required to be approved by one or more directors representing each of Enstar, Trident and Castlewood senior management. The merger will eliminate these approval rights and is expected to better align the incentives of the management of Castlewood and Enstar by having all parties own shares with the same rights.

Provide a positive economic result for Enstar s shareholders, as a result of a one-time \$3.00 per share dividend and the opportunity for Enstar s shareholders to participate in approximately 48.7% (on an undiluted basis) of the earnings and cash flows of New Enstar. As noted above, Enstar s shareholders currently own an approximately 32.0% indirect economic interest in Castlewood. Enstar s board of directors determined that the value to Enstar s shareholders of converting their approximately 32.0% indirect economic interest in Castlewood into an approximately 48.7% direct interest in New Enstar exceeded the value of Enstar s other assets that would be effectively transferred to New Enstar by virtue of the merger.

Simplify the ownership and management structure of Castlewood, Enstar and B.H. Acquisition Ltd., or B.H. Acquisition, a company that Castlewood and Enstar partially own with an affiliate of Trident II, L.P., by forming one public company with one board of directors and a consolidated management team. In particular, the board of directors of Enstar believes the merger will:

consolidate the financial and management resources and thereby expand the capabilities of Castlewood and Enstar to pursue additional acquisitions in the insurance and reinsurance run-off business;

enhance New Enstar s access to capital as a result of both its larger asset base and simplified ownership structure;

expand the opportunities for New Enstar to deploy its capital in attractive investments; and

increase the focus of the time and energy of the directors and management of New Enstar on identifying and consummating attractive acquisitions and managing existing businesses.

The board of directors of Enstar also identified and considered potentially negative factors concerning the merger, including the following:

The costs to be incurred in connection with the merger, including customary transaction expenses and the diversion of management and employee attention during the period after the signing of the merger agreement.

The risk that the merger might not be completed or that the closing might be delayed, which could result in Enstar incurring the costs described above but not realizing the potential benefits of the merger, or in any event incurring increases in such costs.

6

The other risks described in Risk Factors beginning on page 21, which the Enstar board of directors took notice of generally in the course of its oversight of Enstar s business. The following risks were specifically discussed during the board s deliberations regarding the merger:

the risk that the merger will result in the holders of Enstar s common stock owning a smaller percentage of New Enstar than they currently own of Enstar, which could reduce their ability to affect changes to New Enstar s board of directors, management and policies;

the risk that regulatory agencies may delay or impose conditions on approval of the merger, which may increase the costs or diminish the anticipated benefits of the merger;

the risk that if the merger does not constitute a reorganization under section 368(a) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code, or the Code, then Enstar shareholders may be responsible for payment of U.S. federal income taxes; and

the risk that certain of Enstar s officers and directors have interests in the merger and relationships that may have influenced their approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

After deliberation, the Enstar board of directors concluded that, on balance, the potential benefits of the transactions to the Enstar shareholders outweighed these risks and potential disadvantages.

#### What Enstar Shareholders Will Receive in the Merger

If the merger is consummated, as an Enstar shareholder you will receive one New Enstar ordinary share in exchange for each share of Enstar common stock, including the associated rights issued under the Enstar shareholder rights plan, that you own.

#### **The Enstar Dividend**

If the merger is consummated, Enstar shareholders as of the applicable record date will receive a one-time \$3.00 per share dividend on their Enstar common stock, payable immediately prior to the merger.

#### Treatment of Enstar Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units (see page 63)

Each outstanding option to purchase shares of Enstar common stock granted under the Enstar stock plans will be assumed by New Enstar and converted into an option to purchase ordinary shares of New Enstar. The per share exercise price of each new option will be set at a ratio to the trading price of the ordinary shares of New Enstar immediately following the closing of the merger that equals the ratio of the exercise price of the corresponding Enstar stock option to the trading price of the shares of Enstar common stock immediately prior to the closing of the merger. The number of New Enstar ordinary shares underlying the new option will be set so that the aggregate spread value of the new option approximately equals the spread value of the former Enstar stock option.

Each restricted stock unit issued under Enstar s Deferred Compensation and Stock Plan for Non-employee Directors that is outstanding immediately prior to the closing of the merger will automatically convert from a right in respect of a share of Enstar common stock into a right in respect of one ordinary share of New Enstar.

#### **Ownership of New Enstar after the Merger**

#### Table of Contents

Immediately following the consummation of the merger, New Enstar will have approximately 11.8 million ordinary shares issued, of which current Enstar shareholders will own approximately 48.7% and current Castlewood shareholders, other than Enstar, will own the remaining approximately 51.3%. Prior to the merger, Enstar s directors and officers own approximately 33.2% of Enstar s outstanding common stock and Enstar s non-affiliated public shareholders own approximately 66.8% of Enstar s outstanding common stock. Following the merger, Enstar s directors and officers will own approximately 16.2% of New Enstar s issued ordinary shares and Enstar s current non-affiliated public shareholders will own approximately 32.5% of New Enstar s issued ordinary shares.

Also following the merger, directors, officers and certain employees of New Enstar (which will include individuals who are directors, officers or employees of Enstar and Castlewood prior to the merger) and their affiliates will own approximately 49.8% of New Enstar s issued ordinary shares.

Unless otherwise indicated, the ownership percentage calculations set forth above and throughout this proxy statement/prospectus treat the non-voting convertible shares of New Enstar owned by Enstar following the merger as if they were treasury shares and not outstanding because Enstar will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Enstar.

## Listing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares

Castlewood has filed an application to have New Enstar s ordinary shares listed on Nasdaq under the ticker symbol ESGR.

## Effects of the Merger on the Rights of Enstar Shareholders

If the merger is consummated, New Enstar will be governed by its memorandum of association and second amended and restated bye-laws. The memorandum of association and form of the second amended and restated bye-laws have been filed by Castlewood as exhibits to the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part. The memorandum of association and second amended and restated bye-laws of New Enstar differ from Enstar s current articles of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws. In particular, the second amended and restated bye-laws of New Enstar provide that U.S. persons and certain foreign shareholders or groups of foreign shareholders may not hold the power to vote more than 9.5% of New Enstar s ordinary shares. Shareholders of New Enstar s board of directors will have the voting power of their ordinary shares reduced. In addition, New Enstar s board of directors will have the power to decline to register a transfer of any ordinary shares if it has reason to believe that any *non-de minimis* adverse tax, regulatory or legal consequence to New Enstar, any of its subsidiaries or any of its shareholders may occur as a result of such transfer. See Description of New Enstar s Share Capital Limitation on Voting Power of Shares and Restrictions on Transfer beginning on pages 209 and 210, respectively.

In addition, while Enstar is presently governed by Georgia corporate law, New Enstar will be governed by Bermuda corporate law. Because New Enstar is a Bermuda company, it may be difficult for shareholders to serve process or enforce judgments against New Enstar or its directors or officers and it may be more difficult for shareholders to protect their interests. For a description of the differences between the rights of shareholders under Georgia and Bermuda law see Comparison of Shareholder Rights beginning on page 193 and Description of New Enstar s Share Capital Differences in Corporate Law beginning on page 212.

Enstar s board considered the rights and obligations of the shareholders under New Enstar s memorandum of association and second amended and restated bye-laws in connection with its consideration of the merger agreement, and Enstar retained Bermuda counsel to advise Enstar regarding such matters and other matters of Bermuda law. Enstar s board also took notice of the fact that Enstar s shareholders had been indirectly invested in a Bermuda company Castlewood for the past five years without suffering adverse impacts as a result of Bermuda law in determining that such differences in rights did not, together with other negative factors, outweigh the benefits of the proposed transaction.

In addition, the current non-affiliated public shareholders of Enstar currently own approximately 66.8% of Enstar s outstanding shares. Following the merger, those non-affiliated shareholders will own approximately 32.5% of New Enstar s issued shares. The board of directors of Enstar considered this change in voting power of the non-affiliated public shareholders of Enstar as a result of the merger, but did not believe that it, together with other negative factors, outweighed the benefits of the proposed transaction. In reaching such conclusion the board took into account particularly that (1) Castlewood constitutes a very substantial portion of Enstar s business, (2) the influence of Enstar s

non-affiliated public shareholders on the governance of Castlewood is currently limited by

the fact that such influence must be exercised through Enstar,

the fact that Enstar does not own a majority of the Castlewood voting shares, and

the fact that Trident and the Castlewood management shareholders have substantial governance rights under the Castlewood shareholders agreement,

(3) the former Enstar non-affiliated public shareholders will own directly approximately 32.5% of the New Enstar voting shares following the merger, and (4) the former Enstar non-affiliated public shareholders will have a direct economic interest in New Enstar of approximately 32.5% following the merger, compared to their current indirect interest in Castlewood of approximately 21.4%.

#### **Risk Factors (see page 21)**

Shareholders voting on the merger should consider, among other things, the risks associated with ownership of New Enstar ordinary shares and the other risks set forth in the Risk Factors section of this proxy statement/prospectus.

#### Conditions to the Consummation of the Merger (see page 68)

Castlewood s and Enstar s respective obligations to consummate the merger are subject to the satisfaction or, to the extent legally permissible, the waiver of the following conditions:

the receipt of all governmental and regulatory consents, clearances, approvals and actions necessary for the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement unless failure to obtain those consents, clearances, approvals and actions would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on New Enstar, which consents, clearances, approvals and actions have been obtained;

the absence of any law, order or injunction prohibiting consummation of the merger in the United States, Bermuda or the European Union;

the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or the Commission, having declared effective the Castlewood registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part;

the approval for listing by Nasdaq of the New Enstar ordinary shares to be issued in the merger, subject to official notice of issuance;

the adoption and approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement by the Enstar shareholders;

the approval of the Recapitalization Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, among Castlewood, Enstar, Trident, Dominic F. Silvester and certain other shareholders of Castlewood, or the recapitalization agreement, and certain actions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement by the Castlewood shareholders, which approval has been obtained;

the completion of the recapitalization of Castlewood pursuant to the recapitalization agreement (see Material Terms of Related Agreements Recapitalization Agreement beginning on page 72);

no event having occurred which would trigger a distribution under Enstar s shareholders rights plan;

the receipt by Enstar and Castlewood of an opinion of Enstar s tax counsel to the effect that the merger should qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of section 368(a) of the Code;

the representations and warranties of the other party contained in the merger agreement which are qualified as to material adverse effect being true and correct as of the date of the merger agreement and as of the closing date of the merger, except to the extent that such representation or warranty speaks as of another date, and the representations and warranties of the other party which are not qualified as to material adverse effect being true and correct (disregarding materiality qualifiers), except where the failure to be true and correct, individually or in the aggregate, would not have a material adverse effect on the party making the representation, as of the date of the merger agreement and as of the closing date of the merger as if they were made on that date, except to the extent that such representation or warranty speaks as of another date; and

the other party having performed or complied in all material respects with all agreements or covenants required to be performed by it under the merger agreement (other than such party s covenants regarding the issuance of securities, and Enstar s covenant regarding dividends and changes in share capital, which must be complied with in all respects), in each case, on or before the closing date.

#### **Termination of Merger Agreement (see page 70)**

The merger agreement may be terminated at any time before the consummation of the merger in any of the following ways:

by mutual written consent of Enstar and Castlewood;

by either Enstar or Castlewood:

if the merger has not been consummated by January 31, 2007; except that a party may not terminate the merger agreement if the cause of the merger not being consummated is that party s failure to fulfill its material obligations under the merger agreement;

if a governmental authority or a court in the United States or European Union permanently enjoins or prohibits the consummation of the merger, except that a party that seeks to terminate the merger agreement upon such an event must have used its reasonable best efforts to obtain the government approvals required for the consummation of the merger; or

if Enstar s shareholders fail to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

by Castlewood:

if Enstar has breached in any material respect any of its representations or warranties, or has failed to perform in any material respect any of its covenants or other agreements under the merger agreement and such breach:

is incapable of being cured by or remains uncured prior to January 31, 2007; or

would result in the failure of certain closing conditions to the merger being satisfied; or

if:

Enstar or Enstar s board of directors materially breaches the covenant regarding no solicitation of competing acquisition proposals and such breach is not cured within five business days after receiving notice of such breach;

Enstar s board of directors changes its recommendation to the Enstar shareholders to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement; or

Enstar fails to call the annual meeting of shareholders to vote on the merger on or before January 31, 2007; or

#### by Enstar:

if Castlewood or Merger Sub has breached in any material respect any of its representations or warranties, or has failed to perform in any material respect any of its covenants or other agreements under the merger agreement and such breach:

is incapable of being cured by or remains uncured prior to January 31, 2007; or

would result in the failure of certain closing conditions to the merger being satisfied; or

if there has been a change in the recommendation by Enstar s board of directors in respect of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and:

Enstar notifies Castlewood in writing that it intends to approve and enter into an agreement concerning a different business combination transaction that constitutes a superior proposal, attaching the most current version of such agreement or a description of its material terms; and

Castlewood, within five business days of receiving such notice from Enstar, does not make an offer that Enstar s board of directors determines is at least as favorable to the Enstar shareholders as the superior proposal Enstar received from the third party.

Termination of the merger agreement also terminates certain obligations under the support agreement described below.

#### Support Agreement (see page 76)

Castlewood and Messrs. Flowers, Oros and Frazer, three of Enstar s largest shareholders, have entered into the Support Agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, or the support agreement, pursuant to which such shareholders have agreed to vote all of their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and against any business combination with a third party.

The support agreement is attached as Annex B to this proxy statement/prospectus.

#### **Recapitalization Agreement (see page 72)**

In connection with the merger, Castlewood, Enstar, Trident and certain other shareholders of Castlewood entered into the recapitalization agreement which provides, among other things, for:

a recapitalization of Castlewood in which all issued shares will be exchanged for newly-created ordinary shares;

the appointment of the board of directors of New Enstar immediately following the merger;

the repurchase of certain shares of Castlewood from Trident;

payments to certain officers and employees of Castlewood;

the purchase by Castlewood or its designee of the shares of B.H. Acquisition beneficially owned by an affiliate of Trident II, L.P.; and

the adoption of new bye-laws that will include, among other things, certain restrictions on transfers and voting of the ordinary shares.

Castlewood shareholders have approved the recapitalization agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby.

The recapitalization agreement also restricts the transfer by the Castlewood shareholders party thereto of the New Enstar ordinary shares they receive in the recapitalization for one year, subject to certain exceptions. The recapitalization agreement also provides that at the time of the recapitalization, certain shareholders of Castlewood will enter into the Registration Rights Agreement, between and among New Enstar, Trident, Mr. Flowers, Mr. Silvester and certain other shareholders of New Enstar, or the registration rights agreement, entitling them, after the expiration of one year from the date of the registration rights agreement, to require that New Enstar effect the registration under the Securities Act of their New Enstar ordinary shares, although after the expiration of 90 days from the date of the registration rights agreement and prior to the first anniversary of such date, Trident has the right to require that New Enstar register up to 750,000 of Trident s New Enstar, and will receive registration rights pursuant to the same registration rights agreement.

The recapitalization agreement is attached as Annex C to this proxy statement/prospectus.

#### **Other Related Agreements**

Castlewood has agreed, subject to the consummation of the merger agreement, to repurchase from two directors of Enstar, Messrs. T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis, upon their request, during a 30-day period commencing January 15, 2007, at the then prevailing market price, such number of ordinary shares as provides an amount sufficient for Mr. Armstrong and Mr. Davis to pay taxes on compensation income resulting from the exercise of options by them on May 23, 2006 for 50,000 shares of Enstar common stock in the aggregate. Castlewood s obligation to repurchase ordinary shares is limited to 25,000 ordinary shares from each of Mr. Armstrong and Mr. Davis. Since the letter agreement provides for the sale of such shares at then prevailing market prices, each of Enstar and Castlewood believe that the value of the rights of Messrs. Armstrong and Davis under such agreement is not significant.

Castlewood has also entered into a tax indemnification agreement with Mr. Flowers, a director of Castlewood and Enstar and Enstar s largest shareholder, pursuant to which Castlewood will reimburse and indemnify Mr. Flowers for, and hold him harmless on an after-tax basis against, any increase in Mr. Flowers U.S. federal, state or local income tax liability (including any interest or penalties relating thereto), and reasonable attorneys fees, incurred by Mr. Flowers as a result of certain dispositions by Enstar or New Enstar of shares or assets of Enstar, within the period beginning immediately after the effective time of the

merger and ending five years after the last day of the taxable year that includes the effective time. Because Mr. Flowers will be the only greater-than-5% U.S. shareholder of New Enstar after the merger, he is in a different position than the other current shareholders of Enstar with regard to treating the merger as a tax-free reorganization. Under IRS regulations issued pursuant to section 367(a) of the Code, as a 5% U.S. shareholder Mr. Flowers may treat the merger as a tax-free reorganization only if he enters into a gain recognition agreement with the IRS under which he agrees he will treat the merger as taxable if New Enstar disposes of certain stock or assets of Enstar within the five years following the merger. Such dispositions may be effected without Mr. Flowers consent. Other shareholders of Enstar are not subject to these additional conditions, and their tax treatment would not be affected by such dispositions. The Enstar board of directors approved such agreement because it determined that it would be fair to put Mr. Flowers in the same position as the other shareholders of Enstar with respect to such tax treatment and that such agreement would increase the likelihood that Mr. Flowers, in his capacity as an Enstar shareholder, would support the proposed transaction. While the agreement is significant to Mr. Flowers, New Enstar believes it is unlikely to incur any liability under the agreement because it believes the likelihood that it will dispose of stock or assets of Enstar within the next five years to be remote.

#### **Regulatory Approvals (see page 57)**

Castlewood has received the requisite approval of the merger and the recapitalization from the insurance regulatory authority in the United Kingdom. In addition, Castlewood has provided notice of the merger and the recapitalization to the insurance regulatory authorities in Switzerland and Belgium. Castlewood has also received approval from the Bermuda Monetary Authority to issue the ordinary shares in connection with the recapitalization and the merger.

#### Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger (see page 55)

The merger is intended to qualify as a reorganization for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, it is expected that the exchange of Enstar common stock for New Enstar ordinary shares in the merger should not result in the recognition of gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

However, this proxy statement/prospectus does not address all tax consequences that may be relevant to persons who exchange Enstar common stock for New Enstar ordinary shares in the merger. In particular, this proxy statement/prospectus does not address any of the tax consequences associated with:

the exercise of options to purchase Enstar common stock before the effective time of the merger;

the exchange of options to purchase Enstar common stock for options to purchase New Enstar ordinary shares in the merger; or

the exchange of Enstar restricted stock units for a right to receive restricted stock units in respect of New Enstar ordinary shares.

Any person who may exchange Enstar common stock for New Enstar ordinary shares in the merger is urged to carefully read the discussions under The Proposed Merger Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger and Material Tax Considerations of Holding and Disposing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares beginning on pages 55 and 218, respectively, and to consult his or her tax advisor with respect to the tax consequences of participating in the merger and holding and disposing of New Enstar ordinary shares.

#### Accounting Treatment of the Merger (see page 55)

New Enstar will account for the merger under the purchase method of accounting for business combinations under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

#### No Dissenters Rights

Under Georgia law, Enstar shareholders are not entitled to dissenters rights in connection with the merger.

#### Information about the Enstar Annual Meeting and Voting (see page 37)

Enstar s Annual Meeting of Shareholders, or the Annual Meeting, will be held on , 2006, at 9:00 a.m., local time, at Flowers Hall, Huntingdon College at 1500 East Fairview Avenue, Montgomery, Alabama 36106, for the following purposes:

to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

to elect two directors for three-year terms expiring at the annual meeting of shareholders of Enstar in 2009 or until their successors are duly elected and qualified;

to ratify the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar to serve for 2006; and

to transact such other business as may properly come before the Annual Meeting or any adjournment thereof.

Enstar will not be able to consummate the merger unless its shareholders approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

If the merger is consummated, the composition of the board of directors of New Enstar will be different from the current composition of Enstar s board of directors. Following the merger, the board of directors of New Enstar will consist of ten individuals. Four of these individuals Messrs. T. Whit Armstrong, Paul J. Collins, Gregory L. Curl and T. Wayne Davis are current directors of Enstar, three of these individuals Messrs. J. Christopher Flowers, Nimrod T. Frazer and John J. Oros are current directors of both Enstar and Castlewood, and the other three individuals Messrs. Nicholas A. Packer, Paul J. O Shea and Dominic F. Silvester are current directors and/or executive officers of Castlewood. In addition, New Enstar, as the sole shareholder of Enstar, will be able to determine the composition of Enstar s board of directors and select independent auditors of Enstar after the merger.

#### **Enstar Shareholder Votes Required**

Approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting power of Enstar s common stock on the close of business on September 28, 2006, or the Record Date.

As of the Record Date, Enstar s directors and executive officers owned 1,904,753 shares of Enstar common stock, representing approximately 33.2% of the voting power of Enstar common stock on that date. Three of those directors, who owned Enstar common stock representing 30.1% of the voting power on that date, have entered into a support agreement with Castlewood pursuant to which such directors have agreed to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. All other Enstar directors and officers have also indicated that they intend to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

#### **Recent Developments (see page 118)**

On June 16, 2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood entered into a definitive agreement with Dukes Place Holdings, L.P., a portfolio company of GSC Partners, for the purchase of a minority interest in a U.S. holding company that owns two property and casualty insurers based in the United States, both of which are in run-off.

#### Table of Contents

Completion of the transaction is conditioned on, among other things, governmental and regulatory approvals and satisfaction of various other closing conditions. As a consequence, Castlewood cannot predict if or when this transaction will be completed.

Also on June 16, 2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood entered into a definitive agreement for the purchase of Cavell Holdings Limited, or Cavell, a U.K. company, from Dukes Place Holdings, L.P. for a purchase price of approximately £31.8 million (approximately \$59.5 million). Cavell owns a U.K. reinsurance company and a Norwegian reinsurer, both of which are currently in run-off. Cavell had total consolidated assets of approximately £101 million at March 31, 2006, as reported in its U.K. regulatory statements. Castlewood completed this transaction on October 4, 2006. A wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood borrowed \$24.5 million under a facility loan agreement with a London-based bank to partially fund this acquisition. The interest rate on the loan is LIBOR plus 2% and the loan is repayable within four years.

On November 20, 2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood completed the acquisition of Unione Italiana (U.K.) Reinsurance Company Limited, a U.K. company, for a purchase price of \$17.2 million. The purchase price was funded from cash on hand.

#### SUMMARY HISTORICAL AND PRO FORMA FINANCIAL DATA

Castlewood and Enstar are providing the following financial data to assist you in your analysis of the financial aspects of the proposed merger. The information is only a summary and should be read in conjunction with each company s historical consolidated financial statements and related notes included or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus, as well as the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information for New Enstar beginning on page 166.

#### **Castlewood Summary Historical Financial Data**

The following selected historical financial information of Castlewood for each of the past five fiscal years has been derived from Castlewood s audited historical financial statements, which were audited by Deloitte & Touche, an independent registered public accounting firm. The financial information as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, and for each of the three and nine month periods then ended, has been derived from Castlewood s unaudited financial statements which include, in management s opinion, all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly the results of operations and financial position of Castlewood for the periods and dates presented. This information is only a summary and should be read in conjunction with management s discussion and analysis of results of operations and financial condition of Castlewood and the audited and unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of Castlewood included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The selected historical financial information has been revised for the effects of the restatement discussed in Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements of Castlewood on page F-30.

Since its inception, Castlewood has made several acquisitions which impact the comparability of the information reflected in the Castlewood Summary Historical Financial Data. See Information About Castlewood Business Acquisitions to Date beginning on page 85 for information about Castlewood s acquisitions.

#### **Three Months Ended**

				Nine Mont	ths ]	Ended									
	Septem	ber	30,	Septem	ber	30,				Year E	nde	d Decemb	<b>er 3</b> 1	Ι,	
	2006		2005	2006		2005		2005		2004		2003		2002	200
				(in th	ious	ands of U	.S. (	dollars, exc	cept	per share	dat	a)			
ary nent of ngs Data: Iting fee															
e vestment e and net	\$ 9,350	\$	5,180	\$ 20,950	\$	13,525	\$	22,006	\$	23,703	\$	24,746	\$	20,627	\$
d gain duction in d loss nent expense	12,712		7,866	33,438		21,149		29,504		10,502		7,072		8,927	
ies other expenses ity interest	3,920 (12,599) (2,619)		1,043 (9,880) (439)	10,700 (26,942) (7,805)		6,466 (31,938) (1,430)		96,007 (57,299) (9,700)		13,706 (35,160) (3,097)		24,044 (21,782) (5,111)		48,758 (27,772) 0	(2

		Ec	lga	r Filing: Ca	astle	wood Ho	oldir	ngs LTD -	For	m S-4/A			
of income of owned nies	232	63		495		142		192		6,881	1,623	10,079	
come from uing ions rdinary gain ve goodwill minority	10,996	3,833		30,836		7,914		80,710		16,535	30,592	60,619	
t)	0	0		4,347		0		0		21,759	0	0	
come	\$ 10,996	\$ 3,833	\$	35,183	\$	7,914	\$	80,710	\$	38,294	\$ 30,592	\$ 60,619	\$
are Data(2): e per ordinary before rdinary gain													
rdinary gain	\$ 587.02	\$ 208.47	\$	1,660.33 234.06	\$	431.62	\$	4,397.89	\$	914.49 1,203.42	\$ 1,699.56	\$ 3,367.72	\$ (2
come per ry share	\$ 587.02	\$ 208.47	\$	1,894.39	\$	431.62	\$	4,397.89	\$	2,117.91	\$ 1,699.56	\$ 3,367.72	\$ (2
						15							

	S	Three I End Septem 006	nded nber	1	ľ	Nine Months Ended September 30, Year Ended December 31, 2006 2005 2005 2004 2003 2002 (in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share data)											200		
come per dinary are before traordinary uns diluted xtraordinary un diluted	\$ 5	80.64	\$	204.73	\$	1,637.54 230.85	\$	422.70	\$	4,304.30	\$	906.13 1,192.40		1,699.56	\$	5 3,367.72	\$	(22.61	
et income er ordinary are diluted	1\$ 5	80.64	\$	204.73	\$	1,868.39	\$	422.70	\$	4,304.30	\$	2,098.53	3 \$	5 1,699.56	\$	5 3,367.72	\$	(22.61	
Veighted Verage dinary lares Itstanding Isic Veighted Verage dinary lares	1	.8,732		18,387		18,572		18,335		18,352		18,081	I	18,000		18,000		18,000	
itstanding luted ash	1	8,938		18,722		18,831		18,722		18,751		18,248	3	18,000		18,000		18,000	
vidends iid per share	\$	0	\$		\$	1,552.67	\$		\$		\$	645.83	3\$	6 4,483.41	\$	'	\$		
				Se		As of				A	As o	of Decemb	ber 3	1,					
				Sej	-	mber 30, 2006	u)	2005 n thousan	ıds	2004 of U.S. doll	lars	2003 s, except p		2002 Share data)		2001			
<b>Data</b> Cash	<b>a:</b>	-		Sheet		466,703 618,001	\$	345,329 539,568		\$ 350,45 591,63		\$ 127,2 268,4		\$ 85,91 258,42		\$ 71,90 175,06			
Reins		nce reco	over	able	3 1,4	315,223		250,229 1,199,963	)	341,62 1,347,85	27	175,0 632,3	091	122,93 514,59	37	238,16 527,84	52		

806,559

1,003,825

1,047,313

381,531

284,409

419,717

Reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses						
Total shareholder equity	267,448	260,906	177,338	147,616	167,473	63,696
<b>Book Value per Share:</b>						
Basic	14,277.60	14,189.70	9,721.41	8,200.89	9,304.06	3,538.67
Diluted	14,122.29	13,921.67	9,461.05	8,200.89	9,304.06	3,538.67

(1) For the period between August 16, 2001 (date of incorporation) and December 31, 2001.

- (2) Earnings per share is a measure based on net earnings divided by weighted average ordinary shares outstanding. Basic earnings per share is defined as net earnings available to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the period, giving no effect to dilutive securities. Diluted earnings per share is defined as net earnings available to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number of shares and share equivalents outstanding calculated using the treasury stock method for all potentially dilutive securities. When the effect of dilutive securities would be anti-dilutive, these securities are excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share.
- (3) Basic book value per share is defined as total shareholders equity available to ordinary shareholders divided by the number of ordinary shares outstanding as at the end of the period, giving no effect to dilutive securities. Diluted book value per share is defined as total shareholders equity available to ordinary shareholders divided by the number of ordinary shares and ordinary share equivalents outstanding at the end of the period, calculated using the treasury stock method for all potentially dilutive securities. When the effect of dilutive securities would be anti-dilutive, these securities are excluded from the calculation of diluted book value per share.

#### **Enstar Summary Historical Financial Data**

The following selected historical financial information of Enstar for each of the past five fiscal years has been derived from Enstar s audited historical financial statements, which were audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. The financial information as of September 30, 2006 and 2005, and for each of the three-month and nine-month periods then ended, has been derived from Enstar s unaudited financial statements which include, in management s opinion, all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary to present fairly the results of operations and financial position of Enstar for the periods and dates presented. This information is only a summary and should be read in conjunction with management s discussion and analysis of results of operations and financial condition of Enstar and the audited and unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto of Enstar incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus.

of	Three Months EndedSeptember 30,20062005			: 30, September 30,					.S. d	2005 ollars, exce	ept p	2004	ear Ended December 31, 2003 2002 e data)				
5																	
ry																	
ary	\$	2,243	\$	970	\$	5,203	\$	1,805	\$	19,045	\$	5,977	\$	13,226	\$	21,526	\$
es 2						875						4,415					
et																	
•	\$	2,243	\$	970	\$	6,078	\$	1,805	\$	19,045	\$	10,392	\$	13,226	\$	967 22,493	\$

asic

	Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A															
e .ry																
ary c	\$	0.39	\$	0.18	\$	0.92 0.16	\$	0.33	\$	3.45	\$	1.09 0.80	\$	2.42	\$ 3.94	\$
e n ic															0.18	
ic	\$	0.39	\$	0.18	\$	1.08	\$	0.33	\$	3.45	\$	1.89	\$	2.42	\$ 4.12	\$
r		5,739,384		5,517,909		5,621,279		5,517,909		5,517,909		5,496,819		5,465,753	5,465,753	
e .ry																
ary ted	\$	0.37	\$	0.17	\$	0.87 0.15	\$	0.31	\$	3.25	\$	1.03 0.76	\$	2.25	\$ 3.74	\$

0.17

	Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A															
e n uted \$	0.37	\$	0.17	\$	1.02	\$	0.31	\$	3.25	\$	1.79	\$	2.25	\$	3.91	\$
y C	6,002,448		5,862,172		5,939,750		5,852,596		5,856,144		5,800,993		5,881,410		5,753,553	
are								17								

	Septe	As of mber 30,	,							
	2	2006				As of Dec	eml	oer 31,		
				2005		2004		2003	2002	2001
				(iı	n th	ousands o	f U.	S. dollars)		
<b>Balance Sheet Data:</b>										
Total assets	\$ 2	200,279	\$	185,220	\$	158,977	\$	152,620	\$ 128,609	\$ 99,621
Total liabilities		20,811		20,097		12,803		6,688	8,360	1,964
Minority interest								11,449		
Shareholders equity		179,468		165,123		146,174		134,483	120,249	97,657

(1) Income per share is a measure based on net income divided by weighted average shares of common stock outstanding. Basic income per share is defined as net income available to common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, giving no effect to dilutive securities. Diluted income per share is defined as net income available to common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of shares of common stock and common stock equivalents outstanding calculated using the treasury stock method for all potentially dilutive securities. When the effect of dilutive securities would be anti-dilutive, these securities are excluded from the calculation of diluted income per share.

#### Summary Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Data

The following summary unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was prepared using the purchase method of accounting, with Castlewood treated as the acquirer for accounting purposes. The table below presents summary financial information from the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and for the year ended December 31, 2005 included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is presented as if the merger and related transactions had occurred on September 30, 2006 for purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet data and as of January 1, 2005 for purposes of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined operating data.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is based on estimates and assumptions set forth in the notes to such financial information, which are preliminary and have been made solely for the purpose of developing such pro forma information. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is not necessarily indicative of the financial position or operating results of New Enstar that would have been achieved had the merger and related transactions been consummated as of the dates noted above, nor are they necessarily indicative of the future financial position or operating results of New Enstar. This information should be read in conjunction with the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information and related notes and the historical financial statements and related notes included elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus.

#### **Enstar Group Limited**

### Summary Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information

Nine Months Ended

Year Ended

	ember 30, 2006 in thousand		nber 31, 2005 dollars)
Income Income before extraordinary gain Cash dividends paid per share	\$ 31,125	\$	81,859
		Septer	As of nber 30, 2006
Balance sheet data: Total assets Total liabilities Minority interest Shareholders equity		\$	1,613,839 1,229,230 50,116 334,493
18			

#### **Comparative Per Share Information**

The following table presents historical per share data for Castlewood and Enstar individually and on a pro forma basis after giving effect to the merger. The pro forma combined amounts are based on using the purchase method of accounting. The pro forma combined per share data of New Enstar was derived from the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements beginning on page 166. The assumptions related to the preparation of the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements are described beginning at page 170. The data presented below should be read in conjunction with the historical consolidated financial statements of Enstar incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus and with the historical consolidated financial statements of Castlewood included in this proxy statement/prospectus. The pro forma data below is presented for informational purposes. You should not rely on the pro forma amounts as being indicative of the operating results or financial position of New Enstar that would have actually occurred had the merger and related transactions been consummated as of the dates noted above, nor are the pro forma amounts necessarily indicative of the future operating results or financial position of New Enstar.

	Castlewood		Enstar			mbined Pro	Eq	uivalent Pro
	]	Historical	Hi	storical	F	'orma	Fo	rma(1)
Net income per ordinary share								
Year ended December 31, 2005								
Basic	\$	4,397.89	\$	3.45	\$	6.95	\$	6.95
Diluted	\$	4,304.30	\$	3.25	\$	6.59	\$	6.59
Nine months ended September 30, 2006								
Basic	\$	1,894.39	\$	1.08	\$	2.64	\$	2.64
Diluted	\$	1868.39	\$	1.02	\$	2.51	\$	2.51
Book value per ordinary share as of September 30,								
2006								
Basic	\$	14,277.60	\$	31.27	\$	27.52	\$	27.52
Diluted	\$	14,122.29	\$	29.89	\$	26.13	\$	26.13
Cash dividends per ordinary share								
Year ended December 31, 2005	\$		\$		\$		\$	
Nine months ended September 30, 2006								
Basic(2)	\$	1,552.67	\$		\$	3.84	\$	3.84
Diluted(2)	\$	1,552.67	\$		\$	3.65	\$	3.65

(1) Equivalent pro forma is equal to the combined pro forma because the share exchange ratio is one-to-one.

(2) Cash dividends in the pro forma column include the proposed \$3.00 per share dividend to be paid by Enstar to its shareholders as of the applicable record date if the merger is consummated and dividends paid by Castlewood to its shareholders in April of 2006.

#### **Per Share Market Price Information**

The closing price per share of Enstar common stock on May 23, 2006, the last trading day before the announcement of the execution of the merger agreement, was \$76.36. The closing price per share of Enstar common stock as reported

#### Table of Contents

on Nasdaq on , the most recent trading day practicable before the printing of this proxy statement/prospectus, was .

There is no established public trading market for Castlewood s shares. In connection with the merger, New Enstar has applied to have New Enstar s ordinary shares listed for trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol ESGR, subject to official notice of issuance.



### **Dividend Information**

If the merger is consummated, Enstar shareholders as of the applicable record date will receive a one-time \$3.00 per share cash dividend on their Enstar common stock, payable immediately prior to the merger. Enstar has not declared or paid any other cash dividend on any of its securities since 1989. If the merger is not consummated, Enstar currently intends to retain its earnings to finance the growth and development of its future business and does not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. If the merger is not consummated, the payment of cash dividends in the future will depend upon such factors as Enstar earnings, capital requirements, financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by Enstar s board of directors.

In March 2003, Castlewood s board of directors declared a dividend of \$3,471 per share to holders of Class A Shares and \$5,495.83 per share to holders of its Class B Shares, which dividends were paid on March 24, 2003.

In March 2004, Castlewood s board of directors declared a dividend of \$500 per share to holders of its Class A Shares and \$791.67 per share to holders of its Class B Shares, which dividends were paid on May 10, 2004.

In April 2006, Castlewood s board of directors declared a dividend of \$3,356 per share to holders of its Class A Shares, \$490.75 per share to holders of its Class B Shares and \$811.22 per share to holders of its Class C Shares, which dividends were paid on April 26, 2006. Also in April 2006, Castlewood s board of directors approved the redemption of all of Castlewood s outstanding Class E shares for \$22.4 million.

Castlewood paid no dividends during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2005.

### **RISK FACTORS**

Shareholders of Enstar voting in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement will be choosing to invest in New Enstar s ordinary shares and to combine the business of Enstar with that of Castlewood. In deciding whether to vote in favor of the merger and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, you should consider the following risks related to the merger, to New Enstar s business and to certain other matters. You should carefully consider these risks along with the other information included in this proxy statement/prospectus, including the matters addressed in the section entitled Forward-Looking Statements beginning on page 35, and the other information incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus.

### **Risks Relating to the Merger**

# The value of the New Enstar ordinary shares that you receive in the merger may be less than the current value of your shares of Enstar common stock.

The value of the New Enstar ordinary shares that you will receive in the merger may be less than the market price of your Enstar common stock on the date of this proxy statement/prospectus or on the date of the Enstar Annual Meeting. If the merger is consummated, each share of Enstar common stock will be converted into one ordinary share of New Enstar. The exchange ratio is a fixed ratio that will not be adjusted as a result of any increase or decrease in the market price of shares of Enstar common stock. The value of the New Enstar ordinary shares that you receive in the merger will depend on the public trading price of the New Enstar ordinary shares after the merger. The New Enstar ordinary shares will not be publicly traded until the merger is consummated. As a result, at the time of the Annual Meeting, you will not know the market value of the New Enstar ordinary shares that you will receive in the merger.

# The merger will result in the holders of Enstar s common stock owning a smaller percentage of New Enstar than they currently own of Enstar, which could reduce their ability to affect changes to New Enstar s board of directors, management and policies.

As a result of the merger, the non-affiliated public shareholders of Enstar will own a 32.5% interest in New Enstar rather than a 66.8% interest in Enstar. Given the ownership of New Enstar by its officers, directors and their respective affiliates, this diminution in ownership may result in the former non-affiliated public shareholders of Enstar having a significantly reduced ability to effect changes in New Enstar s board of directors, management and policies. For example, under New Enstar s second amended and restated bye-laws many corporate actions require the approval of the holders of a majority of New Enstar s ordinary shares and such actions may be approved without the approval of New Enstar s non-affiliated public shareholders.

#### We may not realize the anticipated benefits of the merger.

The success of the merger will depend, in part, on the ability of New Enstar to realize the anticipated growth opportunities, expanded market visibility and increased access to capital that we expect to result from combining the business of Enstar with that of Castlewood. If we fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the merger, holders of New Enstar ordinary shares may receive lower returns.

# If the merger does not constitute a reorganization under section 368(a) of the Code, then Enstar shareholders may be responsible for payment of U.S. federal income taxes.

The merger is conditioned upon the receipt by Castlewood and Enstar of an opinion of Debevoise & Plimpton LLP, counsel to Enstar, to the effect that the merger should constitute a reorganization under section 368(a) of the Code. This opinion of counsel will be based on, among other things, current law and certain representations as to factual matters made by Castlewood and Enstar, which, if incorrect, may jeopardize the conclusions reached by such counsel in its opinion. In addition, this legal opinion will not be binding upon the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. If for any reason the merger does not qualify as a tax-free reorganization under section 368(a) of the Code, then each Enstar shareholder would recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between the fair market value of the New Enstar ordinary shares received by the

shareholder in the merger and the shareholder s adjusted tax basis in the shares of Enstar common stock exchanged therefor.

## Certain of Enstar s officers and directors have interests in the merger and relationships that may have influenced their approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

Certain of Enstar s directors and executive officers have interests in the merger that are different from, or in addition to, yours. These interests include, among others: a new employment agreement between New Enstar, Castlewood (US) Inc., a subsidiary of Castlewood, and John J. Oros; accelerated vesting of 80,000 options granted to certain Enstar directors and officers; a severance payment of \$350,000 to Nimrod T. Frazer under his existing employment agreement; tax indemnification by Castlewood of J. Christopher Flowers; registration rights granted to Enstar s directors; rights of two directors of Enstar to each sell up to 25,000 ordinary shares of New Enstar back to New Enstar; service of the current Enstar directors on New Enstar s board of directors; and indemnification by New Enstar of past and present directors and officers of Enstar. See Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 60. In addition, each of Enstar and Castlewood has entered into transactions with companies and partnerships that are affiliated with Messrs. Flowers and/or Oros, and an entity of which Mr. Flowers is a director and the largest shareholder owns a minority interest in a subsidiary of Castlewood. See Certain Relationships and Related Transactions beginning on page 182. While Enstar does not believe that such interests and relationships adversely affected the efforts of representatives of Enstar to negotiate favorable merger terms, or the terms that were ultimately negotiated, you should take into account the possibility that such efforts or terms were adversely affected by such interests or relationships.

# Failure to consummate the merger could negatively impact the share price and the future business and financial results of Enstar.

If the merger is not consummated, the ongoing business of Enstar may be adversely affected and Enstar will be subject to several risks, including the following:

- Enstar may be required to pay certain costs relating to the merger, such as legal, accounting and printing fees; and
- management of Enstar may be focused on the merger instead of pursuing other opportunities that could be beneficial to it.

If the merger is not consummated, Enstar cannot ensure its shareholders that these risks will not materialize and will not materially affect the business, financial results and share price of Enstar.

#### Risks Relating to New Enstar s Business

# If we are unable to implement our business strategies, our business and financial condition may be adversely affected.

New Enstar s future results of operations will depend in significant part on the extent to which we can implement our business strategies successfully. Our business strategies after the merger include continuing to operate Castlewood s portfolio of run-off insurance and reinsurance companies and related management engagements, as well as pursuing additional acquisitions and management engagements in the run-off segment of the insurance and reinsurance market. We may not be able to implement our strategies fully or realize the anticipated results of our strategies as a result of significant business, economic and competitive uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control.

The effects of emerging claims and coverage issues may result in increased provisions for loss reserves and reduced profitability in New Enstar s insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. Such adverse business issues may also reduce the level of incentive-based fees generated by New Enstar s consulting operations. Adverse global economic conditions, such as rising interest rates and volatile foreign exchange rates, may cause widespread failure of our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries reinsurers ability to satisfy their obligations

as well as failure of companies to meet their obligations under debt instruments held by our subsidiaries. If the run-off industry becomes more attractive to investors, competition for run-off acquisitions and management and consultancy engagements may increase and, therefore, reduce our ability to continue to make profitable acquisitions or expand our consultancy operations. If we are unable to successfully implement our business strategies, we may not be able to achieve future growth in our earnings and our financial condition may suffer.

# Our inability to successfully manage our portfolio of insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off may adversely impact our ability to grow our business and may result in losses.

Castlewood was founded to acquire and manage companies and portfolios of insurance and reinsurance in run-off. Our run-off business differs from the business of traditional insurance and reinsurance underwriting in that our insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off no longer underwrite new policies and are subject to the risk that their stated provisions for losses and loss adjustment expense will not be sufficient to cover future losses and the cost of run-off. Because our companies in run-off no longer collect underwriting premiums, our sources of capital to cover losses are limited to our stated reserves, reinsurance coverage and retained earnings. As of September 30, 2006, our gross reserves for losses and loss adjustment expense totaled \$1.0 billion, and our reinsurance receivables totaled \$315.2 million.

In order for us to achieve positive operating results, we must first price acquisitions on favorable terms relative to the risks posed by the acquired portfolio and then successfully manage the acquired portfolios. Our inability to price acquisitions on favorable terms, efficiently manage claims, collect from reinsurers and control run-off expenses could result in us having to cover losses sustained under assumed policies with retained earnings, which would materially and adversely impact our ability to grow our business and may result in losses.

# Our inability to successfully manage the companies and portfolios for which we have been engaged as a third-party manager may adversely impact our financial results and our ability to win future management engagements.

In addition to acquiring insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off, we have entered into several management agreements with third parties to manage their portfolios or companies in run-off. The terms of these management engagements typically include incentive payments to us based on our ability to successfully manage the run-off of these companies or portfolios. We may not be able to accomplish our objectives for these engagements as a result of unforeseen circumstances such as the length of time for claims to develop, the extent to which losses may exceed reserves, changes in the law that may require coverage of additional claims and losses, our ability to commute reinsurance policies on favorable terms and our ability to manage run-off expenses. If we are not successful in meeting our objectives for these management engagements, we may not receive incentive payments under our management agreements, which could adversely impact our financial results, and we may not win future engagements to provide these management services, which could slow the growth of our business. Consulting fees generated from management agreements amounted to \$22.0 million, \$23.7 million and \$24.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.

# If our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries loss reserves are inadequate to cover their actual losses, our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries net income and capital and surplus would be reduced.

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries are required to maintain reserves to cover their estimated ultimate liability for losses and loss adjustment expenses for both reported and unreported claims incurred. These reserves are only estimates of what our subsidiaries think the settlement and administration of claims will cost based on facts and circumstances known to the subsidiaries. Our commutation activity and claims settlement and development in recent years has resulted in net reductions in provisions for loss and loss adjustment expenses of \$96.0 million, \$13.7 million and \$24.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively.

Although this recent experience indicates that our loss reserves have been more than adequate to meet our liabilities, because of the uncertainties that surround estimating loss reserves and loss adjustment expenses, our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries

cannot be certain that ultimate losses will not exceed these estimates of losses and loss adjustment expenses. If the subsidiaries reserves are insufficient to cover their actual losses and loss adjustment expenses, the subsidiaries would have to augment their reserves and incur a charge to their earnings. These charges could be material and would reduce our net income and capital and surplus.

The difficulty in estimating the subsidiaries reserves is increased because the subsidiaries loss reserves include reserves for potential asbestos and environmental liabilities. At December 31, 2005 our insurance and reinsurance companies recorded gross asbestos and environmental loss reserves of \$578.1 million, or 71.7% of the total gross loss reserves. Net asbestos and environmental loss reserves at December 31, 2005 amounted to \$384.0 million, or 64.7% of total net loss reserves. Asbestos and environmental liabilities are especially hard to estimate for many reasons, including the long waiting periods between exposure and manifestation of any bodily injury or property damage, the difficulty in identifying the source of the asbestos or environmental contamination, long reporting delays and the difficulty in properly allocating liability for the asbestos or environmental damage. Developed case law and adequate claim history do not always exist for such claims, especially because significant uncertainty exists about the outcome of coverage litigation and whether past claim experience will be representative of future claim experience. In view of the changes in the legal and tort environment that affect the development of such claims, the uncertainties inherent in valuing asbestos and environmental claims are not likely to be resolved in the near future. Ultimate values for such claims cannot be estimated using traditional reserving techniques and there are significant uncertainties in estimating the amount of our subsidiaries potential losses for these claims. Our subsidiaries have not made any changes in reserve estimates that might arise as a result of any proposed U.S. federal legislation related to asbestos. We increased our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries asbestos and environmental gross loss reserves by \$32.4 million in 2003 (\$38.9 million net increase) primarily as a result of industry-wide adverse claims developments. We reduced these gross loss reserves by \$13.7 million in 2004 and \$172.3 million in 2005 (\$33.4 million net reduction in 2004 and \$100.6 million net reduction in 2005) as a result of subsequent successful commutations, policy buybacks and favorable claims settlements. There can be no assurance that the reserves established by our subsidiaries will be adequate to cover future losses or will not be adversely affected by the development of other latent exposures. To further understand this risk, see Information about Castlewood Reserves for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expense beginning on page 87.

# Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries reinsurers may not satisfy their obligations to our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries.

Our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries are subject to credit risk with respect to their reinsurers because the transfer of risk to a reinsurer does not relieve our subsidiaries of their liability to the insured. In addition, reinsurers may be unwilling to pay our subsidiaries even though they are able to do so. As at September 30, 2006, the balances receivable from reinsurers amounted to \$315.2 million, of which \$167.2 million was associated with a single reinsurer with a Standard & Poor s credit rating of A+. The failure of one or more of our subsidiaries reinsurers to honor their obligations in a timely fashion may affect our cash flows, reduce our net income or cause us to incur a significant loss. Disputes with our reinsurers may also result in unforeseen expenses relating to litigation or arbitration proceedings.

# The value of our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries investment portfolios and the investment income that our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries receive from these portfolios may decline as a result of market fluctuations and economic conditions.

The fair market value of the fixed-income securities and equity securities classified as available-for-sale in our subsidiaries investment portfolios, amounting to \$224.3 million at September 30, 2006, and the investment income from these assets fluctuate depending on general economic and market conditions. For example, the fair market value of our subsidiaries fixed-income securities generally increases or decreases in an inverse relationship with fluctuations in interest rates. The fair market value of our subsidiaries fixed-income securities generally increases or decreases in an inverse relationship with fluctuations in interest rates.

downturn in the business cycle that causes the credit quality of those securities to deteriorate. The net investment income that our subsidiaries realize from investments in fixed income securities will generally increase or decrease with interest rates. The changes in

the market value of our subsidiaries securities that are classified as available-for-sale are reflected in our financial statements. Permanent impairments in the value of our subsidiaries fixed income securities are also reflected in our financial statements. As a result, a decline in the value of the securities in our subsidiaries portfolio may reduce our net income or cause us to incur a loss.

#### Fluctuations in the reinsurance industry may cause our operating results to fluctuate.

The reinsurance industry historically has been subject to significant fluctuations and uncertainties. Factors that affect the industry in general may also cause our operating results to fluctuate. The industry s profitability may be affected significantly by:

fluctuations in interest rates, inflationary pressures and other changes in the investment environment, which affect returns on invested capital and may affect the ultimate payout of loss amounts and the costs of administering books of reinsurance business;

volatile and unpredictable developments, which may adversely affect the recoverability of reinsurance from our reinsurers;

changes in reserves resulting from different types of claims that may arise and the development of judicial interpretations relating to the scope of insurers liability; and

the overall level of economic activity and the competitive environment in the industry.

#### The effects of emerging claim and coverage issues on our business are uncertain.

As industry practices and legal, judicial, social and other environmental conditions change, unexpected and unintended issues related to claims and coverage may emerge. These issues may adversely affect the adequacy of our provision for losses and loss adjustment expenses by either extending coverage beyond the intent of insurance policies and reinsurance contracts envisioned at the time they were written, or by increasing the number or size of claims. In some instances, these changes may not become apparent until some time after we have acquired companies or portfolios of insurance or reinsurance contracts that are affected by the changes. As a result, the full extent of liability under these insurance or reinsurance contracts may not be known for many years after a contract has been issued. To further understand this risk, see Information about Castlewood Reserves for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expense beginning on page 87.

# Insurance laws and regulations restrict our ability to operate, and any failure to comply with these laws and regulations may have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to extensive regulation under insurance laws of a number of jurisdictions. These laws limit the amount of dividends that can be paid to us by our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, prescribe solvency standards that they must meet and maintain, impose restrictions on the amount and type of investments that they can hold to meet solvency requirements and require them to maintain reserves. Failure to comply with these laws may subject our subsidiaries to fines and penalties and restrict them from conducting business. The application of these laws may affect our liquidity and ability to pay dividends on our ordinary shares and may restrict our ability to expand our business operations through acquisitions. At December 31, 2005, the required statutory capital and surplus of our Bermuda, U.K. and Swiss insurance and reinsurance companies amounted to \$48.9 million compared to the actual statutory capital and surplus of \$285.6 million. As at December 31, 2005, \$1.8 million of our total investments of \$539.6 million was not admissible for statutory solvency purposes.

# If we fail to comply with applicable insurance laws and regulations, we may be subject to disciplinary action, damages, penalties or restrictions that may have a material adverse effect on our business.

We cannot assure you that our subsidiaries have or can maintain all required licenses and approvals or that their businesses fully comply with the laws and regulations to which they are subject, or the relevant insurance regulatory authority s interpretation of those laws and regulations. In addition, some regulatory authorities have relatively broad discretion to grant, renew or revoke licenses and approvals. If our subsidiaries

do not have the requisite licenses and approvals or do not comply with applicable regulatory requirements, the insurance regulatory authorities may preclude or suspend our subsidiaries from carrying on some or all of their activities, or impose monetary penalties on them. These types of actions may have a material adverse effect on our business and may preclude us from making future acquisitions or obtaining future engagements to manage companies and portfolios in run-off.

# Castlewood has made, and New Enstar expects to continue to make, strategic acquisitions of insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off, and these activities may not be financially beneficial to us or our shareholders.

Castlewood has pursued and, as part of our strategy, we will continue to pursue growth through acquisitions and/or strategic investments in insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off. Castlewood and its subsidiaries have made several acquisitions and investments and we expect to continue to make such acquisitions and investments. See

Information About Castlewood Business Acquisition of Insurers or Portfolios in Run-Off beginning on page 84. We cannot be certain that any of these acquisitions or investments will be financially advantageous for us or our shareholders.

The negotiation of potential acquisitions or strategic investments as well as the integration of an acquired business or portfolio could result in a substantial diversion of management resources. Acquisitions could involve numerous additional risks such as potential losses from unanticipated litigation or levels of claims, an inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs and financial exposures in the event that the sellers of the entities we acquire are unable or unwilling to meet their indemnification, reinsurance and other obligations to us.

Our ability to manage our growth through acquisitions or strategic investments will depend, in part, on our success in addressing these risks. Any failure by us to effectively implement our acquisition or strategic investment strategies could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

# Future acquisitions may expose us to operational risks such as cash flow shortages, challenges to recruit appropriate levels of personnel, financial exposures to foreign currencies, additional integration costs and management time and effort.

We may in the future make additional strategic acquisitions, either of other companies or selected portfolios of insurance or reinsurance in run-off. Any future acquisitions may expose us to operational challenges and risks, including:

funding cash flow shortages that may occur if anticipated revenues are not realized or are delayed, whether by general economic or market conditions or unforeseen internal difficulties;

funding cash flow shortages that may occur if expenses are greater than anticipated;

the value of assets being lower than expected or diminishing because of credit defaults or changes in interest rates, or liabilities assumed being greater than expected;

integrating financial and operational reporting systems, including assurance of compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002;

establishing satisfactory budgetary and other financial controls;

funding increased capital needs and overhead expenses;

obtaining management personnel required for expanded operations; and

the assets and liabilities we may acquire may be subject to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuation.

Our failure to manage successfully these operational challenges and risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

# Exit and finality opportunities provided by solvent schemes of arrangement may not continue to be available which may result in the diversion of our resources to settle policyholder claims for a substantially longer run-off period and increase the associated costs of run-off of our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries.

With respect to our U.K. and Bermudian insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, Castlewood is able to pursue strategies to achieve complete finality and conclude the run-off of a company by promoting solvent schemes of arrangement. Solvent schemes of arrangement have been a popular means of achieving financial certainty and finality, for insurance and reinsurance companies incorporated or managed in the U.K. and Bermuda, by making a one-time full and final settlement of an insurance and reinsurance company s liabilities to policyholders. A solvent scheme of arrangement is an arrangement between a company and its creditors or any class of them. For a solvent scheme of arrangement to become binding on the creditors, a meeting of each class of creditors must be called, with the permission of the local court, to consider and, if thought fit, approve the solvent scheme arrangement. The requisite statutory majority of creditors of not less than 75% in value and 50% in number of those creditors actually attending the meeting, either in person or by proxy, must vote in favor of a solvent scheme of arrangement. Once the solvent scheme of arrangement has been approved by the statutory majority of voting creditors of the company it requires the sanction of the local court.

In July 2005, the case of British Aviation Insurance Company, or BAIC, was the first solvent scheme of arrangement to fail to be sanctioned by the English High Court, following opposition by certain creditors. The primary reason for the failure of the BAIC arrangement was the failure to adequately provide for different classes of creditors to vote separately on the arrangement. It was thought at the time that the BAIC judgment may signal the decline of solvent schemes of arrangement. However, since BAIC four solvent schemes of arrangement have been sanctioned, such that the prevailing view is that the BAIC judgment was very fact-specific to the case in question, and solvent schemes generally should continue to be promoted and sanctioned as a viable means for achieving finality for our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. Following the BAIC judgment, insurance and reinsurance companies must now take more care in drafting a solvent scheme of arrangement to fit the circumstances of the company including the determination of the appropriate classes of creditors. Should a solvent scheme of arrangement promoted by an insurance or reinsurance subsidiary of New Enstar fail to receive the requisite approval by creditors or sanction by the court, we will have to run off these liabilities until expiry, which may result in the diversion of our resources to settle policyholder claims for a substantially longer run-off period and increase the associated costs of run-off, resulting potentially in a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

# We are dependent on our executive officers, directors and other key personnel and the loss of any of these individuals could adversely affect our business.

Our success substantially depends on our ability to attract and retain qualified employees and upon the ability of our senior management and other key employees to implement our business strategy. We believe that there are only a limited number of available qualified personnel in the business in which we compete. We rely substantially upon the services of Dominic F. Silvester, our Chief Executive Officer, Paul J. O Shea and Nicholas A. Packer, our Executive Vice Presidents, Richard J. Harris, our Chief Financial Officer, John J. Oros, who will become our Executive Chairman, and our other executive officers and directors to identify and consummate the acquisition of insurance and reinsurance companies and portfolios in run-off on favorable terms and to implement our run-off strategy. Each of Messrs. Silvester, O Shea and Packer has an employment agreement with us. Mr. Oros will also have an employment agreement with us that will go into effect upon consummation of the merger. In addition to serving as our Executive Chairman following the merger, Mr. Oros is a managing director of J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, an investment firm specializing in privately negotiated equity and equity-related investments in the financial services industry. Mr. Oros will split his time commitment between New Enstar and J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, with the expectation that Mr. Oros will spend approximately 50% of his working time with New Enstar; however, there is no minimum work commitment set forth in Mr. Oros s employment agreement with New Enstar. J. Christopher Flowers, one of Enstar s

and Castlewood s directors and, following the merger, a director of New Enstar and one of its largest shareholders, is a Managing Director of J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. We believe that our relationships with Mr. Oros and

Mr. Flowers and their affiliates provide us with access to additional acquisition and investment opportunities, as well as sources of co-investment for acquisition opportunities that we do not have the resources to consummate on our own. The loss of the services of any of our management or other key personnel, or the loss of the services of or our relationships with any of our directors, including in particular Mr. Oros and Mr. Flowers, or their affiliates could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Further, if we were to lose any of our key employees in Bermuda, we would likely hire non-Bermudians to replace them. Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudians (other than spouses of Bermudians, holders of permanent resident s certificates or holders of a working resident s certificate) may not engage in any gainful occupation in Bermuda without an appropriate governmental work permit. Work permits may be granted or extended by the Bermuda government upon showing that, after proper public advertisement in most cases, no Bermudian (or spouse of a Bermudian, holder of a permanent resident s certificate or holders of a working resident s certificate) is available who meets the minimum standard requirements for the advertised position. The Bermuda government s policy limits the duration of work permits to six years, with certain exemptions for key employees and job categories where there is a worldwide shortage of qualified employees.

### Conflicts of interest might prevent us from pursuing desirable investment and business opportunities.

Our directors and executive officers may have ownership interests or other involvement with entities that could compete against us, either in the pursuit of acquisition targets or in general business operations. On occasion, we have also participated in transactions in which one or more of our directors or executive officers had an interest. In particular, we have invested, and expect to continue to invest, in or with entities that are affiliates of or otherwise related to Mr. Oros and/or Mr. Flowers. The interests of our directors and executive officers in such transactions or such entities may result in a conflict of interest for those directors and officers. We intend to have the independent members of our board of directors review any material transaction involving a conflict of interest, as well as take other actions as may be deemed appropriate by our board of directors in particular circumstances, such as forming a special committee of independent directors or engaging third party financial advisers to evaluate such transactions. We may not be able pursue to all advantageous transactions that we would otherwise pursue in the absence of a conflict should our board of directors be unable to determine that any such transaction is on terms as favorable as we could otherwise obtain in the absence of a conflict.

# We may require additional capital in the future that may not be available or may only be available on unfavorable terms.

Our future capital requirements depend on many factors, including our ability to manage the run-off of our assumed policies and to establish reserves at levels sufficient to cover losses. We may need to raise additional funds through financings in the future. Any equity or debt financing, if available at all, may be on terms that are not favorable to us. In the case of equity financings, dilution to our shareholders could result, and, in any case, such securities may have rights, preferences and privileges that are senior to those of our already outstanding securities. If we cannot obtain adequate capital, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.

### We are a holding company, and we are dependent on the ability of our subsidiaries to distribute funds to us.

We are a holding company and conduct substantially all of our operations through subsidiaries. Our only significant assets are the capital stock of our subsidiaries. As a holding company, we are dependent on distributions of funds from our subsidiaries to pay dividends, fund acquisitions or fulfill financial obligations in the normal course of our business. Our subsidiaries may not generate sufficient cash from operations to enable us to make dividend payments, acquire additional companies or insurance or reinsurance portfolios or fulfill other financial obligations. The ability of our insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries to make

distributions to us is limited by applicable insurance laws and regulations, and the ability of all of our subsidiaries to make distributions to us may be restricted by, among other things, other applicable laws and regulations.

### Fluctuations in currency exchange rates may cause us to experience losses.

We maintain a portion of our investments, insurance liabilities and insurance assets denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars. Consequently, we and our subsidiaries may experience foreign exchange losses.

We publish our consolidated financial statements in U.S. dollars. Therefore, fluctuations in exchange rates used to convert other currencies, particularly other European currencies including the Euro and British pound, into U.S. dollars will impact our reported consolidated financial condition, results of operations and cash flows from year to year.

# **Risks Relating to Ownership of New Enstar Ordinary Shares**

### There is no existing market for our ordinary shares.

There is no current public trading market for New Enstar ordinary shares. We cannot predict the prices at which our ordinary shares may trade following the merger. Such trading prices will be determined by the marketplace and may be influenced by many factors, including the depth and liquidity in the market for such shares, investor perceptions of us and the industry in which we participate, our dividend policy and general economic and market conditions. Until an orderly market develops, the trading prices for our shares may fluctuate significantly.

### The market value of our ordinary shares may decline if large numbers of shares are sold following the merger.

If, following the merger, large amounts of our ordinary shares are sold, the price of our ordinary shares may decline. Enstar s common stock historically has been thinly traded with an average daily trading volume between January 1, 2005 and September 28, 2006 of less than 5,000 shares. In addition, Enstar generally has not received meaningful analyst coverage. Because Enstar s common stock historically has been thinly traded, we expect that, at least initially, New Enstar s ordinary shares will also be thinly traded because following the merger, 49.8% of our ordinary shares will be held by certain of our directors and executive officers and their respective affiliates, and, therefore, the public float will be relatively low. Further, we anticipate that initially New Enstar may not attract meaningful analyst coverage. Consequently, if relatively small amounts of our ordinary shares are sold, the price of our ordinary shares may decline. Current shareholders of Castlewood and Enstar may not wish to continue to invest in New Enstar or for other reasons may wish to dispose of some or all of their interests in New Enstar. Actual or potential sales by officers, directors or large shareholders of New Enstar may be viewed negatively by other investors.

Castlewood, Trident, Messrs. Flowers and Silvester and certain other shareholders of Castlewood will enter into a registration rights agreement in connection with the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the recapitalization agreement. The registration rights agreement will become effective immediately upon the consummation of the merger. The registration rights agreement will provide that, after the expiration of one year from the date of the registration rights agreement, Trident, Mr. Flowers and Mr. Silvester may request that New Enstar effect the registration under the Securities Act of certain of such holder s New Enstar shares. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the registration rights agreement further provides that, after the expiration of 90 days from the date of the registration rights agreement and prior to the first anniversary of such date, Trident has the right to require New Enstar to effect the registration of up to 750,000 of Trident s New Enstar shares.

# Our stock price may experience volatility, thereby causing a potential loss of value to our investors.

The market price for our ordinary shares may fluctuate substantially due to, among other things, the following factors:

announcements with respect to an acquisition or investment;

changes in the value of our assets;

our quarterly operating results;

changes in general conditions in the economy;

the financial markets; and

adverse press or news announcements.

There is no current public trading market for New Enstar ordinary shares, and assuming a market develops, that market may be characterized by significant price volatility. Enstar has experienced price volatility in the past. For example, during the period from January 1, 2006 through September 28, 2006, the lowest closing price for shares of Enstar common stock was \$65.00 (occurring on January 5, 2006) and the highest closing price for shares of Enstar common stock was \$100.91 (occurring on August 17, 2006). During 2005, the lowest closing price for shares of Enstar common stock was \$49.40 (occurring on April 20) and the highest closing price for shares of Enstar common stock was \$72.58 (occurring on December 15, 2005). In addition, from time to time, the stock market experiences significant price and volume fluctuations. This volatility affects the market prices of securities issued by many companies for reasons unrelated to their operating performance.

# A few significant shareholders may influence or control the direction of our business. If the ownership of our ordinary shares continues to be highly concentrated, it may limit your ability and the ability of other shareholders to influence significant corporate decisions.

The interests of Trident and Messrs. Flowers, Silvester, Packer and O Shea may not be fully aligned with your interests, and this may lead to a strategy that is not in your best interest. Following the consummation of the merger, Trident will beneficially own approximately 17.6% of the outstanding New Enstar ordinary shares, and Messrs. Flowers, Silvester, Packer and O Shea will beneficially own approximately 10.4%, 18.9%, 6.0% and 6.0%, respectively, of the outstanding New Enstar ordinary shares. Although they do not act as a group, Trident and each of Messrs. Flowers, Silvester, Packer and O Shea will exercise significant influence over matters requiring shareholder approval. Although they do not act as a group, the concentrated holdings of Trident and Messrs. Flowers, Silvester, Packer, and O Shea may delay or deter possible changes in control of New Enstar, which may reduce the market price of New Enstar ordinary shares. For further information on aspects of our bye-laws that may discourage changes of control of New Enstar, see Some aspects of our corporate structure may discourage third-party takeovers and other transactions or prevent the removal of our board of directors and management below.

# As a result of the merger, we will be subject to financial reporting and other requirements for which our accounting and other management systems and resources may not be adequately prepared.

Enstar s reporting and control systems are appropriate for that of a public company. However, as a private company, Castlewood has not been directly subject to reporting and other requirements of the Exchange Act. As a result of the merger, New Enstar will be directly subject to reporting and other obligations under the Exchange Act, including the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, which will require annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and a report by our independent auditors addressing these assessments. These reporting and other obligations will place significant demands on our management, administrative and operational resources, including accounting resources. If we are unable to integrate and upgrade our financial and management controls, reporting systems, information technology and procedures in a timely and effective fashion, our ability to comply with financial reporting requirements and other rules that apply to reporting companies may be impaired. Any failure to achieve and maintain effective internal controls may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and stock price.

# Some aspects of our corporate structure may discourage third-party takeovers and other transactions or prevent the removal of our board of directors and management.

Some provisions of our bye-laws have the effect of making more difficult or discouraging unsolicited takeover bids from third parties or preventing the removal of our current board of directors and management. In particular, our bye-laws make it difficult for any U.S. shareholder or Direct Foreign Shareholder Group (a

shareholder or group of commonly controlled shareholders of New Enstar that are not U.S. persons) to own or control ordinary shares that constitute 9.5% or more of the voting power of all of our ordinary shares. The votes conferred by such shares will be reduced by whatever amount is necessary so that after any such reduction the votes conferred by such shares will constitute 9.5% of the total voting power of all ordinary shares entitled to vote generally. The primary purpose of this restriction is to reduce the likelihood that we will be deemed a controlled foreign corporation within the meaning of the Code, for U.S. federal tax purposes. However, this limit may also have the effect of deterring purchases of large blocks of our ordinary shares or proposals to acquire us, even if some or a majority of our shareholders might deem these purchases or acquisition proposals to be in their best interests. In addition, our bye-laws provide for a classified board, whose members may be removed by our shareholders only for cause by a majority vote, and contain restrictions on the ability of shareholders to nominate persons to serve as directors, submit resolutions to a shareholder vote and request special general meetings.

These bye-law provisions make it more difficult to acquire control of us by means of a tender offer, open market purchase, proxy contest or otherwise. These provisions are designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to negotiate with our directors, which we believe would generally best serve the interests of our shareholders. However, these provisions may have the effect of discouraging a prospective acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us. In addition, these bye-law provisions may prevent the removal of our current board of directors and management. To the extent these provisions discourage takeover attempts, they may deprive shareholders of opportunities to realize takeover premiums for their shares or may depress the market price of the shares.

# Because we are incorporated in Bermuda, it may be difficult for shareholders to serve process or enforce judgments against us or our directors and officers.

We are a Bermuda company. In addition, certain of our officers and directors reside in countries outside the United States. All or a substantial portion of our assets and the assets of these officers and directors are or may be located outside the United States. Investors may have difficulty effecting service of process within the United States on our directors and officers who reside outside the United States or recovering against us or these directors and officers on judgments of U.S. courts based on civil liabilities provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws even if we appoint an agent in the United States to receive service of process.

Further, no claim may be brought in Bermuda against us or our directors and officers in the first instance for violation of U.S. federal securities laws because these laws have no extraterritorial jurisdiction under Bermuda law and do not have force of law in Bermuda. A Bermuda court may, however, impose civil liability, including the possibility of monetary damages, on us or our directors and officers if the facts alleged in a complaint constitute or give rise to a cause of action under Bermuda law.

We have been advised by Conyers Dill & Pearman, our Bermuda counsel, that there is doubt as to whether the courts of Bermuda would enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained in actions against us or our directors and officers, as well as the experts named in this proxy statement/prospectus, predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws or original actions brought in Bermuda against us or these persons predicated solely upon U.S. federal securities laws. Further, we have been advised by Conyers Dill & Pearman that there is no treaty in effect between the United States and Bermuda providing for the enforcement of judgments of U.S. courts, and there are grounds upon which Bermuda courts may not enforce judgments of U.S. courts.

Some remedies available under the laws of U.S. jurisdictions, including some remedies available under the U.S. federal securities laws, may not be allowed in Bermuda courts as contrary to that jurisdiction s public policy. Because judgments of U.S. courts are not automatically enforceable in Bermuda, it may be difficult for you to recover against us based upon such judgments.

# Shareholders who own our ordinary shares may have more difficulty in protecting their interests than shareholders of a U.S. corporation.

The Bermuda Companies Act, or the Companies Act, which applies to us, differs in certain material respects from laws generally applicable to U.S. corporations and their shareholders. As a result of these differences, shareholders who own our shares may have more difficulty protecting their interests than shareholders who own shares of a U.S. corporation. For example, class actions and derivative actions are generally not available to shareholders under Bermuda law. Under Bermuda law and our second amended and restated bye-laws, only shareholders holding 5% or more of our outstanding ordinary shares or numbering 100 or more are entitled to propose a resolution at a New Enstar general meeting. Shareholders of Enstar do not have to satisfy such requirements to propose a resolution at a Enstar shareholders meeting. To further understand this risk, see Comparison of Shareholder Rights beginning on page 193 for more information on the differences between Bermuda and Georgia corporate laws.

#### We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our ordinary shares.

We do not intend to pay a cash dividend on our ordinary shares. Rather, we intend to use any retained earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. From time to time, our board of directors will review our alternatives with respect to our earnings and seek to maximize value for our shareholders. In the future, we may decide to commence a dividend program for the benefit of our shareholders. Any future determination to pay dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will be limited by our position as a holding company that lacks direct operations, significant regulatory restrictions, the results of operations of our subsidiaries, our financial condition, cash requirements and prospects and other factors that our board of directors deems relevant. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, on our ordinary shares may be your sole source of gain for the foreseeable future. In addition, there are regulatory and other constraints that could prevent us from paying dividends in any event.

#### Our board of directors may decline to register a transfer of our ordinary shares under certain circumstances.

Our board of directors may decline to register a transfer of ordinary shares under certain circumstances, including if it has reason to believe that any non-de minimis adverse tax, regulatory or legal consequences to us, any of our subsidiaries or any of our shareholders may occur as a result of such transfer. Further, our bye-laws provide us with the option to repurchase, or to assign to a third party the right to purchase, the minimum number of shares necessary to eliminate any such non-de minimis adverse tax, regulatory or legal consequence. In addition, our board of directors may decline to approve or register a transfer of shares unless all applicable consents, authorizations, permissions or approvals of any governmental body or agency in Bermuda, the United States or any other applicable jurisdiction required to be obtained prior to such transfer shall have been obtained. The proposed transfer of such shares will be deemed to own those shares for dividend, voting and reporting purposes until a transfer of such shares has been registered on our shareholders register.

Convers Dill & Pearman has advised us that while the precise form of the restrictions on transfer contained in our bye-laws is untested, as a matter of general principle, restrictions on transfers are enforceable under Bermuda law and are not uncommon.

These restrictions on transfer may also have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control.

### **Risks Relating to Taxation**

We might incur unexpected U.S. or U.K. tax liabilities if companies in our group that are incorporated outside of those jurisdictions are determined to be carrying on a trade or business there.

We and a number of our subsidiaries are companies formed under the laws of Bermuda or other jurisdictions that do not impose income taxes; it is our contemplation that these companies will not incur

substantial income tax liabilities from their operations. Because the operations of these companies generally involve, or relate to, the insurance or reinsurance of risks that arise in higher tax jurisdictions, such as the United States or the United Kingdom, it is possible that the taxing authorities in those jurisdictions may assert that the activities of one or more of these companies creates a sufficient nexus in that jurisdiction to subject the company to income tax there. There are uncertainties in how the relevant rules apply to insurance businesses, and in our eligibility for favorable treatment under applicable tax treaties. Accordingly, it is possible that we could incur substantial unexpected tax liabilities. For further information on these subjects, see Material Tax Considerations of Holding and Disposing of New Enstar and Subsidiaries United Kingdom and Material Tax Considerations of Holding and Disposing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares Taxation of New Enstar and Subsidiaries United Kingdom and Subsidiaries United States beginning on page 218.

# U.S. persons who own our ordinary shares might become subject to adverse U.S. tax consequences as a result of related party insurance income, or RPII, if any, of our non-U.S. insurance company subsidiaries.

If the RPII rules of the Code were to apply to us, a U.S. person who owns our ordinary shares directly or indirectly through foreign entities on the last day of the taxable year would be required to include in income for U.S. federal income tax purposes the shareholder s pro rata share of our non-U.S. subsidiaries RPII for the entire taxable year, determined as if that RPII were distributed proportionately to the U.S. shareholders at that date regardless whether any actual distribution is made. In addition, any RPII that is includible in the income of a U.S. tax-exempt organization would generally be treated as unrelated business taxable income. Although we and our subsidiaries intend to generally operate in a manner so as to qualify for certain exceptions to the RPII rules, there can be no assurance that these exceptions will be available. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that U.S. Persons who own our ordinary shares will not be required to recognize gross income inclusions attributable to RPII. See Material Tax Considerations of Holding and Disposing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares Taxation of Shareholders United States Taxation beginning on page 222.

In addition, the RPII rules provide that if a shareholder who is a U.S. Person disposes of shares in a foreign insurance company that has RPII and in which U.S. Persons collectively own 25% or more of the shares, any gain from the disposition will generally be treated as dividend income to the extent of the shareholder s share of the corporation s undistributed earnings and profits that were accumulated during the period that the shareholder owned the shares (whether or not those earnings and profits are attributable to RPII). Such a shareholder would also be required to comply with certain reporting requirements, regardless of the amount of shares owned by the shareholder. These rules should not apply to dispositions of our ordinary shares because New Enstar will not itself be directly engaged in the insurance business. The RPII rules, however, have not been interpreted by the courts or the IRS, and regulations interpreting the RPII rules exist only in proposed form. Accordingly, there is no assurance that our views as to the inapplicability of these rules to a disposition of our ordinary shares will be accepted by the IRS or a court. See Material Tax Considerations of Holding and Disposing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares

United States Taxation beginning on page 222.

# U.S. persons who own our ordinary shares would be subject to adverse tax consequences if we or one or more of our non-U.S. subsidiaries were considered a passive foreign investment company, or PFIC, for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

We believe that we and our non-U.S. subsidiaries will not be PFICs for U.S. federal income purposes for the current year. Moreover, we do not expect to conduct our activities in a manner that will cause us or any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries to become a PFIC in the future. However, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not challenge this position or that a court will not sustain such challenge. Accordingly, it is possible that we or one or more of our non-U.S. subsidiaries might be deemed a PFIC by the IRS or a court for the current year or any future year. If we or one or more of our non-U.S. subsidiaries were a PFIC, it could have material adverse tax consequences

for an investor that is subject to U.S. federal income taxation, including subjecting the investor to a substantial acceleration and/or increase in tax liability. There are currently no regulations

regarding the application of the PFIC provisions of the Code to an insurance company, so the application of those provisions to insurance companies remains unclear in certain respects. See Material Tax Considerations of Holding and Disposing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares Taxation of Shareholders United States Taxation Passive Foreign Investment Companies beginning on page 226.

### We may become subject to taxes in Bermuda after March 28, 2016.

The Bermuda Minister of Finance, under the Exempted Undertakings Tax Protection Act 1966, as amended, of Bermuda, has given us and each of our Bermuda subsidiaries an assurance that if any legislation is enacted in Bermuda that would impose tax computed on profits or income, or computed on any capital asset, gain or appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, then the imposition of any such tax will not be applicable to us or our Bermuda subsidiaries or any of our or their respective operations, shares, debentures or other obligations until March 28, 2016. See Material Tax Considerations of Holding and Disposing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares Taxation of New Enstar and Subsidiaries Bermuda beginning on page 218. Given the limited duration of the Minister of Finance s assurance, we cannot be certain that we will not be subject to any Bermuda tax after March 28, 2016. In the event that we become subject to any Bermuda tax after such date, it could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

34

# FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This proxy statement/prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement/prospectus contain statements that constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act with respect to the financial condition, results of operations, business strategies, operating efficiencies, competitive positions, growth opportunities, plans and objectives of the management of each of Enstar, Castlewood and New Enstar, as well as the merger, the markets for Enstar common stock and New Enstar ordinary shares and the insurance and reinsurance sectors in general. Statements that include words such as estimate, project. plan. intend. expect, anticipate, believe. would. should. could. seek. and similar statemen forward-looking nature identify forward-looking statements for purposes of the federal securities laws or otherwise. All forward-looking statements are necessarily estimates or expectations, and not statements of historical fact, reflecting the best judgment of the respective managements of Enstar and Castlewood and, following the merger, New Enstar, and involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements should, therefore, be considered in light of various important factors, including those set forth in and incorporated by reference in this proxy statement/prospectus.

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements include:

risks associated with implementing our business strategies and initiatives;

the adequacy of our loss reserves and the need to adjust such reserves as claims develop over time;

risks relating to the availability and collectibility of our reinsurance;

tax, regulatory or legal restrictions or limitations applicable to Castlewood, Enstar or New Enstar or the insurance and reinsurance business generally;

increased competitive pressures, including the consolidation and increased globalization of reinsurance providers;

emerging claim and coverage issues;

lengthy and unpredictable litigation affecting assessment of losses and/or coverage issues;

loss of key personnel;

changes in Castlewood s, Enstar s or New Enstar s plans, strategies, objectives, expectations or intentions, which may happen at any time at management s discretion;

operational risks, including system or human failures;

risks that we may require additional capital in the future which may not be available or may be available only on unfavorable terms;

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

the risk that ongoing or future industry regulatory developments will disrupt our business, or mandate changes in industry practices in ways that increase our costs, decrease our revenues or require us to alter aspects of the way we do business;

changes in Bermuda law or regulation or the political stability of Bermuda;

changes in regulations or tax laws applicable to us or our subsidiaries, or the risk that we or one of our non-U.S. subsidiaries become subject to significant, or significantly increased, income taxes in the United States or elsewhere;

losses due to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

changes in accounting policies or practices; and

changes in economic conditions, including interest rates, inflation, currency exchange rates, equity markets and credit conditions which could affect our investment portfolio.

The factors listed above should not be construed as exhaustive. Certain of these factors are described in more detail in Risk Factors above. We undertake no obligation to release publicly the results of any future revisions we may make to forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

36

### INFORMATION ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

#### General

This proxy statement/prospectus is being furnished to the shareholders of Enstar in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the board of directors of Enstar for use at the Annual Meeting to be held on , 2006 at Flowers Hall, Huntingdon College, at 1500 East Fairview Avenue, Montgomery, Alabama 36106, at 9:00 a.m., local time, and at any adjournment thereof.

### **Record Date**

The Enstar board of directors has fixed September 28, 2006 as the Record Date for the determination of shareholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting. Only holders of common stock, par value \$.01 per share, of Enstar, as of the Record Date are entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. On the Record Date, Enstar had issued and outstanding 5,739,384 shares of common stock. Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter being considered at the Annual Meeting. No cumulative voting rights are authorized, and appraisal rights for dissenting shareholders are not applicable to the matters being proposed. It is anticipated that this proxy statement/prospectus will be first mailed to shareholders of Enstar on or about , 2006.

### **Voting and Proxies**

When the enclosed form of proxy is properly executed and returned, the Enstar common stock it represents will be voted as directed at the Annual Meeting or, if no direction is indicated on an executed proxy, such shares will be voted in favor of the proposals set forth in the notice attached hereto. Any Enstar shareholder giving a proxy has the power to revoke it at any time before it is voted. All proxies delivered pursuant to the solicitation are revocable at any time at the option of the persons executing them by giving written notice to the Secretary of Enstar, by delivering a later-dated proxy or by voting in person at the Annual Meeting. Any beneficial owner of shares of Enstar common stock as of the Record Date who intends to vote such shares in person at the Annual Meeting must obtain a legal proxy from the record owner and present such proxy at the Annual Meeting in order to vote such shares. Votes cast by proxy or in person at the Annual Meeting will be tabulated by the inspector of elections appointed for the meeting who will also determine whether a quorum is present for the transaction of business.

The presence in person or by proxy of holders of a majority of the shares of Enstar common stock outstanding on the Record Date will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting.

Approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the outstanding voting power of Enstar s common stock on the Record Date.

As of the Record Date, Enstar s directors and executive officers owned 1,904,753 shares of Enstar common stock, representing approximately 33.2% of the voting power of Enstar common stock on that date. Three of those directors, who owned Enstar common stock representing 30.1% of the voting power on that date, have entered into a support agreement with Castlewood pursuant to which such directors have agreed to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. All other Enstar directors have also indicated that they intend to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

The affirmative vote of a plurality of the shares of Enstar common stock present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote is required to elect directors. The affirmative vote of the majority of the shares of Enstar common stock represented at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter is required with respect to the ratification of the appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as Enstar s independent registered public accounting firm and the approval of any other matter that may properly come before the Annual Meeting.

At the Annual Meeting, votes cast for or against any matter may be cast in person or by proxy. Shares of Enstar common stock that are voted FOR, AGAINST or WITHHOLD at the Annual Meeting will be treated as being present at such meeting for purposes of establishing a quorum and will also be treated as votes eligible to be cast by the Enstar common stock present in person at the Annual Meeting and entitled to vote. Abstentions will be counted for purposes of determining both the presence or absence of a quorum for the transaction of business and the total number of votes cast with respect to a particular matter. Broker non-votes will be counted for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum for the broker has expressly not voted. Broker non-votes are proxies from brokers or nominees indicating that those persons have not received instructions from the beneficial owners of the shares as to certain proposals on which the beneficial owners are entitled to vote but with respect to which the brokers or nominees have no discretionary voting power to vote without instructions.

As of the date of this proxy statement/prospectus, management of Enstar has no knowledge of any business other than that described herein which will be presented for consideration at the Annual Meeting. In the event any other business is properly presented at the Annual Meeting, the persons named in the enclosed proxy will have authority to vote such proxy in accordance with their judgment on such business.

# **Expenses of Solicitation**

The cost of solicitation of proxies by the Enstar board of directors in connection with the Annual Meeting will be borne by Enstar. As part of its services as Enstar s transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company will assist in the solicitation of proxies. In addition, Enstar may engage the services of Georgeson Shareholder Communications Inc. to assist in the solicitation of proxies. Enstar estimates the costs of these solicitation services should be approximately \$9,000. Enstar will reimburse brokers, fiduciaries and custodians for reasonable expenses incurred by them in forwarding proxy materials to beneficial owners of common stock held in their names.

### Approval of the Merger Agreement and the Transactions Contemplated by the Merger Agreement

On May 23, 2006, Enstar entered into the merger agreement with Castlewood and Merger Sub, pursuant to which Merger Sub will be merged with and into Enstar, and Enstar, which will be renamed Enstar USA, Inc., will become a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood. Holders of shares of Enstar common stock will be entitled to receive one ordinary share of Castlewood in the merger for each share of Enstar common stock they own. Immediately following the merger, current shareholders of Enstar will hold approximately 48.7% of the issued ordinary shares of Castlewood, which will be renamed Enstar Group Limited.

At the Annual Meeting, holders of Enstar common stock will be asked to vote to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

# THE MERGER WILL NOT BE CONSUMMATED UNLESS ENSTAR S SHAREHOLDERS APPROVE THE MERGER AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE MERGER AGREEMENT.

# Recommendation of the Board of Directors of Enstar

# THE ENSTAR BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT ENSTAR SHAREHOLDERS VOTE FOR THE APPROVAL OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE MERGER AGREEMENT.

Details surrounding the proposed merger, including the background of the merger, the reasons for the merger, the accounting treatment of the merger, material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger, regulatory matters

# Table of Contents

relating to the merger and other matters concerning the New Enstar ordinary shares in connection with the merger, can be found in the section entitled The Proposed Merger beginning on page 44.

# Dissenters Rights

Under Georgia law, Enstar shareholders are not entitled to dissenters rights in connection with the merger.

### **Election of Enstar Directors**

In accordance with the bylaws of Enstar, Enstar s board of directors currently consists of seven members. Enstar s articles of incorporation divide Enstar s board of directors into three classes. Directors for each class are elected to serve a term of three years at the annual meeting of shareholders held in the year in which the term for such class expires. Nominees for vacant or newly created director positions stand for election at the next annual meeting following the vacancy or creation of such director positions, to serve for the remainder of the term of the class in which their respective positions are apportioned. The terms of two current directors, T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis, expire at the Annual Meeting. At the Annual Meeting, T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis will stand for re-election to serve as directors for three-year terms expiring at the 2009 annual meeting of shareholders, or until their successors are duly elected and qualified. In accordance with the bylaws of Enstar, a director who is not also an employee of Enstar may serve as a director only until the next annual meeting following such director s 70th birthday.

Enstar s board of directors has no reason to believe that any of the nominees for the office of director will be unavailable for election as directors. However, if at the time of the Annual Meeting any nominee should be unable or decline to serve, the persons named in the proxy will vote as recommended by Enstar s board of directors either (1) to elect a substitute nominee recommended by Enstar s board of directors, (2) to allow the vacancy created thereby to remain open until filled by Enstar s board of directors or (3) to reduce the number of directors for the ensuing year. In no event, however, can a proxy be voted to elect more than two directors. The election of directors requires the affirmative vote of a plurality of the shares held by shareholders present and voting at the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy.

If the merger is consummated, New Enstar, as the sole shareholder of Enstar following the merger, will be able to determine the composition of Enstar s board of directors after the merger.

### Recommendation of Enstar s Board of Directors

ENSTAR S BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR T. WHIT ARMSTRONG AND T. WAYNE DAVIS TO HOLD OFFICE UNTIL THE 2009 ANNUAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS, OR UNTIL THEIR SUCCESSORS ARE DULY ELECTED AND QUALIFIED.

# Nominees for Election Terms Expiring 2009

*T. Whit Armstrong* was elected to the position of director at Enstar in June of 1990. Mr. Armstrong has been President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of The Citizens Bank, Enterprise, Alabama, and its holding company, Enterprise Capital Corporation, Inc. for more than five years. Mr. Armstrong is also a director of Alabama Power Company of Birmingham, Alabama. Mr. Armstrong is 59 years old.

*T. Wayne Davis* was elected to the position of director at Enstar in June of 1990. Mr. Davis was Chairman of the Board of General Parcel Service, Inc., a parcel delivery service, from January of 1989 to September of 1997 and was Chairman of the Board of Momentum Logistics, Inc. from September of 1997 to March of 2003. He also is a director of Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. and MPS Group, Inc. Mr. Davis is 60 years old.

### Continuing Directors Terms Expiring 2008

*Nimrod T. Frazer* was elected to the position of director of Enstar in August of 1990. Mr. Frazer was named Chairman of the Board, Acting President and Chief Executive Officer of Enstar on October 26, 1990 and served as President of Enstar from May 26, 1992 to June 6, 2001. Mr. Frazer is 77 years old.

John J. Oros has served as a director of Enstar since March of 2000. Mr. Oros was named to the position of Executive Vice President of Enstar in March of 2000 and on June 6, 2001, Mr. Oros was named President and Chief Operating Officer of Enstar. Before joining Enstar, Mr. Oros was an investment banker at Goldman, Sachs & Co. in the Financial Institutions Group. Mr. Oros joined Goldman, Sachs & Co. in 1980 and was made a General Partner in 1986. Mr. Oros resigned from Goldman, Sachs & Co. in March 2000 to join Enstar. In February 2006, Mr. Oros became a Managing Director of J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC, which serves as investment advisor to J.C. Flowers II L.P., a newly formed private equity fund affiliated with J. Christopher Flowers. Mr. Oros splits his time between J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC and Enstar. Mr. Oros is 59 years old.

### Continuing Directors Terms Expiring 2007

*J. Christopher Flowers* was elected to the position of director of Enstar in October of 1996. Mr. Flowers became a general partner of Goldman, Sachs & Co. in 1988 and a Managing Director in 1996. He resigned from Goldman, Sachs & Co. in November 1998 in order to pursue his own business interests. Mr. Flowers was named Vice Chairman of the Board of Enstar in December 1998; Mr. Flowers resigned from such position in July 2003 but remains a member of Enstar s board of directors. He is also a director of Shinsei Bank, Ltd., formerly Long-Term Credit Bank of Japan, Ltd. Mr. Flowers has been a Managing Director of J.C. Flowers & Co., LLC, a financial services advisory firm since 2002. Mr. Flowers has also been a member of the Supervisory Board of NIBC, N.V. since December 2005. Mr. Flowers is 49 years old.

*Gregory L. Curl* was elected to the position of director of Enstar in July of 2003. Mr. Curl has been Director of Corporate Planning and Strategy for Bank of America since December 1998. Previously, Mr. Curl was Vice Chairman of Corporate Development and President of Specialized Lending for Bank of America from 1997 to 1998. Mr. Curl is 58 years old.

*Paul J. Collins* was elected to the position of director of Enstar in May of 2004. Mr. Collins retired as a Vice Chairman and member of the Management Committee of Citigroup Inc. in September 2000. From 1985 to 2000, Mr. Collins served as a director of Citicorp and its principal subsidiary, Citibank; from 1988 to 1998 he also served as Vice Chairman of such entities. Mr. Collins currently serves as a director of Nokia Corporation and BG Group, as a member of the supervisory board of Actis Capital LLP and as a trustee of the University of Wisconsin Foundation and the Glyndebourne Arts Trust. He is also a member of the Advisory Board of Welsh, Carson, Anderson & Stowe, a private equity firm. Mr. Collins is 70 years old.

# Enstar s Code of Conduct and Code of Ethics

Enstar has a Code of Conduct which is applicable to all directors, officers and employees of Enstar. Enstar has an additional Code of Ethics for Senior Executive and Financial Officers, or the Code of Ethics, which contains provisions specifically applicable to its chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief accounting officer and persons performing similar functions. The Code of Ethics is attached as an exhibit to Enstar s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003. Upon request to the following address, Enstar will furnish without charge a copy of the Code of Conduct and the Code of Ethics:

THE ENSTAR GROUP, INC. 401 Madison Avenue Montgomery, Alabama 36104 Attention: Amy M. Dunaway Treasurer and Controller

### Enstar s Board of Directors

Enstar s board of directors has determined that each of T. Whit Armstrong, T. Wayne Davis, Gregory L. Curl, and Paul J. Collins is an independent director as such term is defined in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15).

During 2005, Enstar had an Audit Committee that was comprised of T. Whit Armstrong, Chairman, T. Wayne Davis, Gregory L. Curl and Paul J. Collins. Enstar s board of directors has determined that each Audit Committee member meets the independence standards for audit committee members, as set forth in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Nasdaq listing standards, and the Nasdaq s financial knowledge requirements. Enstar s board of directors has determined that Mr. Curl is an audit committee financial expert, as such term is defined in Commission regulations, and that Mr. Curl and Mr. Armstrong meet the Nasdaq s professional experience requirements. Enstar s Audit Committee is responsible for, among other things, appointing (subject to shareholder ratification) the accounting firm that will serve as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar and reviewing and pre-approving all audit and non-audit services provided to Enstar by its independent auditors. Enstar s Audit Committee is also responsible for overseeing Enstar s financial reporting and accounting practices and monitoring the adequacy of internal accounting, compliance and control systems. Enstar s board of directors has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee which complies with the applicable requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related rules of the Commission and the Nasdaq.

During 2005, Enstar had a Compensation Committee that was composed of T. Wayne Davis, Chairman, T. Whit Armstrong and Gregory L. Curl. In addition, J. Christopher Flowers served on Enstar s Compensation Committee until Mr. Curl was appointed to the Compensation Committee in June 2005. Other than Mr. Flowers, each director who served on Enstar s Compensation Committee during fiscal 2005 qualifies as a non-employee director as such term is defined in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act, and an independent director as such term is defined in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15). Enstar s Compensation Committee is responsible for, among other things, reviewing, determining and establishing, upon the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer (with the exception of the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer) salaries, bonuses and other compensation for Enstar s executive officers and for administering Enstar s stock option plans.

Enstar does not have a nominating committee or a nominating committee charter. It is the position of Enstar s board of directors that, given the small size of the board, it is appropriate for the independent directors, rather than a separate committee comprised of most or all of such independent directors, to recommend director candidates. In November 2003, Enstar s board of directors adopted a resolution regarding the nomination of directors. Pursuant to such resolution, director nominees must be recommended to Enstar s board of directors by a majority of the independent directors as such term is defined in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15). Enstar s board of directors has determined that each of T. Wayne Davis, T. Whit Armstrong, Paul J. Collins and Gregory L. Curl is an independent director. When identifying and reviewing director nominees, the independent directors consider the nominees personal and professional integrity, ability and judgment and other factors deemed appropriate by the independent director s term, including the number of meetings attended, level of participation and quality of performance. The independent directors considered and nominated the candidates proposed for election as directors at the Annual Meeting, with Enstar s board of directors unanimously agreeing on all actions taken in this regard.

During 2005, Enstar s board of directors held a total of five meetings, Enstar s Audit Committee held a total of four meetings and Enstar s Compensation Committee held one meeting. In addition, the independent directors met in an executive session of Enstar s board of directors a total of four times. All directors attended all of the meetings of Enstar s board of directors and all committees on which they served during 2005, except for Gregory L. Curl, who did not attend two meetings of the board of directors of Enstar, and Paul J. Collins, who did not attend one meeting of the

Audit Committee. Directors are encouraged but are not required to attend Enstar s annual meetings. Except for Gregory L. Curl, all directors attended the 2005 annual meeting of shareholders.

### Communications with Enstar s Board of Directors

Shareholders may communicate with Enstar s board of directors by sending an email to *treasurer@enstargroup.com* or by sending a letter to Enstar board of directors, c/o the Treasurer, 401 Madison Avenue, Montgomery, Alabama 36104. Enstar s Treasurer will receive the correspondence and forward it to Enstar s Chairman of the Audit Committee or to any individual director or directors to whom the communication is directed. Enstar s Treasurer has the authority to discard or disregard any inappropriate communications or to take other appropriate actions with respect to such inappropriate communications.

# **Compensation of Enstar Directors**

Directors who are not employees of Enstar receive a quarterly retainer fee of \$6,250 and per meeting fees as follows: (1) \$2,500 for each board meeting attended other than a telephone board meeting; (2) \$1,000 for each telephone board meeting attended; (3) \$1,000 for each committee meeting attended; and (4) \$1,500 for each committee meeting attended by a committee chairperson. In addition, each committee chairperson receives a quarterly retainer fee of \$500. Such outside directors fees are payable in cash. Until May 23, 2006, such fees to Enstar s outside directors were payable at the election of the director either in cash or in stock units under Enstar s Deferred Compensation and Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended. If a director elected to receive stock units instead of cash, the stock units were payable only upon the director s termination. The number of shares to be distributed in connection with such termination would be equal to one share of common stock for each stock unit, with cash paid for any fractional units. The distribution of stock units was also subject to acceleration upon certain events constituting a change in control of Enstar. All current non-employee directors, other than Gregory L. Curl, had elected to receive 100% of their compensation in stock units in lieu of cash payments. Mr. Curl had elected to receive a portion of his compensation in cash. As of December 31, 2005, a total of \$853,000 in retainer and meeting fees had been deferred under this deferred compensation plan. In addition, directors are entitled to reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending all meetings.

In April 2005, Paul J. Collins was granted options to purchase 5,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of \$57.81 per share (which was the market price of the common stock at that time). During 2005, no other options to purchase shares of common stock were granted to directors for their service as directors.

# Ratification of Appointment of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm of Enstar

Enstar s Audit Committee has appointed the firm of Deloitte & Touche LLP to serve as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar for the year ending December 31, 2006, subject to ratification of this appointment by the shareholders of Enstar. Deloitte & Touche LLP has served as the independent registered public accounting firm of Enstar from 1990 through 2005 and is considered by management of Enstar to be well qualified. Enstar has been advised by Deloitte & Touche LLP that neither it nor any member thereof has any financial interest, direct or indirect, in Enstar or any of its subsidiaries in any capacity. One or more representatives of Deloitte & Touche LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting, will have an opportunity to make a statement if he or she desires to do so and will be available to respond to appropriate questions.

If the merger is consummated, New Enstar, as the sole shareholder of Enstar following the merger, will be able to select the independent auditors of Enstar after the merger.

# Recommendation of Enstar s Board of Directors

ENSTAR S BOARD RECOMMENDS A VOTE FOR THE PROPOSAL TO RATIFY THE APPOINTMENT OF DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP AS THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM OF

ENSTAR FOR 2006.

### Principal Accounting Firm Fees and Services for Enstar

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed to Enstar for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 by Enstar s principal accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, the member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, and their respective affiliates, or collectively, Deloitte.

Type of Fees	2005	2004
Audit Fees Audit-Related Fees Tax Fees All Other Fees	\$ 227,000 0 40,500(2) 0	\$ 245,355 1,500(1) 68,123(2) 0
Total	\$ 267,500	\$ 314,978

- (1) Represents fees related to financial accounting and Commission advisory services arising in connection with matters outside the scope of the audit.
- (2) Represents fees related to the preparation of Enstar s federal and state income tax returns, consultation on federal tax planning and other income tax issues.

### Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services

The amended and restated charter of the Audit Committee, adopted on May 29, 2003, charges Enstar s Audit Committee with review of all aspects of Enstar s relationship with Deloitte, including the provision of and payment for all services. All audit and non-audit services provided by Deloitte are pre-approved by Enstar s Audit Committee, which concluded that the provision of non-audit services was compatible with maintaining the accountants independence in the conduct of its auditing functions.

43

# THE PROPOSED MERGER

### General

On May 23, 2006, Enstar entered into the merger agreement with Castlewood and Merger Sub, pursuant to which Merger Sub will be merged with and into Enstar, and Enstar, which will be renamed Enstar USA, Inc., will become a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood. Holders of shares of Enstar common stock will be entitled to receive one ordinary share of Castlewood, or New Enstar, in the merger for each share of Enstar common stock they own. Immediately following the merger, current shareholders of Enstar will hold approximately 48.7% of the issued ordinary shares of New Enstar. Also following the merger, management and members of the boards of directors of New Enstar (which will include individuals who are directors, officers or employees of Enstar or Castlewood prior to the merger) and their respective affiliates will own 49.8% of the outstanding ordinary shares of New Enstar.

Enstar s board of directors is using this proxy statement/prospectus to solicit proxies from the holders of Enstar common stock for use at the Annual Meeting. Castlewood s board of directors has approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and Castlewood s shareholders have approved the recapitalization agreement and the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement.

# **Enstar Proposal**

At the Annual Meeting, holders of Enstar common stock will be asked to vote to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

# THE MERGER WILL NOT BE CONSUMMATED UNLESS ENSTAR S SHAREHOLDERS APPROVE THE MERGER AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE MERGER AGREEMENT.

# **Background of the Merger**

In 1993, Mr. Silvester, who was joined by Mr. Packer and Mr. O Shea in 1993 and 1994, respectively, began a business venture in Bermuda to provide run-off services to the insurance and reinsurance industry. In 1995 this business was assumed by Castlewood Limited.

In 1996, Castlewood Limited formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Castlewood (EU) Ltd., based in Guildford and London in the United Kingdom, to extend the services provided by Castlewood Limited.

In 2000, Castlewood Limited entered into a joint venture with Enstar and an affiliate of Trident II, L.P. to acquire, and for Castlewood Limited to manage, B.H. Acquisition. In connection with the formation of the joint venture, Castlewood, Enstar and the affiliate of Trident II, L.P. acquired 45%, 33% and 22% economic interests, respectively, in B.H. Acquisition.

In November 2001, Enstar, together with Trident and senior management of Castlewood Limited, completed the formation of a new venture, Castlewood, to acquire and manage insurance and reinsurance companies, including companies in run-off, and to provide management, consulting and other services to the insurance and reinsurance industry. Enstar owns 50.0% of the voting stock of Castlewood and Castlewood s senior management and Trident each own 25.0% of Castlewood s voting stock. Enstar owns an approximately 32.0% economic interest in Castlewood. In connection with the formation of Castlewood, its shareholders agreed, and its bye-laws provide, that any distributions made by Castlewood to its shareholders would be in accordance with the following proportions and priorities, or the

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

Waterfall Distribution Provisions:

First, until Trident receives cumulative distributions equal to its capital contributions to Castlewood, distributions are allocated 30% to Enstar, 47.5% to Trident and 22.5% to Castlewood management;

Second, until Enstar receives cumulative distributions equal to its capital contributions to Castlewood, distributions are allocated 50% to Enstar and 50% to Castlewood management;

Third, until Castlewood management receives cumulative distributions equal to its capital contributions to Castlewood, distributions are made 100% Castlewood management; and

Fourth, distributions are made to each of the shareholders pro rata to their shareholding.

Since the formation of Castlewood, senior management of Enstar and Castlewood have discussed a potential business combination between Castlewood and Enstar from time to time in connection with the ordinary course discussions about the business of Castlewood. Enstar s senior management also explored with third parties possible acquisitions of Enstar and Castlewood, most of which also involved combinations of Enstar and Castlewood. Enstar management believed that such a combination would be advantageous for a variety of reasons.

Castlewood s current ownership structure consists of several classes of shares, each with different voting rights. Under the organizational documents of Castlewood, each of Enstar, Trident and members of Castlewood senior management who own Castlewood shares has the right, among other things, to nominate a certain number of members of Castlewood s board of directors. Pursuant to Castlewood s organizational documents and an agreement among its shareholders, major transactions must be approved by one or more directors, depending on the shareholder group, representing each of Enstar, Trident and Castlewood senior management. Since the formation of Castlewood, Enstar s senior management sought out potential transactions that would simplify Castlewood s ownership structure. Enstar s senior management believed that the incentives of the management of Castlewood and Enstar would be better aligned with the interests of Enstar s shareholders if all parties owned shares with the same rights. Enstar and Castlewood senior management also sought a transaction in which Trident would be able to sell its interest. Enstar s senior management kept Enstar s board of directors apprised of developments relating to Enstar s search for a suitable transaction.

At the beginning of September 2005, to memorialize ongoing discussions between senior management of Enstar and Castlewood, Mr. Flowers, on behalf of Enstar, provided to Mr. Silvester a letter outlining a proposal for a merger of Enstar into Castlewood. The proposal contemplated (1) distributions to Castlewood management, Enstar and Trident of amounts sufficient to return all of their respective capital contributions, (2) the issuance of additional Castlewood shares to management and employees of Castlewood sufficient to bring their aggregate interest in Castlewood to 44.0%, (3) Castlewood s purchase of Enstar s and Trident s equity stake in B.H. Acquisition, (4) the issuance by Castlewood of new Castlewood shares to acquire Enstar (as a result of which Enstar shareholders would own approximately 49.9% of the combined company) and (5) the addition of current members of Enstar senior management to the senior management of the combined company and the corresponding adoption of new Castlewood compensation plans for the new management team.

On September 13, 2005, Mr. Silvester met with Mr. Flowers and Mr. Oros to discuss Mr. Flowers letter of early September 2005 and to consider various options and alternatives to the proposal made by Mr. Flowers on behalf of Enstar. Discussions of the options and alternatives included negotiations over (1) the proposed allocation of equity ownership of the combined company following the transaction, and the basis for such allocation, (2) the value to be attributed to the shareholders of Enstar in consideration of other businesses owned by Enstar, (3) the value to be attributed to all shareholders of Enstar in consideration of value added to the combined entity, through Enstar s association with Mr. Flowers and otherwise, (4) the composition and compensation of the combined entity s senior management and (5) the suggestion by Enstar senior management that a cash dividend be paid to the existing Enstar shareholders in connection with the transaction.

During a regular meeting of Enstar s board of directors held on September 20, 2005, Mr. Oros reported to Enstar s board of directors that Enstar and Castlewood were considering a possible merger and briefly discussed the overall approach to the transaction. Key items presented to the board were (1) the approximate allocation of equity ownership

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

of the combined company following the transaction, (2) the fact that there may be value to be attributed to the shareholders of Enstar in consideration of other businesses owned by Enstar, (3) the fact that there may be value to be attributed to all shareholders of Enstar in consideration of value added to the combined entity, through Enstar s association with Mr. Flowers and otherwise, (4) the fact that the composition of the combined entity s senior management and board of directors would include certain members of the current senior management and board of directors of Enstar senior management that a cash dividend be paid to the existing Enstar shareholders in connection with the transaction.

45

On November 6, 2005, Mr. Silvester, responding to Mr. Flowers early September letter and the discussions held on September 13, 2005, wrote to Mr. Flowers, with copies to Messrs. Oros and Frazer, to provide certain suggestions and amendments to Mr. Flowers original proposal. These suggestions and amendments included (1) not changing the current ownership structure of B.H. Acquisition, (2) highlighting the need for the proposed transaction to address the treatment of unvested Castlewood ordinary shares, (3) suggestions for payments to be made in the proposed transaction to the shareholders of Castlewood, including Enstar, pursuant to the Waterfall Distribution Provisions and (4) rejecting the suggestion that Enstar should pay a dividend to its existing shareholders in connection with the transaction. Mr. Silvester s letter also outlined certain other key considerations such as the proposed name of the combined entity, key executives, board composition and future compensation.

During November and December 2005, discussions continued between Mr. Flowers and Mr. Oros, on behalf of Enstar, and Mr. Silvester and Mr. O Shea, on behalf of Castlewood. Mr. Oros updated Enstar board members on the discussions at a meeting on December 7, 2005. In early December, Mr. Flowers called, and on December 12, 2005 met with, Mr. Charles A. Davis and Mr. James D. Carey, Chief Executive Officer and Principal, respectively, of Stone Point Capital LLC, on behalf of Trident, to determine Trident s interest in such a transaction as proposed. During this time, Mr. Silvester and Mr. O Shea also spoke with Mr. Carey and Mr. Davis about Trident s possible interest in such a transaction.

During January 2006, Messrs. Flowers, Oros and Frazer and Messrs. Silvester, O Shea and Packer reached a general consensus regarding the terms of a possible merger transaction. On January 25, 2006, Messrs. Flowers, Oros and Frazer met with Messrs. Silvester, O Shea, Packer and Richard J. Harris, Chief Financial Officer of Castlewood, and Mr. Carey and David J. Wermuth, the General Counsel of Stone Point Capital LLC, on behalf of Trident. During this meeting, Mr. Silvester presented the key terms of a possible merger transaction to the Stone Point Capital LLC representatives. The key terms presented included (1) the proposed allocation of equity ownership of the combined company following the transaction, (2) an analysis of the value each party to the proposed transaction would bring to New Enstar, and (3) the purchase from an affiliate of Trident II, L.P. of its B.H. Acquisition shares.

At a meeting on February 16, 2006, Mr. Oros provided an update to the Enstar board members regarding the possible merger. The update included a summary of discussions among Enstar, Castlewood and Trident regarding the transaction since the last Enstar board meeting.

During February and March 2006, discussions between Mr. Silvester, Mr. O Shea and Mr. Carey continued. Trident sought additional consideration in connection with the merger. It was eventually agreed that, in addition to the issuance of shares of New Enstar to Trident in the merger, Castlewood would, prior to the merger, repurchase from Trident Castlewood shares for \$20 million and B.H. Acquisition shares for approximately \$6.2 million. Following these discussions, Enstar and Castlewood agreed that, in connection with the merger, Enstar would pay approximately \$5 million to Castlewood, which amount would be paid by Castlewood to certain of its executive officers and employees. The parties agreed in principle with respect to the matters discussed. Such agreement also contemplated that Castlewood would distribute amounts sufficient to return its shareholders respective capital contributions.

On April 5, 2006, Enstar s board of directors held a special meeting, during which the directors reviewed at length the proposed economic terms of a transaction with Castlewood and the status of the negotiations. The directors considered, among other things,

Distributions proposed to be made to Castlewood shareholders prior to the merger in the amounts of approximately \$20.1 million to Enstar, \$2.9 million to Trident and \$27.0 million to the Castlewood management and employee shareholders (these amounts were paid on April 26, 2006).

A cash dividend of \$2.47 per share proposed to be paid to Enstar shareholders prior to the merger.

The proposed repurchase by Castlewood from Trident, prior to the merger, of Castlewood shares for \$20 million and B.H. Acquisition shares for approximately \$6.2 million.

The proposed payment by Enstar to Castlewood of approximately \$5 million and the payment of such amount by Castlewood to certain of its executive officers and employees.

The value of the cash and cash equivalents approximately \$73.5 million as of September 30, 2005 and of the investments other than its interest in Castlewood that Enstar would effectively be transferring to Castlewood in the merger the directors did not consider the value of such other investments material to the transaction.

The proposed allocation of equity ownership in New Enstar following the merger: 49.9% to former Enstar shareholders, 17.0% to Trident and 33.1% to Castlewood management and employees.

The negotiations regarding the allocation of equity ownership in New Enstar and the board s evaluation of the merits of the transaction focused principally on the foregoing factors and the question of whether the increase in the Enstar shareholders interest in Castlewood from an indirect interest of approximately 32.0% to a direct interest of approximately 49.9% was fair and in the best interests of the Enstar shareholders, given the other transfers of value described above. However, Enstar management also utilized and presented to the board a contributions analysis that examined differences between the proposed allocation of equity ownership in the combined company and the allocation that would have been indicated based solely on Castlewood s and Enstar s book net asset values. The contribution analysis showed that:

Based on Castlewood s estimated pro forma shareholders equity as of December 31, 2005 of approximately \$261 million, after giving effect to the distributions to shareholders referred to above, each of Enstar s and Trident s allocable share of Castlewood s shareholders equity would be approximately \$66 million and the share allocable to Castlewood management and employees (in their capacity as Castlewood shareholders) would be \$76 million.

The proposed allocation of New Enstar shares post-merger reflects the following differences:

an additional \$126 million of book value was credited to New Enstar in respect of the value that Enstar brings to New Enstar in addition to its existing investment in Castlewood.

an additional \$52 million of book value was credited to Castlewood management and employees in respect of the value that they bring to New Enstar in addition to their existing investment in Castlewood.

At the same meeting, representatives of Enstar s outside legal counsel, Parker, Hudson, Rainer & Dobbs, and special legal counsel, Debevoise & Plimpton LLP, or Debevoise, reviewed in detail the board s fiduciary duties, both generally and in the specific context of the proposed transaction. As outside legal counsel, Parker, Hudson, Rainer & Dobbs advised Enstar with respect to Georgia law, general corporate matters and other matters relating to the proposed transaction. As special legal counsel, Debevoise advised Enstar with respect to law other than Georgia law, general corporate matters and other matters relating to the proposed transaction. Debevoise also drafted and/or negotiated the transaction documents in connection with the proposed transaction. The board discussed the advisability of engaging an outside financial adviser and determined that it would not be in the best interests of Enstar and its shareholders to do so, because the board concluded that the cost of doing so outweighed the potential benefits provided. In part because of Enstar s existing investment in Castlewood, the board believed that it was sufficiently familiar with Castlewood s business and, therefore, did not need assistance in analyzing the financial terms of the transaction from a third-party that was not familiar with Castlewood s business. Further, the board believed that because the other assets that Enstar would effectively transfer to the combined company in the merger, which principally consist of cash and other investments, are relatively easy to value, the board did not need third-party assistance to evaluate the

fairness of Enstar s shareholders effectively exchanging their interest in such other assets and their indirect interest of approximately 32.0% in Castlewood for a direct interest of approximately 49.9% in Castlewood.

At this meeting, the board also discussed certain interests and relationships of Enstar directors and officers that are different from those of non-affiliated Enstar shareholders, including:

A new employment agreement between New Enstar, Castlewood (US) Inc., a subsidiary of Castlewood, and Mr. Oros, that will take effect at the effective time of the merger. Under the terms of Mr. Oros employment agreement, he will be paid a salary of \$282,500 and will be entitled to participate in New Enstar s incentive compensation programs. He will also receive other employee benefits consistent with those provided to New Enstar s other executive officers. New Enstar expects that Mr. Oros will spend approximately 50% of his working time on matters related to New Enstar, but there is no minimum work commitment set forth in his employment agreement.

Accelerated vesting of 80,000 options granted to certain Enstar directors and officers pursuant to one of Enstar s equity incentive plans. Of these options, options to purchase 30,000 shares of Enstar common stock are held by Mr. Frazer and options to purchase 50,000 shares of Enstar common stock are held by Mr. Oros.

A severance payment of \$350,000 to Mr. Frazer under his existing employment agreement.

Tax indemnification by Castlewood of Mr. Flowers pursuant to which Castlewood will reimburse and indemnify Mr. Flowers for, and hold him harmless on an after-tax basis against, any increase in Mr. Flowers U.S. federal, state or local income tax liability (including any interest or penalties relating thereto), and reasonable attorneys fees, incurred by Mr. Flowers as a result of (1) certain dispositions of shares of Enstar by New Enstar or any successor or assign of New Enstar or (2) dispositions of all or substantially all of the Enstar assets by Enstar or any successor or assign of Enstar, within the period beginning immediately after the effective time of the merger and ending five years after the last day of the taxable year that includes the effective time. Because Mr. Flowers will be the only greater-than-5% U.S. shareholder of New Enstar after the merger, he is in a different position than the other current shareholders of Enstar with regard to treating the merger as a tax-free reorganization. Under IRS regulations issued pursuant to section 367(a) of the Code, as a 5% U.S. shareholder Mr. Flowers may treat the merger as a tax-free reorganization only if he enters into a gain recognition agreement with the IRS under which he agrees he will treat the merger as taxable if New Enstar disposes of certain stock or assets of Enstar within the five years following the merger. Such dispositions may be effected without Mr. Flowers consent. Other shareholders of Enstar are not subject to these additional conditions, and their tax treatment would not be affected by such dispositions. The Enstar board of directors approved such agreement because it determined that it would be fair to put Mr. Flowers in the same position as the other shareholders of Enstar with respect to such tax treatment, and that such agreement would increase the likelihood that Mr. Flowers, in his capacity as an Enstar shareholder, would support the proposed transaction. While the agreement is significant to Mr. Flowers, New Enstar believes it is unlikely to incur any liability under the agreement because it believes the likelihood that it will dispose of stock or assets of Enstar within the next five years to be remote.

Registration rights expected to be granted by New Enstar to Mr. Flowers and other holders of New Enstar ordinary shares pursuant to which Mr. Flowers and such other holders may request after the first anniversary of the merger that New Enstar effect the registration under the Securities Act of certain of their ordinary shares of New Enstar, and the registration rights expected to be granted by New Enstar to the other directors of Enstar (which rights are also expected to be granted to other large shareholders of Castlewood) pursuant to which they may participate in certain registration statements filed by New Enstar under the Securities Act and sell their ordinary shares of New Enstar pursuant to such registration statements.

Service of the current Enstar directors on New Enstar s board of directors following the merger.

Indemnification by New Enstar of past and present directors and officers of Enstar for losses in connection with any action arising out of or pertaining to acts or omissions, or alleged acts or omissions, by them in their capacities as such at or before the effective time of the merger.

In addition, each of Enstar and Castlewood has entered into transactions with companies and partnerships that are affiliated with Messrs. Flowers and/or Oros, and an entity of which Mr. Flowers is a director and the largest shareholder owns a minority interest in a subsidiary of Castlewood. See Certain Relationships and Related Transactions beginning on page 182.

As of September 28, 2006, Enstar directors and officers that have the interests and relationships described above owned, or had voting control over, 1,904,753 shares of Enstar common stock, representing approximately 33.2% of the voting power of Enstar common stock on that date. Upon consummation of the merger, these directors will own 1,904,753 ordinary shares of New Enstar, representing approximately 16.2% of the voting power of New Enstar ordinary shares.

The board considered such interests and relationships and considered whether it should appoint a special committee of independent directors to evaluate and negotiate the transactions and whether interested directors should participate in the deliberations concerning, and vote on, the proposed transactions. The board concluded that it should not create a special committee and that interested directors should participate in the deliberation concerning, and vote on, the proposed transactions on its judgment that, notwithstanding such interests and relationships, Enstar and its shareholders would be better served by:

having Messrs. Flowers, Frazer and Oros assume principal responsibility for the negotiation of this merger, given their expertise, experience and familiarity with Castlewood, the relative immateriality, in the board s view, of such interests and relationships to them personally, when compared to their interests as Enstar shareholders, and that their interests as Enstar shareholders were aligned with those of the other Enstar shareholders;

having all of the Enstar directors participate in the board s deliberation concerning the merger, given the directors expertise, experience and familiarity with Castlewood, the relative immateriality, in the board s view, of such interests and relationships to them personally, the fact that Georgia law permits interested directors to participate in deliberations so long as their interests are disclosed and the fact that, in the board s view, with disclosure, the board would be able to appropriately weigh the views expressed by interested directors and not be inappropriately influenced; and

having all of the Enstar directors vote on the merger, given the board s desire to know, and the advisability of being able to advise the shareholders of, the positions of all directors regarding the merger, the relative immateriality, in the board s view, of such interests and relationships to them personally, the fact that Georgia law permits interested directors to vote so long as their interests are disclosed, and the fact that the merger would only be approved if a majority of the disinterested directors approved the merger.

The board did determine that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement would not be approved unless they were approved by a majority of the four independent directors.

On April 24, 2006, representatives of Castlewood and Enstar, along with their respective special legal counsel, Drinker Biddle & Reath LLP, or Drinker, and Debevoise, met in person and by telephone to discuss the material terms of the recapitalization and the merger. These discussions included a review of the recapitalization transaction, including the allocation of Castlewood s ordinary shares in exchange for its existing outstanding shares, and the consideration to be issued to the shareholders of Enstar.

On April 26, 2006, Enstar s board of directors held a special meeting, during which the directors reviewed in detail the financial and other aspects of the proposed transaction. The board focused principally on the increase in the Enstar

shareholders interest in Castlewood from an indirect interest of approximately 32.0% to a direct interest of approximately 49.9% and in the other transfers of value in the proposed transactions, but also considered several financial analyses of the transactions prepared by management, including the following:

A comparison of Enstar s tangible book value per share as of December 31, 2005 of \$27.21 with New Enstar s pro forma tangible book value per share as of such date, after giving effect to the merger, of \$22.50, a decrease of \$4.71 per share. The board discussed such decrease in tangible book value per

share, noted that it was offset by the anticipated dividend to Enstar shareholders of \$2.47 per share and concluded that the net decrease, together with other negative factors, did not outweigh the anticipated benefits of the transaction. The amount of the dividend was ultimately increased to \$3.00 per share.

A contributions analysis similar to that presented to the board at its April 5 meeting and reflecting substantially the same premium for Enstar shareholders in the merger consideration as was reflected in the April 5 presentation.

A returns analysis that considered the transaction as a contribution by Enstar shareholders of their interests in Enstar s assets other than its investment in Castlewood in exchange for the additional 17% interest in Castlewood and, based on certain assumptions regarding future Castlewood earnings that management deemed reasonable for purposes of the analysis, reflected internal rates of returns on such contribution in excess of 50% over time.

A fair value analysis that applied a range of valuations to the non-Castlewood assets, including goodwill, that Enstar is contributing to New Enstar and showed that, as of the date the analysis was done, the implied market value of the New Enstar shares that Enstar shareholders are receiving exceeds the value of Enstar s market capitalization at any valuation of such non-Castlewood assets up to approximately \$185 million. The book value of such non-Castlewood assets, and in the opinion of Enstar management, the fair value (other than value attributable to goodwill) of such non-Castlewood assets as of such date was approximately \$85 million; accordingly, the analysis indicated a premium to Enstar shareholders of approximately \$100 million.

Enstar s board of directors also discussed different alternatives for listing the shares of New Enstar after the merger and reviewed the proposed principal transaction documents and the status of negotiations respecting such documents.

On May 5, 2006, Castlewood and Enstar entered into a confidentiality agreement, after which both parties began providing requested due diligence materials, and due diligence investigations by executives and legal advisors for both companies began and continued through May 22, 2006.

The due diligence investigations by both parties included the reciprocal exchange of information and documents regarding the two companies businesses, including: historical financial information and financial forecasts; tax records; descriptions of properties; human resources and employee benefits information, including benefit plans and employment agreements; pending and settled litigation matters; material contracts, including contracts relating to acquisitions and dispositions of businesses; and general corporate matters, including corporate governance documents, material governmental filings, auditor response letters, real estate documents and descriptions of securities. Such investigations also included interviews of some of the executive officers of Castlewood and Enstar.

From the beginning of April 2006 to the beginning of May 2006, Debevoise provided drafts of the principal transaction documents to Drinker. The draft merger agreement contained customary representations, warranties and covenants with no post-closing indemnification by either party. Specifically, on April 8, 2006, Debevoise delivered initial drafts of the form of merger agreement and support agreement, which Castlewood and Drinker reviewed. On April 13, 2006, Debevoise delivered an initial draft of the recapitalization agreement, which Castlewood and Drinker reviewed. On April 27 and 28 of 2006, Debevoise delivered drafts of the merger agreement, the recapitalization agreement and the support agreement to Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP, or Skadden, special outside counsel to Trident II, L.P. in connection with the recapitalization, and a conference call was held among Drinker, Debevoise and Skadden to discuss issues related to the recapitalization and merger. During the week of May 1, 2006, Castlewood, Enstar and their legal representatives held several telephone conferences to discuss preliminary comments and issues raised in the merger agreement, support agreement and recapitalization agreement.

From the beginning of May 2006 through May 21, 2006, the parties, together with their respective legal advisors, negotiated the principal terms of the transaction documents, including valuation and the proposed exchange ratio, and continued to conduct due diligence. During the week of May 8, 2006, Castlewood sought the advice of its local counsel in foreign jurisdictions concerning the nature of any regulatory consents or

filings that may be required in connection with the proposed merger. During the week of May 15, 2006, the parties and their respective counsel held several conference calls to discuss outstanding due diligence items and their respective comments to the transaction documents. During this week, the parties also exchanged their respective disclosure schedules for review. The negotiation of the merger agreement and other transaction documents was handled primarily by Messrs. Oros, Frazer and Flowers, on behalf of Enstar, and Messrs. Silvester, O Shea and Harris, on behalf of Castlewood, together with each party s legal advisors.

On May 20, 2006, Castlewood s board of directors met to consider the merger agreement and the proposed transactions related to the merger agreement and voted unanimously to approve the merger agreement and the other transaction documents.

On May 21, 2006, Enstar s board of directors met to consider the merger agreement and the proposed transactions related to the merger agreement. The directors reviewed the results of negotiations since their last meeting, including the proposed share allocation among the Enstar and Castlewood shareholders, and, due to the passage of time and minor changes in the terms of the proposed transaction, discussed the continued validity of the financial analyses of the proposed transaction presented at their last meeting. Changes in the terms of the proposed transactions since the last presentation to Enstar s board of directors included (1) a minor difference between the proposed and actual payments made to the shareholders of Castlewood, including Enstar, pursuant to the Waterfall Distribution Provisions, (2) increase of the cash dividend payable upon consummation of the merger to Enstar shareholders from \$2.47 to \$3.00 per share, (3) minor changes to the treatment in the proposed transaction of Enstar stock options and restricted stock units outstanding prior to the merger and (4) a change in the method of calculating the percentage of equity ownership of New Enstar to be owned by Enstar s shareholders such that the percentage of such ownership is 48.7% instead of 49.9% as originally proposed. Enstar s board of directors, with all of Enstar s directors present and voting, voted unanimously to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

On May 22, 2006, the parties finalized the merger agreement, the recapitalization agreement, the registration rights agreement, the support agreement and the other transaction documents. The parties also agreed on the initial composition of the board of directors and executive officers of New Enstar, as well as other employee compensation and benefit matters, including amendments to the employment agreements of Messrs. O Shea, Packer and Silvester and the terms of the new employment agreement for Mr. Oros.

## Enstar s Reasons for the Merger

At a special meeting held on May 21, 2006, the Enstar board of directors, with all of Enstar s directors present and voting, unanimously determined that it was advisable and fair to and in the best interests of Enstar and its shareholders for Enstar to enter into and consummate the proposed transactions and approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Some of Enstar s directors and executive officers have interests in the proposed transactions and relationships that are different from, or in addition to, yours. The Enstar board of directors considered these interests and relationships when approving the proposed transactions and the merger agreement and concluded that such interests could be appropriately addressed through disclosure and that no director should recuse himself from the deliberations and decisions of the board regarding the merger. These interests and relationships are discussed in Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 60 and Certain Relationships and Related Transactions beginning on page 182.

In reaching its decision, the Enstar board of directors considered a number of factors, including the following:

The merger is expected to enhance the existing and proven close working relationship between Enstar and Castlewood management and to further align the incentives of Castlewood management with the interests of Enstar s shareholders. Castlewood s current ownership structure consists of several classes of shares that provide

different voting rights to shareholders, with Enstar directly (and the Enstar shareholders indirectly) owning approximately 32.0% of the economic interest and 50.0% of the voting interest in Castlewood. Each of Enstar, Trident, and members of Castlewood senior management who own Castlewood shares has the right, among other things, to nominate a certain number of members of

Castlewood s board of directors. Major transactions are required to be approved by one or more directors representing each of Enstar, Trident and Castlewood senior management. The merger will eliminate these approval rights and is expected to better align the incentives of the management of Castlewood and Enstar by having all parties own shares with the same rights.

The transaction would provide a positive economic result for Enstar s shareholders, including the one-time \$3.00 per share dividend to be paid to shareholders of Enstar and the one-for-one exchange ratio contemplated by the merger agreement. In reaching such conclusion, the directors focused, among other things, on:

the increase in the Enstar shareholders proportionate economic ownership of Castlewood from approximately 32.0% to 48.7% (on an undiluted basis);

the implied internal rate of return if the contribution to the combined entity of Enstar s assets other than its investment in Castlewood were viewed as an investment in Castlewood in exchange for the increased economic ownership in Castlewood; and

comparison of the public market value of Enstar to the implied public market value of Castlewood based on Enstar s approximately 32.0% economic ownership of Castlewood, which supported the fairness of the economic terms of the transaction.

The ownership and management structure of Castlewood, Enstar and B.H. Acquisition, a company that Castlewood and Enstar partially own with an affiliate of Trident II, L.P., would be simplified by forming one public company with one board of directors and a consolidated management team. In particular, the board of directors of Enstar believes the merger will:

consolidate the financial and management resources and thereby expand the capabilities of New Enstar to pursue additional acquisitions in the insurance and reinsurance run-off business;

enhance New Enstar s access to capital as a result of both its larger asset base and simplified ownership structure;

expand the opportunities for New Enstar to deploy its capital in attractive investments; and

increase the focus of the time and energy of the directors and management of New Enstar on identifying and consummating attractive acquisitions and managing the existing businesses.

The belief of Enstar s board of directors and management that the other terms of the merger agreement, including the parties representations, warranties, covenants and conditions to their respective obligations, were reasonable.

Enstar was familiar with Castlewood through its existing ownership interest.

The merger was expected to qualify as a tax-free reorganization for U.S. federal income purposes and, accordingly, should not be taxable either to Castlewood, Enstar or Enstar s shareholders.

The Enstar board of directors also identified and considered potentially negative factors concerning the potential transactions, including the following:

The costs to be incurred in connection with the merger, including customary transaction expenses and the diversion of management and employee attention during the period after the signing of the merger agreement.

The risk that the merger might not be completed or that the closing might be delayed, which could result in Enstar incurring the costs described above but not realizing the potential benefits of the merger, or in any event incurring increases in such costs.

The other risks described in Risk Factors beginning on page 21, which the Enstar board of directors takes notice of generally in the course of its oversight of Enstar s business. The following risks were specifically discussed during the board s deliberations regarding the merger:

52

the risk that the merger will result in the holders of Enstar s common stock owning a smaller percentage of New Enstar than they currently own of Enstar, which could reduce their ability to affect changes to New Enstar s board of directors, management and policies;

the risk that regulatory agencies may delay or impose conditions on approval of the merger, which may increase the cost or diminish the anticipated benefits of the merger;

the risk that if the merger does not constitute a reorganization under section 368(a) of the Code, then Enstar shareholders may be responsible for payment of U.S. federal income taxes; and

the risk that certain of Enstar s officers and directors have interests in the merger and relationships that may have influenced their approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

After deliberation, the Enstar board of directors concluded that, on balance, the potential benefits of the transactions to the Enstar shareholders outweighed these risks and potential disadvantages.

The foregoing discussion of the information and factors considered by the Enstar board of directors is not intended to be exhaustive, but includes the material factors considered by the Enstar board of directors. In reaching its decision to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, the Enstar board did not view any single factor as determinative and did not find it necessary or practicable to assign any relative or specific weights to the various factors considered. In addition, individual directors may have given different weights to different factors. The board did not make any determination as to how any specific benefit or risk contributed to its conclusion that the transaction was advisable and fair, but rather considered the benefits and risks in the aggregate.

#### **Recommendation of the Board of Directors of Enstar**

# THE ENSTAR BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT ENSTAR SHAREHOLDERS VOTE FOR THE APPROVAL OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE MERGER AGREEMENT.

In considering the recommendation of Enstar s board of directors with respect to the merger, you should be aware that some officers and directors of Enstar have interests in the merger and relationships that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of Enstar shareholders generally. Enstar s board of directors considered these interests and relationships in approving the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and concluded that such interests could be appropriately addressed through disclosure and that no director should recuse himself from the deliberations and decisions of the board regarding the merger. See Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 60 and Certain Relationships and Related Transactions beginning on page 182.

In addition, you should be aware that as of September 28, 2006, Enstar s directors and executive officers owned 1,904,753 shares of Enstar common stock, representing approximately 33.2% of the voting power of Enstar common stock on that date. Three of those directors, who owned Enstar common stock representing 30.1% of the voting power on that date, have entered into a support agreement with Castlewood pursuant to which such directors have agreed to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. All other Enstar directors and officers have also indicated that they intend to vote their shares of Enstar common stock in favor of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

#### Castlewood s Reasons for the Merger

At a special meeting held on May 20, 2006, the Castlewood board of directors determined that it was advisable and fair to and in the best interest of Castlewood and its shareholders for Castlewood to enter into the merger agreement and consummate the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. In reaching its decision, the Castlewood board of directors considered a number of factors, including the following:

New Enstar is expected to have a significantly increased equity market capitalization, which Castlewood s board of directors believes would provide greater financial flexibility and improved access to both debt and equity capital;

New Enstar s ordinary shares will be listed on Nasdaq and, subject to contractually agreed upon restrictions on transfer and other restrictions under Bermuda law, would be substantially more liquid for Castlewood s existing shareholders than their current Castlewood shares;

New Enstar would benefit from the expertise and extensive experience of the combined management team;

the increased size of New Enstar could allow it to participate in the acquisition and management of larger companies or portfolios in run-off than would be available to Castlewood on a stand-alone basis;

as a result of the simplified shareholder structure, New Enstar would be easier to analyze and value, which would provide for increased market visibility for New Enstar and, ultimately, may enhance the market valuation of New Enstar s ordinary shares relative to the shares privately held by Castlewood s existing shareholders;

holders of substantially all of Castlewood s existing shares were directly involved in the negotiations in respect of the proposed merger and were supportive of the transaction and the related recapitalization of Castlewood;

the potential financial benefits stemming from the enhanced growth prospects of New Enstar; and

the merger is expected to qualify as a tax-free reorganization for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, accordingly, should not be taxable either to Castlewood, Enstar or Enstar s shareholders.

The Castlewood board of directors also identified and considered the potentially negative factors concerning the potential transactions, including the following:

the risk that the merger might not be consummated or that the closing might be delayed;

the costs to be incurred in connection with the merger, including transaction expenses; and

the cost of Castlewood becoming directly subject to the reporting and other requirements of the Exchange Act, including Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

After deliberation, the Castlewood board of directors concluded that, on balance, the potential benefits of the transactions to Castlewood and its shareholders outweighed these risks and potential disadvantages.

Some of Castlewood s directors and executive officers have interests in the merger that are different from, or in addition to, Castlewood s shareholders. The Castlewood board of directors considered these interests when approving the proposed transactions and the merger agreement. These interests are discussed in Interests of Certain Persons in the Merger beginning on page 60.

The foregoing discussion of the information and factors considered by the Castlewood board of directors is not intended to be exhaustive, but does include the material positive and negative factors considered by the Castlewood board of directors. In view of the wide variety of factors considered by the Castlewood board of directors in connection with its evaluation of the merger and the complexity of these matters, the board did not attempt to quantify, rank or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors it considered in reaching its decision. Rather, the Castlewood board of directors made its determination based on the totality of information presented to it and the deliberations engaged in by it. In considering the factors discussed above, individual directors may have given different weights to different factors.

54

### **Accounting Treatment**

The merger will be accounted for as a purchase by Castlewood under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Under the purchase method of accounting, the assets and liabilities of Enstar will be recorded, as of consummation of the merger, at their respective fair values and combined with those of Castlewood.

### Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger

The following discussion is a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences to holders of Enstar common stock who exchange such stock for New Enstar ordinary shares in the merger and who hold Enstar common stock and will hold New Enstar ordinary shares as capital assets (as defined in section 1221 of the Code). The statements of United States Federal tax law or legal conclusions with respect thereto set forth below in Tax Consequences to Exchanging Shareholders and Certain Tax Consequences to Enstar and Castlewood represent the opinion of Debevoise & Plimpton LLP, or Debevoise, Enstar s tax counsel. This discussion is based on the Code, U.S. Treasury regulations, administrative rulings and pronouncements, and judicial decisions, all as in effect as of the date hereof and all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. Any such change could alter the tax consequences discussed below. This discussion does not cover any issues arising under any state, local or non-U.S. tax laws.

This discussion is based in part on facts described in this proxy statement/prospectus; the provisions of the merger agreement, the recapitalization agreement and other related agreements; and representations made by Castlewood and Enstar. If any of these facts or representations is inaccurate, the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger could differ from those described below.

This discussion does not address all U.S. federal income tax issues that may be relevant to all holders in light of their particular circumstances or the consequences to holders who are subject to special federal income tax treatment, such as:

tax-exempt organizations;

individuals who hold Enstar common stock received pursuant to the exercise of any incentive stock options or who hold Enstar common stock subject to certain restrictions received in connection with the performance of services; or

non-U.S. holders who have held more than 5% of the Enstar common stock (taking into account the applicable attribution rules of the Code and U.S. Treasury regulations) at any time within the five-year period ending at the consummation of the merger.

In addition, this discussion does not address any tax consequences associated with:

the exercise of options to purchase Enstar common stock before the effective time of the merger;

the exchange of options to purchase Enstar common stock for options to purchase New Enstar ordinary shares in the merger; or

the exchange of Enstar restricted stock units for a right to receive restricted stock units in respect of New Enstar ordinary shares.

We urge you to consult your own tax advisor concerning the specific U.S. federal, state and local, as well as non-U.S., tax consequences to you of the exchange of Enstar common stock for New Enstar ordinary shares in the merger in light of your own particular circumstances.

# Tax Opinions

It is a condition to the closing of the merger that Enstar and Castlewood receive an opinion from Enstar s tax counsel, Debevoise, on or prior to the date on which Castlewood s registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part becomes effective, or the effective date opinion, to the effect that the merger should be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning of

55

section 368(a) of the Code. It is also a condition to the consummation of the merger that Enstar and Castlewood receive a second opinion from Debevoise, dated as of the closing date of the merger, or the closing date opinion, confirming the effective date opinion. The effective date opinion is, and the closing date opinion will be, based on Section 368(a) (defining reorganization ) and other provisions of the Code, U.S. Treasury Regulations, administrative rulings and pronouncements, and judicial decisions, all as in effect on the date hereof and on representation letters provided by Enstar and Castlewood to Debevoise at the effective time and the closing date, respectively, and on customary factual assumptions.

If any of the necessary representations or assumptions is inaccurate or incomplete, Debevoise s effective date opinion or its closing date opinion, or both, may be invalid. If any of these representations or assumptions cannot be made, Debevoise may not be able to provide its closing date opinion. If Debevoise cannot provide its closing date opinion, the merger cannot close unless Enstar and Castlewood waive the requirement that they receive such opinion. If Enstar and Castlewood waive the requirement that they receive such opinion, or if Debevoise s closing date opinion would differ materially from Debevoise s effective date opinion, and there is a material change in the expected U.S. federal income tax consequences associated with the exchange of Enstar common stock for New Enstar ordinary shares in the merger as described in this proxy statement/prospectus, then this proxy statement/prospectus will be revised and recirculated and the approval of Enstar s shareholders will be resolicited.

The full text of Debevoise s effective date opinion is filed as an exhibit to Castlewood s registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part. For information on how to obtain a copy of exhibits filed with Castlewood s registration statement, see Where You Can Find More Information on page 230. Debevoise s closing date opinion will also confirm the opinion rendered in Debevoise s effective date opinion.

No assurance can be given that the IRS will agree with the tax consequences described in the Debevoise opinions or that, if the IRS were to take a contrary position, that position would not ultimately be sustained by the courts. Neither Enstar nor Castlewood intends to obtain a ruling from the IRS regarding the tax consequences of the merger.

## Tax Consequences to Exchanging Shareholders

As noted above, Debevoise has provided an opinion that the merger should be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a) of the Code. Accordingly,

Enstar shareholders should not recognize any gain or loss on the exchange of Enstar common stock for New Enstar ordinary shares in the merger;

the tax basis to an Enstar shareholder of New Enstar ordinary shares received in exchange for Enstar common stock pursuant to the merger should equal such Enstar shareholder s tax basis in the Enstar common stock surrendered in exchange therefor; and

the holding period of an Enstar shareholder for New Enstar ordinary shares received pursuant to the merger should include the holding period of the Enstar common stock surrendered in exchange therefor.

Under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations (§1.368-3(b)), each Enstar exchanging shareholder will be required to attach to its federal income tax return for the current taxable year a statement setting forth certain specified information about the exchange, including a statement of such shareholder s tax basis in its Enstar common stock and a description of the New Enstar ordinary shares it receives in the merger.

A U.S. holder who will own 5% or more of either the total voting power or the total value of the outstanding New Enstar ordinary shares after the merger (determined after taking into account the applicable attribution rules of the

Code and U.S. Treasury regulations) and who would otherwise qualify for non-recognition of gain in connection with the merger (and the related basis and holding period consequences described above) will so qualify only if such holder enters into a gain recognition agreement with the IRS in accordance with the U.S. Treasury regulations under section 367(a) of the Code. Certain subsequent

dispositions of Enstar shares or assets by New Enstar may result in gain recognition to such a holder. Each such U.S. holder should consult its own tax advisors regarding these matters.

### Certain Tax Consequences to Enstar and Castlewood

As noted above, Debevoise has provided an opinion that the merger should be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a reorganization within the meaning of section 368(a) of the Code. Accordingly no income, gain or loss should be recognized by Castlewood or Enstar as a result of the transfer to the Enstar shareholders of New Enstar ordinary shares pursuant to the merger.

For a discussion of the material tax considerations of holding and disposing of New Enstar ordinary shares, see the discussion under Material Tax Considerations of Holding and Disposing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares beginning on page 218.

#### **Regulatory Matters Relating to the Merger**

## Antitrust and Competition Filings

The merger is not subject to notification to the U.S. Department of Justice and U.S. Federal Trade Commission under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act. Castlewood and Enstar conduct operations in a number of foreign jurisdictions, and the merger may be subject to notification and approval by governmental authorities under the antitrust or competition laws of those jurisdictions. We recognize that some of these approvals may not be obtained before the completion of the merger and may impact New Enstar s ability to conduct business in those jurisdictions until such approvals are obtained. We cannot assure you that the governmental reviewing authorities will clear the merger at all or without restrictions or conditions that would have a material adverse effect on New Enstar if the merger is consummated. These restrictions and conditions could include a complete or partial license, divestiture or spin-off of some of New Enstar s assets or businesses.

In addition, even after completion of all notification and approval requirements, the U.S. Department of Justice, the U.S. Federal Trade Commission or another governmental authority could challenge or seek to block the merger under the antitrust laws, as it deems necessary or desirable in the public interest. Other agencies with authority over antitrust or other comparable anti-competition laws with jurisdiction over the merger could also initiate action to challenge or block the merger. In addition, in some jurisdictions, a competitor, customer or other third party could initiate a private action under the antitrust laws challenging or seeking to enjoin the merger, before or after it is consummated. Castlewood and Enstar cannot be sure that a challenge to the merger will not be made or that, if a challenge is made, Castlewood and Enstar will prevail.

#### **Other Regulatory Considerations**

The consummation of the merger is conditioned upon Castlewood s receipt of approval of the recapitalization and the merger from the Financial Services Authority of the United Kingdom, which Castlewood received on September 1, 2006. Castlewood and its shareholders have also provided the requisite notice of the transaction to the Federal Office of Private Insurance in Switzerland and the Banking Finance and Insurance Commission in Belgium. Castlewood has already received approval from the Bermuda Monetary Authority to issue its ordinary shares in connection with the recapitalization and the merger.

Other than the filings and approvals described above, neither Enstar nor Castlewood is aware of any regulatory approvals required to be obtained, or waiting periods to expire, to consummate the merger or the recapitalization. If the parties discover that other approvals are needed, however, they may not be able to obtain them. Even if Enstar and

Castlewood could obtain all necessary approvals, and the necessary approval of the Enstar shareholders, conditions may be placed on any such approval that could cause either Castlewood or Enstar to abandon the merger.

## **Rights Agreement**

Enstar entered into a rights agreement dated as of January 20, 1997, as amended, with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company as rights agent. Under this agreement, Enstar effected a dividend distribution of shareholder rights that carry certain conversion rights in the event of a significant change in beneficial ownership of Enstar. One right is attached to each share of Enstar s outstanding common stock and is not detachable until such time as a person or group of affiliated or associated persons either acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of Enstar s outstanding common stock and is not detachable until such time as a person or group of affiliated or associated persons either acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of Enstar s outstanding common stock or announces an intention to commence a tender or exchange offer the consummation of which would result in beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding Enstar common stock. The exercise price of each right was fixed at \$40. If an acquirer purchases an equity position in Enstar equal to or greater than a 15% interest or engages in certain other types of transactions with Enstar, each right not beneficially owned by the acquirer is converted into the right to buy that number of shares of Enstar common stock which has a market value shortly after such triggering event of two times the exercise price of the right. If the acquiring company were to merge or otherwise combine with Enstar, or Enstar were to sell or transfer 50% of its cash flow or earnings power, each right is converted into the right to buy that number of shares of common stock of the acquiring company which has a market value of two times the exercise price of the right.

At the time of the execution and delivery of the merger agreement, Enstar and the rights agent amended the terms of the rights agreement so that the execution and delivery of the merger agreement, recapitalization agreement, support agreement and any other agreement or transaction entered into in connection with the merger would not constitute a triggering event. The amended terms of the rights agreement also provide for the cancellation of all rights under the rights agreement upon the effectiveness of the merger and in accordance with the merger transaction documents. This means that holders of Enstar s common stock will not obtain the detachable rights in connection with the merger.

#### Federal Securities Laws Consequences; Stock Transfer Restriction Agreements

All New Enstar ordinary shares received by Enstar shareholders in the merger will be freely transferable, except that New Enstar ordinary shares received by persons who are deemed to be affiliates of Enstar under the Securities Act at the time of the Annual Meeting may be resold by them only in transactions permitted by Rule 145 under the Securities Act or as otherwise permitted under the Securities Act. Persons who may be deemed to be an affiliate of Enstar for such purposes generally include individuals or entities that control, are controlled by or are under common control with, Enstar, as the case may be, and include directors, certain executive officers and principal shareholders of Enstar. These affiliates may resell the New Enstar ordinary shares they receive in the merger only:

under an effective registration statement under the Securities Act covering the resale of those shares;

in transactions permitted by Rule 145(d) under the Securities Act; or

as otherwise permitted under the Securities Act.

Castlewood s registration statement, of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part, does not cover the resale of New Enstar ordinary shares to be received in connection with the merger by persons who may be deemed to be affiliates of Enstar before the merger, and no person is authorized to make any use of this document in connection with any such sale. The merger agreement also requires that Enstar use reasonable best efforts to cause each affiliate to execute a written agreement to the effect that such persons will not offer, sell or otherwise dispose of any of the New Enstar ordinary shares issued to them in the merger in violation of the Securities Act or the related rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. However, Trident and Messrs. Flowers and Silvester and certain other

shareholders of Castlewood (including the current directors of Enstar), some of whom may be deemed to be affiliates of Enstar, have agreed to enter into a registration rights agreement with Castlewood and certain of its current shareholders concurrently with the closing of the recapitalization. The registration rights agreement will give such persons the right to require, in certain instances, New Enstar to register their New Enstar ordinary shares or to participate in registered offerings of shares by New Enstar and other shareholders of New Enstar. See Material Terms of Related Agreements Registration Rights Agreement on page 77.

58

### **Stock Exchange Listing; Delisting and Deregistration of Enstar Common Stock**

It is a condition to the merger that the New Enstar ordinary shares issuable in the merger be approved for listing on Nasdaq, subject to official notice of issuance. If the merger is consummated, Enstar common stock will cease to be listed on Nasdaq and its shares will be deregistered under the Exchange Act.

## INTERESTS OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN THE MERGER

Certain of Enstar s and Castlewood s directors and executive officers have interests in the merger as individuals in addition to, and that may be different from, your interests as shareholders of Enstar or New Enstar. The Enstar and Castlewood boards of directors were aware of these interests and considered them in their respective decisions to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

## New Employment Agreements with John J. Oros, Paul J. O Shea, Nicholas A. Packer and Dominic F. Silvester

On May 23, 2006, Castlewood entered into a new employment agreement with Mr. O Shea and amended its employment agreements with Messrs. Packer and Silvester. Mr. O Shea s employment agreement, which will become effective when the merger is consummated, supersedes the employment agreement between Castlewood and Mr. O Shea, dated November 29, 2001. Messrs. Packer s and Silvester s amended and restated employment agreements, which will also become effective when the merger is consummated, supersedes their respective employment agreements, each dated as of April 1, 2006. New Enstar also expects that it and its subsidiary, Castlewood (US) Inc., will enter into a new employment agreement with John J. Oros, to become effective when the merger is consummated. Mr. Oros is currently the President and Chief Operating Officer of Enstar and a director of Castlewood and Enstar.

Following the merger, Messrs. O Shea and Packer will serve as New Enstar s Executive Vice Presidents, Mr. Silvester will serve as its Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Oros will serve as its Executive Chairman. As compensation for their services, each executive officer will (1) receive a base salary (Mr. Silvester s salary will be \$565,000, Messrs. O Shea s and Packer s salary will each be \$440,000, and Mr. Oros s salary is expected to be \$282,500), (2) be eligible for incentive compensation under Castlewood s incentive compensation programs and (3) be entitled to certain employee benefits, including a housing allowance, a life insurance policy in the amount of five times his base salary, medical, dental and long-term disability insurance, payment of an amount equal to 10% of his base salary each year contributed to his retirement savings plan and, for Messrs. Packer and Silvester, the executive will be reimbursed for one round trip for his family to/from Bermuda each calendar year.

For additional details on the terms of these employment agreements, see section Management of New Enstar Following the Merger and Other Information Employment Agreements beginning on page 180.

## **Enstar Director and Executive Benefit Plans**

Under Enstar s 1997 Amended Incentive Plan, as amended in 2001 and 2003, and Enstar s 2001 Outside Director s Stock Option Plan, 500,000 options to purchase Enstar shares have been granted to various directors and officers of Enstar. Of the 500,000 options outstanding, 80,000 options have yet to vest, of which options to purchase 30,000 shares of Enstar common stock are held by Nimrod T. Frazer, Enstar s Chief Executive Officer, and options to purchase 50,000 shares of Enstar common stock are held by Mr. Oros. These 80,000 unvested options will vest immediately upon a change of control triggered by the merger. Other than options issued by New Enstar in exchange for the options to acquire Enstar common stock set forth above, no additional or new options will be granted in connection with the merger.

#### Payments to, and Other Interests of, Certain Executive Officers and Directors

Pursuant to the recapitalization agreement, Castlewood will pay, immediately prior to the merger, \$5,076,000 to certain of its executive officers and employees. Of the \$5,076,000, Messrs. O Shea, Packer and Silvester will receive \$989,956, \$989,956 and \$2,969,868, respectively. The remaining \$126,220 will be paid to Messrs. David Grisley,

David Hackett and David Rocke, employees of Castlewood. These payments are intended to provide certain Castlewood executives and employees with a cash incentive to remain with New Enstar following the merger in lieu of any other cash payments to which they may have been entitled. Both Castlewood and Enstar view these executives and employees as integral for the success of New Enstar.

Upon completion of the merger, Castlewood, Trident, J. Christopher Flowers, a director of Castlewood and Enstar, Mr. Silvester, and certain other employee shareholders of Castlewood and the members of Enstar s board of directors receiving New Enstar ordinary shares in connection with the merger will enter into a registration rights agreement. The registration rights agreement will provide that, after the expiration of one year from the date of the registration rights agreement, Trident, Mr. Flowers and Mr. Silvester may request that New Enstar effect a registration under the Securities Act of all or any part of the New Enstar shares received by such holder in connection with the recapitalization and/or the merger. Trident will be entitled to make three requests to effect registration, while Messrs. Flowers and Silvester will each be entitled to two such requests. In addition, the registration rights agreement further provides that, after the expiration of 90 days from the date of the registration rights agreement and prior to the first anniversary of such date, Trident shall have the right to use one of its registration requests to require New Enstar to effect the registration of up to 750,000 New Enstar shares. For additional details on the terms of registration rights agreement, see Material Terms of Related Agreements Registration Rights Agreement beginning on page 75.

Two directors of Enstar, T. Whit Armstrong and T. Wayne Davis, have entered into a letter agreement, dated May 23, 2006, with Castlewood pursuant to which Castlewood, subject to the consummation of the merger, agreed to repurchase from Messrs. Armstrong and Davis, upon their request, during a 30-day period commencing January 15, 2007, at then prevailing market prices, such number of New Enstar ordinary shares as provides an amount sufficient for Messrs. Armstrong and Davis to pay taxes on compensation income resulting from the exercise of options by them on May 23, 2006 for 50,000 shares of Enstar common stock in the aggregate. Castlewood s obligation to repurchase ordinary shares is limited to 25,000 ordinary shares from each of Messrs. Armstrong and Davis. Since the letter agreement provides for the sale of such shares at then prevailing market prices, each of Enstar and Castlewood believe that the value of the rights of Messrs. Armstrong and Davis under such agreement is not significant.

Pursuant to the Severance Benefits Agreement, dated May 21, 1998, between Enstar and Mr. Frazer, Mr. Frazer will be entitled to \$350,000 upon the expected termination of his employment with Enstar immediately following the effective time of the merger.

On the first anniversary of the merger, Enstar will pay to each of Cheryl D. Davis, the Chief Financial Officer, Vice President of Corporate Taxes and Secretary of Enstar, and Amy Dunaway, the Treasurer and Controller of Enstar, an amount equal to 75% of their annual salary in consideration of their waiver of certain severance payments to which they are entitled in connection with the merger pursuant to their severance benefits agreements with Enstar.

#### **New Enstar Board of Directors**

Under the terms of the recapitalization agreement, the board of directors of New Enstar after the consummation of the merger will consist of ten individuals. Four of these individuals Messrs. T. Whit Armstrong, Paul J. Collins, Gregory L. Curl and T. Wayne Davis are current directors of Enstar, three of these individuals Messrs. J. Christopher Flowers, Nimrod T. Frazer and John J. Oros are current directors of both Enstar and Castlewood, and the other three individuals Messrs. Paul J. O Shea, Nicholas A. Packer and Dominic F. Silvester are current directors and/or executive officers of Castlewood.

#### Indemnification of Directors and Officers; Directors Indemnity Agreements

From and after the effective time of the merger, Castlewood has agreed that New Enstar will indemnify and hold harmless all past and present directors, officers, employees and agents of Enstar and its subsidiaries before the consummation of the merger for losses in connection with any action arising out of or pertaining to acts or omissions, or alleged acts or omissions, by them in their capacities as such at or before the effective time of the merger.

New Enstar will indemnify or advance expenses to such persons to the same extent such persons are indemnified or have the right to advancement of expenses under Enstar s articles of incorporation, bylaws and indemnification agreements, if any, on the date of the merger agreement, and to the fullest extent permitted by law. Castlewood also has agreed that it will include and cause to be maintained in effect in its memorandum

of association and bye-laws and Enstar USA s articles of incorporation and bylaws for a period of six years after the consummation of the merger, provisions substantially similar to (in the case of Castlewood, to the fullest extent permitted by Bermuda law) the current provisions regarding elimination of liability of directors, indemnification of officers, directors and employees and advancement of expenses contained in the articles of incorporation and bylaws of Enstar.

In addition, Castlewood has agreed that it will cause to be maintained, for a period of six years after the consummation of the merger, the current policies of directors and officers liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance maintained by Enstar with respect to claims arising from facts or events that occurred at or before the effective time of the merger. New Enstar may substitute policies of at least the same coverage and amounts containing terms and conditions which are, in the aggregate, no less advantageous to the insured. Such substitute policies must be issued by insurance companies having the same or better ratings and levels of creditworthiness as the insurance companies that have issued the current policies.

## **Tax Indemnification Agreement**

Mr. Flowers, a director of Castlewood and Enstar and Enstar s largest shareholder, has entered into a tax indemnification agreement, dated May 23, 2006, with Castlewood and Enstar pursuant to which Castlewood will reimburse and indemnify Mr. Flowers for, and hold him harmless on an after-tax basis against, any increase in Mr. Flowers U.S. federal, state or local income tax liability (including any interest or penalties relating thereto), and reasonable attorneys fees, incurred by Mr. Flowers as a result of certain dispositions of shares of Enstar or dispositions of all or substantially all of Enstar s assets by New Enstar, Enstar or any successor or assign of either, within the period beginning immediately after the effective time of the merger and ending five years after the last day of the taxable year that includes the effective time. Because Mr. Flowers will be the only greater-than-5% U.S. shareholder of New Enstar after the merger, he is in a different position than the other current shareholders of Enstar with regard to treating the merger as a tax-free reorganization. Under IRS regulations issued pursuant to section 367(a) of the Code, as a 5% U.S. shareholder Mr. Flowers may treat the merger as a tax-free reorganization only if he enters into a gain recognition agreement with the IRS under which he agrees he will treat the merger as taxable if New Enstar disposes of certain stock or assets of Enstar within the five years following the merger. Such dispositions may be effected without Mr. Flowers consent. Other shareholders of Enstar are not subject to these additional conditions, and their tax treatment would not be affected by such dispositions. The Enstar board of directors approved such agreement because it determined that it would be fair to put Mr. Flowers in the same position as the other shareholders of Enstar with respect to such tax treatment and that such agreement would increase the likelihood that Mr. Flowers, in his capacity as an Enstar shareholder, would support the proposed transaction. While the agreement is significant to Mr. Flowers, New Enstar believes it is unlikely to incur any liability under the agreement because it believes the likelihood that it will dispose of stock or assets of Enstar within the next five years to be remote.

# THE MERGER AGREEMENT

The following is a summary of the material terms of the merger agreement. This summary does not purport to describe all the terms of the merger agreement and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the merger agreement which is attached as Annex A to this proxy statement/prospectus and incorporated herein by reference. All shareholders of Enstar are urged to read carefully the merger agreement in its entirety.

The merger agreement has been attached to provide investors with information regarding its terms. It is not intended to provide any other factual information about Enstar or Castlewood. In particular, the assertions embodied in the representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement were intended principally to allocate risk between Enstar and Castlewood or establish closing conditions, rather than to establish matters of fact. Such assertions may be subject to important qualifications and limitations agreed to by the parties in connection with negotiating the terms of the merger agreement. Moreover, the representations and warranties are subject to a contractual standard of materiality that may be different from what may be viewed as material to shareholders of Enstar. Accordingly, you should not rely on the representations and warranties in the merger agreement as characterizations of the actual state of facts regarding Enstar or Castlewood.

## General

Under the merger agreement, Merger Sub, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood, will merge with and into Enstar, with Enstar surviving as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood. Enstar will change its name to Enstar USA, Inc.

## **Closing Matters**

Unless the parties agree otherwise, the consummation of the merger will take place as promptly as practicable (but no later than the third business day) after all closing conditions have been satisfied or waived, unless the merger agreement has been terminated or another time or date is agreed to in writing by the parties. See Conditions to the Consummation of the Merger below for a more complete description of the conditions that must be satisfied or waived before consummation of the merger.

As soon as practicable after the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions to the merger, on the closing date, Merger Sub and Enstar will file a certificate of merger with the Georgia Secretary of State in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Georgia Business Corporation Code, and make all other required filings or recordings. The merger will become effective when the certificate of merger is filed or at such later time as Castlewood and Enstar agree and specify in the certificate of merger.

#### Merger Consideration; Treatment of Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units; Board and Management

The merger agreement further provides that, at the consummation of the merger:

Each share of Enstar common stock issued and outstanding immediately before the consummation of the merger, together with the associated rights issued under the Enstar shareholder rights plan, will be converted into the right to receive one New Enstar ordinary share.

Each outstanding option to purchase shares of Enstar common stock will be assumed by New Enstar and converted into an option to purchase New Enstar ordinary shares.

The per share exercise price of each new option will be set at a ratio to the trading price of the ordinary shares of New Enstar immediately following the closing of the merger that equals the ratio of the exercise price of the corresponding Enstar stock option to the trading price of shares of Enstar common stock immediately prior to the closing of the merger. The number of New Enstar ordinary shares underlying the new option will be set so that the aggregate spread value of the new option approximately equals the spread value of the former Enstar stock option.

Each assumed New Enstar option will be vested to the same extent the Enstar stock option was vested immediately prior to the closing, except if the option agreement provides for acceleration of vesting as

a result of the merger. New Enstar options will otherwise be subject to the same terms and conditions as the Enstar stock options.

Each restricted stock unit issued under Enstar s Deferred Compensation and Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors that is outstanding immediately prior to the closing will automatically convert from a right in respect of a share of Enstar common stock into a right in respect of a New Enstar ordinary share.

Each share of common stock of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the consummation of the merger will be converted into one share of common stock of Enstar USA.

The articles of incorporation of Enstar will be amended and restated at the consummation of the merger and will be the articles of incorporation of Enstar USA until thereafter amended.

The bylaws of Merger Sub in effect immediately prior to the consummation of the merger will be the bylaws of Enstar USA until thereafter amended.

Until successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified, Cheryl D. Davis and John J. Oros will be the directors of Enstar USA.

Until successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified, the officers of Enstar immediately prior to the consummation of the merger will be the officers of Enstar USA.

#### **Exchange of Stock in the Merger**

Before the consummation of the merger, Castlewood will appoint an exchange agent (which will be reasonably acceptable to Enstar) to handle the exchange of Enstar common stock for New Enstar ordinary shares. Promptly after the completion of the merger, the exchange agent will send a letter of transmittal, which is to be used to exchange Enstar common stock for New Enstar ordinary shares, to each former Enstar shareholder of record.

The letter of transmittal will be accompanied by instructions explaining the procedures for surrendering Enstar share certificates. PLEASE DO NOT RETURN STOCK CERTIFICATES WITH THE ENCLOSED PROXY CARD.

Enstar shareholders who surrender their common stock in accordance with the instructions, together with a properly completed letter of transmittal, will receive one New Enstar ordinary share for each share of Enstar common stock held by such shareholder as of the effective time. After the merger, each share of Enstar common stock will only represent the right to receive one New Enstar ordinary share into which that share of Enstar common stock will have been converted, except as otherwise described below.

Dividends or distributions declared with respect to New Enstar ordinary shares with a record date that is after the consummation of the merger will not be paid to any holder of any Enstar share certificates until the holder surrenders the Enstar share certificates in exchange for New Enstar ordinary shares. Upon surrender and subject to applicable law, New Enstar will pay to the holder, without interest, any dividends or distributions that have been declared on New Enstar ordinary shares with a record date after the consummation of the merger and before the date of such surrender and a payment date before the date of such surrender.

After the consummation of the merger, Enstar will not register any transfers of the shares of Enstar common stock. Castlewood shareholders will not exchange their share certificates in the merger.

#### Listing of New Enstar Ordinary Shares

#### Table of Contents

Castlewood has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to cause the New Enstar ordinary shares to be issued in the merger and the New Enstar ordinary shares to be reserved for issuance upon exercise of the stock options exchanged for Enstar stock options to be approved for listing on Nasdaq, subject to official notice of issuance, before the consummation of the merger. Approval for listing on Nasdaq of the New Enstar ordinary shares issuable to the Enstar shareholders in the merger, subject only to official notice of issuance, is a condition to the obligations of Castlewood and Enstar to consummate the merger.

#### Covenants

Castlewood and Enstar have each undertaken certain covenants in the merger agreement, which, among other things, concern the conduct of their respective businesses between the date the merger agreement was signed and the consummation of the merger. The following summarizes the more significant of these covenants:

#### No Solicitation

Enstar has agreed that Enstar, and each of its subsidiaries, officers and directors, will use reasonable best efforts to ensure that their respective employees, agents and representatives (including any investment banker, attorney or accountant retained by it or any of its subsidiaries) do not directly or indirectly:

initiate inquiries regarding, or solicit the making of, any takeover proposal, as defined below; or

engage in any negotiations concerning a takeover proposal.

However, Enstar and its board of directors are permitted to disclose to its shareholders its position with respect to any takeover proposal as may be required under the federal securities laws. In addition, Enstar is permitted to engage in any discussions or negotiations with, or provide information to, any person in response to an unsolicited takeover proposal, if:

before providing any information to any person in connection with a takeover proposal, such person is required to enter into a customary confidentiality agreement with Enstar containing terms no less restrictive than the terms contained in the confidentiality agreement between Castlewood and Enstar; and

Enstar provides Castlewood with copies of all information provided to such person to the extent such information has not been previously provided to Castlewood.

A takeover proposal means any proposal or offer in respect of:

a merger, consolidation, business combination, share exchange, reorganization, recapitalization, sale of substantially all of the assets, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction involving Enstar, any of the foregoing referred to as a business combination transaction, with a third party;

Enstar s acquisition of any third party in a business combination transaction in which the shareholders of the third party immediately prior to consummation of such business combination transaction will own more than 35% of Enstar s outstanding capital stock immediately following such business combination transaction, including the issuance by Enstar of more than 35% of any class of its voting equity securities as consideration for assets or securities of a third party; or

any acquisition, whether by tender or exchange offer or otherwise, by any third party of 35% or more of any class of capital stock of Enstar or of 35% or more of the consolidated assets of Enstar, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions.

Enstar has agreed to notify Castlewood in writing of the receipt of any takeover proposal or request for information or inquiry that would reasonably be expected to lead to the receipt of a takeover proposal, the terms and conditions of any takeover proposal, and the identity of the person making a takeover proposal, request or inquiry. Enstar has also

agreed to inform Castlewood on the status and material terms of any discussions regarding, or relating to, any takeover proposal and of any change in the price or material terms of and conditions regarding the takeover proposal.

### Board of Directors Covenant to Recommend

Enstar has agreed that its board of directors will recommend adoption and approval of the merger agreement to the Enstar shareholders. However, Enstar s board of directors is permitted to withdraw, or qualify in any material respect its recommendation in any manner adverse to Castlewood, before the Annual Meeting, if:

its board of directors determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that the failure to do so would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the fiduciary duties owed by the board to Enstar s shareholders under applicable law; or

if the change in recommendation is in response to a superior proposal, as defined below, only (i) after Enstar provides to Castlewood a written notice advising Castlewood that the Enstar board of directors has received a superior proposal, specifying the terms and conditions of such superior proposal and including a copy thereof and identifying the person making such superior proposal, (ii) after negotiating in good faith with Castlewood to make such adjustments in the terms and conditions of the merger agreement as would enable Enstar to proceed with its recommendation without a change in such recommendation if and to the extent Castlewood elects to seek to make such adjustments and (iii) if Castlewood does not, within the earlier of five days of Castlewood s receipt of notice of a superior proposal or three business days prior to the special shareholders meeting of Enstar, make an offer that the board of directors of Enstar determines in good faith to be as favorable to the Enstar shareholders as such superior proposal.

A superior proposal means a bona fide written proposal or offer made by a third party in respect of a business combination transaction involving, or any purchase or acquisition of all or substantially all of the voting power of Enstar s capital stock, or all or substantially all of the consolidated assets of Enstar, which business combination transaction or other purchase or acquisition contains terms and conditions that the board of directors determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside counsel, would result in a transaction that if consummated would be more favorable, from a financial point of view, to the shareholders of Enstar than the merger.

### **Operations of Castlewood and Enstar Pending Closing**

Castlewood and Enstar have each undertaken covenants that place restrictions on them and their respective subsidiaries until either the consummation of the merger or the termination of the merger agreement. In general, Castlewood, Enstar and their respective subsidiaries are required to conduct their respective businesses in the usual, regular and ordinary course in all material respects substantially in the same manner as conducted before the date of the merger agreement and to use their reasonable best efforts to preserve intact their present lines of business and relationships with third parties.

Each of them has agreed to restrictions that, except as expressly contemplated by the merger agreement, or with the written consent of the other party, prohibit them and their respective subsidiaries from:

declaring or paying dividends or distributions (except for a \$3.00 per share dividend payable in cash to the shareholders of Enstar immediately prior to the consummation of the merger);

making changes in their share capital, including, among other things, stock splits, combinations or reclassifications;

repurchasing or redeeming their capital stock;

issuing or selling any shares of their capital stock or other equity interests, except Castlewood may issue up to 198 of its Class D non-voting ordinary shares to up to 35 employees of Castlewood and may enter into agreements reasonably acceptable to Enstar related to the issuance of such shares; or

amending their respective governing documents.

Enstar also agreed to additional restrictions that, except as expressly contemplated by the merger agreement, or with the written consent of Castlewood (not to be unreasonably withheld), prohibits them and their respective subsidiaries from:

acquiring any person or division (other than an entity that is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enstar) or disposing of assets; and

incurring or guaranteeing debt, making loans or capital contributions or investments in any other person (other than to wholly-owned subsidiaries of Enstar) and entering into any material commitment or transaction requiring a capital expenditure by Enstar or its subsidiaries.

#### Reasonable Best Efforts Covenant

Castlewood and Enstar have agreed to cooperate with each other and to use their reasonable best efforts to take all actions and do all things necessary, proper or advisable under the merger agreement and applicable laws to consummate the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Reasonable best efforts include (but are not limited to) filing for governmental consents and taking actions necessary to resolve any objections or challenge any governmental entity may have to the contemplated transactions so as to permit their consummation.

#### **Other Covenants and Agreements**

#### Expenses

Castlewood and Enstar have each agreed to pay their own costs and expenses incurred in connection with the merger and the merger agreement, except that if the merger is consummated, Castlewood or its relevant subsidiary will pay all property or transfer taxes imposed on Enstar and its subsidiaries.

### **Other Covenants**

The merger agreement contains certain other covenants, including covenants relating to cooperation between Castlewood and Enstar in the preparation of this proxy statement/prospectus, making governmental filings, public announcements and certain tax matters. The merger agreement also contains customary covenants by Castlewood relating to indemnification of directors, officers, employees and agents of Enstar and its subsidiaries from and after the effective time of the merger and maintaining, for a period of six years after the consummation of the merger, the current policies of directors and officers liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance.

#### **Representations and Warranties**

The merger agreement contains substantially mutual representations and warranties, certain of which are qualified by material adverse effect limitation, made by each of Castlewood and Enstar to the other. The representations and warranties include those relating to:

corporate existence, qualification to conduct business and corporate standing and power;

ownership of subsidiaries;

capital structure;

corporate authority to enter into, and carry out the obligations under, the merger agreement and enforceability of the merger agreement;

absence of any conflict with or violation under their organizational documents or any law or agreement to which they are subject or bound as a result of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

governmental and regulatory approvals required to consummate the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

in the case of Enstar, filings made with the Commission;
financial statements;
accuracy of information supplied for use in this proxy statement/prospectus;
board of directors approval;
required shareholder votes;
litigation;
compliance with laws;
absence of certain changes or events since December 31, 2005;
employee benefit plans and related matters;
inapplicability of anti-takeover statutes;
environmental matters;
intellectual property matters;
payment of fees to finders or brokers in connection with the merger agreement;
tax matters;
material contracts;
assets;
real property;
insurance;
affiliate transactions; and
disclosures made by them.

The merger agreement also contains certain representations and warranties of Castlewood with respect to Merger Sub, including those relating to organization, authorization, absence of a breach of the organizational documents and no prior business activities.

#### Conditions to the Consummation of the Merger

## Mutual Conditions

Castlewood s and Enstar s respective obligations to consummate the merger are subject to the satisfaction or the waiver of the following conditions:

the receipt of all governmental and regulatory consents, clearances, approvals and actions necessary for the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement unless failure to obtain those consents, clearances, approvals and actions would not reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on New Enstar (except for a limited number of consents, clearances, approvals and actions of, filings with and notices to the governmental entities listed in Castlewood s disclosure letter that must be obtained regardless of their materiality), which consents, clearances, approvals and actions have been obtained;

the absence of any law, order or injunction prohibiting the consummation of the merger in the United States, Bermuda or the European Union;

the Commission having declared effective the Castlewood registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part;

the approval for listing by Nasdaq of the New Enstar ordinary shares to be issued in the merger, subject to official notice of issuance;

the receipt of all securities and blue sky permits and approvals necessary to consummate the merger;

the adoption and approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement by the Enstar shareholders;

the affirmative votes of the holders of a majority of the outstanding share capital of Castlewood necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement, which vote has been obtained;

the completion of the recapitalization of Castlewood pursuant to the recapitalization agreement (see Material Terms of Related Agreements Recapitalization Agreement beginning on page 72);

no event having occurred which would trigger a distribution under Enstar s shareholders rights plan;

the receipt by Enstar and Castlewood of Debevoise s opinion to the effect that the merger should qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of section 368(a) of the Code (see discussion under The Proposed Merger Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger Tax Opinions beginning on page 55);

the representations and warranties of the other party contained in the merger agreement which are qualified as to material adverse effect being true and correct as of the date of the merger agreement and as of the closing date of the merger, except to the extent that such representation or warranty speaks as of another date, and the representations and warranties of the other party which are not qualified as to material adverse effect being true and correct (disregarding materiality qualifiers) except where the failure to be true and correct, individually or in the aggregate, would not have a material adverse effect on the party making the representation, as of the date of the merger agreement and as of the closing date of the merger as if they were made on that date, except to the extent that such representation or warranty speaks as of another date; and

the other party having performed or complied in all material respects with all agreements or covenants required to be performed by it under the merger agreement (other than the parties covenants regarding the issuance of securities, and Enstar s covenant regarding dividends and changes in share capital, which will have been complied with in all respects), in each case, on or before the closing date.

As used in the merger agreement, the term material adverse effect means with respect to either Castlewood or Enstar, as applicable, any event, change, circumstance or effect that, individually or in the aggregate, is or would be reasonably likely to be materially adverse to:

the business, financial condition, assets or results of operations of such entity and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, other than any event, change, circumstance or effect relating:

to the economy or financial markets in general;

to changes in general in the industries in which such entity operates (provided, however, that the effect of such changes shall be included to the extent of, and in the amount of, the disproportionate impact (if any) they have on such entity relative to the other participants in such industry);

to changes in applicable law or regulations or in generally accepted accounting principles (provided, however, that the effect of such changes shall be included to the extent of, and in the amount of, the disproportionate impact (if any) they have on such entity relative to other persons with similar lines of business); or

to the announcement of the merger agreement or the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement; or

the ability of such entity and its subsidiaries to complete the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the recapitalization agreement.

### Additional Conditions

In addition, Enstar s obligation to consummate the merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the receipt by Mr. Flowers of an indemnity agreement with respect to the gain recognition agreement anticipated to be filed by Mr. Flowers in accordance with Treasury regulation § 1.367(a)-8. Mr. Flowers, Castlewood and Enstar entered into such indemnity agreement on May 23, 2006. See Material Terms of Related Agreements Tax Indemnification Agreement beginning on page 80 for a description of the tax indemnity agreement.

### **Termination of Merger Agreement**

### **Right to Terminate**

The merger agreement may be terminated at any time before the consummation of the merger in any of the following ways:

by mutual written consent of Enstar and Castlewood;

by either Enstar or Castlewood:

if the merger has not been consummated by January 31, 2007; except that a party may not terminate the merger agreement if the cause of the merger not being consummated is that party s failure to fulfill its material obligations under the merger agreement;

if a governmental authority or a court in the United States or European Union permanently enjoins or prohibits the consummation of the merger, except that a party that seeks to terminate the merger agreement upon such an event must have used its reasonable best efforts to obtain the government approvals required for the consummation of the merger; or

if Enstar s shareholders fail to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

by Castlewood:

if Enstar has breached in any material respect any of its representations or warranties or has failed to perform in any material respect any of its covenants or other agreements under the merger agreement and such breach:

is incapable of being cured by or remains uncured prior to January 31, 2007; or

would result in the failure of certain closing conditions in the merger agreement being satisfied; or

if:

Enstar or Enstar s board of directors materially breaches the covenant regarding no solicitation of competing acquisition proposals and such breach is not cured within five business days after receiving such notice of breach;

Enstar s board of directors changes its recommendation to the Enstar shareholders to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement; or

Enstar fails to hold the Annual Meeting to vote on the merger on or before January 31, 2007; or

by Enstar:

if Castlewood or Merger Sub has breached in any material respect any of its representations or warranties, or has failed to perform in any material respect any of its covenants or other agreements under the merger agreement and such breach:

is incapable of being cured by or remains uncured prior to January 31, 2007; or

would result in the failure of certain closing conditions in the merger agreement being satisfied; or

if there has been a change in the recommendation by the Enstar board of directors in respect of the merger agreement and:

Enstar notifies Castlewood in writing that it intends to approve and enter into an agreement concerning a different business combination transaction that constitutes a superior proposal, attaching the most current version of such agreement or a description of its material terms; and

Castlewood, within five business days of receiving such notice from Enstar, does not make an offer that the board of directors of Enstar determines is at least as favorable to the Enstar shareholders as the superior proposal Enstar received from the third party.

Termination of the merger agreement also terminates certain obligations under the support agreement described in Material Terms of Related Agreements Support Agreement on page 76.

### **Obligations in Event of Termination**

In the event of termination as provided for above, the merger agreement will become void and of no further force and effect (except with respect to certain designated sections of the merger agreement) and there will be no liability on behalf of Enstar, Castlewood or Merger Sub, except for liabilities arising from a willful breach of the merger agreement.

### Amendments, Extensions and Waivers

The merger agreement may be amended by the parties at any time before or after the Annual Meeting and the Castlewood shareholders meeting, except that any amendment after the shareholders meetings, which requires approval by shareholders, may not be made without such approval.

At any time before the consummation of the merger, the parties may, to the extent legally allowed, extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties, waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement, and waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained in the merger agreement.

# MATERIAL TERMS OF RELATED AGREEMENTS

### **Recapitalization Agreement**

Castlewood and certain of its shareholders entered into a recapitalization agreement, dated as of May 23, 2006, pursuant to which the series of transactions described below will be effected immediately prior to the consummation of the merger. The following is a summary of the material terms of the recapitalization agreement. This summary does not purport to describe all the terms of the recapitalization agreement and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the agreement, which is attached as Annex C to this proxy statement/prospectus and incorporated herein by reference.

## **Events**

Immediately prior to the consummation of the merger, the following events will occur:

The repurchase by Castlewood of 1,797.555 of its Class B shares held by Trident for \$20,000,000 in cash.

A payment of \$5,076,000 by Enstar to Castlewood.

A payment of \$5,076,000 by Castlewood to certain of its executive officers and employees.

The amendment and restatement of Castlewood s bye-laws and the change of Castlewood s name to Enstar Group Limited.

The exchange of all outstanding Class A shares of Castlewood held by Enstar for 2,972,892 non-voting convertible ordinary shares of Castlewood.

The exchange of all remaining outstanding Class B shares of Castlewood held by Trident for 2,082,236 ordinary shares of Castlewood.

The exchange of all outstanding Class C shares of Castlewood, including Class C-1 shares, Class C-2 shares, Class C-3 shares and Class C-4 shares, held by certain Castlewood shareholders for 3,636,612 ordinary shares of Castlewood.

The exchange of all outstanding Class D shares of Castlewood, including Class D-1 shares, Class D-2 shares, Class D-3 shares, Class D-4 shares and Class D-5 shares, of Castlewood held by certain employee shareholders for 420,577 ordinary shares of Castlewood. To the extent any Class D shares that are exchanged are unvested, an entity designated by Castlewood and Enstar will hold and/or have the right to purchase the ordinary shares issued upon the exchange thereof for \$0.001 per share from the holder thereof if the holder s employment with Castlewood is terminated prior to the time the Class D shares would have become vested. This right must be exercised within 60 days of any such termination.

The purchase by Castlewood or its designee of all of the shares of B.H. Acquisition beneficially owned by an affiliate of Trident II, L.P. for \$6,200,167 in cash. B.H. Acquisition is partially owned by Castlewood, Enstar and an affiliate of Trident II, L.P.

As of the consummation of the merger, the following events will occur:

The automatic termination of the share purchase and capital commitment agreement, dated as of October 1, 2001, among Castlewood, Enstar and certain shareholders of Castlewood and the agreement among members, dated November 29, 2001, among Castlewood, Enstar and certain shareholders of Castlewood.

The appointment of the members of the board of directors of New Enstar immediately following the merger. Such directors will include Messrs. T. Whit Armstrong, Paul J. Collins, Gregory L. Curl, T. Wayne Davis, J. Christopher Flowers, Nimrod T. Frazer, John J. Oros, Paul J. O Shea, Nicholas A. Packer and Dominic F. Silvester.

### Mutual Representations and Warranties

The recapitalization agreement contains substantially mutual representations and warranties made by each of Castlewood and its shareholders that are a party thereto related to:

authority to enter into, and carry out the obligations under, the recapitalization agreement and the enforceability of the recapitalization agreement;

absence of any breach of their organizational documents or any law or agreement to which they are subject or bound as a result of the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement; and

approvals required to carry out the obligations under the recapitalization agreement.

#### Additional Representations and Warranties

In addition, Castlewood made representations and warranties related to:

due authorization and issuance of all issued and outstanding shares of Castlewood, including all ordinary shares issued in connection with the recapitalization;

the sufficiency of the number of ordinary shares available for issuance upon conversion of all of the non-voting convertible ordinary shares; and

the sufficiency of voting power held by shareholders party to the agreement to effect the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement.

In addition, the Castlewood shareholders party to the recapitalization agreement made representations and warranties related to:

ownership of shares;

acquisition of shares for investment purpose; and

the shareholder being an accredited investor.

In addition, Trident II, L.P. represented and warranted to certain ownership matters with respect to the shares of B.H. Acquisition beneficially owned by its affiliate.

#### **Covenants**

Castlewood and its shareholders party to the recapitalization agreement agreed to the following covenants under the recapitalization agreement:

to use their reasonable best efforts to take all actions and do all things necessary, proper and advisable under the recapitalization agreement, the merger agreement and applicable laws to complete the transactions contemplated in the recapitalization agreement and the merger agreement;

to execute and deliver any additional documents and take any further action as may be reasonably necessary or desirable to effect the matters contemplated in the recapitalization agreement or merger agreement;

to consent to the completion of the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement and to waive any requirements, restrictions or obligations under the share purchase and capital commitment agreement or the agreement among members (each as described above) arising out of the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement;

to waive any dissenter s, appraisal or similar rights such party may have in respect of the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement or the merger agreement; and

to waive and release all directors and officers of Castlewood from all actions, claims and liabilities for any actions or omissions in respect of the recapitalization agreement, the merger agreement and the other transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement or the merger agreement (other than any actions, claims or liabilities based on fraud, bad faith or intentional misconduct).

### **Other Covenants and Agreements**

Castlewood has also agreed to the following covenants:

to use its reasonable best efforts to cause all ordinary shares issued in the recapitalization to be approved for listing on Nasdaq;

to take all reasonable steps to cause any disposition of its Class B shares or acquisitions of its ordinary shares in the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement to be exempt from Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act;

to take all action to call and hold a special meeting of Castlewood shareholders to vote on the approval of the recapitalization agreement and the transactions contemplated in the recapitalization agreement;

to use reasonable efforts to cause each holder of Class D shares of Castlewood to become a party to the recapitalization agreement or take such actions necessary to cause all of the outstanding Class A shares, Class B shares, Class C shares and Class D shares of Castlewood to be exchanged for the consideration described above;

to either establish (1) an entity with the sole purpose of holding and/or having the right to purchase the ordinary shares issued in exchange for unvested Class D shares from holders whose employment has been terminated prior to the time such unvested Class D shares would become vested or (2) at the option of Enstar, alternative arrangements to accomplish a similar administrative process for exercising such rights; and

to use its reasonable best efforts to obtain letter agreements from all holders of Class D shares of Castlewood who are not parties to the recapitalization agreement that restrict the holders from transferring the ordinary shares they receive in the recapitalization for a period of one year.

## Irrevocable Proxy

Under the recapitalization agreement, each Castlewood shareholder that is a party thereto has agreed to designate and appoint Messrs. Frazer and Oros, in their respective capacities as officers of Enstar, and any individual who shall thereafter succeed to any such office of Enstar, and each of them individually, as such shareholder s proxy and attorney-in-fact to vote on the recapitalization agreement and the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement on the shareholder s behalf.

## **Conditions**

Castlewood s and the shareholders respective obligations to complete the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

the absence of any law, order or injunction prohibiting completion of the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement;

the receipt of all permits, consents, approvals and authorizations required for the performance;

the satisfaction or waiver of the closing conditions under Article VI (conditions precedent) of the merger agreement;

delivery of Debevoise s opinion to the effect that the recapitalization will qualify as a reorganization under section 368(a) of the Code;

the requisite approval of Castlewood s shareholders to the recapitalization agreement and the transactions contemplated in the recapitalization agreement, which approval has been obtained;

the representations and warranties of Castlewood (in the case of the shareholders) or of each shareholder (in the case of Castlewood) contained in the recapitalization agreement being true and correct in all material respects, as of the date of the recapitalization agreement and as of the closing date; and

Castlewood (in the case of the shareholders) or each shareholder (in the case of Castlewood) having performed or complied in all material respects with all agreements or covenants required to be performed by it under the recapitalization agreement at or prior to the completion of the transactions contemplated by the recapitalization agreement.

### **Employee Bonuses**

Upon the closing of the merger, Castlewood s current annual incentive compensation plan will be cancelled (and any accruals under such plan will be reversed) and replaced with a new annual incentive compensation plan. It was anticipated at the time the recapitalization agreement was negotiated that, with respect to services to be performed in each of calendar years 2006 through 2010, the plan would permit eligible employees to share in a bonus pool, which was anticipated to represent, in the aggregate, 15% of New Enstar s consolidated net after-tax profits and from which distributions were anticipated to be made in cash, ordinary shares or other securities of New Enstar, or the right to acquire ordinary shares or other securities of New Enstar, in such amounts per employee and in such form as shall be determined by New Enstar s compensation committee. On September 15, 2006, Castlewood s board of directors and shareholders approved the Castlewood Holdings Limited 2006-2010 Annual Incentive Compensation Plan the terms of which are set forth in Information about Castlewood Annual Incentive Compensation Plan beginning on page 115. The board of directors of New Enstar will determine whether and, if so, on what terms and conditions, the plan will continue in effect with respect to calendar years after 2010.

### Transfer Restrictions

Under the recapitalization agreement, each shareholder of Castlewood has agreed not to transfer or agree to transfer its ordinary shares or non-voting convertible ordinary shares of New Enstar received pursuant to the recapitalization for a period of one year. Pursuant to a separate letter agreement, this one year transfer restriction also applies to directors of Enstar with respect to shares of New Enstar that they receive pursuant to the merger. Directors of Enstar also agreed not to exercise any options for one year following the merger. The following are exceptions to the general prohibition on transfers:

transfers to Castlewood;

following the consummation of the merger, other than in the case of an employee shareholder, transfers to another party to the recapitalization agreement, other than an employee shareholder, or to any party to the letter agreement containing similar transfer restrictions on members of the board of directors of Enstar;

transfers to a trust under which distributions may be made only to such shareholder or his or her immediate family members;

transfers to a charitable remainder trust, the income from which will be paid to such shareholder during his or her life;

transfers to a corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other entity, all of the equity interests in which are held, directly or indirectly, by such shareholder and his or her immediate family members; and

transfers in connection with a tender offer, merger, amalgamation, recapitalization, reorganization or similar transaction involving New Enstar;

provided that, with regard to some of the transfers listed above, such shareholder has sole, ultimate control of the entity referred to and such entity agrees to be bound by the recapitalization agreement or the letter agreement referred to above.

## **Registration Rights**

Concurrently with the closing, Castlewood and certain shareholders of Castlewood and Enstar will enter into a registration rights agreement pursuant to which those shareholders will be granted registration rights following the closing of the merger with respect to the ordinary shares received pursuant to the recapitalization and the merger. For more information on the registration rights agreement, see Registration Rights Agreement below.

## Expenses

All fees and expenses incurred in connection with the recapitalization agreement, the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated in the recapitalization agreement and merger agreement will be paid by the party incurring such fees and expenses. However, Castlewood will reimburse all reasonable out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred in connection with the recapitalization agreement, the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated in the recapitalization agreement by the holders of its Class B shares, its Class C shares and its Class D shares, except that the reimbursement for the holders of its Class B shares is subject to a maximum of \$150,000.

### **Termination**

The recapitalization agreement will terminate on the earlier of the termination of the merger agreement and the termination of the support agreement (other than the termination of the support agreement upon the completion of the merger). If the recapitalization agreement is terminated, its provisions will cease to have effect, except that no such termination will relieve any party from any liability arising from a willful breach of the recapitalization agreement.

### **Support Agreement**

Castlewood and Messrs. Flowers, Oros and Frazer, three of Enstar s largest shareholders, have entered into the support agreement, with respect to the Enstar common stock owned by them and acquired during the term of the support agreement. The following is a summary of the material terms of the support agreement and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the agreement, which is attached as Annex B to this proxy statement/prospectus and incorporated herein by reference.

## Voting of Shares

Each of Messrs. Flowers, Oros and Frazer agreed that, at any meeting of the shareholders of Enstar called to vote upon the merger, the merger agreement and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, he will vote all of the shares of Enstar common stock owned by him in favor of the approval of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Each of the three shareholders further agreed that at any meeting of the shareholders of Enstar, he will vote all of the shares of Enstar common stock owned by him against:

any takeover proposal other than as contemplated by the merger agreement;

any other transaction or proposal involving Enstar or any of its subsidiaries that would prevent, nullify, materially interfere with or delay the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

As of the Record Date, Messrs. Flowers, Oros and Frazer held an aggregate of 1,726,556 shares of Enstar s outstanding common stock, representing approximately 30.1% of the voting power of Enstar s capital stock.

# Irrevocable Proxy

Each of Messrs. Flowers, Oros and Frazer has agreed to designate and appoint Mr. Richard J. Harris and Mr. Paul J. O Shea, in their respective capacities as officers of Castlewood, and any individual who shall

thereafter succeed to any such office of Castlewood, and each of them individually, as the shareholder s proxy and attorney-in-fact to vote on the matters described above.

## Transfer Restrictions

Each of Messrs. Flowers, Oros and Frazer has agreed not to transfer any of the shares of Enstar common stock owned by him, or grant any proxies or enter into any voting agreements with respect to such shares other than the support agreement with Castlewood. Exceptions to the general prohibition on transfer include transfers to a trust under which distributions may be made only to such shareholder or his immediate family members, to a charitable remainder trust, the income from which will be paid to such shareholder during his life, or to an entity, all of the equity interests in which are held by such shareholder and his immediate family members, and provided, in each of the exceptions, such shareholder has sole record ownership and control of the entity referred to and such entity agrees to be bound by the support agreement.

## **Termination**

The support agreement will terminate on the earlier of the consummation of the merger, at the option of at least two of the shareholders party to the support agreement if Enstar s board of directors has effected a change in its recommendation to the Enstar shareholders to approve the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, the termination of the merger agreement and January 31, 2007. If the support agreement is terminated, its provisions will cease to have effect, except that no such termination will relieve any party from liability for any breach prior to such termination.

## Shareholder Capacity

The parties acknowledged that each of Messrs. Flowers, Oros and Frazer executed the support agreement solely in his capacity as a record holder or beneficial owner of shares of Enstar common stock and not in his capacity as an officer or director of Enstar.

### **Registration Rights Agreement**

Castlewood, Trident, Mr. Flowers, Mr. Silvester and certain other shareholders of Castlewood, and the directors of Enstar, will enter into a registration rights agreement in connection with the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the recapitalization agreement. The registration rights agreement will become effective immediately upon the consummation of the merger. The following is a summary of the material terms of the registration rights agreement. This summary does not purport to describe all of the terms of the registration rights agreement and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the complete text of the agreement, which is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part and incorporated herein by reference.

The registration rights agreement will provide that, after the expiration of one year from the date of the registration rights agreement, any of Trident, Mr. Flowers and Mr. Silvester, each referred to as a requesting holder, may require that New Enstar effect the registration under the Securities Act of all or any part of such holder s registrable securities, as defined below. Trident is entitled to make three requests and Messrs. Flowers and Silvester are each entitled to make two requests. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the registration rights agreement further provides that, after the expiration of 90 days from the date of the registration rights agreement and prior to the first anniversary of such date, Trident has the right to require New Enstar to effect the registration of up to 750,000 shares of registrable securities, referred to as the Trident demand.

Upon receipt of a registration request (other than the Trident demand), New Enstar is required as promptly as reasonably practicable (but in any event within 7 days of such request) to give written notice of such request to all other holders of registrable securities. New Enstar must then use its reasonable best efforts to register all registrable securities that have been requested to be registered by the requesting holder in the registration request or by any other holder of registrable securities by written notice to New Enstar in accordance with the provisions of the registration rights agreement.

New Enstar will not be required to effect a registration request unless the aggregate number of ordinary shares proposed to be registered constitutes at least the lesser of: (1) 25% of the total number of registrable securities held by the requesting holder (or 15% in the case of the Trident demand) or (2) 10% of the total number of registrable securities held by all holders of registrable securities on the date of the registration rights agreement, or if the total number of registrable securities then outstanding is less than such amount, all of the registrable securities then outstanding. In addition, New Enstar will not be obligated to effect a registration more than once in any nine month period except that any request for registration that immediately follows the registration pursuant to the Trident demand. With respect to the Trident demand, New Enstar cannot include any securities other than registrable securities owned by Trident without Trident s prior written consent.

Registrable securities means:

any ordinary shares of New Enstar issued pursuant to the merger;

any ordinary shares of New Enstar issued pursuant to the recapitalization agreement;

any ordinary shares of New Enstar issued upon exercise, exchange or conversion of any options, restricted stock units or other rights to acquire ordinary shares of New Enstar that are issued in connection with the merger or the recapitalization agreement; or

any equity securities issued or issuable with respect to the ordinary shares referred to above by way of conversion, exercise or exchange thereof or share dividend or share split or in connection with a combination of shares, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, amalgamation, arrangement, consolidation or other reorganization.

A request for registration will not constitute the use of a registration request by a requesting holder pursuant to the registration rights agreement if:

the requesting holder and the other holders of registrable securities holding 50% or more of the outstanding registrable securities determine in good faith to withdraw (prior to the effective date of the registration statement relating to such request) the proposed registration;

the registration statement relating to such request is not declared effective within 90 days of the date such registration statement is first filed with the Commission;

prior to the sale of at least 90% of the registrable securities included in the registration relating to such request, such registration is adversely affected by any stop order, injunction or other order or requirement of the Commission or other governmental agency, quasi-governmental agency or self-regulatory body or court for any reason and New Enstar fails to cure such stop order, injunction or other order or requirement within 30 days;

more than 20% of the registrable securities requested by the requesting holder to be included in the registration of an underwritten offering are not included in such offering on the advice of the managing underwriter of such offering;

the conditions to closing specified in any underwriting agreement or purchase agreement entered into in connection with the registration relating to such request are not satisfied (other than as a result of a material breach by the requesting holder); or

in the case of an underwritten offering, the failure of New Enstar to cooperate fully.

New Enstar may postpone for a reasonable period of time, not to exceed 90 days, the filing or the effectiveness of a registration statement if New Enstar furnishes to the holders of registrable securities covered by such registration statement a certificate signed by the chief executive officer of New Enstar stating that the board of directors of New Enstar has determined that such registration is reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on any proposal or plan by New Enstar to engage in any acquisition of assets or any merger, amalgamation, consolidation, tender offer or similar transaction, or otherwise would have a material adverse effect on the business, assets, operations, prospects or financial condition of New Enstar.

New Enstar cannot grant registration rights to any holder or prospective holder of any securities of New Enstar which are senior to or otherwise conflict in any material respect with the registration rights that will be provided pursuant to the registration rights agreement, without the prior written consent of either each of the requesting holders or shareholders to the agreement holding 50% or more of outstanding registrable securities and, for such time as Trident owns at least 20% of the registrable securities it owned as of the date of the registration rights agreement, Trident. New Enstar may grant additional demand or piggyback registration rights that are *pari passu* with the rights that will be set forth in the registration rights agreement, and any dilution of the registration rights resulting from any such *pari passu* rights will not be deemed to conflict with the rights that will be set forth in the registration rights agreement.

Whenever New Enstar proposes to register ordinary shares (other than a registration pursuant to a registration request under the registration rights agreement, a registration on Form S-4 or a registration relating solely to employee benefit plans), whether for its own account or for the account of one or more securityholders of New Enstar, and the registration form to be filed may be used for the registration or qualification for distribution of registrable securities, New Enstar is required to give prompt written notice to all holders of registrable securities of its intention to effect such a registration and must include in such registration, all registrable securities with respect to which New Enstar receives from the holders of registrable securities written requests for inclusion, or a piggyback registration. New Enstar may terminate or withdraw any registration initiated by it prior to the effectiveness of such registration, whether or not any holder of registrable securities has elected to include registrable securities in such registration, and except for the obligation to pay certain registration expenses, New Enstar will have no liability to any holder of registrable securities in connection with such termination or withdrawal.

For a period of 180 days from the effective date of the effectiveness of a registration statement filed in connection with a request for registration, New Enstar cannot file or cause to be effected any registration of any of its equity securities or securities convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for its equity securities under the Securities Act (except on Form S-4 or S-8 or any successor or similar forms).

If a requesting holder requests registration of any of its shares, New Enstar is required to prepare and file a registration statement with the Commission as expeditiously as possible, and no later than 45 days after receipt of such request. New Enstar is required to keep such registration statement effective for a period of either a minimum of six months (or if such registration statement relates to an underwritten offering, such longer period as in the opinion of counsel for the underwriters a prospectus is required by law to be delivered in connection with sales of registrable securities by an underwriter or dealer) or such shorter period as will terminate when all the securities covered by such registration statement have been disposed of.

New Enstar will pay certain expenses in connection with any request for registration or piggyback registration in accordance with the registration rights agreement.

In the event of a requested underwritten offering, the holders of a majority of the registrable securities being registered will have the right to select the investment banker(s) and manager(s) to administer the offering, subject to New Enstar s approval which cannot be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

In addition to the provisions set forth above, the registration rights agreement contains other terms and conditions including those customary in agreements of this kind.

## **Termination**

The registration rights agreement will terminate on the earliest of its termination by the consent of the holders of registrable securities holding 50% or more of the outstanding registrable securities and each of the requesting holders (but only if such requesting holder holds any registrable securities at such time) or in each case, their respective

## Table of Contents

successors in interest, the date on which no shares subject to the agreement are outstanding, and the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of New Enstar.

## No Transfers Letter Agreement

In connection with the merger, each of the members of the board of directors of Enstar entered into a letter agreement with Enstar, pursuant to which the directors agreed not to (1) transfer any of such director s shares of Enstar common stock or New Enstar ordinary shares or any option to purchase shares of Enstar common stock or any option to purchase ordinary shares of New Enstar upon the assumption of any such Enstar stock options by New Enstar or (2) exercise any Enstar stock option or New Enstar option held by such person, for a period of one year following the effective time of the merger. The letter agreement contains certain exceptions to the general prohibition of transfers that are described above under the heading Recapitalization Agreement Transfer Restrictions beginning on page 75.

## **Tax Indemnification Agreement**

Mr. Flowers, a director of Castlewood and Enstar and Enstar s largest shareholder, has entered into a tax indemnification agreement, dated May 23, 2006, with Castlewood and Enstar pursuant to which Castlewood will reimburse and indemnify Mr. Flowers for, and hold him harmless on an after-tax basis against, any increase in Mr. Flowers U.S. federal, state or local income tax liability (including any interest or penalties relating thereto), and reasonable attorneys fees, incurred by Mr. Flowers as a result of certain dispositions of shares of Enstar or dispositions of all or substantially all of Enstar s assets by New Enstar, Enstar or any successor or assign of either, within the period beginning immediately after the effective time of the merger and ending five years after the last day of the taxable year that includes the effective time. Because Mr. Flowers will be the only greater-than-5% U.S. shareholder of New Enstar after the merger, he is in a different position than the other current shareholders of Enstar with regard to treating the merger as a tax-free reorganization. Under IRS regulations issued pursuant to section 367(a) of the Code, as a 5% U.S. shareholder Mr. Flowers may treat the merger as a tax-free reorganization only if he enters into a gain recognition agreement with the IRS under which he agrees he will treat the merger as taxable if New Enstar disposes of certain stock or assets of Enstar within the five years following the merger. Such dispositions may be effected without Mr. Flowers consent. Other shareholders of Enstar are not subject to these additional conditions, and their tax treatment would not be affected by such dispositions. The Enstar board of directors approved such agreement because it determined that it would be fair to put Mr. Flowers in the same position as the other shareholders of Enstar with respect to such tax treatment and that such agreement would increase the likelihood that Mr. Flowers, in his capacity as an Enstar shareholder, would support the proposed transaction. While the agreement is significant to Mr. Flowers, New Enstar believes it is unlikely to incur any liability under the agreement because it believes the likelihood that it will dispose of stock or assets of Enstar within the next five years to be remote.

### **Repurchase of Shares Letter Agreement**

Two directors of Enstar, Messrs. Armstrong and Davis, have entered into a letter agreement, dated May 23, 2006, with Castlewood pursuant to which Castlewood, subject to the consummation of the merger, agreed to repurchase from Messrs. Armstrong and Davis, upon their request, during a 30-day period commencing January 15, 2007, at the then prevailing market prices, such number of New Enstar ordinary shares as provides an amount sufficient for Messrs. Armstrong and Davis to pay taxes on compensation income resulting from the exercise of options by them on May 23, 2006 for 50,000 shares of Enstar common stock in the aggregate. Castlewood s obligation to repurchase ordinary shares is limited to 25,000 ordinary shares from each of Messrs. Armstrong and Davis. Since the letter agreement provides for the sale of such shares at the then prevailing market prices, each of Enstar and Castlewood believe that the value of the rights of Messrs. Armstrong and Davis under such agreement is not significant.

# INFORMATION ABOUT CASTLEWOOD

### **Business**

## **Company Overview**

In 1993, Mr. Silvester, who was joined by Mr. Packer and Mr. O Shea in 1993 and 1994, respectively, began a business venture in Bermuda to provide run-off services to the insurance and reinsurance industry. In 1995 this business was assumed by Castlewood Limited.

In 1996, Castlewood Limited formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, Castlewood (EU) Ltd. based in Guildford and London in the United Kingdom, to extend the services provided by Castlewood Limited.

In 2000, Castlewood Limited entered into a joint venture with Enstar and an affiliate of Trident II, L.P. to acquire, and for Castlewood Limited to manage, B.H. Acquisition. In connection with the formation of the joint venture, Castlewood, Enstar and an affiliate of Trident II, L.P. acquired 45%, 33% and 22% economic interests, respectively, in B.H. Acquisition.

Castlewood was formed in August 2001 under the laws of Bermuda to acquire and manage insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off, and to provide management, consulting and other services to the insurance and reinsurance industry. In connection with Castlewood s formation, Enstar and Trident made an initial investment in Castlewood and the senior executives of Castlewood contributed their equity interests in Castlewood Limited.

Since its formation, Castlewood, through its subsidiaries, has completed several acquisitions of insurance and reinsurance companies and is now administering those businesses in run-off. Castlewood derives its net earnings from the ownership and management of these companies primarily by settling insurance and reinsurance claims below the recorded loss reserves and from returns on the portfolio of investments retained to pay future claims. In addition, Castlewood has formed other businesses that provide management and consultancy services, claims inspection services and reinsurance collection services to Castlewood affiliates and third-party clients for both fixed and success-based fees.

In the primary (or direct) insurance business, the insurer assumes risk of loss from persons or organizations that are directly subject to the given risks. Such risks may relate to property, casualty, life, accident, health, financial or other perils that may arise from an insurable event. In the reinsurance business, the reinsurer agrees to indemnify an insurance or reinsurance company, referred to as the ceding company, against all or a portion of the insurance risks arising under the policies the ceding company has written or reinsured. When an insurer or reinsurer stops writing new insurance business or a particular line of business, the insurer, reinsurer, or the line of discontinued business is in run-off.

In recent years, the insurance industry has experienced significant consolidation. As a result of this consolidation and other factors, the remaining participants in the industry often have portfolios of business that are either inconsistent with their core competency or provide excessive exposure to a particular risk or segment of the market (i.e., property/casualty, asbestos, environmental, director and officer liability, etc.). These non-core and/or discontinued portfolios are often associated with potentially large exposures and lengthy time periods before resolution of the last remaining insured claims resulting in significant uncertainty to the insurer or reinsurer covering those risks. These factors can distract management, drive up the cost of capital and surplus for the insurer or reinsurer, and negatively impact the insurer s or reinsurer s credit rating, which makes the disposal of the unwanted company or portfolio an

attractive option. Alternatively, the insurer may wish to maintain the business on its balance sheet, yet not divert significant management attention to the run-off of the portfolio. The insurer or reinsurer, in either case, is likely to engage a third party, such as Castlewood, that specializes in run-off management to purchase the company or portfolio, or to manage the company or portfolio in run-off.

In the sale of a run-off company, a purchaser, such as Castlewood, typically pays a discount to the book value of the company based on the risks assumed and the relative value to the seller of no longer having to manage the company in run-off. Such a transaction can be beneficial to the seller because it receives an

up-front payment for the company, eliminates the need for its management to devote any attention to the disposed company and removes the risk that the established reserves for the business may prove to be inadequate. The seller is also able to redeploy its management and financial resources to its core businesses.

Alternatively, if the insurer or reinsurer hires a third party, such as Castlewood, to manage its run-off business, the insurer or reinsurer will, unlike in a sale of the business, receive little or no cash up front. Instead, the management arrangement may provide that the insurer or reinsurer will share in the profits, if any, derived from the run-off with certain incentive payments allocated to the run-off manager. By hiring a run-off manager, the insurer or reinsurer can outsource the management of the run-off business to experienced and capable individuals, while allowing its own management team to focus on the insurer s or reinsurer s core businesses. Although Castlewood s desired approach to managing run-off business is to align its interests with the interests of the owners, under certain management arrangements to which Castlewood is a party, it only receives a fixed management fee and does not receive incentives.

Following the purchase of a run-off company or the engagement to manage a run-off company or portfolio of business, it is incumbent on the new owner or manager to conduct the run-off in a disciplined and professional manner in order to efficiently discharge the liabilities associated with the business while preserving and maximizing its assets. Castlewood s approach to managing its acquired companies in run-off as well as run-off companies or portfolios of businesses on behalf of third-party clients includes negotiating with third-party insureds and reinsureds to commute their insurance or reinsurance agreement for an agreed upon up-front payment by Castlewood, or the third-party client, and to more efficiently manage payment of insurance and reinsurance claims. Castlewood attempts to commute policies with direct insureds or reinsureds in order to eliminate uncertainty over the amount of future claims. Commutations and policy buy-backs provide an opportunity for the company to exit exposures to certain policies and insureds generally at a discount to the ultimate liability and provide the ability to eliminate exposure to further losses. Such a strategy also contributes to the reduction in the length of time and future cost of the run-off.

Following the acquisition of a company in run-off, or new consulting engagement, Castlewood will spend time analyzing the acquired exposures and reinsurance receivables on a policyholder-by-policyholder basis. This analysis enables Castlewood to identify a target list, based on the nature and value of exposures, of those policyholders and reinsurers it wishes to approach to discuss commutation or policy buy-back. Furthermore, following the acquisition of a company in run-off, or new consulting engagement, Castlewood will often be approached by policyholders or reinsurers requesting commutation or policy buy-back. In these instances Castlewood will also carry out a full analysis of the underlying exposures in order to determine the viability of a proposed commutation or policy buy-back. From the initial analysis of the underlying exposures it may take several months, or even years, before a commutation or policy buy-back is completed. In a number of cases, if Castlewood and the policyholder or reinsurer are unable to reach a commercially acceptable settlement, the commutation or policy buy-back may not be achievable, in which case Castlewood will continue to settle valid claims from the policyholder, or collect reinsurance receivables from the reinsurer, as they become due.

Insureds and reinsureds are often willing to commute with Castlewood, subject to receiving an acceptable settlement, as this provides certainty of recovery of what otherwise may be claims that are disputed in the future, and often provides a meaningful up-front cash receipt that, with the associated investment income, can provide a source of funds to meet future claim payments or even commutation of their underlying exposure. As such, subject to negotiating an acceptable settlement, all of Castlewood s insurance and reinsurance liabilities and reinsurance receivables are able to be either commuted or settled by way of policy buy-back over time. Many sellers of companies that Castlewood acquires have secure claims paying ratings and ongoing underwriting relationships with insureds and reinsureds which often hinders their ability to commute the underlying insurance or reinsurance policies. Castlewood s lack of claims paying rating and its lack of potential conflicts with insureds and reinsureds of companies it acquires provides a greater ability to commute the newly acquired policies than that of the sellers.

Castlewood also attempts, where appropriate, to negotiate favorable commutations with reinsurers by securing the receipt of a lump-sum settlement from the reinsurer in complete satisfaction of the reinsurer s liability in respect of any future claims. Castlewood, or the third-party client, is then fully responsible for any

claims in the future. Castlewood typically invests proceeds from reinsurance commutations with the expectation that such investments will produce income, which, together with the principal, will be sufficient to satisfy future obligations with respect to the acquired company or portfolio.

## **Competitive Strengths**

Castlewood believes that its competitive strengths have enabled, and will continue to enable, it to capitalize on the opportunities that exist in the run-off market. These strengths include:

*Experienced Management Team with Proven Track Record.* Dominic F. Silvester, Castlewood s Chief Executive Officer, Paul J. O Shea, an Executive Vice President of Castlewood, Nicholas A. Packer, an Executive Vice President of Castlewood and Richard J. Harris, Castlewood s Chief Financial Officer, each has over 18 years of experience in the insurance and reinsurance industry. The extensive depth and knowledge of Castlewood s management team provide it with the ability to identify, select and price companies and portfolios in run-off and to successfully manage companies and portfolios in run-off.

*Highly Qualified, Experienced and Ideally Located Employee Base.* Castlewood has been successful in recruiting a highly qualified team of experienced claims, reinsurance, financial, actuarial and legal staff located in three of the major insurance and reinsurance centers in the world: London, New York and Bermuda. The quality and breadth of experience of Castlewood s staff enable it to offer a wide range of professional services to the industry.

*Long-Standing Market Relationships.* Castlewood s management team has well-established personal relationships across the insurance and reinsurance industry. Castlewood uses these market relationships to identify and source business opportunities and establish itself as a leader in the run-off business.

*Disciplined Approach to Acquisitions and Claims Management.* Castlewood believes in generating profitability through a disciplined, conservative approach to both acquisitions and claims management. Castlewood closely analyzes new business opportunities to determine a company s inherent value and Castlewood s ability to profitably manage that company or a portfolio in run-off. Castlewood believes that its review and claims management process, combined with management of global exposures across product lines, allow it to price acquisitions on favorable terms and to profitably run-off the businesses that it acquires and manages.

*Financial Strength.* As of September 30, 2006, Castlewood had \$267.4 million of shareholders equity. This financial strength allows Castlewood to aggressively price acquisitions that fit within its core competency and hire and retain additional management talent when necessary. Castlewood believes that its financial strength has allowed it to be recognized as a leader in the acquisition and management of run-off companies and portfolios. Castlewood s conservative approach to managing its balance sheet reflects its commitment to maintaining its financial strength.

### Strategy

Castlewood s corporate objective is to generate returns on capital that appropriately reward it for risks it assumes. Castlewood intends to achieve this objective by executing the following strategies:

*Establish Leadership Position in the Run-Off Market by Leveraging Management s Experience and Relationships.* Castlewood intends to continue to utilize the extensive experience and significant relationships of its senior management team to establish itself as a leader in the run-off segment of the insurance and

reinsurance market. The strength and reputation of Castlewood s management team is expected to generate opportunities for Castlewood to acquire or manage companies and portfolios in run-off, to price effectively the acquisition or management of such businesses, and, most importantly, to manage the run-off of such businesses efficiently and profitably.

*Professionally Manage Claims.* Castlewood is professional and disciplined in managing claims against run-off companies and portfolios it owns or manages. Castlewood s management understands the need to dispose of certain risks expeditiously and cost-effectively by constantly analyzing changes in the market and efficiently settling claims with the assistance of its experienced claims adjusters and in-house and external legal counsel. When Castlewood acquires or begins managing a company or portfolio it initially determines which claims are valid through the use of experienced in-house adjusters and claims experts. Castlewood pays valid claims on a timely basis, and looks to well-documented policy exclusions and coverage issues where applicable and litigates when necessary to avoid invalid claims under existing policies and reinsurance agreements.

*Commutation of Assumed Liabilities and Ceded Reinsurance Assets.* Using detailed analysis and actuarial projections, Castlewood negotiates with the policyholders of the insurance and reinsurance companies or portfolios it owns or manages with a view to commuting insurance and reinsurance liabilities for an agreed upon up-front payment at a discount to the ultimate liability. Such commutations can take the form of policy buy-backs and structured settlements over fixed periods of time. Castlewood also negotiates with reinsurers to commute their reinsurance agreements providing coverage to Castlewood s subsidiaries on terms that Castlewood believes to be favorable based on then-current market knowledge. Castlewood invests the proceeds from reinsurance commutations with the expectation that such investments will produce income, which, together with the principal, will be sufficient to satisfy future obligations with respect to the acquired company or portfolio.

### Continue Commitment to Highly Disciplined Acquisition, Management and Reinsurance

*Practices.* Castlewood utilizes a disciplined approach to minimize risk and increase the probability of positive operating results from acquisitions and companies and portfolios it manages. Castlewood carefully reviews acquisition candidates and management engagements for consistency with accomplishing its long-term objective of producing positive operating results. Castlewood focuses its investigation on the risk exposure, claims practices, reserve requirements, outstanding claims and its ability to price an acquisition or engagement on terms that will provide positive operating results. In particular, Castlewood carefully reviews all outstanding claims and case reserves, and follows a highly disciplined approach to managing allocated loss adjustment expenses, such as the cost of defense counsel, expert witnesses, and related fees and expenses.

*Manage Capital Prudently.* Castlewood manages its capital prudently relative to its risk exposure and liquidity requirements to maximize profitability and long-term growth in shareholder value. Castlewood s capital management strategy is to deploy capital efficiently to acquisitions, reinsurance opportunities and to establish (and re-establish, when necessary) adequate loss reserves to protect against future adverse developments.

## Acquisition of Insurers or Portfolios in Run-Off

Castlewood specializes in the negotiated acquisition and management of insurance and reinsurance companies and portfolios in run-off. Castlewood approaches, or is approached by, primary insurers or reinsurance providers with portfolios of business to be sold or managed in run-off. Castlewood evaluates each opportunity presented by carefully reviewing the portfolio s risk exposures, claim practices, reserve requirements and outstanding claims, and seeking an appropriate discount or seller indemnification to reflect the uncertainty contained in the portfolio s reserves. Based on this initial analysis, Castlewood can determine if a company or portfolio of business would add value to its current portfolio of run-off business. If Castlewood determines to pursue the purchase of a company in run-off, it then proceeds to price the acquisition in a manner it believes will result in positive operating results based on certain assumptions including, without limitation, its ability to favorably resolve claims, negotiate with direct insureds and reinsurers, and otherwise manage the nature of the risks posed by the business.

With respect to its U.K. and Bermudian insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, Castlewood is able to pursue strategies to achieve complete finality and conclude the run-off of a company by promoting a solvent scheme of arrangement whereby a local court-sanctioned scheme, approved by a statutory majority of voting

creditors, provides for a one-time full and final settlement of an insurance or reinsurance company s obligations to its policyholders.

#### Acquisitions to Date

In November 2001, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood completed the acquisition of two reinsurance companies in run-off, River Thames Insurance Company Limited, or River Thames, based in London, England, and Overseas Reinsurance Corporation Limited, or Overseas Reinsurance, based in Bermuda. The total purchase price of River Thames and Overseas Reinsurance was approximately \$15.2 million.

In August 2002, Castlewood purchased Hudson Reinsurance Company Limited, or Hudson, a Bermuda-based company, for approximately \$4.1 million. Hudson reinsured risks relating to property, casualty and workers compensation on a worldwide basis, and Castlewood is now administering the run-off of its claims.

In March 2003, Castlewood and Shinsei Bank, Limited, or Shinsei, completed the acquisition of The Toa-Re Insurance Company (UK) Limited, a London-based subsidiary of The Toa Reinsurance Company, Limited, for approximately \$46.4 million. Upon completion of the transaction, Toa-Re s name was changed to Hillcot Re Limited. Hillcot Re Limited underwrote reinsurance business throughout the world between 1980 and 1994, when it stopped writing new business and went into run-off. The acquisition was effected through Hillcot Holdings Ltd., or Hillcot, a Bermuda company, in which Castlewood has a 50.1% economic interest and a 50% voting interest. Hillcot is included in Castlewood s consolidated financial statements, with the remaining 49.9% economic interest reflected as minority interest. J. Christopher Flowers, a member of Castlewood s board of directors and, following the merger, one of New Enstar s largest shareholders, is a director and the largest shareholder of Shinsei. Castlewood s results of operations include the results of Hillcot Re Limited from the date of acquisition in March 2003.

During 2004, Castlewood, through one of its subsidiaries, completed the acquisition of Mercantile Indemnity Company Ltd., or Mercantile, Harper Insurance Limited, or Harper (formerly Turegum Insurance Company) and Longmynd Insurance Company Ltd., or Longmynd (formerly Security Insurance Company (UK) Ltd.) for a total purchase price of approximately \$4.5 million. Castlewood recorded an extraordinary gain of approximately \$21.8 million in 2004 relating to the current excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired over the cost of these acquisitions.

In May 2005, Castlewood, through one of its subsidiaries, purchased Fieldmill Insurance Company Limited (formerly known as Harleysville Insurance Company (UK) Limited) for approximately \$1.4 million.

In March 2006, Castlewood and Shinsei, through Hillcot, completed the acquisition of Aioi Insurance Company of Europe Limited, or Aioi Europe, a London-based subsidiary of Aioi Insurance Company, Limited. Aioi Europe has underwritten general insurance and reinsurance business in Europe for its own account from 1982 until 2002 when it generally ceased underwriting and placed its general insurance and reinsurance business into run-off. The aggregate purchase price paid for Aioi Europe was £62 million (approximately \$108.9 million), with £50 million in cash paid upon the closing of the transaction and £12 million in the form of a promissory note, payable twelve months from the date of the closing. Upon completion of the transaction, Aioi Europe changed its name to Brampton Insurance Company Limited. Castlewood recorded an extraordinary gain of approximately \$4.3 million, net of minority interest, in 2006 relating to the current excess of the fair value of the net assets acquired over the cost of this acquisition. In April 2006, Hillcot Holdings Limited borrowed approximately \$44 million from a London-based bank to partially assist with the financing of the Aioi Europe acquisition. Following a repurchase by Aioi Europe of its shares valued at £40 million in May 2006, Hillcot Holdings repaid the promissory note and reduced the bank borrowings to \$19.2 million, which is repayable in 2010.

In October 2006, Castlewood, through its subsidiary Virginia Holdings Ltd., or Virginia, purchased Cavell Holdings Limited (U.K.), or Cavell, for approximately £31.8 million (approximately \$59.5 million). Cavell owns a U.K. reinsurance company and a Norwegian reinsurer, both of which are currently in run-off. The purchase price was funded by \$24.5 million borrowed under a facility loan agreement and available cash on hand.

In November 2006, Castlewood, through Virginia, purchased Unione Italiana (U.K.) Reinsurance Company Limited, a U.K. company, for approximately \$17.2 million. The purchase price was funded by cash on hand.

In connection with the recapitalization, Castlewood will purchase the interest of an affiliate of Trident II, L.P., in B.H. Acquisition, a company partially owned by Castlewood, Enstar and an affiliate of Trident. Following the merger, B.H. Acquisition will be an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood. In July 2000, B.H. Acquisition acquired as an operating business two reinsurance companies, Brittany Insurance Company Ltd., or Brittany, and Compagnie Europeénne d Assurances Industrielles S.A., or CEAI. Brittany and CEAI are principally engaged in the active management of books of reinsurance business from international markets.

## Management of Run-Off Portfolios

Castlewood is a party to several management engagements pursuant to which it has agreed to manage the run-off portfolio of a third party. Such arrangements are advantageous for third-party insurers because they allow a third-party insurer to focus their management efforts on their core competency while allowing them to maintain the portfolio of business on their balance sheet. In addition, Castlewood s expertise in managing portfolios in run-off allows the third-party insurer the opportunity to potentially realize positive operating results if Castlewood achieves its objectives in management of the run-off portfolio. Castlewood specializes in the collection of reinsurance receivables through its indirect subsidiary Kinsale Brokers Limited. Through Castlewood s subsidiaries, Castlewood (US) Inc. and Cranmore Adjusters Limited, Castlewood also specializes in providing claims inspection services whereby Castlewood is engaged by third-party insurance and reinsurance providers to review certain of their existing insurance and reinsurance providers history.

Castlewood s primary objective in structuring its management arrangements is to align the third-party insurer s interests with those of Castlewood. Consequently, management agreements typically are structured so that Castlewood receives fixed fees in connection with the management of the run-off portfolio and also typically receives certain incentive payments based on a portfolio s positive operating results.

## Management Agreements

Castlewood has entered into approximately 15 management agreements with third-party clients to manage certain run-off portfolios with gross loss reserves (as of September 30, 2006) of approximately \$3 billion. The fees generated by these engagements include both fixed and incentive-based remuneration based on Castlewood s success in achieving certain objectives. These agreements do not include the recurring engagements managed by Castlewood s special claims inspection and reinsurance collection subsidiaries, Cranmore Adjusters Limited and Kinsale Brokers Limited, respectively.

## Claims Management and Administration

An integral factor to Castlewood s success is its ability to analyze, administer, manage and settle claims and related expenses, such as loss adjustment expenses. Castlewood s claims teams are located in different offices within its organization and provide global claims support. Castlewood has implemented claims handling guidelines and claims reporting and control procedures in all of its claims units. To ensure that claims are handled and reported in accordance with these guidelines, all claims matters are reviewed regularly, with all material claims matters being circulated to and reviewed by management prior to any action being taken.

When Castlewood receives notice of a claim, regardless of size and regardless of whether it is a paid claim request or a reserve advice, it is reviewed and recorded within its claims system reserving Castlewood s rights where appropriate.

Claims reserve movements and payments are reviewed daily, with any material movements being reported to management for review. This enables flash reporting of significant events and potential insurance or reinsurance losses to be communicated to senior management worldwide on a timely basis irrespective from which geographical location or business unit location the exposure arises.

Castlewood also is able to efficiently manage claims and obtain savings through its extensive relationships with defense counsel (both in-house and external), liquidators, third-party claims administrators and other professional advisors and experts. Castlewood has developed relationships and protocols to reduce the number of outside counsel by consolidating claims of similar types and complexity with appropriate law firms specializing in the particular type of claim. This approach has enabled Castlewood to more efficiently manage outside counsel and other third parties, thereby reducing expenses, and to establish closer relationships with ceding companies.

When appropriate, Castlewood negotiates with direct insureds to buy back policies either on favorable terms or to mitigate against potential future indemnity exposures and legal costs in an uncertain and constantly evolving legal environment. Where appropriate, Castlewood also pursues commutations on favorable terms with ceding companies of reinsurance business in order to realize savings or to mitigate against potential future indemnity exposures and legal costs. Such buy-backs and commutations eliminate all past, present and future liability to direct insureds and reinsureds in return for a lump sum payment.

With regard to reinsurance receivables, Castlewood manages cash flow by working with reinsurers, brokers and professional advisors to achieve fair and prompt payment of reinsured claims, taking appropriate legal action to secure receivables where necessary. Castlewood also attempts where appropriate to negotiate favorable commutations with its reinsurers by securing a lump sum settlement from reinsurers in complete satisfaction of the reinsurer s past, present and future liability in respect of such claims. Properly priced commutations reduce the expense of adjusting direct claims and pursuing collection of reinsurance receivables (both of which may often involve extensive legal expense), realize savings, remove the potential future volatility of claims and reduce required regulatory capital.

## **Reserves for Unpaid Losses and Loss Adjustment Expense**

Applicable insurance laws require Castlewood to maintain reserves to cover its estimated losses under insurance policies that it has assumed and for loss adjustment expense, or LAE, relating to the investigation, administration and settlement of policy claims. Castlewood s LAE reserves consist of both reserves for allocated loss adjustment expenses, or ALAE, and for unallocated loss adjustment expenses, or ULAE. ALAE are linked to the settlement of an individual claim or loss, whereas ULAE reserve is based on the Company s estimates of future costs to administer the claims.

Castlewood and its subsidiaries establish losses and LAE reserves for individual claims by evaluating reported claims on the basis of:

its knowledge of the circumstances surrounding the claim;

the severity of the injury or damage;

the jurisdiction of the occurrence;

the potential for ultimate exposure;

the type of loss; and

its experience with the line of business and policy provisions relating to the particular type of claim.

Because a significant amount of time can lapse between the assumption of risk, the occurrence of a loss event, the reporting of the event to an insurance or reinsurance company and the ultimate payment of the claim on the loss event, the liability for unpaid losses and LAE is based largely upon estimates. Castlewood s management must use

considerable judgment in the process of developing these estimates. The liability for unpaid losses and LAE for property and casualty business includes amounts determined from loss reports on individual cases and amounts for losses incurred but not reported, or IBNR. Such reserves, including IBNR reserves, are estimated by management based upon loss reports received from ceding companies, supplemented by Castlewood s own estimates of losses for which no ceding company loss reports have yet been received.

In establishing reserves, management also considers actuarial estimates of ultimate losses. Castlewood s actuaries employ generally accepted actuarial methodologies and procedures to estimate ultimate losses and

loss expenses. In addition, a loss reserve study is prepared by an independent actuary annually in order to provide additional insight into the reasonableness of Castlewood s reserves for losses and loss expenses.

Castlewood s loss reserves are largely related to casualty exposures including latent exposures primarily relating to asbestos and environmental, or A&E, as discussed below. In establishing the reserves for unpaid claims, management considers facts currently known and the current state of the law and coverage litigation. Liabilities are recognized for known claims (including the cost of related litigation) when sufficient information has been developed to indicate the involvement of a specific insurance policy, and management can reasonably estimate its liability. In addition, reserves are established to cover loss development related to both known and unasserted claims.

The estimation of unpaid claim liabilities is subject to a high degree of uncertainty for a number of reasons. Unpaid claim liabilities for property and casualty exposures in general are impacted by changes in the legal environment, jury awards, medical cost trends, and general inflation. Moreover, for latent exposures in particular, developed case law and adequate claims history do not exist. There is significant coverage litigation involved with these exposures which creates further uncertainty in the estimation of the liabilities. As such, for these types of exposures, it is especially unclear whether past claim experience will be representative of future claim experience. Ultimate values for such claims cannot be estimated using reserving techniques that extrapolate losses to an ultimate basis using loss development factors, and the uncertainties surrounding the estimation of unpaid claim liabilities are not likely to be resolved in the near future. There can be no assurance that the reserves established by Castlewood will be adequate or will not be adversely affected by the development of other latent exposures. The actuarial methods used to estimate ultimate loss and ALAE for Castlewood s latent exposures are discussed below.

Non-latent claims are less significant to Castlewood, both in terms of reserves held, and in terms of risk of significant reserve deficiency. For the non-latent loss exposures, a range of traditional loss development extrapolation techniques is applied. Incremental paid and incurred loss development methodologies are the most commonly used methods. Traditional cumulative paid and incurred loss development methods are used where inception-to-date, cumulative paid and reported incurred loss development history is available.

These methods assume that cohorts, or groups, of losses from similar exposures will increase over time in a predictable manner. Historical paid and incurred loss development experience is examined for earlier underwriting years to make inferences about how later underwriting years losses will develop. Where company-specific loss information is not available or not reliable, industry loss development information published by reliable industry sources such as the Reinsurance Association of America is considered.

The reserving process is intended to reflect the impact of inflation and other factors affecting loss payments by taking into account changes in historical payment patterns and perceived trends. However, there is no precise method for the subsequent evaluation of the adequacy of the consideration given to inflation, or to any other specific factor, or to the way one factor may affect another.

The loss development tables below show changes in Castlewood s gross and net loss reserves in subsequent years from the prior loss estimates based on experience as of the end of each succeeding year. The estimate is increased or decreased as more information becomes known about the frequency and severity of losses for individual years. A redundancy means the original estimate was higher than the current estimate; a deficiency means that the current estimate is higher than the original estimate. The first table shows, in the first section of the table, Castlewood s gross reserve for unpaid losses (including IBNR losses) and LAE. The second table shows, in the first section of the table, Castlewood s reserve for unpaid losses (including IBNR losses) and LAE net of reinsurance. The second section of each table shows the cumulative amounts of losses paid as of the end of each succeeding year. The cumulative redundancy line in each table represents, as of the date indicated, the difference between the latest re-estimated liability and the reserves as

originally estimated.

	2001 2002 2003 2004 (in thousands of U.S. dollars)								2005
Gross reserve for unpaid losses and loss									
adjustment expenses	\$	419,717	\$	284,409	\$	381,531	\$	1,047,313	\$ 806,559
1 Yr Later		348,279		302,986		365,913		900,274	
2 Yrs Later		360,558		299,281		284,583			
3 Yrs Later		359,771		278,020					
4 Yrs Later		332,904		,					
Gross paid losses									
1 Yr Later		97,036		43,721		19,260		110,193	
2 Yrs Later		123,844		64,900		43,082			
3 Yrs Later		142,282		84,895					
4 Yrs Later		160,193							
Cumulative redundancy		86,813		6,389		96,948		147,039	
		2001		2002		2003	_	2004	2005
				(in the	ousa	ands of U.S.	do	llars)	
Net reserve for unpaid losses and loss									
adjustment expenses	\$	224,507		\$ 184,518		\$ 230,155		\$ 736,660	\$ 593,160
1 Yr Later		190,768		176,444		220,712		653,039	
2 Yrs Later		176,118		178,088		164,319			
3 Yrs Later		180,635		138,251					
4 Yrs Later		135,219							
Net paid losses									
1 Yr Later		38,634		10,557		11,354		78,488	
2 Yrs Later		32,291		24,978		6,312			
3 Yrs Later		44,153		17,304					
4 Yrs Later		34,483							
Cumulative redundancy		89,288		46,267		65,836		83,621	

The following table provides a reconciliation of the liability for losses and LAE, net of reinsurance ceded:

		Months Ended otember 30,		Year	Ended Decem	ıber 31,	
	2006	2005	2005 (in tho	2004 usands of U.S.	2003 . dollars)	2002	2001
Net reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, beginning of period	\$ 593,10 (10,70			\$ 230,155 (13,706)	\$ 184,518 (24,044)	\$ 224,507 (48,758)	\$ (90)

Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A										
Incurred related to prior years Paids related to prior years Effect of	(43,771)	(59,963)	(69,007)	(19,019)	(4,094)	(32,272)	(2,260)			
exchange rate movement 8,434 (23,325) Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries 208,248 17,862	(23,325) 17,862	3,652 17,862	4,124 535,106	10,575 63,200	6,774 34,267	2,750 224,107				
Net reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses, end of period	\$ 755,371	\$ 664,768	\$ 593,160 89	\$ 736,660	\$ 230,155	\$ 184,518	\$ 224,507			

In the table above, incurred losses and loss adjustment expenses related to prior years represents changes in estimates of prior period net loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities comprising net incurred loss movements during a period and changes in estimates of net IBNR liabilities. Net incurred loss movements during a period comprise increases or reductions in specific case reserves advised during the period to Castlewood by its policyholders and attorneys, or by Castlewood to its reinsurers, less claims settlements made during the period by Castlewood to its policyholders, plus claim receipts made to Castlewood by its reinsurers. Prior period estimates of net IBNR liabilities may change as Castlewood s management considers the combined impact of commutations, policy buy-backs, settlement of losses on carried reserves and the trend of incurred loss development compared to prior forecasts. The trend of incurred loss development in any period comprises the movement in net case reserves less net claims settled during the period. See

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Critical Accounting Policies Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses beginning on page 124 for an explanation of how the loss reserving methodologies are applied to the movement, or development, of net incurred losses during a period to estimate IBNR liabilities.

Commutations provide an opportunity for Castlewood to exit exposures to entire policies with insureds and reinsureds at a discount to the previously estimated ultimate liability. Castlewood s internal and external actuaries eliminate all prior historical loss development that relates to commuted exposures and apply their actuarial methodologies to the remaining aggregate exposures and revised historical loss development information to reassess estimates of ultimate liabilities.

Policy buy-backs provide an opportunity for Castlewood to settle individual policies and losses usually at a discount to carried advised loss reserves. As part of Castlewood s routine claims settlement operations, claims will settle at either below or above the carried advised loss reserve. The impact of policy buy-backs and the routine settlement of claims updates historical loss development information to which actuarial methodologies are applied often resulting in revised estimates of ultimate liabilities. Castlewood s actuarial methodologies include industry benchmarking which, under certain methodologies (discussed further under Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Critical Accounting Policies beginning on page 124), compares the trend of Castlewood s loss development to that of the industry. To the extent that the trend of Castlewood s loss development compared to the industry changes in any period it is likely to have an impact on the estimate of ultimate liabilities.

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were \$10.7 million and \$6.5 million, respectively. The net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for both nine-month periods was primarily attributable to the reduction in estimates of loss adjustment expense liabilities relating to 2006 and 2005 run-off activity partially offset by reductions in estimates of reinsurance balances receivable.

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2005 was \$96.0 million, excluding the impacts of adverse foreign exchange rate movements of \$3.7 million and including both net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities of \$7.4 million relating to companies acquired during the year and premium and commission adjustments triggered by incurred losses of \$1.3 million. The net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for 2005 was primarily attributable to a reduction in estimates of net ultimate losses of \$65.3 million, partly comprised of favorable incurred loss development during the year of \$5.9 million. Whereby advised case and LAE reserves of \$74.9 million were settled for net paid losses of \$69.0 million. The favorable incurred loss development arose from approximately 68 commutations of assumed and ceded exposures at less than case and LAE reserves and the settlement of losses in the year below carried reserves. The favorable loss development during the period compared to industry benchmarks used to determine actuarial estimates of ultimate losses resulted in reductions of those estimates of \$59.4 million. See Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Critical Accounting Policies Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Liabilities beginning on

page 124 for an explanation of how the loss reserving methodologies are applied to the movement, or development, of net incurred losses during a period to estimate IBNR liabilities. Of the 68 commutations completed during 2005, ten were among the top ten cedant and/or reinsurance exposures of the individual Castlewood reinsurance subsidiaries involved. The remaining 58 were of smaller size, consistent

with Castlewood s approach of targeting significant numbers of cedant and reinsurer relationships as well as targeting significant individual cedant and reinsurer relationships. As a result of the collection of certain reinsurance receivables, against which bad debt provisions had been provided in earlier periods, Castlewood reduced its aggregate provisions for bad debt by \$20.2 million in 2005. During 2005, Castlewood reduced its estimate of loss adjustment expense liabilities by \$10.5 million relating to 2005 run-off activity.

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense in 2004 amounted to \$13.7 million, excluding the impacts of adverse foreign exchange rate movements of \$4.1 million and including premium and commission adjustments triggered by incurred losses of \$0.1 million. Total favorable net incurred loss development during 2004 of \$14.7 million, whereby advised case and LAE reserves of \$33.7 million were settled for net paid losses of \$19.0 million, included adverse incurred development of asbestos and environmental exposures the combination of which resulted in a net increase in IBNR loss reserves of \$15.7 million. The increase in IBNR of \$15.7 million offset by the favorable incurred development of \$14.7 million resulted in an increase in furred losse of \$10.0 million. The favorable incurred loss development arose from approximately 36 commutations of assumed and ceded exposures at less than case and LAE reserves and the settlement of losses in the year below carried reserves. Of the 36 commutations completed during 2004, three were among the top ten cedant and/or reinsurance exposures of the individual Castlewood reinsurance subsidiaries involved. The remaining 33 were of smaller size, consistent with Castlewood s approach of targeting significant numbers of cedant and reinsurer relationships as well as targeting significant individual cedant and reinsurer relationships. There was no change to the provisions for bad debts in 2004. In 2004, Castlewood reduced its estimate of loss adjustment expense liabilities by \$14.7 million relating to 2004 run-off activity.

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2003 was \$24.0 million, excluding the impacts of adverse foreign exchange rate movements of \$10.6 million and including net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities of \$5.4 million relating to companies acquired during the year. The net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for 2003 was primarily attributable to a reduction in estimates of ultimate net losses of \$13.6 million, partly comprised of favorable incurred loss development during the year of \$5.8 million, whereby advised case and LAE reserves of \$9.9 million were settled for net paid losses of \$4.1 million. The favorable incurred loss development arose from approximately 13 commutations of assumed and ceded exposures at less than case and LAE reserves and the settlement of losses in the year below carried reserves which contributed to reductions in actuarial estimates of IBNR losses of \$7.8 million. Of the 13 commutations completed during 2003, two were among the top ten cedant and/or reinsurance exposures of the individual Castlewood reinsurance subsidiaries involved. The remaining 11 were of smaller size, consistent with Castlewood s approach of targeting significant numbers of cedant and reinsurer relationships as well as targeting significant individual cedant and reinsurer relationships. During 2003, Castlewood reduced its estimate of loss adjustment expense liabilities by \$10.4 million relating to 2003 run-off activity.

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the year ended December 31, 2002 was \$48.8 million, excluding the impacts of adverse foreign exchange rate movements of \$6.8 million and including premium and commission adjustments triggered by incurred losses of \$8.2 million. The net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for 2002 was primarily attributable to a reduction in estimates of ultimate net losses of \$50.7 million, primarily as a result of the commutation of Castlewood s single largest reinsurance liability and reinsurance receivable with one counter party as well as favorable incurred loss development during the year, whereby advised case and LAE reserves of \$21.7 million were settled for net paid losses of \$32.3 million. The commutation of Castlewood s largest liability and receivable together with favorable incurred loss development, that arose from approximately ten commutations of assumed and ceded exposures and the settlement of losses below carried reserves which contributed to reductions in actuarial estimates of IBNR losses of \$61.2 million. Of the ten commutations completed during 2002, excluding the largest, one was among the top ten cedant and/or reinsurance exposures. The remaining nine were of smaller size, consistent with Castlewood s approach of targeting significant numbers of cedant

and reinsurer relationships as well as targeting significant individual cedant and reinsurer relationships. During 2002, Castlewood increased its estimate of loss adjustment expense liabilities by \$1.9 million relating to 2002 run-off activity.

The loss development tables below relate to B.H. Acquisition. The first table shows, in the first section of the table, B.H. Acquisition s gross reserve for unpaid losses (including IBNR losses) and LAE. The second table shows, in the first section of the table, B.H. Acquisition s reserve for unpaid losses (including IBNR losses) and LAE net of reinsurance. The second section of each table shows B.H. Acquisition s re-estimates of the reserve in later years. The third section of each table shows the cumulative amounts of losses paid as of the end of each succeeding year. The cumulative redundancy (deficiency) line in each table represents, as of the date indicated, the difference between the latest re-estimated liability and the reserves as originally estimated.

	2000		2001 (ii		02 ands of	2003 U.S. dollars	<b>2004</b>	2005
Gross reserve for unpaid losses								
and loss adjustment expenses	\$ 114,81	3	\$ 100,635	\$ 72	2,421	\$ 71,217	\$ 62,349	\$ 58,470
1 Yr Later	111,04	7	77,741	8	6,975	69,372	64,263	
2 Yrs Later	90,40	1	80,324	8	7,351	71,539		
3 Yrs Later	92,98	7	80,699	9	1,495			
4 Yrs Later	93,36	3	84,844					
5 Yrs Later	97,50	7						
Gross paid losses								
1 Yr Later	10,41	2	5,320	1.	5,759	7,023	5,793	
2 Yrs Later	17,98	3	9,107	2	5,002	15,046		
3 Yrs Later	21,77	)	18,350	3	3,025			
4 Yrs Later	31,01	3	26,374					
5 Yrs Later	39,03	7						
Cumulative Redundancy								
(Deficiency)	17,30	5	15,792	(1	9,074)	(323)	(1,914)	
	2000		2001	200		2003	2004	2005
			(i	n thous	sands of	f U.S. dollar	s)	
Net reserve for unpaid losses and								
loss adjustment expenses	\$ 82,98	3	\$ 72,540	\$ 48	,579	\$ 42,712	\$ 38,832	\$ 55,712
1 Yr Later	76,34	3	51,649	52	,837	41,269	36,439	-
2 Yrs Later	57,70	3	43,935	53	,615	39,129	-	
3 Yrs Later	49,99	1	44,713	53	,452			
4 Yrs Later	50,77	2	44,550					
5 Yrs Later	50,60	)						
Net paid losses								
1 Yr Later	3,80	3	3,070	10	,125	2,437	(19,273)	
2 Yrs Later	9,12	)	1,223	14	,782	(14,606)		
3 Yrs Later	7,28	2	5,881	(2	,260)			
4 Yrs Later	11,93	)	(11,162)					
5 Yrs Later	(5,10	3)						
Cumulative Redundancy	32,37	)	27,990	(4	,873)	3,582	2,393	
			92					

The following table provides a reconciliation of the liability for losses and LAE, net of reinsurance ceded for B.H. Acquisition.

	Nine Mon Septem			Year E			
	2006	2005	2005	2004	2003	2002	2001
			(in thou	sands of U.S.	dollars)		
Net reserves for losses and loss expenses,							
beginning of period Incurred related to	\$ 55,712	\$ 38,832	\$ 38,832	\$ 42,712	\$ 48,578	\$ 72,540	\$ 82,988
prior years Paids related to prior	260	(130)	(50)	(1,713)	2,068	(23,588)	(2,711)
years Effect of exchange	(1,741)	13,079	19,274	(2,437)	(10,125)	(3,071)	(3,808)
rate movement	1,317	(1,783)	(2,344)	270	2,191	2,697	(3,929)
Net reserves for losses and loss expenses, end of period	\$ 55,548	\$ 49,998	\$ 55,712	\$ 38,832	\$ 42,712	\$ 48,578	\$ 72,540

During 2005, B.H. Acquisition negotiated and completed a commutation transaction with a major reinsurer whereby B.H. Acquisition s right to recover future losses ceded to the reinsurer was exchanged for a payment of \$23 million. The paid loss recoveries in the year, including the \$23 million commutation receipt, exceeded the gross paid losses resulting in a net paid recovery in the year.

#### Asbestos and Environmental (A&E) Exposure

#### General A&E Exposures

A number of Castlewood s subsidiaries wrote general liability policies and reinsurance prior to their acquisition by Castlewood under which policyholders continue to present asbestos-related injury claims and claims alleging injury, damage or clean-up costs arising from environmental pollution. These policies, and the associated claims, are referred to as A&E exposures. The vast majority of these claims are presented under policies written many years ago.

There is a great deal of uncertainty surrounding A&E claims. This uncertainty impacts the ability of insurers and reinsurers to estimate the ultimate amount of unpaid claims and related LAE. The majority of these claims differ from any other type of claim because there is inadequate loss development and there is significant uncertainty regarding what, if any, coverage exists, to which, if any, policy years claims are attributable and which, if any, insurers/reinsurers may be liable. These uncertainties are exacerbated by lack of clear judicial precedent and legislative interpretations of coverage that may be inconsistent with the intent of the parties to the insurance contracts and expand theories of liability. The insurance and reinsurance industry as a whole is engaged in extensive litigation over these coverage and liability issues and is, thus, confronted with continuing uncertainty in its efforts to quantify A&E exposures.

Castlewood s A&E exposure is managed out of its offices in the United Kingdom and Rhode Island and centrally managed from the United Kingdom. In light of the intensive claim settlement process for these claims, which involves comprehensive fact gathering and subject matter expertise, management believes it is prudent to have a centrally managed claim facility to handle A&E claims on behalf of all of Castlewood s subsidiaries. Castlewood s A&E claims staff, headed by a U.S.-qualified attorney experienced in A&E liabilities, proactively manages, on a cost effective basis, the A&E claims submitted to Castlewood s insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. The staff employs professional and disciplined claim handling strategies to achieve favorable results for Castlewood s insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries and its clients while minimizing costs.

Castlewood s independent, external actuaries use industry benchmarking methodologies to estimate appropriate IBNR reserves for Castlewood s A&E exposures. These methods are based on comparisons of Castlewood s loss experience on A&E exposures relative to industry loss experience on A&E exposures. Estimates of IBNR are derived separately for each relevant Castlewood subsidiary and, for some subsidiaries, separately for distinct portfolios of exposure. The discussion that follows describes, in greater detail, the

93

primary actuarial methodologies used by Castlewood s independent actuaries to estimate IBNR for A&E exposures.

In addition to the specific considerations for each method described below, many general factors are considered in the application of the methods and the interpretation of results for each portfolio of exposures. These factors include the mix of product types (e.g. primary insurance versus reinsurance of primary versus reinsurance of reinsurance), the average attachment point of coverages (e.g. first-dollar primary versus umbrella over primary versus high-excess), payment and reporting lags related to the international domicile of Castlewood subsidiaries, payment and reporting pattern acceleration due to large wholesale settlements (e.g. policy buy-backs and commutations) pursued by Castlewood, lists of individual risks remaining and general trends within the legal and tort environments.

1. *Paid Survival Ratio Method.* In this method, Castlewood s expected annual average payment amount is multiplied by an expected future number of payment years to get an indicated reserve. Castlewood s historical calendar year payments are examined to determine an expected future annual average payment amount. This amount is multiplied by an expected number of future payment years to estimate a reserve. Trends in calendar year payment activity are considered when selecting an expected future annual average payment amount. Accepted industry benchmarks are used in determining an expected number of future payment years. Each year, annual payments data is updated, trends in payments are re-evaluated and changes to benchmark future payment years are reviewed. This method has advantages of ease of application and simplicity of assumptions. A potential disadvantage of the method is that results could be misleading for portfolios of high excess exposures where significant payment activity has not yet begun.

2. *Paid Market Share Method.* In this method, Castlewood s estimated market share is applied to the industry estimated unpaid losses. The ratio of Castlewood s historical calendar year payments to industry historical calendar year payments is examined to estimate Castlewood s market share. This ratio is then applied to the estimate of industry unpaid losses. Each year, calendar year payment data is updated (for both Castlewood and industry), estimates of industry unpaid losses are reviewed and the selection of Castlewood s estimated market share is revisited. This method has the advantage that trends in calendar-year market share can be incorporated into the selection of company share of remaining market payments. A potential disadvantage of this method is that it is particularly sensitive to assumptions regarding the time-lag between industry payments and Castlewood payments.

3. *Reserve-to-Paid Method.* In this method, the ratio of estimated industry reserves to industry paid-to-date losses is multiplied by Castlewood s paid-to-date losses to estimate Castlewood s reserves. Specific considerations in the application of this method include the completeness of Castlewood s paid-to-date loss information, the potential acceleration or deceleration in Castlewood s payments (relative to the industry) due to Castlewood s claims handling practices, and the impact of large individual settlements. Each year, paid-to-date loss information is updated (for both Castlewood and the industry) and updates to industry estimated reserves are reviewed. This method has the advantage of relying purely on paid loss data and so is not influenced by subjectivity of case reserve loss estimates. A potential disadvantage is that the application to Castlewood portfolios which do not have complete inception-to-date paid loss history could produce misleading results.

4. *IBNR:Case Ratio Method.* In this method, the ratio of estimated industry IBNR reserves to industry case reserves is multiplied by Castlewood s case reserves to estimate Castlewood IBNR reserves. Specific considerations in the application of this method include the presence of policies reserved at policy limits, changes in overall industry case reserve adequacy and recent loss reporting history for Castlewood. Each year, Castlewood case reserves are updated, industry reserves are updated and the applicability of the industry IBNR:case ratio is reviewed. This method has the advantage that it incorporates the most recent estimates of amounts needed to settle open cases included in current case reserves. A potential disadvantage is that results could be misleading where Castlewood case reserve adequacy differs significantly from overall industry case reserve adequacy.

5. *Ultimate-to-Incurred Method*. In this method, the ratio of estimated industry ultimate losses to industry incurred-to-date losses is applied to Castlewood incurred-to-date losses to estimate Castlewood s

IBNR reserves. Specific considerations in the application of this method include the completeness of Castlewood s incurred-to-date loss information, the potential acceleration or deceleration in Castlewood s incurred losses (relative to the industry) due to Castlewood s claims handling practices and the impact of large individual settlements. Each year incurred-to-date loss information is updated (for both Castlewood and the industry) and updates to industry estimated ultimate losses are reviewed. This method has the advantage that it incorporates both paid and case reserve information in projecting ultimate losses. A potential disadvantage is that results could be misleading where cumulative paid loss data is incomplete or where Castlewood case reserve adequacy differs significantly from overall industry case reserve adequacy.

Within the annual loss reserve studies produced by Castlewood s external actuaries, exposures for each subsidiary are separated into homogeneous reserving categories for the purpose of estimating IBNR. Each reserving category contains either direct insurance or assumed reinsurance reserves and groups relatively similar types of risks and exposures (for example asbestos, environmental, casualty, property) and lines of business written (for example marine, aviation, non-marine). Based on the exposure characteristics and the nature of available data for each individual reserving category, a number of methodologies are applied. Recorded reserves for each category are selected from the indications produced by the various methodologies after consideration of exposure characteristics, data limitations and strengths and weaknesses of each method applied. This approach to estimating IBNR has been consistently adopted in the annual loss reserve studies for each period presented.

As of December 31, 2005, Castlewood had nine separate insurance and/or reinsurance subsidiaries whose reserves are categorized into approximately 170 reserve categories in total, including 15 distinct asbestos reserving categories and 18 distinct environmental reserving categories.

The five methodologies described above are applied for each of the 15 asbestos reserving categories and each of the 18 environmental reserving categories. As is common in actuarial practice, no one methodology is exclusively or consistently relied upon when selecting a recorded reserve. Consistent reliance on a single methodology to select a recorded reserve would be inappropriate in light of the dynamic nature of both the asbestos and environmental liabilities in general, and the actual Castlewood exposure portfolios in particular.

In selecting a recorded reserve, management considers the range of results produced by the methods, and the strengths and weaknesses of the methods in relation to the data available and the specific characteristics of the portfolio under consideration. Trends in both Castlewood data and industry data are also considered in the reserve selection process. Recent trends or changes in the relevant tort and legal environments are also considered when assessing methodology results and selecting an appropriate recorded reserve amount for each portfolio.

The liability for unpaid losses and LAE, inclusive of A&E reserves, reflects Castlewood s best estimate for future amounts needed to pay losses and related LAE as of each of the balance sheet dates reflected in the financial statements herein in accordance with GAAP. As of December 31, 2005, Castlewood had net loss reserves of \$325.9 million for asbestos-related claims and \$58.1 million for environmental pollution-related claims. The following table provides an analysis of Castlewood s gross and net loss and ALAE reserves from A&E exposures at year-end 2005, 2004 and 2003 and the movement in gross and net reserves for those years:

	2005				Year Ended December 31, 2004				2003			
		Gross		Net (	in t	Gross housands o	f U.	Net S. dollars)		Gross		Net
Provision for A&E claims and ALAE at January 1 A&E losses and ALAE incurred during the year	\$	743,294 (93,705)	\$	479,048	\$	196,217 (4,216)	\$	92,745 (29,348)	\$	154,856 44,660	\$	48,746 43,035
A&E losses and ALAE paid during the year Provision for A&E claims		(78,635)		(69,014)		(9,436)		(4,087)		(12,220)		(4,177)
and ALAE acquired during the year		7,125		5,489		560,729		419,738		8,921		5,141
Provision for A&E claims and ALAE at December 31	\$	578,079	\$	383,957	\$	743,294	\$	479,048	\$	196,217	\$	92,745

Asbestos continues to be the most significant and difficult mass tort for the insurance industry in terms of claims volume and expense. Castlewood believes that the insurance industry has been adversely affected by judicial interpretations that have had the effect of maximizing insurance recoveries for asbestos claims, from both a coverage and liability perspective. Generally, only policies underwritten prior to 1986 have potential asbestos exposure, since most policies underwritten after this date contain an absolute asbestos exclusion.

In recent years, especially from 2001 through 2003, the industry has experienced increasing numbers of asbestos claims, including claims from individuals who do not appear to be impaired by asbestos exposure. Since 2003, however, new claim filings have been fairly stable. It is possible that the increases observed in the early part of the decade were triggered by various state tort reforms (discussed immediately below). At this point, Castlewood can not predict whether claim filings will return to pre-2004 levels, remain stable, or begin to decrease.

Since 2001, several U.S. states have proposed, and in many cases enacted, tort reform statutes that impact asbestos litigation by, for example, making it more difficult for a diverse group of plaintiffs to jointly file a single case, reducing forum-shopping by requiring that a potential plaintiff must have been exposed to asbestos in the state in which he/she files a lawsuit, or permitting consolidation of discovery. These statutes typically apply to suits filed after a stated date. When a statute is proposed or enacted, asbestos defendants often experience a marked increase in new lawsuits, as plaintiffs attorneys seek to file suit before the effective date of the legislation. Some of this increased claim volume likely represents an acceleration of valid claims that would have been brought in the future, while some claims will likely prove to have little or no merit. As many of these claims are still pending, Castlewood cannot predict what portion of the increased number of claims represent valid claims. Also, the acceleration of claims increases the uncertainty surrounding projections of future claims in the affected jurisdictions.

During the same timeframe as tort reform, the U.S. federal and various U.S. state governments sought comprehensive asbestos reform to manage the growing court docket and costs surrounding asbestos litigation, in addition to the increasing number of corporate bankruptcies resulting from overwhelming asbestos liabilities. Whereas the federal government has thus far unsuccessfully pursued the establishment of a national asbestos trust fund at an estimated cost of \$140 billion, states, including Texas and Florida, have implemented a medical criteria approach that only permits litigation to proceed when a plaintiff can establish and demonstrate actual physical impairment.

Much like tort reform, asbestos litigation reform has also spurred a significant increase in the number of lawsuits filed in advance of the law s enactment. Castlewood cannot predict whether the drop off in the number of filed claims is due to the accelerated number of filings or an actual trend decline in alleged asbestos injuries.

### Environmental Pollution Exposures

Environmental pollution claims represent another significant exposure for Castlewood. However, environmental claims have been developing as expected over the past few years as a result of stable claim trends. Claims against Fortune 500 companies are generally declining, and while insureds with single-site exposures are still active, in many cases claims are being settled for less than initially anticipated due to improved site remediation technology and effective policy buy-backs.

Despite the stability of recent trends, there remains significant uncertainty involved in estimating liabilities related to these exposures. First, the number of waste sites subject to cleanup is unknown. Approximately 1,200 sites are included on the National Priorities List (NPL) of the United States Environmental Protection Agency. State authorities have separately identified many additional sites and, at times, aggressively implement site cleanups. Second, the liabilities of the insureds themselves are difficult to estimate. At any given site, the allocation of remediation cost among the potentially responsible parties varies greatly depending upon a variety of factors. Third, as with asbestos liability and coverage issues, judicial precedent regarding liability and coverage issues regarding pollution claims does not provide clear guidance. There is also uncertainty as to the federal Superfund law itself and, at this time, Castlewood cannot predict what, if any, reforms to this law might be enacted by the U.S. Congress, or the effect of any such changes on the insurance industry.

## Other Latent Exposures

While Castlewood does not view health hazard exposures such as silica and tobacco as becoming a material concern, recent developments in lead litigation have caused Castlewood to watch these matters closely. Recently, municipal and state governments have had success, using a public nuisance theory, pursuing the former makers of lead pigment for the abatement of lead paint in certain home dwellings. As lead paint was used almost exclusively into the early 1970 s, large numbers of old housing stock contain lead paint that can prove hazardous to people and, particularly, children. Although governmental success has been limited thus far, Castlewood continues to monitor developments carefully due to the size of the potential awards sought by plaintiffs.

## Investments

## Investment Strategy and Guidelines

Castlewood derives a significant portion of its income from its invested assets. As a result, its operating results depend in part on the performance of its investment portfolio. Because of the unpredictable nature of losses that may arise under Castlewood s insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries insurance or reinsurance policies and as a result of Castlewood s opportunistic commutation strategy, Castlewood s liquidity needs can be substantial and may arise at any time. Castlewood generally follows a conservative investment strategy designed to emphasize the preservation of its invested assets and provide sufficient liquidity for the prompt payment of claims and settlement of commutation payments. Castlewood s cash and cash equivalent portfolio is mainly comprised of high-grade fixed deposits and commercial paper with maturities of less than three months, liquid reserve funds and money market funds. Castlewood s investment portfolio consists primarily of high investment grade-rated, liquid, fixed-maturity securities of short-to-medium term duration and an enhanced cash mutual fund 94.6% of Castlewood s total investment portfolio as of September 30, 2006 consisted of investment grade securities. In addition, Castlewood has investments in a limited partnership, and has committed to invest in two private investment funds that are non-investment grade securities these investments accounted for 5.4% of Castlewood s total investment portfolio as of September 30, 2006. Assuming the commitments to the two private investment funds were fully funded as of September 30, 2006 out of cash balances on hand at that time, the percentage of investments held in other than investment grade securities would increase to 16.0%.

Castlewood strives to structure its investments in a manner that recognizes its liquidity needs for future liabilities. In that regard, Castlewood attempts to correlate the maturity and duration of its investment portfolio to its general liability profile. If Castlewood s liquidity needs or general liability profile unexpectedly change,

it may not continue to structure its investment portfolio in its current manner and would adjust as necessary to meet new business needs.

Castlewood s investment performance is subject to a variety of risks, including risks related to general economic conditions, market volatility, interest rate fluctuations, liquidity risk and credit and default risk. Interest rates are highly sensitive to many factors, including governmental monetary policies, domestic and international economic and political conditions and other factors beyond Castlewood s control. A significant increase in interest rates could result in significant losses, realized or unrealized, in the value of Castlewood s investment portfolio. Alternative investments, such as the commitment to J.C. Flowers II L.P., subject Castlewood to restrictions on redemption, which may limit its ability to withdraw funds for some period of time after the initial investment. The values of, and returns on, such investments may also be more volatile.

### Investment Committee and Investment Manager

The investment committee of Castlewood s board of directors supervises its investment activity. The investment committee regularly monitors Castlewood s overall investment results which it ultimately reports to the board of directors.

Castlewood has engaged Goldman Sachs to provide discretionary investment management services. Castlewood has agreed to pay investment management fees based on the month-end market values of a portion of the investments in the portfolio. The fees, which vary depending on the amount of assets under management, are included in net investment income. Castlewood also pays investment advisory fees to Enstar. These fees are also included as part of net investment income.

## Castlewood s Portfolio

#### Accounting Treatment

Castlewood s investments primarily consist of fixed income securities. Castlewood s fixed income investments are comprised of both available-for-sale investments and held to maturity investments as defined in FAS 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities. Available-for-sale investments are carried at their fair market value on the balance sheet date and held to maturity investments are carried at their amortized cost. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale investments, which represent the difference between the amortized cost and the fair market value of securities, are reported in the balance sheet, as accumulated other comprehensive income in a separate component of shareholders equity.

#### Composition as of September 30, 2006

As of September 30, 2006, Castlewood s aggregate invested assets totaled approximately \$1,084.7 million. Aggregate invested assets include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, fixed-maturity securities, an enhanced cash mutual fund which invests in fixed income and money market securities denominated in U.S. dollars with average target duration of nine months, an investment in a limited partnership and an investment in a private investment fund.

The following table shows the types of securities in Castlewood s portfolio, including cash equivalents, and their fair market values and amortized costs as of September 30, 2006:

	Amortized Cost			eptemb alized iins ousands	Fair Market Value	
Cash and cash equivalents(1)	\$	466,703	\$	0	\$ 0	\$ 466,703
U.S. government & agencies Non-U.S. government securities Corporate securities		177,340 79,190 69,490		20 0 0	(2,565) (118) (1,891)	174,795 79,072 67,599
Fixed income Enhanced cash fund Investment in limited partnership Private investment fund Short term investments		326,020 210,275 31,512 1,818 48,392		20 0 0 0 0	(4,574) 0 0 0 0	321,466 210,275 31,512 1,818 48,392
Total investments(2) Total cash and investments	\$ 1	618,017 1,084,720	\$	20 20	\$ (4,574) (4,574)	\$ 613,463 1,080,166

#### (1) Includes restricted cash and cash equivalents of \$64,155.

(2) The difference between the total amortized cost of investments above and the investments recorded under U.S. GAAP, shown on pages 15 and F-32, is attributable to the net unrealized gain on certain investments classified as available-for-sale under U.S. GAAP, which are recorded at fair market value.

## U.S. Government and Agencies

U.S. government and agency securities are comprised primarily of bonds issued by the U.S. Treasury, the Federal Home Loan Bank, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation and the Federal National Mortgage Association.

#### Non-U.S. Government Securities

Non-U.S. government securities represent the fixed income obligations of non-U.S. governmental entities.

## Corporate Securities

Corporate securities are comprised of bonds issued by corporations that are diversified across a wide range of issuers and industries. The largest single issuer of corporate securities in Castlewood s portfolio was Goldman Sachs Group Inc., which represented 37.6% of the aggregate amount of corporate securities and had a credit rating of AAA by Standard & Poor s, as of September 30, 2006.

## Table of Contents

## Enhanced Cash Fund

Enhanced cash mutual funds invest in fixed income and money market securities denominated in U.S. dollars with average target duration of nine months.

### Investment in Limited Partnership

In December 2005, Castlewood invested approximately \$24.5 million in New NIB Partners LP, or NIB Partners, a Province of Alberta limited partnership, in exchange for an approximately 1.4% limited partnership interest. NIB Partners was formed for the purpose of purchasing, together with certain affiliated entities, 100% of the outstanding share capital of NIBC N.V. (formerly, NIB Capital N.V.) and its affiliates, or NIBC. NIBC is a merchant bank focusing on the mid-market segment in northwest Europe with a global distribution

99

network. New NIB Partners and certain related entities are indirectly controlled by New NIB Limited, an Irish corporation. Mr. Flowers is a director of New NIB Limited and is on the supervisory board of NIBC. Certain affiliates of J.C. Flowers I LP also participated in the acquisition of NIBC. Certain officers and directors of Castlewood made personal investments in NIB Partners.

### Private Investment Funds

Castlewood has made a capital commitment of up to \$10 million in the GSC European Mezzanine Fund II, LP, or GSC. GSC invests in mezzanine securities of middle and large market companies throughout Western Europe. As at September 30, 2006, the capital contributed to the Fund was \$1.8 million with the remaining commitment being \$8.2 million. The \$10 million represents 8.9% of the total commitments made to GSC.

Castlewood has also committed to invest \$75 million in J.C. Flowers II, L.P., a private investment fund formed by J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC. The fund held an initial closing in June 2006 and, in August 2006, Castlewood funded \$5.7 million of its \$75 million commitment. In October and November 2006, the Company funded a total of \$14.3 million of additional capital contributions to J.C. Flowers II, L.P. and received a \$1.0 million refund of excess contributions originally paid in August 2006. Castlewood intends to use cash on hand to fund its remaining commitment. J.C. Flowers & Co. LLC is controlled by Mr. Flowers.

### Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments are comprised of commercial paper with maturities ranging between three months and one year issued by financial institutions. The largest single issuer of commercial paper in Castlewood s portfolio was Anglo Irish Bank Ltd, which represented 30.2% of the aggregate amount of short-term investments and had a credit rating of P1 by Moody s, as at September 30, 2006.

#### Ratings as of September 30, 2006

The investment ratings (provided by major rating agencies) for Castlewood s investments held as of September 30, 2006 and the percentage of investments they represented on that date were as follows:

	<b>September 30, 2006</b>							
	Amortized Cost (in tho			ir Market Value ds of U.S. do	Percentage of Total Fair Market Value			
		(III the	Jusan	us of 0.5. uo	nai sj			
U.S. government & agencies	\$	177,340	\$	174,795	28.5%			
AAA or equivalent		368,964		367,207	59.9%			
AA		3,369		3,283	0.5%			
A or equivalent		34,074		33,931	5.5%			
BBB		940		917	0.2%			
Not rated		33,330		33,330	5.4%			
Total	\$	618,017	\$	613,463	100%			

The amounts shown as not rated relate to Castlewood s investment in the limited partnership and private investment funds.

#### Maturity Distribution as of September 30, 2006

The maturity distribution for total investments held as of September 30, 2006 was as follows:

	September 30, 2006							
	Amortized Cost	Unrealized Gains (in thousands	Unrealized Losses s of U.S. dollars	Va	larket lue			
Due within one year	\$ 342,042	0	\$ (139)	\$ 3	41,903			
Due after one year through five	244,919	20	(3,481)		41,458			
Due after five year through ten years	15,000	0	(218)		14,782			
Due after ten years	16,056	0	(736)		15,320			
Total	\$ 618,017	20	\$ (4,574)	\$ 6	13,463			

### Investment Returns for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

Castlewood s investment returns for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and year ended December 31, 2005 were as follows:

	]	ee Months Ended cember 30, 2006 (in	Sept	e Months Ended æmber 30, 2006 ds of U.S. dolla	D	Vear Ended ecember 31, 2005
Net investment income Net realized gains (losses) on sale	\$	12,697 15	\$	33,502 (64)	\$	28,236 1,268
Net investment income and net realized gains (losses) on sale	\$	12,712	\$	33,438	\$	29,504
Effective annualized yield(1)		4.64%		4.38%		3.23%

(1) Effective annualized yield is calculated by dividing net investment income by the average balance of aggregate invested assets, on an amortized cost basis.

#### Regulation

#### General

The business of insurance and reinsurance is regulated in most countries, although the degree and type of regulation varies significantly from one jurisdiction to another. Castlewood is subject to extensive regulation under applicable

## Table of Contents

statutes in the United Kingdom, Bermuda, Belgium and other jurisdictions.

### Bermuda

As a holding company, Castlewood is not subject to Bermuda insurance regulations. However, the Insurance Act 1978 of Bermuda and related regulations, as amended, or, together, the Insurance Act, regulate the insurance business of Castlewood s operating subsidiaries in Bermuda and provide that no person may carry on any insurance business in or from within Bermuda unless registered as an insurer by the Bermuda Monetary Authority under the Insurance Act. Insurance as well as reinsurance is regulated under the Insurance Act. The Bermuda Monetary Authority, in deciding whether to grant registration, has broad discretion to act as it deems in the public interest. The Bermuda Monetary Authority is required by the Insurance Act to determine whether the applicant is a fit and proper body to be engaged in the insurance business and, in particular, whether it has, or has available to it, adequate knowledge and expertise to operate an insurance business. The continued registration of an applicant as an insurer is subject to it complying with the terms of its registration and any other conditions the Bermuda Monetary Authority may impose from time to time.

An Insurance Advisory Committee appointed by the Bermuda Minister of Finance advises the Bermuda Monetary Authority on matters connected with the discharge of the Bermuda Monetary Authority s functions. Sub-committees of the Insurance Advisory Committee supervise and review the law and practice of insurance

#### 101

in Bermuda, including reviews of accounting and administrative procedures. The day-to-day supervision of insurers is the responsibility of the Bermuda Monetary Authority.

The Insurance Act also imposes on Bermuda insurance companies certain solvency and liquidity standards and auditing and reporting requirements and grants the Bermuda Monetary Authority powers to supervise, investigate, require information and the production of documents and intervene in the affairs of insurance companies. Certain significant aspects of the Bermuda insurance regulatory framework are set forth below.

*Classification of Insurers*. The Insurance Act distinguishes between insurers carrying on long-term business and insurers carrying on general business. There are four classifications of insurers carrying on general business, with Class 4 insurers subject to the strictest regulation. Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries, which are incorporated to carry on general insurance and reinsurance business, are registered as Class 2 or 3 insurers in Bermuda and are regulated as such under the Insurance Act. These regulated Bermuda subsidiaries are not licensed to carry on long-term business broadly includes life insurance and disability insurance with terms in excess of five years. General business broadly includes all types of insurance that are not long-term business.

*Principal Representative*. An insurer is required to maintain a principal office in Bermuda and to appoint and maintain a principal representative in Bermuda. For the purpose of the Insurance Act, each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries principal offices is at P.O. Box HM 2267, Windsor Place, 3rd Floor, 18 Queen Street, in Hamilton, Bermuda, and each of their principal representatives is Castlewood Limited. Without a reason acceptable to the Bermuda Monetary Authority, an insurer may not terminate the appointment of its principal representative, and the principal representative may not cease to act in that capacity, unless 30 days notice in writing is given to the Bermuda Monetary Authority. It is the duty of the principal representative, forthwith on reaching the view that there is a likelihood that the insurer will become insolvent or that a reportable event has, to the principal representative s knowledge, occurred or is believed to have occurred, to notify the Bermuda Monetary Authority and, within 14 days of such notification, to make a report in writing to the Bermuda Monetary Authority setting forth all the particulars of the case that are available to the principal representative. For example, any failure by the insurer to comply substantially with a condition imposed upon the insurer by the Bermuda Monetary Authority relating to a solvency margin or a liquidity or other ratio would be a reportable event.

*Independent Approved Auditor.* Every registered insurer must appoint an independent auditor who will audit and report annually on the statutory financial statements and the statutory financial return of the insurer, both of which, in the case of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries, are required to be filed annually with the Bermuda Monetary Authority. The independent auditor must be approved by the Bermuda Monetary Authority and may be the same person or firm that audits Castlewood s consolidated financial statements and reports for presentation to its shareholders. Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries independent auditor is Deloitte & Touche, who also audits Castlewood s consolidated financial statements.

*Loss Reserve Specialist.* As a registered Class 2 or 3 insurer, each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries is required, every year, to submit an opinion of its approved loss reserve specialist with its statutory financial return in respect of its losses and loss expenses provisions. The loss reserve specialist, who will normally be a qualified casualty actuary, must be approved by the Bermuda Monetary Authority. Christopher Diamantoukos of Ernst & Young LLP has been approved to act as the loss reserve specialist for each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries.

*Statutory Financial Statements.* Each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries must prepare annual statutory financial statements. The Insurance Act prescribes rules for the preparation and substance of these statutory financial statements, which include, in statutory form, a balance sheet, an income statement, a statement of capital and surplus and notes thereto. Each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries is required to give detailed information and

analyses regarding premiums, claims, reinsurance and investments. The statutory financial statements are not prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP and are distinct from the financial statements prepared for presentation to an insurer s shareholders under the Companies Act. As a general business insurer, each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries is required to submit the annual statutory financial statements as part of the annual statutory financial return. The statutory financial statements

and the statutory financial return do not form part of the public records maintained by the Bermuda Monetary Authority.

Annual Statutory Financial Return. Each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda Class 2 and 3 insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries are required to file with the Bermuda Monetary Authority a statutory financial return no later than six or four months, respectively, after its fiscal year end unless specifically extended upon application to the Bermuda Monetary Authority. The statutory financial return for a Class 2 or 3 insurer includes, among other matters, a report of the approved independent auditor on the statutory financial statements of the insurer, solvency certificates, the statutory financial statements, and the opinion of the loss reserve specialist. The solvency certificates must be signed by the principal representative and at least two directors of the insurer certifying that the minimum solvency margin has been met and whether the insurer has complied with the conditions attached to its certificate of registration. The independent approved auditor is required to state whether, in its opinion, it was reasonable for the directors to make these certifications. If an insurer s accounts have been audited for any purpose other than compliance with the Insurance Act, a statement to that effect must be filed with the statutory financial return.

*Minimum Liquidity Ratio.* The Insurance Act provides a minimum liquidity ratio for general business insurers, like Castlewood s regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. An insurer engaged in general business is required to maintain the value of its relevant assets at not less than 75% of the amount of its relevant liabilities. Relevant assets include, but are not limited to, cash and time deposits, quoted investments, unquoted bonds and debentures, first liens on real estate, investment income due and accrued, accounts and premiums receivable and reinsurance balances receivable. There are some categories of assets which, unless specifically permitted by the Bermuda Monetary Authority, do not automatically qualify as relevant assets, such as unquoted equity securities, investments in and advances to affiliates and real estate and collateral loans. Relevant liabilities are total general business insurance reserves and total other liabilities less deferred income tax and sundry liabilities (i.e., liabilities which are not otherwise specifically defined).

*Minimum Solvency Margin and Restrictions on Dividends and Distributions.* Under the Insurance Act, the value of the general business assets of a Class 2 or 3 insurer, such as Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries, must exceed the amount of its general business liabilities by an amount greater than the prescribed minimum solvency margin. Each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries is required, with respect to its general business, to maintain a minimum solvency margin equal to the greatest of:

For Class 2 insurers:

#### \$250,000;

20% of net premiums written (being gross premiums written less any premiums ceded by the insurer) if net premiums do not exceed \$6,000,000 or \$1,200,000 plus 10% of net premiums written which exceed \$6,000,000; and

10% of net losses and loss expense reserves.

For Class 3 insurers:

\$1,000,000;

20% of net premiums written (being gross premiums written less any premiums ceded by the insurer) if net premiums do not exceed \$6,000,000 or \$1,200,000 plus 15% of net premiums written which exceed \$6,000,000; and

15% of net losses and loss expense reserves.

Each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries is prohibited from declaring or paying any dividends during any fiscal year if it is in breach of its minimum solvency margin or minimum liquidity ratio or if the declaration or payment of such dividends would cause it to fail to meet such margin or ratio. In addition, if it has failed to meet its minimum solvency margin or minimum liquidity ratio on the last day of any fiscal year, each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries will be prohibited,

103

without the approval of the Bermuda Monetary Authority, from declaring or paying any dividends during the next financial year.

Each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries is prohibited, without the approval of the Bermuda Monetary Authority, from reducing by 15% or more its total statutory capital as set out in its previous year s financial statements.

Additionally, under the Companies Act, Castlewood and each of its regulated Bermuda subsidiaries may declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution from contributed surplus, only if it has no reasonable grounds for believing that it is, or will after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or that the realizable value of its assets will thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium accounts.

Supervision, Investigation and Intervention. The Bermuda Monetary Authority may appoint an inspector with extensive powers to investigate the affairs of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries if the Bermuda Monetary Authority believes that such an investigation is in the best interests of its policyholders or persons who may become policyholders. In order to verify or supplement information otherwise provided to the Bermuda Monetary Authority, the Bermuda Monetary Authority may direct Castlewood s regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries to produce documents or information relating to matters connected with its business. In addition, the Bermuda Monetary Authority has the power to require the production of documents from any person who appears to be in possession of those documents. Further, the Bermuda Monetary Authority has the power, in respect of a person registered under the Insurance Act, to appoint a professional person to prepare a report on any aspect of any matter about which the Bermuda Monetary Authority has required or could require information. If it appears to the Bermuda Monetary Authority to be desirable in the interests of the clients of a person registered under the Insurance Act, the Bermuda Monetary Authority may also exercise the foregoing powers in relation to any company which is, or has at any relevant time been, (1) a parent company, subsidiary company or related company of that registered person, (2) a subsidiary company of a parent company of that registered person, (3) a parent company of a subsidiary company of that registered person or (4) a controlling shareholder of that registered person, which is a person who either alone or with any associate or associates, holds 50% or more of the shares of that registered person or is entitled to exercise, or control the exercise of, more than 50% of the voting power at a general meeting of shareholders of that registered person. If it appears to the Bermuda Monetary Authority that there is a risk of a regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiary becoming insolvent, or that a regulated Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiary is in breach of the Insurance Act or any conditions imposed upon its registration, the Bermuda Monetary Authority may, among other things, direct such subsidiary (1) not to take on any new insurance business, (2) not to vary any insurance contract if the effect would be to increase its liabilities, (3) not to make certain investments, (4) to liquidate certain investments, (5) to maintain in, or transfer to the custody of a specified bank, certain assets, (6) not to declare or pay any dividends or other distributions or to restrict the making of such payments and/or (7) to limit such subsidiary s premium income.

*Disclosure of Information.* In addition to powers under the Insurance Act to investigate the affairs of an insurer, the Bermuda Monetary Authority may require insurers and other persons to furnish information to the Bermuda Monetary Authority. Further, the Bermuda Monetary Authority has been given powers to assist other regulatory authorities, including foreign insurance regulatory authorities, with their investigations involving insurance and reinsurance companies in Bermuda. Such powers are subject to restrictions. For example, the Bermuda Monetary Authority must be satisfied that the assistance being requested is in connection with the discharge of regulatory responsibilities of the foreign regulatory authority. Further, the Bermuda Monetary Authority must consider whether cooperation is in the public interest. The grounds for disclosure are limited and the Insurance Act provides sanctions for breach of the statutory duty of confidentiality. Under the Companies Act, the Minister of Finance has been given powers to assist a foreign regulatory authority that has requested assistance in connection with inquiries being carried out by it in the performance of its regulatory functions. The Minister s powers include requiring a person to furnish him or her with

information, to produce documents to him or her, to attend and answer questions and to give assistance in connection with inquiries. The Minister must be satisfied that the assistance requested by the foreign regulatory authority is for the

purpose of its regulatory functions and that the request is in relation to information in Bermuda which a person has in his possession or under his control. The Minister must consider, among other things, whether it is in the public interest to give the information sought.

*Certain Other Bermuda Law Considerations.* Although Castlewood is incorporated in Bermuda, it is classified as a non-resident of Bermuda for exchange control purposes by the Bermuda Monetary Authority. Pursuant to its non-resident status, Castlewood may engage in transactions in currencies other than Bermuda dollars and there are no restrictions on its ability to transfer funds (other than funds denominated in Bermuda dollars) in and out of Bermuda or to pay dividends to U.S. residents who are holders of its ordinary shares.

Under Bermuda law, exempted companies are companies formed for the purpose of conducting business outside Bermuda from a principal place of business in Bermuda. As exempted companies, neither Castlewood nor any of its regulated Bermuda subsidiaries may, without the express authorization of the Bermuda legislature or under a license or consent granted by the Minister of Finance, participate in certain business transactions, including: (1) the acquisition or holding of land in Bermuda (except that held by way of lease or tenancy agreement which is required for its business and held for a term not exceeding 50 years, or which is used to provide accommodation or recreational facilities for its officers and employees and held with the consent of the Bermuda Minister of Finance, for a term not exceeding 21 years), (2) the taking of mortgages on land in Bermuda to secure an amount in excess of \$50,000, or (3) the carrying on of business of any kind for which it is not licensed in Bermuda, except in limited circumstances such as doing business with another exempted undertaking in furtherance of its business carried on outside Bermuda. Each of Castlewood s regulated Bermuda subsidiaries is a licensed insurer in Bermuda, and, as such, may carry on activities from Bermuda that are related to and in support of its insurance business.

Ordinary shares may be offered or sold in Bermuda only in compliance with the provisions of the Investment Business Act 2003 of Bermuda, which regulates the sale of securities in Bermuda. In addition, the Bermuda Monetary Authority must approve all issues and transfers of securities of a Bermuda exempted company. Where any equity securities (meaning shares which entitle the holder to vote for or appoint one or more directors or securities which by their terms are convertible into shares which entitle the holder to vote for or appoint one or more directors) of a Bermuda company are listed on an appointed stock exchange (which includes Nasdaq) the Bermuda Monetary Authority has given general permission for the issue and subsequent transfer of any securities of the company from and/or to a non-resident for so long as any such equity securities of the company remain so listed.

The Bermuda government actively encourages foreign investment in exempted entities like Castlewood and its regulated Bermuda subsidiaries that are based in Bermuda, but which do not operate in competition with local businesses. Castlewood and its regulated Bermuda subsidiaries are not currently subject to taxes computed on profits or income or computed on any capital asset, gain or appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax or to any foreign exchange controls in Bermuda.

Under Bermuda law, non-Bermudians (other than spouses of Bermudians, holders of a permanent resident s certificate or holders of a working resident s certificate) may not engage in any gainful occupation in Bermuda without an appropriate governmental work permit. Work permits may be granted or extended by the Bermuda government upon showing that, after proper public advertisement in most cases, no Bermudian (or spouse of a Bermudian, holder of a permanent resident s certificate or holder of a working resident s certificate) is available who meets the minimum standard requirements for the advertised position. In 2004, the Bermuda government announced a new immigration policy limiting the duration of work permits to six years, with specified exemptions for key employees. The categories of key employees include senior executives (chief executive officers, presidents through vice presidents), managers with global responsibility, senior financial posts (treasurers, chief financial officers through controllers, specialized qualified accountants, quantitative modeling analysts), certain legal professionals (general counsels, specialist attorneys, qualified legal librarians and knowledge managers), senior insurance professionals (senior underwriters, senior claims adjusters), experienced/specialized brokers, actuaries, specialist investment traders/analysts and senior information technology engineers/managers. All of Castlewood s executive officers who work in its Bermuda office have obtained work permits.

## United States

Castlewood has four indirect wholly-owned non-insurance subsidiaries organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. Each of these entities provides services to the insurance industry including the management of insurance portfolios in run-off and forensic claims inspection. Castlewood s United States subsidiaries are not subject to regulation in the United States as insurance companies, and are generally not subject to other insurance regulations.

If Castlewood acquires insurance or reinsurance run-off operations in the United States, those subsidiaries operating in the United States would be subject to extensive regulation.

# United Kingdom

*General.* On December 1, 2001, the U.K. Financial Services Authority, or the FSA, assumed its full powers and responsibilities as the single statutory regulator responsible for regulating the financial services industry in respect of the carrying on of regulated activities (including deposit taking, insurance, investment management and most other financial services business by way of business in the U.K.), with the purpose of maintaining confidence in the U.K. financial system, providing public understanding of the system, securing the proper degree of protection for consumers and helping to reduce financial crime. It is a criminal offense for any person to carry on a regulated activity in the U.K. unless that person is authorized by the FSA and has been granted permission to carry on that regulated activity or falls under an exemption.

Insurance business (which includes reinsurance business) is authorized and supervised by the FSA. Insurance business in the United Kingdom is divided between two main categories: long-term insurance (which is primarily investment-related) and general insurance. It is not possible for an insurance company to be authorized in both long-term and general insurance business. These two categories are both divided into classes (for example: permanent health and pension fund management are two classes of long-term insurance; damage to property and motor vehicle liability are two classes of general insurance). Under the Financial, Services and Markets Act 2000, or the FSMA, effecting or carrying out contracts of insurance, within a class of general or long-term insurance, by way of business in the United Kingdom, constitutes a regulated activity requiring individual authorization. An authorized insurance company must have permission for each class of insurance business it intends to write.

Certain of Castlewood s regulated U.K. subsidiaries, as authorized insurers, would be able to operate throughout the E.U., subject to certain regulatory requirements of the FSA and in some cases, certain local regulatory requirements. An insurance company with FSA authorization to write insurance business in the United Kingdom can seek consent from the FSA to allow it to provide cross-border services in other member states of the E.U. As an alternative, FSA consent may be obtained to establish a branch office within another member state. Although in run-off, Castlewood s regulated U.K. subsidiaries remain regulated by the FSA, but may not underwrite new business.

As FSA authorized insurers, the insurance and reinsurance businesses of Castlewood s regulated U.K. subsidiaries are subject to close supervision by the FSA. The FSA has implemented specific requirements for senior management arrangements, systems and controls of insurance and reinsurance companies under its jurisdiction, which place a strong emphasis on risk identification and management in relation to the prudential regulation of insurance and reinsurance business in the United Kingdom.

*Supervision.* The FSA carries out the prudential supervision of insurance companies through a variety of methods, including the collection of information from statistical returns, review of accountants reports, visits to insurance companies and regular formal interviews.

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

The FSA has adopted a risk-based approach to the supervision of insurance companies. Under this approach the FSA performs a formal risk assessment of insurance companies or groups carrying on business in the U.K. periodically. The periods between U.K. assessments vary in length according to the risk profile of the insurer. The FSA performs the risk assessment by analyzing information which it receives during the normal course of its supervision, such as regular prudential returns on the financial position of the insurance company, or which it acquires through a series of meetings with senior management of the insurance company. After each risk

assessment, the FSA will inform the insurer of its views on the insurer s risk profile. This will include details of any remedial action that the FSA requires and the likely consequences if this action is not taken.

Solvency Requirements. The Integrated Prudential Sourcebook requires that insurance companies maintain a required solvency margin at all times in respect of any general insurance undertaken by the insurance company. The calculation of the required margin in any particular case depends on the type and amount of insurance business a company writes. The method of calculation of the required solvency margin is set out in the Integrated Prudential Sourcebook, and for these purposes, all insurer s assets and liabilities are subject to specific valuation rules which are set out in the Integrated Prudential Sourcebook. Failure to maintain the required solvency margin is one of the grounds on which wide powers of intervention conferred upon the FSA may be exercised. For fiscal years ending on or after January 1, 2004, the calculation of the required solvency margin has been amended as a result of the implementation of the EU Solvency I Directives. In respect of liability business accepted, 150% of the actual premiums written and claims incurred must be included in the calculation, which has had the effect of increasing the required solvency margin of Castlewood s regulated U.K. subsidiaries. Castlewood continuously monitors the solvency capital position of the U.K. subsidiaries and maintains capital in excess of the required solvency margin.

Each insurance company writing various classes of business is required by the Integrated Prudential Sourcebook to maintain equalization provisions calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Integrated Prudential Sourcebook.

Insurers are required to calculate an Enhanced Capital Requirement, or ECR, in addition to their required solvency margin. This represents a more risk-sensitive calculation than the previous required solvency margin requirements and is used by the FSA as its benchmark in assessing its Individual Capital Adequacy Standards. Insurers must maintain financial resources which are adequate, both as to amount and quality, to ensure that there is no significant risk that its liabilities cannot be met as they come due. In order to carry out the assessment as to the necessary financial resources that are required, insurers are required to identify the major sources of risk to its ability to meet its liabilities as they come due, and to carry out stress and scenario tests to identify an appropriate range of realistic adverse scenarios in which the risk crystallizes and to estimate the financial resources needed in each of the circumstances and events identified. In addition, the FSA gives Individual Capital Guidance, or ICG, regularly to insurers and reinsurers following receipt of individual capital assessments, prepared by firms themselves. The FSA s guidance may be that a company should hold more or less than its then current level of regulatory capital, or that the company s regulatory capital should remain unaltered. Castlewood calculated the ECR for its regulated U.K. subsidiaries for the period ended December 31, 2005 and submitted those calculations in April 2006 to the FSA as part of their statutory filings. In all instances, Castlewood s U.K. subsidiaries had capital in excess of their ECR requirements.

In addition, an insurer (other than a pure reinsurer) that is part of a group is required to perform and submit to the FSA a solvency margin calculation return in respect of its ultimate parent undertaking, in accordance with the FSA s rules. This return is not part of an insurer s own solvency return and hence will not be publicly available. Although there is no requirement for the parent undertaking solvency calculation to show a positive result, the FSA may take action where it considers that the solvency of the insurance company is or may be jeopardized due to the group solvency position. Further, an insurer is required to report in its annual returns to the FSA all material related party transactions (e.g., intra group reinsurance, whose value is more than 5% of the insurer s general insurance business amount).

*Restrictions on Dividend Payments.* U.K. company law prohibits Castlewood s regulated U.K. subsidiaries from declaring a dividend to their shareholders unless they have profits available for distribution. The determination of whether a company has profits available for distribution is based on its accumulated realized profits less its accumulated realized losses. While the United Kingdom insurance regulatory laws impose no statutory restrictions on a general insurer s ability to declare a dividend, the FSA strictly controls the maintenance of each insurance company s required solvency margin within its jurisdiction. The FSA s rules require Castlewood s regulated U.K. subsidiaries to

obtain FSA approval for any proposed or actual payment of a dividend.

*Reporting Requirements.* U.K. insurance companies must prepare their financial statements under the Companies Act of 1985 (as amended), which requires the filing with Companies House of audited financial statements and related reports. In addition, U.K. insurance companies are required to file with the FSA regulatory returns, which include a revenue account, a profit and loss account and a balance sheet in prescribed forms. Under the Interim Prudential Sourcebook for Insurers, audited regulatory returns must be filed with the FSA within two months and 15 days (or three months where the delivery of the return is made electronically). Castlewood s regulated U.K. insurance subsidiaries are also required to submit abridged quarterly information to the FSA.

*Supervision of Management.* The FSA closely supervises the management of insurance companies through the approved persons regime, by which any appointment of persons to perform certain specified controlled functions within a regulated entity, must be approved by the FSA.

*Change of Control.* FSMA regulates the acquisition of control of any U.K. insurance company authorized under FSMA. Any company or individual that (together with its or his associates) directly or indirectly acquires 10% or more of the shares in a U.K. authorized insurance company or its parent company, or is entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 10% or more of the voting power in such authorized insurance company or its parent company, would be considered to have acquired control for the purposes of the relevant legislation, as would a person who had significant influence over the management of such authorized insurance company or its parent company by virtue of his shareholding or voting power in either. A purchaser of 10% or more of Castlewood s ordinary shares would therefore be considered to have acquired control of Castlewood s regulated U.K. subsidiaries.

Under FSMA, any person proposing to acquire control over a U.K. authorized insurance company must give prior notification to the FSA of his intention to do so. The FSA would then have three months to consider that person s application to acquire control. In considering whether to approve such application, the FSA must be satisfied that both the acquirer is a fit and proper person to have such control and that the interests of consumers would not be threatened by such acquisition of control. Failure to make the relevant prior application could result in action being taken against Castlewood by the FSA.

*Intervention and Enforcement.* The FSA has extensive powers to intervene in the affairs of an authorized person, culminating in the ultimate sanction of the removal of authorization to carry on a regulated activity. FSMA imposes on the FSA statutory obligations to monitor compliance with the requirements imposed by FSMA, and to enforce the provisions of FSMA-related rules made by the FSA. The FSA has power, among other things, to enforce and take disciplinary measures in respect of breaches of both the Interim Prudential Sourcebook for Insurers and breaches of the conduct of business rules generally applicable to authorized persons.

The FSA also has the power to prosecute criminal offenses arising under FSMA, and to prosecute insider dealing under Part V of the Criminal Justice Act of 1993, and breaches of money laundering regulations. The FSA s stated policy is to pursue criminal prosecution in all appropriate cases.

*Passporting.* European Union directives allow Castlewood s regulated U.K. subsidiaries to conduct business in European Union states other than the United Kingdom in compliance with the scope of permission granted these companies by the FSA without the necessity of additional licensing or authorization in other European Union jurisdictions. This ability to operate in other jurisdictions of the European Union on the basis of home state authorization and supervision is sometimes referred to as passporting. Insurers may operate outside their home member state either on a services basis or on an establishment basis. Operating on a services basis means that the company conducts permitted businesses in the host state without having a physical presence there, while operating on an establishment basis means the company has a branch or physical presence in the host state. In both cases, a company remains subject to regulation by its home regulator, and not by local regulatory authorities, although the company nonetheless may have to comply with certain local rules. In addition to European Union member states,

Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein (members of the broader European Economic Area) are jurisdictions in which this passporting framework applies.

## Belgium and Austria

Castlewood indirectly owns, through B.H. Acquisition, Paget Holdings Limited, or Paget, an Austrian holding company, which owns Compagnie Européenne d Assurances Industrielles S.A., or CEAI, a registered reinsurer domiciled in Belgium. CEAI currently is in run-off and does not write new business. The insurance operations of CEAI are subject to Belgian insurance laws. CEAI is required to comply with the terms of its registration and any other conditions the banking, finance and insurance commission may impose from time to time. Under the applicable insurance laws and regulations, the banking, finance and insurance commission must be informed about and approve the management structure, the directors, and current management. The banking, finance and insurance commission also regulates solvency and certain operations and activities of Belgian insurers.

Paget is generally subject to the laws of Austria. Because the principal activity of Paget is owning CEAI, Paget is not required to be licensed by Austrian authorities.

## Switzerland and Luxembourg

Castlewood indirectly owns Harper Holding SARL, or Harper Holding, a Luxembourg holding company, which owns Harper Insurance Limited, or Harper Insurance, a reinsurer domiciled in Switzerland. Because the activities of Harper Insurance are limited to reinsurance run-off, it is not required to be licensed by Swiss authorities.

Harper Holding is a private limited liability company, incorporated under the laws of the Grand-Duchy of Luxembourg, generally subject to the laws of Luxembourg. Because the principal activity of Harper Holding is owning Harper Insurance, Harper Holding is not required to be licensed by Luxembourg authorities.

### Barbados

Castlewood indirectly owns Denman Holdings Limited, or Denman, a Barbados holding company. Denman is generally subject to the laws of Barbados. Because Denman is dormant and does not own any insurance or reinsurance companies, it is not subject to Barbados laws that regulate insurance companies.

# Competition

Castlewood competes in international markets with domestic and international reinsurance companies to acquire and manage reinsurance companies in run-off. The acquisition and management of reinsurance companies in run-off is highly competitive. Some of these competitors have greater financial resources than Castlewood, have been operating for longer than Castlewood and have established long-term and continuing business relationships throughout the reinsurance industry, which can be a significant competitive advantage. As such, Castlewood may not be able to compete successfully in the future for suitable acquisition candidates or run-off portfolio management engagements.

# Employees

As of September 30, 2006, Castlewood had approximately 189 employees, 4 of whom were executive officers. All non-Bermudian employees who operate out of Castlewood s Bermuda office are subject to approval of any required work permits. None of Castlewood s employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements, and its management believes that its relationship with its employees is excellent.

## **Properties**

Castlewood leases office space in the locations set forth below. Castlewood believes that this office space is sufficient for the conduct of its business.

Entity	Location	<b>Square Feet</b>	Lease Expiration	
Castlewood Limited	Hamilton, Bermuda	8,250	August 7, 2009	
Castlewood (EU) Limited	Guildford, England	11,498	March 31, 2007	
River Thames Insurance Company	London, England	6,329	March 24, 2015	
Castlewood Limited	Dublin, Ireland	670	January 1, 2007	
Castlewood (US) Inc.	Tampa, FL	8,859	October 31, 2008	
Castlewood (US) Inc.	New York, NY	378	October 30, 2014	

Castlewood owns two apartments in Guildford, England. Castlewood (US) Inc. owns one apartment in New York, NY. Each of these apartments are for use by Castlewood employees while visiting these locations for business purposes.

# Litigation

Castlewood is, from time to time, involved in various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business, including litigation regarding claims. Castlewood does not believe that the resolution of any currently pending legal proceedings, either individually or taken as a whole, will have a material adverse effect on its business, results of operations or financial condition. Nevertheless, Castlewood cannot assure you that lawsuits, arbitrations or other litigation will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results of operations. Castlewood anticipates that, similar to the rest of the insurance and reinsurance industry, it will continue to be subject to litigation and arbitration proceedings in the ordinary course of business, including litigation generally related to the scope of coverage with respect to A&E claims. There can be no assurance that any such future litigation will not have a material adverse effect on Subject to litigation or results of operations.

# **Directors of Castlewood**

The names and ages of the current directors of Castlewood are set forth below.

Name	Age
Dominic F. Silvester	46
Paul J. O Shea	49
John J. Oros	59
Nimrod T. Frazer	77
J. Christopher Flowers	49
Cheryl D. Davis	47
James D. Carey	40
Meryl D. Hartzband	52

The backgrounds of Dominic F. Silvester, Paul J. O Shea, John J. Oros and J. Christopher Flowers are described in Management of New Enstar Following the Merger and Other Information Directors and Executive Officers of New

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

Enstar, beginning on page 173. The backgrounds of Nimrod T. Frazer and Cheryl D. Davis are described in Information About Enstar, beginning on page 158.

James D. Carey is a Principal of Stone Point Capital LLC. Prior to the formation of Stone Point Capital LLC in 2005, Mr. Carey was a Principal of MMC Capital. Before joining MMC Capital in 1997, Mr. Carey was an Associate in the Financial Institutions Group at Merrill Lynch & Co. Mr. Carey is also a director of The ARC Group LLC, Mercator Risk Services, Inc., Paris Re Holdings Limited, Privilege Underwriters, Inc. and Signal Holdings LLC.

110

Meryl D. Hartzband is the Chief Investment Officer of Stone Point Capital LLC. Prior to the formation of Stone Point Capital LLC in 2005, Ms. Hartzband was the Investment Director of MMC Capital. Before joining MMC Capital in 1999, Ms. Hartzband was a Managing Director at J.P. Morgan & Co. for 16 years. Ms. Hartzband is also a director of CWI Holdings, Inc. (CompWest), Harbor Point Limited, Wilton Re Holdings Limited and ZC Sterling Corporation.

### Executive Compensation Castlewood Executive Officers

The following sets forth summary information concerning the compensation paid by Castlewood to Messrs. Silvester, O Shea, Packer and Harris during the last three fiscal years.

### Management Compensation Summary

		Annual Co	ompensation		Long-Term Compensation Awards Securities			
Name	Year	Salary \$	Bonus \$ (	Other Annual Compensation	Restricted Stock (1) Units	Stoc	k	ll Other pensation(2)
Dominic F. Silvester, President and Chief Executive Officer Paul J. O Shea, Executive Vice President Nicholas A. Packer, Executive Vice-President Richard J. Harris,	2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003 2005	\$ 549,174 522,123 449,625 384,040 363,125 350,000 429,354 408,205 351,525 363,125	\$ 631,291 750,000 1,500,000 315,646 500,000	72,000		\$	\$	38,438 37,332 32,373 38,404 36,313 35,000 38,438 37,332 32,373 36,313
Chief Financial Officer	2004 2003	350,000 204,167	200,000	37,500		3)		35,000 11,667

(1) Housing allowances.

- (2) Contributions to retirement savings plan.
- (3) Represents the dollar value of restricted shares based on the book value of such at the time of issuance of \$5,049 per share. The shares vest in five equal annual installments beginning April 7, 2005, contingent on continued employment on these dates.

# Equity Compensation Plan Information

Castlewood currently has in place a discretionary bonus plan whereby 15% of its after-tax income is available to be paid to its employees. In addition, Castlewood has an employee share incentive plan whereby up to 7.5% of the outstanding ordinary shares of Castlewood can be awarded to employees. These plans will be terminated upon

# Table of Contents

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

completion of the merger and will be replaced by the plans described below.

# Equity Incentive Plan

On September 15, 2006, Castlewood s board of directors and shareholders adopted the Castlewood Holdings Limited 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, or the Equity Incentive Plan. No incentive awards have been awarded under the Equity Incentive Plan, and 1,200,000 ordinary shares were reserved for future awards under the Equity Incentive Plan. Castlewood does not intend to make any award grants under the Equity Incentive Plan prior to the consummation of the merger. The following description is qualified in its entirety by the form of the Equity Incentive Plan filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part.

111

## Purpose of the Equity Incentive Plan

The Equity Incentive Plan is intended to provide a means whereby Castlewood may, through the grant of awards to employees, consultants and non-employee directors, attract and retain such individuals and motivate them to exercise their best efforts on behalf of Castlewood and its related companies.

## Administration of the Equity Incentive Plan

The Equity Incentive Plan will be administered by a Compensation Committee appointed by Castlewood s board of directors, or the Plan Committee. Castlewood s board of directors intends that the Plan Committee will be composed of directors who qualify as non-employee directors within the meaning of Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange Act, as outside directors within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code and as independent directors within the meaning of Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15). The Plan Committee has the power in its discretion to grant awards under the Equity Incentive Plan, to determine the terms of awards, to interpret the provisions of the Equity Incentive Plan and to take action as it deems necessary or advisable for the administration of the Equity Incentive Plan.

## Number of Authorized Shares

The Equity Incentive Plan provides for awards with respect to a maximum of 1,200,000 ordinary shares. The number and class of shares available under the Equity Incentive Plan and/or subject to outstanding awards shall be adjusted, as deemed appropriate, by the Plan Committee to prevent dilution or enlargement of rights in the event of various changes in our capitalization. Ordinary shares attributable to cancelled, forfeited or terminated awards under the Equity Incentive Plan will again be available for grant under the Equity Incentive Plan.

# Eligibility and Participation

Eligibility to participate in the Equity Incentive Plan is limited to the employees, consultants and non-employee directors of Castlewood and any subsidiary of Castlewood (each, a participant ).

### Type of Awards under the Equity Incentive Plan

The Equity Incentive Plan provides that awards may be granted to participants in any of the following forms, subject to such terms, conditions and provisions as the Plan Committee may provide: (i) incentive stock options, or ISOs, (ii) nonstatutory stock options, or NSOs, (iii) stock appreciation rights, or SARs, (iv) Restricted Share Awards, (v) Restricted Share Units, or RSUs, (vi) Bonus Shares and (vii) Dividend Equivalents.

The aggregate number of ordinary shares subject to each of the following types of awards granted to an employee during any calendar year under the plan is 120,000 shares: options, SARs, restricted shares awards and RSUs with performance-based vesting criteria, and Bonus Shares.

### Grant of Options and SARs

The Plan Committee may award ISOs and/or NSOs, or, collectively, Options, and SARs to participants.

*Exercise Price*. The exercise price with respect to an Option is determined by the Plan Committee at the time of grant. At the time of grant of a SAR, the Plan Committee will specify the base price of the ordinary shares to be issued for determining the amount of cash, number of ordinary shares or combination thereof to be distributed upon the exercise of such SAR. In no event will the exercise price or base price be less than the fair market value of an ordinary share on the date of grant.

*Vesting.* Unless otherwise determined at the time of grant by the Plan Committee, Options and SARs shall vest and become exercisable in three equal annual installments on the first, second and third anniversaries of the grant date.

*Special Limitations on ISOs.* ISOs may only be granted to employees and may not be exercisable more than ten years after the grant date. No ISO may be granted to a participant who owns, at the time of the grant, shares representing more than 10% of the total combined voting power of all classes of our shares, or a 10% Shareholder, unless the per share exercise price per ordinary share subject to such ISO is at least 110% of the fair market value of a ordinary share on the date of grant and such ISO award is not exercisable more than five years after its date of grant. In addition, the total fair market value of ordinary shares subject to ISOs which are exercisable for the first time by an eligible participant in a given calendar year shall not exceed \$100,000, valued as of the date of the ISOs grant. ISOs may not be granted more than ten years after the date of adoption of the Equity Incentive Plan by our shareholders.

*Exercise of Options and SARs.* An Option may be exercised by written notice stating the number of ordinary shares with respect to which the Option is being exercised and tendering payment therefor. The Plan Committee may, at its discretion, accept previously owned or newly acquired (upon exercise) ordinary shares as payment (valued at their fair market value on the date of exercise) or through a broker assisted exercise.

SARs are exercisable only to the extent and only for the period determined by the Plan Committee. Upon the exercise of a SAR, the participant will be entitled to receive cash, ordinary shares or a combination thereof, with a value equal to (A) the excess of (i) the fair market value of one ordinary share as of the date the SAR is exercised over (ii) the specified base price, multiplied by (B) the number of ordinary shares subject to the portion of the SAR being exercised.

*Expiration of Options*. Options will expire at such time as the Plan Committee determines; provided, however, that no Option may be exercised more than ten years from the date of grant, provided that an ISO which is held by a 10% Shareholder may not be exercised more than five years from the date of grant.

*Termination of Service.* Unless otherwise determined by the Plan Committee at the time of grant and sets forth in the award agreement, if a participant terminates his or her service with Castlewood:

for cause (as defined in the Equity Incentive Plan), the participant will forfeit any unexercised options and SARs at the time of such termination and the Plan Committee may require that the participant to disgorge any profit, gain or other benefit received in respect of the exercise of any options and SARs for a period of up to twelve months prior to the termination of service;

by reason of approved retirement (as defined in the Equity Incentive Plan), the participant may exercise his or her vested options and SARs at any time prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration date specified for the award, or (ii) one year after the date of termination of service;

for any reason other than for cause, approved retirement, death or disability, the participant may exercise his or her vested options and SARs at any time prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration date specified for the award, or (ii) three months after the date of termination of service;

because the participant becomes disabled, the participant may exercise his or her vested options and SARs at any time prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration date specified for the award, or (ii) one year after the date of termination of service; and

as a result of death, or if the participant dies following his or her termination of service but prior to the expiration of the periods described above, the participant s estate, personal representative, or beneficiary may exercise the participant s vested options and SARs at any time prior to the earlier of (i) the expiration date specified for the award, or (ii) one year after the date of the participant s death.

# Restricted Share Awards

The Plan Committee may, in its sole discretion, make Restricted Share Awards by granting or selling ordinary shares under the Equity Incentive Plan. Each Restricted Share Award agreement shall set forth the applicable dates and/or events (including performance-based events) on which all or any portion of the Restricted Share Awards shall be vested and non-forfeitable. Holders of Restricted Share Awards shall have voting and dividend rights with respect to such shares (prior to them becoming non-forfeitable). Unless

otherwise determined by the Plan Committee, Restricted Share Awards shall become non-forfeitable on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

Unless the Plan Committee otherwise determines at the date of grant and sets forth in the award agreement, if a participant terminates his or her service with Castlewood:

by reason of death or disability, the restrictions applicable to the participants Restricted Share Awards will lapse;

for cause, any unvested Restricted Share Awards granted to the participant will be forfeited at the time of such termination, and the Plan Committee may require that the participant disgorge any profit, gain or other benefit received in respect of the lapse of restrictions on any prior grant of Restricted Share Award for a period of up to twelve months prior to the termination of service; and

for any other reason during the applicable vesting period, any unvested Restricted Share Award granted to the participant will be forfeited at the time of such termination.

### RSUs

The Plan Committee may award RSUs to participants, each representing one notional ordinary share. RSUs so awarded will be credited to an account established and maintained for the participant. Each RSU agreement shall set forth the applicable dates and/or events (including performance-based events) on or after which all or any portion of the RSU award may be vested and settled. Unless otherwise determined by the Plan Committee, RSUs shall vest on the third anniversary of the date of grant.

RSUs will be settled in ordinary shares, in cash equal to the value of the ordinary shares that would otherwise be distributed in settlement of such units, or a combination thereof. The Plan Committee may also grant Dividend Equivalents in tandem with RSUs, which, unless the Plan Committee decides otherwise, shall have (to the extent applicable) the same terms and conditions as the related RSUs.

Unless the Plan Committee otherwise determines at the date of grant and sets forth in the award agreement, if a participant terminates his or her service with Castlewood:

by reason of death or disability, the restrictions applicable to the participants RSUs will lapse;

for cause, any RSUs granted to the participant will be forfeited at the time of such termination, and the Plan Committee may require that the participant disgorge any profit, gain or other benefit received in respect of the lapse of restrictions on any prior grant of RSUs for a period of up to twelve months prior to the termination of service; and

for any other reason during the applicable vesting period, any RSUs granted to the participant will be forfeited at the time of such termination.

#### **Bonus Shares**

The Plan Committee may grant ordinary shares that are fully vested on the date of grant.

### Dividend Equivalents

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

The Plan Committee may grant a Dividend Equivalent award (that is not in tandem with any other award). Unless the Plan Committee determines otherwise, such Dividend Equivalents shall accumulate, vest and be paid on the third anniversary of the grant date, and shall thereafter continue to be paid (until the participant s termination of service or, if earlier, the expiration date of the award) on the same date as corresponding cash dividends are paid to shareholders.

## Nontransferability of Awards

Awards may not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated except in compliance with the Equity Incentive Plan and the agreement in which a stock-based award is made.

## Term of Equity Incentive Plan

Unless earlier terminated by our board of directors, the Equity Incentive Plan will terminate on September 15, 2016.

114

# Change in Control

Unless determined otherwise by the Plan Committee, in the event of a change in control each option and SAR then outstanding will become fully vested, and the restrictions will lapse as to each Restricted Share Award and each RSU then outstanding. In connection with a change in control, the Plan Committee may, in its sole discretion, provide that each option, SAR, Restricted Share Award and/or RSU be cancelled in exchange for a payment per share/unit in an amount based on the highest price per share paid in connection with the change in control or, in the case of a change in control occurring because of a change in the composition of the board of directors, the highest fair market value of the shares on any of the 30 trading days immediately before the change in control. In addition, unless determined otherwise by the Plan Committee, in the event of a change in control, any outstanding Restricted Share Award and RSU with performance based vesting criteria relating to performance periods ending before the change in control which have been earned but not paid will become immediately payable, all then-in-progress performance periods will end, and all participants will be deemed to have earned an award equal to the participant s target award opportunity for the period, and Castlewood may, in its discretion, pay all such awards either in control price.

For purposes of the Equity Incentive Plan, a change in control means the first to occur of any of the following events: (i) the acquisition by any person, entity or group required to file a Schedule 13D or Schedule 14D-1 under the Exchange Act (excluding, for this purpose, Castlewood, its subsidiaries, any employee benefit plan of Castlewood or its subsidiaries which acquires ownership of voting securities of Castlewood) of beneficial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) of 50% or more of either the then outstanding ordinary shares or the combined voting power of Castlewood s then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors; (ii) the election or appointment to the board of directors, or resignation of or removal from the board of directors with the result that the individuals, who as of the date the Equity Incentive Plan was adopted constituted the board, or the Incumbent Board, no longer constitute at least a majority of the board, provided that any person who becomes a director subsequent to the date the Equity Incentive Plan was adopted, whose appointment, election, or nomination for election by Castlewood s shareholders, was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the Incumbent Board (other than an appointment, election or nomination of an individual whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an actual or threatened election contest relating to the election of the directors of Castlewood) will be considered as though such person were a member of the Incumbent Board; or (iii) approval by the shareholders of Castlewood of: (i) a reorganization, merger or consolidation by reason of which persons who were the shareholders of Castlewood immediately prior to such reorganization, merger or consolidation do not, immediately thereafter, own more than 50% of the combined voting power of the reorganized, merged or consolidated company s then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, or (ii) a liquidation or dissolution of Castlewood or the sale, transfer, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of Castlewood (whether such assets are held directly or indirectly); and such transaction is consummated.

# Performance Based Compensation

The Plan Committee may require that Restricted Share Awards and/or RSUs must qualify as other performance based compensation within the meaning of Section 162(m)(4)(c) of the Code. If so required, the Plan Committee will (i) specify and approve the specific terms of any performance goals with respect to such awards in writing no later than 90 days from the commencement of the performance period to which the performance goals relate, and (ii) not be entitled to exercise any subsequent discretion otherwise authorized under the plan (such as the right to authorize payout at a level above that dictated by the achievement of the relevant performance goals) with respect to such award if the ability to exercise discretion (as opposed to the exercise of such discretion) would cause such award to fail to qualify as other performance based compensation. With respect to Restricted Share Awards and RSUs intended to the extent the applicable performance goals established by the Plan Committee for such awards have been achieved, as

certified by the Plan Committee prior to vesting of the award.

In creating the applicable performance goals, the Plan Committee will use one or more of the following business criteria: revenues, profit, consolidated net after-tax profit, income from operations, return on assets, return on net assets, return on equity, return on capital, market price appreciation of Castlewood s ordinary shares, economic value added, total shareholder return, net income, pre-tax income, earnings per share, operating profit margin, net income margin, cash flow, market share, revenue growth, net revenue growth, net income growth, expense control and hiring of personnel. The business criteria may apply to the individual, a division, or to Castlewood and/or one or more of its subsidiaries and may be weighted and expressed in absolute terms or relative to the performance of other individuals or companies or an index.

## Amendment and Termination

Our board of directors may suspend, amend, modify or terminate the Equity Incentive Plan, provided, however, that any amendment that increases the maximum number of ordinary shares available for issuance with respect to ISOs under the Equity Incentive Plan in the aggregate, modifies the material terms of a performance goal, or which materially changes the class of persons who are eligible for the grant of ISOs or for which shareholder approval is required under the rules of the exchange or market on which Castlewood s ordinary shares are listed or traded shall be subject to the approval of the holders of a majority of the ordinary shares.

Except as our board of directors may deem necessary or desirable in order to comply with any applicable law, approval of the holders of the ordinary shares shall not be required for any other amendment of the Equity Incentive Plan.

Awards granted prior to a termination of the Equity Incentive Plan shall continue in accordance with their terms following such termination. No amendment, suspension or termination of the Equity Incentive Plan shall adversely affect the rights of a participant in awards previously granted without such participant s consent.

### Federal Income Tax Consequences

The following is a brief description of the principal federal income tax consequences relating to options awarded under the Equity Incentive Plan. This summary is based on Castlewood s understanding of present federal income tax law and regulations. The summary does not purport to be complete or applicable to every specific situation.

# Consequences to Castlewood

There are no federal income tax consequences to Castlewood by reason of the grant of RSUs, SARs, options or the exercise of an ISO (other than disqualifying dispositions). At the time the participant recognizes ordinary income from the settlement of an RSU or the exercise of a NQSO or SAR, Castlewood will be entitled to a federal income tax deduction in the amount of the ordinary income recognized by the participant, provided that Castlewood satisfies its reporting obligations described below. To the extent the optionholder recognizes ordinary income by reason of a disqualifying disposition of the stock acquired upon exercise of an ISO, Castlewood will be entitled to a corresponding deduction in the year in which the disposition occurs. With respect to Restricted Share Awards, Castlewood will be entitled to a federal income tax deduction in the amount of the lapse of restrictions applicable to Restricted Share Award or the date of grant if an 83(b) election (described below) is timely filed, provided that Castlewood satisfies its reporting obligations described below.

Castlewood will be required to report to the Internal Revenue Service any ordinary income recognized by any participant. Castlewood will also be required to withhold income and employment taxes (and pay the employer s share of employment taxes) with respect to ordinary income recognized by the participant.

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

*Stock Options.* There will be no federal income tax consequences to the participant or Castlewood upon the grant of either an ISO or an NSO under the Equity Incentive Plan. Upon exercise of an NSO, a participant generally will recognize ordinary income in an amount equal to (i) the fair market value, on the date of

exercise, of the acquired ordinary shares less (ii) the exercise price of the NSO. Subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, Castlewood generally will be entitled to a tax deduction in the same amount.

Upon the exercise of an ISO, a participant recognizes no immediate taxable income. Income recognition is generally deferred until the participant sells the ordinary shares. If the ISO is exercised no later than three months after the termination of the participant s employment, and the participant does not dispose of the ordinary shares acquired pursuant to the exercise of the ISO within two years from the date the ISO was granted and within one year after the exercise of the ISO, the gain on the sale will be treated as long-term capital gain. Certain of these holding periods and employment requirements are liberalized in the event of a participant s death or disability while employed by Castlewood. Castlewood is not entitled to any tax deduction with respect to the exercise of ISOs, except that if the ordinary shares are not held for the full term of the holding periods outlined above, the gain on the sale of such ordinary shares, being the lesser of: (i) the fair market value of the ordinary shares on the date of exercise minus the exercise price or (ii) the amount realized on the sale minus the exercise price, will be taxed to the participant as ordinary income and, subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, Castlewood generally will be entitled to a deduction in the same amount. The excess of the fair market value of the ordinary shares acquired upon exercise of an ISO over the exercise price constitutes a tax preference item for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax under the Code.

*Stock Appreciation Rights.* There will be no federal income tax consequences to either the participant or Castlewood upon the grant of a SAR. However, the participant generally will recognize ordinary income upon the exercise of a SAR in an amount equal to the aggregate amount of cash and the fair market value of the ordinary shares received upon exercise. Subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, Castlewood generally will be entitled to a deduction equal to the amount includible in the participant s income.

*Restricted Share Awards.* Assuming the participant does not make an election under Section 83(b) of the Code (which election is discussed below), there will be no federal income tax consequences to either the participant or Castlewood upon the grant of restricted Share Awards until the shares become non-forfeitable. At that time, the participant generally will recognize taxable income equal to the then fair market value of the ordinary shares and, subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, Castlewood generally will be entitled to a corresponding deduction. However, under Section 83(b) of the Code, the participant may elect, within thirty days after the date of the grant, to recognize ordinary income as of the date of grant and Castlewood will be entitled to a corresponding deduction at that time.

*RSUs.* There will be no federal income tax consequences to the participant or Castlewood upon the grant of RSUs. Participants generally will recognize taxable income at the time when payment for the RSUs is received in an amount equal to the aggregate amount of cash and the fair market value of ordinary shares acquired. Subject to Section 162(m) of the Code, Castlewood generally will be entitled to a deduction equal to the amount includible in the participant s income.

*Bonus Shares.* Participants will generally recognize taxable income at the time Bonus Shares are awarded, in an amount equal to the aggregate fair market value of the ordinary shares on the date of grant. Castlewood, generally, will be entitled to a deduction in the same amount.

*Dividend Equivalents.* Participants will generally recognize taxable income at the time Dividend Equivalents are paid in an amount equal to the aggregate amount of cash and fair market value of ordinary shares acquired, and Castlewood, generally will be entitled to a deductible in the same amount.

*409A.* The Equity Incentive Plan is intended to be administered in a manner consistent with the requirements, where applicable, of Section 409A of the Code. Where reasonably possible and practicable, the plan will be administered in a manner to avoid the imposition on participants of immediate tax recognition and additional taxes pursuant to such

Section 409A.

## Annual Incentive Compensation Plan

On September 15, 2006, Castlewood s board of directors and shareholders adopted the Castlewood Holdings Limited 2006-2010 Annual Incentive Compensation Plan, or the Annual Incentive Plan. No awards have been granted under the Annual Incentive Plan. The following description of the Annual Incentive Plan is

117

qualified in its entirety by the form of the Annual Incentive Plan filed as an exhibit to this registration statement of which this proxy statement/prospectus is a part.

### Purpose of the Annual Incentive Plan

The purpose of the Annual Incentive Plan is to motivate certain officers, directors and employees of Castlewood and its subsidiaries to grow Castlewood s profitability.

### Administration of the Annual Incentive Plan

The Annual Incentive Plan will be administered by the Plan Committee.

#### Awards under the Annual Incentive Plan

The Annual Incentive Plan provides for the annual grant of bonus compensation, or a bonus award, to certain of officers and employees of Castlewood and its subsidiaries, including Castlewood s senior executive officers. Bonus awards for each calendar year from 2006 through 2010 will be determined based on Castewood s consolidated net after-tax profits. The Plan Committee shall determine the amount of bonus awards in any calendar year, based on a percentage of Castlewood s consolidated net after-tax profits. The plan Committee shall determine the amount of bonus awards in any calendar year, based on a percentage of Castlewood s consolidated net after-tax profits. The percentage will be 15% unless the Plan Committee exercises its discretion to change the percentage no later than 30 days prior to the last day of the calendar year. The Plan Committee will determine, in its sole discretion, the amount of Bonus Awards payable to each participant.

Bonus Awards are payable in cash, ordinary shares or a combination of both. Ordinary shares issued in connection with a bonus award will be issued pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions of the Equity Incentive Plan and the number of shares issued will be determined based on the fair market value of ordinary shares for the thirty calendar days preceding the grant of ordinary shares as a bonus award.

#### Amendment and Termination of the Annual Incentive Plan

The Annual Incentive Plan may be amended or terminated by Castlewood s board of directors at any time within 90 days of first day of any calendar year in which the Annual Incentive Plan is in effect.

### Castlewood Compensation Committee Interlocks

Mr. Silvester, Castlewood s Chief Executive Officer, serves as a member of Castlewood s compensation committee. Following the closing of the merger, Mr. Silvester will not serve on New Enstar s compensation committee and New Enstar s compensation committee will consist only of independent directors as such term is defined in Nasdaq Marketplace Rule 4200(a)(15).

#### **Recent Developments**

On June 16, 2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood entered into a definitive agreement with Dukes Place Holdings, L.P., a portfolio company of GSC Partners, for the purchase of a minority interest in a U.S. holding company that owns two property and casualty insurers based in the United States, both of which are in run-off. Completion of the transaction is conditioned on, among other things, governmental and regulatory approvals and satisfaction of various other closing conditions. As a consequence, Castlewood cannot predict if or when this transaction will be completed.

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

Also on June 16, 2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood entered into a definitive agreement for the purchase of Cavell Holdings Limited, or Cavell, a U.K. company, from Dukes Place Holdings, L.P. for a purchase price of approximately £31.8 million (approximately \$58.8 million). Cavell owns a U.K. reinsurance company and a Norwegian reinsurer, both of which are currently in run-off. Cavell had total consolidated assets of approximately £101 million at March 31, 2006, as reported in its U.K. regulatory statements. Castlewood completed this transaction on October 4, 2006. A wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood borrowed \$24.5 million under a facility loan agreement with a London-based bank to partially fund this acquisition. The interest rate on the loan is LIBOR plus 2% and the loan is repayable within four years.

118

On November 20, 2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood completed the acquisition of Unione Italiana (U.K.) Reinsurance Company Limited, a U.K. company, for a purchase price of \$17.2 million. The purchase price was funded from cash on hand.

### Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of Castlewood s financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with Castlewood s consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus. Management s Discussion and Analysis has been revised for the effects of the restatement discussed in Note 24 of the Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-30 of this document. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or included elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus, including information with respect to Castlewood s plans and strategy for its business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Castlewood s actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those anticipated by these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed under Risk Factors, Forward-Looking Statements and elsewhere in this proxy statement/prospectus.

## **Business** Overview

Castlewood was formed in August 2001 under the laws of Bermuda to acquire and manage insurance and reinsurance companies in run-off, and to provide management, consulting and other services to the insurance and reinsurance industry. In connection with Castlewood s formation, Enstar and Trident made an initial investment in Castlewood and the senior executives of Castlewood contributed their equity interests in Castlewood Limited.

Since its formation, Castlewood, through its subsidiaries, has completed several acquisitions of insurance and reinsurance companies and is now administering those businesses in run-off. Castlewood derives its net earnings from the ownership and management of these companies primarily by settling insurance and reinsurance claims below the recorded loss reserves and from returns on the portfolio of investments retained to pay future claims. In addition, Castlewood has formed other businesses that provide management and consultancy services, claims inspection services and reinsurance collection services to Castlewood affiliates and third-party clients for both fixed and success-based fees.

In the primary (or direct) insurance business, the insurer assumes risk of loss from persons or organizations that are directly subject to the given risks. Such risks may relate to property, casualty, life, accident, health, financial or other perils that may arise from an insurable event. In the reinsurance business, the reinsurer agrees to indemnify an insurance or reinsurance company, referred to as the ceding company, against all or a portion of the insurance risks arising under the policies the ceding company has written or reinsured. When an insurer or reinsurer stops writing new insurance business or a particular line of business, the insurer, reinsurer, or the line of discontinued business is in run-off.

In recent years, the insurance industry has experienced significant consolidation. As a result of this consolidation and other factors, the remaining participants in the industry often have portfolios of business that are either inconsistent with their core competency or provide excessive exposure to a particular risk or segment of the market (e.g., property/casualty, asbestos, environmental, director and officer liability, etc.). These non-core and/or discontinued portfolios are often associated with potentially large exposures and lengthy time periods before resolution of the last remaining insured claims resulting in significant uncertainty to the insurer or reinsurer covering those risks. These factors can distract management, drive up the cost of capital and surplus for the insurer or reinsurer, and negatively impact the insurer s or reinsurer s credit rating, which makes the disposal of the unwanted company or portfolio an attractive option. Alternatively, the insurer may wish to maintain the business on its balance sheet, yet not divert

significant management attention to the run-off of the portfolio. The insurer or reinsurer, in either case, is likely to engage a third party, such as Castlewood, that specializes in run-off management to purchase the company, or to manage the company or portfolio in run-off.

In the sale of a run-off company, a purchaser, such as Castlewood, typically pays a discount to the book value of the company based on the risks assumed and the relative value to the seller of no longer having to manage the company in run-off. Such a transaction can be beneficial to the seller because it receives an up-front payment for the company, eliminates the need for its management to devote any attention to the disposed company and removes the risk that the established reserves for the business may prove to be inadequate. The seller is also able to redeploy its management and financial resources to its core businesses.

Alternatively, if the insurer or reinsurer hires a third party, such as Castlewood, to manage its run-off business, the insurer or reinsurer will, unlike in a sale of the business, receive little or no cash up front. Instead, the management arrangement may provide that the insurer or reinsurer will share in the profits, if any, derived from the run-off with certain incentive payments allocated to the run-off manager. By hiring a run-off manager, the insurer or reinsurer can outsource the management of the run-off business to experienced and capable individuals, while allowing its own management team to focus on the insurer s or reinsurer s core businesses. Although Castlewood s desired approach to managing run-off business is to align its interests with the interests of the owners, under certain management arrangements to which Castlewood is a party, it only receives a fixed management fee and does not receive incentives.

Following the purchase of a run-off company or the engagement to manage a run-off company or portfolio of business, it is incumbent on the new owner or manager to conduct the run-off in a disciplined and professional manner in order to efficiently discharge liabilities associated with the business while preserving and maximizing its assets. Castlewood s approach to managing its acquired companies in run-off as well as run-off companies or portfolios of businesses on behalf of third-party clients includes negotiating with third-party insureds and reinsureds to commute their insurance or reinsurance agreement (sometimes called policy buy-backs) for an agreed upon up-front payment by Castlewood, or the third-party client, and to more efficiently manage payment of insurance and reinsurance claims. Castlewood attempts to commute policies with direct insureds or reinsureds in order to eliminate uncertainty over the amount of future claims. Castlewood also attempts, where appropriate, to negotiate favorable commutations with reinsurer s liability in respect of any future claims. Castlewood, or third-party client, is then fully responsible for any claims in the future. Castlewood typically invests proceeds from reinsurance commutations with the expectation that such investments will produce income, which, together with the principal, will be sufficient to satisfy future obligations with respect to the acquired company or portfolio.

With respect to its U.K. and Bermuda insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries, Castlewood is able to pursue strategies to achieve complete finality and conclude the run-off of a company by promoting solvent schemes of arrangement. Solvent schemes of arrangement, or a Solvent Scheme, have been a popular means of achieving financial certainty and finality, for insurance and reinsurance companies incorporated or managed in the U.K. and Bermuda by making a one-time full and final settlement of an insurance and reinsurance company s liabilities to policyholders. Such a Solvent Scheme is an arrangement between a company and its creditors or any class of them. For a Solvent Scheme to become binding on the creditors, a meeting of each class of creditors must be called, with the permission of the local court, to consider and, if thought fit, approve the Solvent Scheme. The requisite statutory majority of creditors of not less than 75% in value and 50% in number of those creditors actually attending the meeting, either in person or by proxy, must vote in favor of a Solvent Scheme. Once a Solvent Scheme has been approved by the statutory majority of voting creditors of the company it requires the sanction of the local court. While a Solvent Scheme provides an alternative exit strategy for run-off companies it is not Castlewood s strategy to make such acquisitions with this strategy solely in mind. Castlewood s preferred approach is to generate earnings from the disciplined and professional management of acquired run-off companies and then consider exit strategies, including a Solvent Scheme, when the majority of the run-off is complete. To understand risks associated with this strategy, see Risk Factors Risks Relating to New Enstar s Business Exit and finality opportunities provided by solvent schemes of arrangement may not continue to be available which may result in the increased length of time and associated cost run-off of our insurance

and reinsurance subsidiaries beginning on page 27.

Castlewood manages its business through two operating segments: reinsurance and consulting.

Castlewood s reinsurance segment comprises the operations and financial results of its insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. The financial results of this segment primarily consist of investment income less net reductions in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities, direct expenses (including certain premises costs and professional fees) and management fees paid to Castlewood s consulting segment.

Castlewood s consulting segment comprises the operations and financial results of those subsidiaries which provide management and consulting services, forensic claims inspections services and reinsurance collection services to third party clients. This segment also provides management services to the reinsurance segment in return for management fees. The financial results of this segment primarily consist of fee income less overhead expenses comprised of staff costs, information technology costs, certain premises costs, travel costs and certain professional fees.

As of December 31, 2005, Castlewood had \$1,200.0 million of total assets and \$260.9 million of shareholders equity. Castlewood operates its business internationally through its insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries and its consulting subsidiaries in the United Kingdom, the United States and Bermuda.

## Financial Statement Overview

## Consulting Fee Income

Castlewood generates consulting fees based on a combination of fixed and success-based fee arrangements. Consulting income will vary from period to period depending on the satisfaction and timing of completion of success-based fee arrangements. Success-based fees are recorded when targets related to overall project completion or profitability goals are achieved. Castlewood s consulting segment, in addition to providing services to third parties, also provides management services to Castlewood s reinsurance segment based on agreed terms set out in management agreements between the parties. The fees charged by the consulting segment to the reinsurance segment are eliminated against the cost incurred by the reinsurance segment on consolidation.

### Net Investment Income and Net Realized Gains/(Losses)

Castlewood s net investment income is principally derived from interest earned on cash and investments offset by investment management fees paid. Castlewood s investment portfolio currently consists of the following: (1) a bond portfolio that is classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized cost; (2) cash and cash equivalents; (3) other investments that are accounted for on the equity basis; and (4) mutual funds, whose underlying assets consist of investments having maturities of greater than six and less than twelve months when purchased, that are held as available-for-sale securities and are carried at fair value.

Castlewood s current investment strategy seeks to preserve principal and maintain liquidity while trying to maximize investment return through a high-quality, diversified portfolio. The volatility of claims and the effect they have on the amount of cash and investment balances, as well as the level of interest rates and other market factors, affect the return Castlewood generates on its investment portfolio. As it is Castlewood s current investment policy to hold its bond portfolio to maturity, and not to trade or have such portfolio available-for-sale, realized gains or losses are not expected to be generated on a regular basis. However, when Castlewood makes a new acquisition it will often restructure the acquired investment portfolio, which may generate one-time realized gains or losses.

The majority of cash and all of the investment balances are held within Castlewood s reinsurance segment.

Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Liabilities

Castlewood s insurance-related earnings are primarily comprised of reductions, or potentially increases, of net loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities. These liabilities are comprised of:

outstanding loss or case reserves, or OLR, which represent management s best estimate of the likely settlement amount for known claims, less the portion that can be recovered from reinsurers;

reserves for losses incurred but not reported, or IBNR reserves, which are reserves established by Castlewood for claims that are not yet reported but can reasonably be expected to have occurred based on industry information, management s experience and actuarial evaluation, less the portion that can be recovered from reinsurers; and

reserves for future loss adjustment expense liabilities which represent management s best estimate of the future costs of managing the run-off of claims liabilities.

Net loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities are reviewed by Castlewood s management each quarter and by independent actuaries annually. Reserves reflect management s best estimate of the remaining unpaid portion of these liabilities. Prior period estimates of net loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities may change as Castlewood s management considers the combined impact of commutations, policy buy-backs, settlement of losses on carried reserves and the trend of incurred loss development compared to prior forecasts.

Commutations provide an opportunity for Castlewood to exit exposures to entire policies with insureds and reinsureds at a discount to the previously estimated ultimate liability. Castlewood s internal and external actuaries eliminate all prior historical loss development that relates to commuted exposures and apply their actuarial methodologies to the remaining aggregate exposures and revised historical loss development information to reassess estimates of ultimate liabilities.

Policy buy-backs provide an opportunity for Castlewood to settle individual policies and losses usually at a discount to carried advised loss reserves. As part of Castlewood s routine claims settlement operations, claims will settle at either below or above the carried advised loss reserve. The impact of policy buy-backs and the routine settlement of claims updates historical loss development information to which actuarial methodologies are applied often resulting in revised estimates of ultimate liabilities. Castlewood s actuarial methodologies include industry benchmarking which, Critical Accounting Policies below), compares the trend of under certain methodologies (discussed further under Castlewood s loss development to that of the industry. To the extent that the trend of Castlewood s loss development compared to the industry changes in any period it is likely to have an impact on the estimate of ultimate liabilities. Additionally, consolidated net reductions, or potentially increases, in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities include reductions, or potentially increases, in the provisions for future losses and loss adjustment expenses related to the current period s run-off activity. Net reductions in net loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities are reported as negative expenses by Castlewood in its reinsurance segment. The unallocated loss adjustment expenses paid by the reinsurance segment comprise management fees paid to the consulting segment and are eliminated on consolidation. The consulting segment costs in providing run-off services are classified as salaries and general and administrative expenses. For more information on how the reserves are calculated, see Critical Accounting Policies Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses below.

As Castlewood s reinsurance subsidiaries are in run-off, its premium income is insignificant, consisting primarily of adjustment premiums triggered by loss payments.

### Salaries and Benefits

Castlewood is a service-based company and, as such, employee salaries and benefits are its largest expense. Castlewood has experienced significant increases in its salaries and benefits expenses as it has grown its operations, and it expects that trend to continue if it is able to successfully expand its operations.

In August 2004, Castlewood implemented an employee equity-based compensation plan. The plan allows for the award of Castlewood s Class D non-voting ordinary shares to certain employees up to a maximum of 7.5% of

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

Castlewood s total issued share capital. While Castlewood does not expect to issue any new shares under this plan following the closing of the merger, it has adopted a new equity incentive plan for its employees. Until January 1, 2006, Castlewood elected to follow Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. The intrinsic value method was used to account for stock-based employee compensation. Pursuant to ABP Opinion No. 25, compensation expense for employee

stock awards is measured at the fair value of the shares at the date of the grant and recognized as the awards vest using the straight-line method.

Castlewood adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R) Share Based Payments, or FAS 123(R), in accounting for its employee share awards effective January 1, 2006. FAS 123(R) requires compensation costs related to share-based payment transactions to be recognized in the financial statements based on the grant date fair value of the award. The adoption of FAS 123(R) did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements. On May 23, 2006, Castlewood entered into a merger agreement and a recapitalization agreement. As a result of the execution of these agreements, the accounting treatment for share-based awards issued under Castlewood s employee share plan changed from book value to fair value.

Castlewood also has in place a discretionary bonus plan whereby 15% of its after-tax profits are distributable to the employees of Castlewood. While this plan will be cancelled at the closing of the merger, Castlewood s board of directors and shareholders have adopted the Annual Incentive Plan which is expected to provide a similar level of incentive award to its employees, at least through 2010.

With the exception of the expense relating to the bonus plan, which is allocated to both the reinsurance and consulting segments, the costs of all employees of Castlewood are accounted for as part of the consulting segment.

## General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include rent and rent-related costs, professional fees (legal, investment, audit and actuarial) and travel expenses. Castlewood has operations in multiple jurisdictions and its employees travel frequently in connection with the search for acquisition opportunities and in the general management of the business. As a result of the proposed merger, Castlewood anticipates increases in personnel and, therefore, increases in related general and administrative expenses as well as additional professional fees associated with becoming subject to reporting regulations under the Exchange Act. While certain general and administrative expenses, such as rent and related costs and professional fees, are incurred directly by the reinsurance segment, the remaining general and administrative expenses are incurred by the consulting segment. To the extent that such costs incurred by the consulting segment relate to the management of the reinsurance segment, they are recovered by the consulting segment through the management fees charged to the reinsurance segment.

# Foreign Exchange Gain/(Loss)

Castlewood s reporting and functional currency is U.S. dollars. Through its subsidiaries, however, Castlewood holds a variety of foreign (non-U.S.) currency assets and liabilities, the principal exposures being Euros and British pounds. At each balance sheet date, recorded balances that are denominated in a currency other than U.S. dollars are adjusted to reflect the current exchange rate. Revenue and expense items are translated into U.S. dollars at average rates of exchange for the period. The resulting exchange gains or losses are included in Castlewood s net income. Castlewood seeks to manage its exposure to foreign currency exchange by broadly matching foreign currency assets against foreign currency liabilities.

### Share of Income of Partly-Owned Companies

Castlewood includes in its net income its proportionate share in the equity of earnings by companies in which it holds a significant influence. Such investments are carried on the equity basis whereby the investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted to reflect Castlewood s share of net earnings.

Income Tax/(Recovery)

Under current Bermuda law, Castlewood and its Bermuda-based subsidiaries are not required to pay taxes in Bermuda on either income or capital gains. These companies have received an undertaking from the Bermuda government that, in the event of income or capital gains taxes being imposed, they will be exempted

from such taxes until the year 2016. Castlewood s non-Bermuda subsidiaries record income taxes based on their graduated statutory rates, net of tax benefits arising from tax loss carryforwards.

### Minority Interest

The acquisitions of Hillcot Re Limited (formerly Toa-Re Insurance Company (UK) Limited) in March 2003 and of Brampton Insurance Company Limited (formerly Aioi Insurance Company of Europe Limited) in March 2006 were effected through Hillcot Holdings Limited, or Hillcot, a Bermuda-based company in which Castlewood has a 50.1% economic interest. The results of operations of Hillcot are included in Castlewood s consolidated statements of operations with the remaining 49.9% economic interest in the results of Hillcot reflected as a minority interest.

### Negative Goodwill

Negative goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of net assets acquired by Castlewood over the cost of such assets. In accordance with FAS 141 Business Combinations, this amount is recognized upon the acquisition of the assets as an extraordinary gain. The fair values of the reinsurance assets and liabilities acquired are derived from probability-weighted ranges of the associated projected cash flows, based on actuarially prepared information and Castlewood s management run-off strategy. Any amendment to the fair values resulting from changes in such information or strategy will be recognized when they occur. For more information on how the goodwill is determined, see Critical Accounting Policies Goodwill below.

### **Critical Accounting Policies**

Certain amounts in Castlewood s consolidated financial statements require the use of best estimates and assumptions to determine reported values. These amounts could ultimately be materially different than what has been provided for in Castlewood s consolidated financial statements. Castlewood considers the assessment of loss reserves and reinsurance recoverable to be the values requiring the most inherently subjective and complex estimates. In addition, the assessment of the possible impairment of goodwill involves certain estimates and assumptions. As such, the accounting policies for these amounts are of critical importance to Castlewood s consolidated financial statements.

### Loss and Loss Adjustment Expenses

The following table provides a breakdown of gross loss and loss adjustment expense reserves by type of exposure as of December 31, 2005 and 2004:

	2005				2004			
	OLR	IBNR	Total	OLR	IBNR	Total		
	(in thou	isands of U.S. 1	Dollars)	(in thousands of U.S. Dollars)				
Asbestos	\$ 149,023	\$ 297,807	\$ 446,830	\$ 201,497	\$ 400,692	\$ 602,189		
Environmental	43,477	87,772	131,249	51,776	89,329	141,105		
All Other	110,776	67,629	178,405	176,131	61,549	237,680		
Total	303,276	453,208	756,484	429,404	551,570	980,974		
	,	,		- / -		,		
ULAE			50,075			66,339		
Total			\$ 806,559			1,047,313		

Note: The All Other exposure category consists of a mix of casualty, property, marine, aviation and other miscellaneous long-tailed exposures.

The following table provides a breakdown of loss and loss adjustment expense reserves (net of reinsurance balances recoverable) by type of exposure as of December 31, 2005 and 2004:

	2005 2004 (in thousands of U.S. dollars)				
Asbestos Environmental Other		5,920\$ 411,4123,03767,6369,203257,612			
Total	\$ 593	3,160 \$ 736,660			

As of December 31, 2005, the IBNR reserves (net of reinsurance balances receivable) accounted for \$326.3 million, or 55.0%, of Castlewood s total loss reserves. The reserve for IBNR (net of reinsurance balance receivable) accounted for \$409.7 million, or 55.6%, of Castlewood s total loss reserves at December 31, 2004.

### Annual Loss and Loss Adjustment Reviews

Because a significant amount of time can lapse between the assumption of risk, the occurrence of a loss event, the reporting of the event to an insurance or reinsurance company and the ultimate payment of the claim on the loss event, the liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses is based largely upon estimates. Castlewood s management must use considerable judgment in the process of developing these estimates. The liability for unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses includes amounts determined from loss reports on individual cases and amounts for IBNR reserves. Such reserves are estimated by management based upon loss reports received from ceding companies, supplemented by Castlewood s own estimates of losses for which no ceding company loss reports have yet been received.

In establishing reserves, management also considers independent actuarial estimates of ultimate losses. Castlewood s actuaries employ generally accepted actuarial methodologies to estimate ultimate losses and loss adjustment expenses. A loss reserve study is prepared by an independent actuary annually in order to provide additional insight into the reasonableness of Castlewood s reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses.

As of December 31, 2005, 1996 was the most recent year in which policies were underwritten by any of Castlewood s insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries. As such, all of Castlewood s unpaid claims liabilities are considered to have a long-tail claims payout. Loss reserves primarily relate to casualty exposures, including latent claims, of which approximately 76% relate to asbestos and environmental exposures.

Within the annual loss reserve studies produced by Castlewood s external actuaries, exposures for each subsidiary are separated into homogeneous reserving categories for the purpose of estimating IBNR. Each reserving category contains either direct insurance or assumed reinsurance reserves and groups relatively similar types of risks and exposures (for example asbestos, environmental, casualty, property) and lines of business written (for example marine, aviation, non-marine). Based on the exposure characteristics and the nature of available data for each individual reserving category, a number of methodologies are applied. Recorded reserves for each category are selected from the indications produced by the various methodologies after consideration of exposure characteristics, data limitations and strengths and weaknesses of each method applied. This approach to estimating IBNR has been consistently adopted in the annual loss reserve studies for each period presented.

The ranges of gross loss and loss adjustment expense reserves implied by the various methodologies used by each of Castlewood s insurance subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 are:

	Low	Selected	High
Asbestos	\$ 335,122	\$ 446,830	\$ 464,703
Environmental	65,624	131,249	149,624
All Other	148,076	178,405	239,062
ULAE	50,075	50,075	50,075
Total	\$ 598,897	\$ 806,559	\$ 903,464

*Latent Claims.* Castlewood s loss reserves are largely related to casualty exposures including latent exposures primarily relating to asbestos and environmental exposure, or A&E. In establishing the reserves for unpaid claims, management considers facts currently known and the current state of the law and coverage litigation. Liabilities are recognized for known claims (including the cost of related litigation) when sufficient information has been developed to indicate the involvement of a specific insurance policy, and management can reasonably estimate its liability. In addition, reserves are established to cover loss development related to both known and unasserted claims.

The estimation of unpaid claim liabilities is subject to a high degree of uncertainty for a number of reasons. First, unpaid claim liabilities for property and casualty exposures in general are impacted by changes in the legal environment, jury awards, medical cost trends and general inflation. Moreover, for latent exposures in particular, developed case law and adequate claim history do not exist. There is significant coverage litigation related to these exposures, which creates further uncertainty in the estimation of the liabilities. As such, for these types of exposures, it is especially unclear whether past claim experience will be representative of future claim experience. Ultimate values for such claims cannot be estimated using reserving techniques that extrapolate losses to an ultimate basis using loss development factors, and the uncertainties surrounding the estimation of unpaid claim liabilities are not likely to be resolved in the near future. There can be no assurance that the reserves established by Castlewood will be adequate or will not be adversely affected by the development of other latent exposures.

Castlewood s asbestos claims are primarily products liability claims submitted by a variety of insureds who operated in different parts of the asbestos distribution chain. While most such claims arise from asbestos mining and primary asbestos manufacturers, it has also been receiving claims from tertiary defendants such as smaller manufacturers and the industry has seen an emerging trend of non-products claims arising from premises exposures. Unlike products claims, primary policies generally do not contain aggregate policy limits for premises claims, which, accordingly, remain at the primary layer and, thus, rarely impact excess insurance policies. As the vast majority of Castlewood s policies are excess policies, this trend has had only a marginal effect on our asbestos exposures thus far.

Asbestos reform efforts have been underway at both the federal and state level to address the cost and scope of asbestos claims to the American economy. While there is significant opposition to proposals for a federal trust fund that would replace the tort system for asbestos claims and the prospect for passage of such federal level reforms appears remote at present, several states including Texas and Florida have passed reforms based on medical criteria requiring certain levels of medically documented injury before a lawsuit can be filed, resulting in a drop of year-on-year case filings in those states adopting this reform measure.

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

Asbestos claims fall into two general categories: impaired and unimpaired bodily injury claims. Property damage claims represent only a small fraction of asbestos claims. Impaired claims primarily include individuals suffering from mesothelioma or a cancer such as lung cancer. Unimpaired claims include asbestosis and those whose lung regions contain pleural plaques. Unimpaired claims are not life threatening and do not cause changes to one s ability to function or to one s lifestyle.

Unlike traditional property and casualty insurers that either have large numbers of individual claims arising from personal lines such as auto, or small numbers of high value claims as in medical malpractice insurance lines, Castlewood s primary exposures arise from asbestos and environmental claims that do not follow a consistent pattern. For instance, Castlewood may encounter a small insured with one large environmental claim due to significant groundwater contamination, while a Fortune 500 company may submit

numerous claims for relatively small values. Moreover, there is no set pattern for the life of an environmental or asbestos claim. Some of these claims may resolve within two years whereas others have remained unresolved for nearly two decades. Therefore, Castlewood s open and closing claims data do not follow any identifiable or discernible pattern.

Furthermore, because of the reinsurance nature of the claims Castlewood manages, it focuses on the activities at the (re)insured level rather than at the individual claims level. The counterparties with whom Castlewood typically interacts are generally insurers or large industrial concerns and not individual claimants. Claims do not follow any consistent pattern. They arise from many insureds or locations and in a broad range of circumstances. An insured may present one large claim or hundreds or thousands of small claims. Plaintiffs counsel frequently aggregate thousands of claims within one lawsuit. The deductibles to which claims are subject vary from policy to policy and year to year. Often claims data is only available to reinsurers such as Castlewood on an aggregated basis. Accordingly, Castlewood has not found claim count information or average reserve amounts to be reliable indicators of exposure for its reserve estimation process or for management of its liabilities. Castlewood has found data accumulation and claims management more effective and meaningful at the (re)insured level rather than at the underlying claim level. As such we have designed our reserving methodologies to be independent of claim count information. As the level of exposures to a (re)insured can vary substantially, Castlewood focuses on the aggregate exposures and pursues commutations and policy buy-backs with the larger (re)insureds.

Castlewood employs approximately twenty-nine full time equivalent employees, including a qualified U.S. attorney, actuaries, and experienced claims-handlers to directly administer its asbestos and environmental liabilities. Castlewood has established a provision for future expenses of \$38.6 million, which reflects the total anticipated costs to administer these claims to expiration.

Castlewood s future asbestos loss development may be influenced by many factors including:

Onset of future asbestos-related illness in individuals exposed to asbestos over the past 50 or more years.

Future viability of the practice of resolving asbestos liability for defendant companies through bankruptcy.

Enactment of tort reforms establishing stricter medical criteria for asbestos awards.

Attempts to resolve all U.S.-related asbestos litigation through federal legislation.

The influence of each of these factors is not easily quantifiable and Castlewood s historical asbestos loss development is of limited value in determining future asbestos loss development using traditional actuarial reserving techniques.

Significant trends affecting insurer liabilities and reserves in recent years had little effect on environmental claims, except for claims arising out of damages to natural resources. New Jersey has pioneered the use of natural resources damages to advance further pursuit of funds from potentially responsible parties, or PRPs. A recent successful action against Exxon Mobil has increased the likelihood the use of natural resource damages will expand within New Jersey and perhaps other states. These actions target primary policies and will likely have less effect on excess carriers because damages, when awarded, are typically spread across many PRPs and across many policy years. As such, claims do not generally reach excess insurance layers.

Castlewood s future environmental loss development may also be influenced by other factors including:

Existence of currently undiscovered polluted sites eligible for clean-up under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) and related legislation.

Costs imposed due to joint and several liability if not all PRPs are capable of paying their share.

Success of legal challenges to certain policy terms such as the absolute pollution exclusion.

Potential future reforms and amendments to CERCLA, particularly as the resources of Superfund the funding vehicle, established as part of CERCLA, to provide financing for cleanup of polluted sites where no PRP can be identified become exhausted.

The influence of each of these factors is not easily quantifiable and, as with asbestos-related exposures, Castlewood s historical environmental loss development is of limited value in determining future environmental loss development using traditional actuarial reserving techniques.

Finally, the issue of lead paint liability represents a potential emerging trend in latent claim activity that could potentially lead to future reserve adjustments. After a series of successful defense efforts by defendant lead pigment manufacturers in lead paint litigation, a Rhode Island court, earlier this year, ruled in favor of the government in a nuisance claim against the defendant manufacturers. Although the damages portion of the case has yet to be decided, the plaintiff could receive a significant award. Further, there are similar pending claims in several jurisdictions including California. As policies do not generally contain exclusions for bodily injury or property damage arising from lead paint or lead pigment, there is the potential for significant impact to excess insurers if plaintiffs prevail in successive nuisance claims pending in other jurisdictions.

Castlewood s independent, external actuaries use industry benchmarking methodologies to estimate appropriate IBNR reserves for Castlewood s A&E exposures. These methods are based on comparisons of Castlewood s loss experience on A&E exposures relative to industry loss experience on A&E exposures. Estimates of IBNR are derived separately for each relevant Castlewood subsidiary and, for some subsidiaries, separately for distinct portfolios of exposure. The discussion that follows describes, in greater detail, the primary actuarial methodologies used by Castlewood s independent actuaries to estimate IBNR for A&E exposures.

In addition to the specific considerations for each method described below, many general factors are considered in the application of the methods and the interpretation of results for each portfolio of exposures. These factors include the mix of product types (e.g. primary insurance versus reinsurance of primary versus reinsurance of reinsurance), the average attachment point of coverages (e.g. first-dollar primary versus umbrella over primary versus high-excess), payment and reporting lags related to the international domicile of Castlewood subsidiaries, payment and reporting pattern acceleration due to large wholesale settlements (e.g. policy buy-backs and commutations) pursued by Castlewood, lists of individual risks remaining and general trends within the legal and tort environments.

1. *Paid Survival Ratio Method*. In this method, Castlewood s expected annual average payment amount is multiplied by an expected future number of payment years to get an indicated reserve. Castlewood s historical calendar year payments are examined to determine an expected future annual average payment amount. This amount is multiplied by an expected number of future payment years to estimate a reserve. Trends in calendar year payment activity are considered when selecting an expected future annual average payment amount. Accepted industry benchmarks are used in determining an expected number of future payment years. Each year, annual payments data is updated, trends in payments are re-evaluated and changes to benchmark future payment years are reviewed. This method has advantages of ease of application and simplicity of assumptions. A potential disadvantage of the method is that results could be misleading for portfolios of high excess exposures where significant payment activity has not yet begun.

2. *Paid Market Share Method.* In this method, Castlewood s estimated market share is applied to the industry estimated unpaid losses. The ratio of Castlewood s historical calendar year payments to industry historical calendar year payments is examined to estimate Castlewood s market share. This ratio is then applied to the estimate of industry unpaid losses. Each year, calendar year payment data is updated (for both Castlewood and industry), estimates of industry unpaid losses are reviewed and the selection of Castlewood s estimated market share is revisited. This method has the advantage that trends in calendar-year market share can be incorporated into the selection of company share of

remaining market payments. A potential disadvantage of this method is that it is particularly sensitive to assumptions regarding the time-lag between industry payments and Castlewood payments.

3. *Reserve-to-Paid Method.* In this method, the ratio of estimated industry reserves to industry paid-to-date losses is multiplied by Castlewood s paid-to-date losses to estimate Castlewood s reserves. Specific considerations in the application of this method include the completeness of Castlewood s paid-to-date loss information, the potential acceleration or deceleration in Castlewood s payments (relative to the industry) due to Castlewood s claims handling practices, and the impact of large individual settlements. Each year, paid-to-date loss information is updated (for both Castlewood and the industry) and updates to industry estimated reserves are reviewed. This method has the advantage of relying purely on paid loss data and so is not influenced by subjectivity of case reserve loss estimates. A potential disadvantage is that the application to Castlewood portfolios which do not have complete inception-to-date paid loss history could produce misleading results.

4. *IBNR:Case Ratio Method.* In this method, the ratio of estimated industry IBNR reserves to industry case reserves is multiplied by Castlewood s case reserves to estimate Castlewood IBNR reserves. Specific considerations in the application of this method include the presence of policies reserved at policy limits, changes in overall industry case reserve adequacy and recent loss reporting history for Castlewood. Each year, Castlewood case reserves are updated, industry reserves are updated and the applicability of the industry IBNR:case ratio is reviewed. This method has the advantage that it incorporates the most recent estimates of amounts needed to settle open cases included in current case reserves. A potential disadvantage is that results could be misleading where Castlewood case reserve adequacy differs significantly from overall industry case reserve adequacy.

5. *Ultimate-to-Incurred Method*. In this method, the ratio of estimated industry ultimate losses to industry incurred-to-date losses is applied to Castlewood incurred-to-date losses to estimate Castlewood s IBNR reserves. Specific considerations in the application of this method include the completeness of Castlewood s incurred-to-date loss information, the potential acceleration or deceleration in Castlewood s incurred losses (relative to the industry) due to Castlewood s claims handling practices and the impact of large individual settlements. Each year incurred-to-date loss information is updated (for both Castlewood and the industry) and updates to industry estimated ultimate losses are reviewed. This method has the advantage that it incorporates both paid and case reserve information in projecting ultimate losses. A potential disadvantage is that results could be misleading where cumulative paid loss data is incomplete or where Castlewood case reserve adequacy differs significantly from overall industry case reserve adequacy.

Under the Paid Survival Ratio Method, the Paid Market Share Method and the Reserve-to-Paid Method, we first determine the estimated total reserve and then deduct the reported outstanding case reserves to arrive at an estimated IBNR reserve. The IBNR:Case Ratio Method first determines an estimated IBNR reserve which is then added to the advised outstanding case reserves to arrive at an estimated total loss reserve. The Ultimate-to-Incurred Method first determines an estimate of the ultimate losses to be paid and then deducts paid-to-date losses to arrive at an estimated total loss reserve and then deducts outstanding case reserves to arrive at the estimated IBNR reserve.

Within the annual loss reserve studies produced by Castlewood s external actuaries, exposures for each subsidiary are separated into homogeneous reserving categories for the purpose of estimating IBNR. Each reserving category contains either direct insurance or assumed reinsurance reserves and groups relatively similar types of risks and exposures (for example asbestos, environmental, casualty, property) and lines of business written (for example marine, aviation, non-marine). Based on the exposure characteristics and the nature of available data for each individual reserving category, a number of methodologies are applied. Recorded reserves for each category are selected from the indications produced by the various methodologies after consideration of exposure characteristics, data limitations, and strengths and weaknesses of each method applied. This approach to estimating IBNR has been consistently adopted in the annual loss reserve studies for each period presented.

As of December 31, 2005, Castlewood has nine separate insurance and/or reinsurance subsidiaries whose reserves are categorized into approximately 170 reserve categories in total, including 15 distinct asbestos reserving categories and

18 distinct environmental reserving categories.

The five methodologies discussed above are applied for each of the 15 asbestos reserving categories and each of the 18 environmental reserving categories. As is common in actuarial practice, no one methodology is exclusively or consistently relied upon when selecting a recorded reserve. Consistent reliance on a single methodology to select a recorded reserve would be inappropriate in light of the dynamic nature of both the asbestos and environmental liabilities in general, and the actual Castlewood exposure portfolios in particular.

In selecting a recorded reserve, management considers the range of results produced by the methods, and the strengths and weaknesses of the methods in relation to the data available and the specific characteristics of the portfolio under consideration. Trends in both Castlewood data and industry data are also considered in the reserve selection process. Recent trends or changes in the relevant tort and legal environments are also considered when assessing methodology results and selecting an appropriate recorded reserve amount for each portfolio.

The following key assumptions were used to estimate Asbestos and Environmental reserves at December 31, 2005:

- 1. \$65 billion Ultimate Industry Asbestos losses this level of industry-wide losses and its comparison to industry-wide paid, incurred and outstanding case reserves is the base benchmarking assumption applied to Paid Market Share, Reserve-to-Paid, IBNR: Case Ratio and the Ultimate-to-Incurred asbestos reserving methodologies.
- 2. \$35 billion Ultimate Industry Environmental losses this level of industry-wide losses and its comparison to industry-wide paid, incurred and outstanding case reserves is the base benchmarking assumption applied to Paid Market Share, Reserve-to-Paid, IBNR: Case Ratio and the Ultimate-to-Incurred environmental reserving methodologies.
- 3. Loss reporting lag Castlewood s subsidiaries assumed a mix of insurance and reinsurance exposures generally through the London Market. As the available industry benchmark loss information, as supplied by our independent consulting actuaries, is compiled largely from U.S. direct insurance company experience, Castlewood s loss reporting is expected to lag relative to available industry benchmark information. This time-lag used by each of Castlewood s insurance subsidiaries varies between from 1 to 3 years depending on the relative mix of domicile, percentages of product mix of insurance, reinsurance and retrocessional reinsurance, primary insurance, excess insurance, reinsurance of direct, and reinsurance of reinsurance within any given exposure category. Exposure portfolios written from a non-U.S. domicile are assumed to have a greater time-lag than portfolios written from a U.S. domicile. Portfolios with a larger proportion of reinsurance exposures are assumed to have a greater time-lag than portfolios writen from a greater time-lag than portfolios written from a portfolios with a larger proportion of insurance exposures.

With one exception, the above assumptions have generally not changed from the immediately preceding annual review at December 31, 2004. The one material change related to a subsidiary acquired in late 2004. The estimate of loss reserves of such subsidiary at December 31, 2005 assumed a reduction in the loss-reporting lag from 3 years, used at December 31, 2004, to 2.35 years. This change in assumption was made based on additional analysis of the mix of reinsurance of direct versus reinsurance of reinsurance exposures within the portfolio of such subsidiary. While this had the effect of reducing gross reserves of such subsidiary by \$40 million, there was no material effect on net reserves due to an associated decrease in the recorded benefit of reinsurance protections.

The following tables provide a summary of the impact of changes in industry ultimate losses, from the selected \$65 billion for asbestos and \$35 billion for environmental, and changes in the time-lag, from the selected average of 2 years for the company behind industry development that it is assumed relates to the company s insurance and reinsurance companies. Please note that the table below demonstrates sensitivity to changes to key assumptions using methodologies selected for determining loss and ALAE at December 31,

2005 and differs from the table on page 126 which demonstrates the range of outcomes produced by the various methodologies.

Sensitivity to In	dustry Asbestos Ultimate Loss Assumption		bestos Gross oss Reserves
	billion (selected) billion	\$	446,830 380,805
Sensitivity to In	dustry Environmental Ultimate Loss Assumption	(	onmental Gross Reserves

Sensitivity to time-lag Assumption*	Asbestos Loss Reserves			Environmental Loss Reserves		
Selected average of 2 years (varies by portfolio from 1-3 years)	\$	446,830	\$	131,249		
Increase all portfolio lags by six months		478,239		136,797		
Decrease all portfolio lags by six months		417,237		128,557		

\* using \$65 billion/\$35 billion Asbestos/Environmental Industry Ultimate Loss assumptions

Industry publications indicate that the range of ultimate industry asbestos losses is estimated to be between \$55 billion and \$65 billion. Based on management s experience of substantial loss development on Castlewood asbestos exposure portfolios, Castlewood has selected the upper end of the range as the basis for its asbestos loss reserving. Although the industry publications suggest a low end of the range of industry ultimate losses of \$55 billion, Castlewood considers that unlikely and believes that it is more reasonable to assume that the lower end of this range of ultimate losses could be \$60 billion.

Guidance from industry publications is more varied in respect of estimates of ultimate industry environmental losses. Consistent with an industry published estimate, Castlewood believes the reasonable range for ultimate industry environmental losses is between \$30 billion and \$40 billion. Castlewood has selected the midpoint of this range as the basis for its environmental loss reserving based on advice supplied by its independent consulting actuaries. Another industry publication indicates that ultimate industry environmental losses could be \$56 billion. However, based on our own loss experience, including successful settlement activity by the company, the decline in new claims notified in recent years and improvements in environmental clean-up technology, Castlewood does not believe that the \$56 billion estimate would be a reasonable basis for its reserving for environmental losses.

Management s current estimate of the time lag that relates to its insurance and reinsurance subsidiaries compared to the industry is considered reasonable given the analysis performed by its internal and external actuaries to date.

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

Over time, additional information regarding such exposure characteristics may be developed for any given portfolio. This additional information could cause a shift in the lag assumed. As mentioned above, a change in lag assumption from 3 years to 2.35 years was made for a single asbestos portfolio between December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2005. The change reduced the overall Castlewood average time lag by 0.4 years. It is possible that further information could arise regarding other portfolios which would cause a shift in time-lag assumed, but it is unlikely to cause a shift larger than 6 months for Castlewood as a whole.

*Non-Latent Claims.* Non-latent claims are less significant to Castlewood, both in terms of reserves held and in terms of risk of significant reserve deficiency. For non-latent loss exposure, a range of traditional loss development extrapolation techniques is applied. Incremental paid and incurred loss development methodologies are the most commonly used methods. Traditional cumulative paid and incurred loss development methods are used where inception-to-date, cumulative paid and reported incurred loss development history is available.

These methods assume that cohorts, or groups, of losses from similar exposures will increase over time in a predictable manner. Historical paid and incurred loss development experience is examined for earlier accident years to make inferences about how later accident years losses will develop. Where company-specific loss information is not available or not reliable, industry loss development information published by industry sources such as the Reinsurance Association of America is considered. These methods calculate an estimate of ultimate losses and then deduct paid-to-date losses to arrive at an estimated total loss reserve. Outstanding losses are then deducted from estimated total loss reserves to calculate the estimated IBNR reserve. Management does not expect changes in underlying reserving assumptions to have a material impact on net loss and loss adjustment expense reserves as they are primarily sensitive to changes due to loss development.

*Quarterly Reserve Reviews.* In addition to an in-depth annual review, Castlewood also performs quarterly reserve reviews. This is done by examining quarterly paid and incurred loss development to determine whether it is consistent with reserves established during the preceding annual reserve review. Loss development is reviewed separately for each major exposure type (e.g. asbestos, environmental, etc.), for each relevant Castlewood subsidiary, and for large wholesale commutation settlements versus routine paid and advised losses. This process is undertaken to determine whether loss development experience during a quarter warrants any change to held reserves.

Loss development is examined separately by exposure type because different exposures develop differently over time. For example, the expected reporting and payout of losses for a given amount of asbestos reserves can be expected to take place over a different time frame and in a different quarterly pattern from the same amount of environmental reserves.

In addition, loss development is examined separately for each relevant Castlewood subsidiary. While the most significant exposures for most Castlewood subsidiaries are latent asbestos and environmental exposures, there are differing profiles to the exposure across Castlewood subsidiaries. Companies can differ in their exposure profile due to the mix of insurance versus reinsurance, the mix of primary versus excess insurance, the underwriting years of participation and other criteria. These differing profiles lead to different expectations for quarterly and annual loss development by company.

Castlewood s quarterly paid and incurred loss development is often driven by large, wholesale settlements such as commutations and policy buy-backs which settle many individual claims in a single transaction. This allows for monitoring of the potential profitability of large settlements which, in turn, can provide information about the adequacy of reserves on remaining exposures which have not yet been settled. For example, if it were found that large settlements were consistently leading to large negative, or favorable, incurred losses upon settlement, it might be an indication that reserves on remaining exposures are redundant. Conversely, if it were found that large settlements were consistently leading to large negative, or adverse, upon settlement, it might be an indication particularly if the size of the losses were increasing that certain loss reserves on remaining exposures are deficient. Moreover, removing the loss development resulting from large settlements allows for a review of loss development related only to those contracts which remain exposed to losses. Were this not done, it is possible that savings on large wholesale settlements could mask significant underlying development on remaining exposures.

Once the data has been analyzed as described above, an in-depth review is performed on classes of exposure with significant loss development. Discussions are held with appropriate personnel, including individual company managers, claims handlers and attorneys, to better understand the causes. If it is determined that development differs significantly from expectations, reserves would be adjusted.

Quarterly loss development is expected to be fairly erratic for the types of exposure insured and reinsured by Castlewood. Several quarters of low incurred loss development can be followed by spikes of relatively large incurred losses. This is characteristic of latent claims and other insurance losses which are reported and settled many years after

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

the inception of the policy. Given the high degree of statistical uncertainty, and potential volatility, it would be unusual to adjust reserves on the basis of one, or even several, quarters of loss development activity. As such, unless the incurred loss activity in any one quarter is of such significance that management is able to quantify the impact on the ultimate liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses,

reductions or increases in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities are carried out in the fourth quarter based on the annual reserve review described above.

As described above, Castlewood s management regularly reviews and updates reserve estimates using the most current information available and employing various actuarial methods. Adjustments resulting from changes in Castlewood s estimates are recorded in the period when such adjustments are determined. The ultimate liability for loss and loss adjustment expenses is likely to differ from the original estimate due to a number of factors, primarily consisting of the overall claims activity occurring during any period, including the completion of commutations of assumed liabilities and ceded reinsurance receivables, policy buy-backs and general incurred claims activity.

## Reinsurance Balances Receivable

Castlewood s acquired reinsurance subsidiaries, prior to acquisition by Castlewood, used retrocessional agreements to reduce their exposure to the risk of insurance and reinsurance they assumed. Loss reserves represent total gross losses, and reinsurance receivable represents anticipated recoveries of a portion of those unpaid losses as well as amounts receivable from reinsurers with respect to claims that have already been paid. While reinsurance arrangements are designed to limit losses and to permit recovery of a portion of direct unpaid losses, reinsurance does not relieve Castlewood of its liabilities to its insureds or reinsureds. Therefore, Castlewood evaluates and monitors concentration of credit risk among its reinsurers, including companies that are insolvent, in run-off or facing financial difficulties. Provisions are made for amounts considered potentially uncollectible.

## Goodwill

Castlewood follows FAS No. 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets which requires that recorded goodwill be assessed for impairment on at least an annual basis. In determining goodwill, Castlewood must determine the fair value of the assets of an acquired company. The determination of fair value necessarily involves many assumptions. Fair values of reinsurance assets and liabilities acquired are derived from probability-weighted ranges of the associated projected cash flows, based on actuarially prepared information and Castlewood s management run-off strategy. Fair value adjustments are based on the estimated timing of loss and loss adjustment expense payments and an assumed interest rate, and are amortized over the estimated payout period, as adjusted for accelerations on commutation settlements, using the constant yield method options. Interest rates used to determine the fair value of gross loss reserves are based upon risk free rates applicable to the average duration of the loss reserves. Interest rates used to determine the fair value of reinsurance receivables are increased to reflect the credit risk associated with the reinsurers from who the receivables are, or will become, due. If the assumptions made in initially valuing the assets change significantly in the future, Castlewood may be required to record impairment charges which could have a material impact on its financial condition and results of operations.

FAS 141 also requires that negative goodwill be recorded in earnings. During 2004 and the first three months of 2006, Castlewood took negative goodwill into earnings upon the completion of the acquisition of certain companies and presented it as an extraordinary gain.

# New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB, issued FAS No. 123(R) Share Based Payments, or FAS 123R. FAS 123R requires that compensation costs related to share based payment transactions be recognized in a company s financial statements. The amount of compensation costs will be measured based on the grant date fair value of the awards issued and will be recognized over the period that an employee provides services in exchange for the award or the requisite service or vesting period. Castlewood has adopted FAS 123R using the modified prospective method for the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2006. Castlewood s adoption of FAS 123R had

no material impact on Castlewood s consolidated financial statements. FAS 123R is effective for the first interim or annual reporting period beginning after January 1, 2006. On May 23, 2006, Castlewood entered into a merger agreement and a recapitalization

agreement. As a result of the execution of these agreements, the accounting treatment for share-based awards issued under Castlewood s employee share plan changed from book value to fair value.

In June 2005, the FASB directed its staff to issue the proposed FASB Staff Proposal, or FSP, Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF Issue 03-1, as final and retitled it as FSP FAS 115-1, The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certain Investments, which replaced existing guidance in EITF 03-1 of the same name. FSP FAS 115-1 clarifies that an impairment should be recognized as a loss no later than when the impairment is deemed other-than-temporary, even if the decision to sell the investment has not been made. FSP FAS 115-1 is effective for other-than-temporary impairment analysis conducted in periods beginning after December 15, 2005. Castlewood s previous policy regarding other-than-temporary impairments substantially complies with FSP FAS 115-1, and therefore the adoption of this standard had no material impact on Castlewood s net income or equity.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), *Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes*. FIN 48 prescribes detailed guidance for the financial statement recognition, measurement and disclosure of uncertain tax positions recognized in an enterprise s financial statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Tax positions must meet a more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the effective date to be recognized upon the adoption of FIN 48 and in subsequent periods. FIN 48 will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 and the provisions of FIN 48 will be applied to all tax positions upon initial adoption of the Interpretation. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of this Interpretation will be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings for that fiscal year. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of FIN 48 on its financial statements when adopted.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS 157, *Fair Value Measurement*. This Statement provides guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. Under this standard, the definition of fair value focuses on the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability (an exit price), not the price that would be paid to acquire the asset or received to assume the liability (an entry price). FAS 157 clarifies that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific measurement, and sets out a fair value hierarchy with the highest priority being quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable data. Further, FAS 157 requires tabular disclosures of the fair value measurements by level within the fair value hierarchy. FAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted as of the beginning of a fiscal year. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of FAS 157 on its financial statements when adopted.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108, Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (SAB 108), which provides guidance on the consideration of the effects of prior year misstatements in quantifying current year misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. Two approaches are commonly used to evaluate the materiality of misstatements or errors in financial statements: the rollover, also known as the current-period or income-statement approach, and the iron curtain, also known as the cumulative or balance-sheet approach. The rollover approach quantifies a misstatement based on the amount of the error originating in the current-period income statement. This approach could allow balance sheet items to grow each year by immaterial amounts, until the cumulative error becomes material. The iron curtain approach quantifies a misstatement based on the effects of correcting the misstatement existing in the balance sheet at the end of the current period. This approach does not consider the income statement effects of correcting prior year misstatements in the current year to be errors. The reliance on only one of these approaches, to the exclusion of the other, does not appropriately quantify all misstatements that could be material to financial-statement users. Accordingly, SAB 108 will require quantification of financial statement errors based on the effects of the error on each of a company s financial statements and the related financial statement disclosures. This model is commonly referred to as a dual approach because it essentially requires quantification of errors under both the iron-curtain and the roll-over approaches. From a transition perspective, SAB 108 permits

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

companies to record the cumulative effect of initially applying the dual approach in the first year ending after November 15, 2006 by recording any necessary correcting adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities as of the beginning of that year with the offsetting adjustment recorded to the opening balance of

retained earnings. SAB 108 is effective for annual financial statements covering the first fiscal year ending after November 15, 2006. The Company does not expect the adoption of SAB 108 to have a material affect on its results of operations, financial position or liquidity.

## **Results of Operations**

The following table sets forth Castlewood s selected consolidated statement of operations data for each of the periods indicated.

		hree Months Ended September 30, 2006 2005 2006 2005 (in thousands of U.S		2005	ıber 31, 2003		
INCOME Consulting Fee Income Net Investment Income Net Realized Gains/(Losses)	\$ 9,350 12,697 15	\$ 5,180 7,410 456	\$ 20,950 33,502 (64)	\$ 13,525 20,589 560	\$ 22,006 28,236 1,268	\$ 23,703 11,102 (600)	\$ 24,746 8,032 (960)
TOTAL INCOME	22,062	13,046	54,388	34,674	51,510	34,205	31,818
EXPENSES Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Liabilities Salaries and Benefits General and Administrative Expenses	(3,920) 7,996 4,154	(1,043) 6,133 3,239	(10,700) 22,436 12,287	(6,466) 18,529 9,379	(96,007) 40,821 10,962	(13,706) 26,290 10,677	(24,044) 15,661 6,993
Interest Expense Net Foreign Exchange	362	0	894	0	0	0	0
(Gain)/Loss	(947)	223	(8,914)	2,418	4,602	(3,731)	(2,362)
TOTAL EXPENSES	7,645	8,552	16,003	23,860	(39,622)	19,530	(3,752)
Net Earnings before Minority Interest Share of Net Earnings of Partly-Owned	14,417	4,494	38,385	10,814	91,132	14,675	35,570
Companies	232	63	495	142	192	6,881	1,623
Income Tax Expense Minority Interest	(1,034) (2,619)	(285) (439)	(239) (7,805)	(1,612) (1,430)	(914) (9,700)	(1,924) (3,097)	(1,490) (5,111)
Net Earnings before Extraordinary Gain Extraordinary Gain -	10,996	3,833	30,836	7,914	80,710	16,535	30,592
	0	0	4,347	0	0	21,759	0

Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A							
Negative Goodwill (net of minority interest)							
NET EARNINGS	\$ 10,996	\$ 3,833	\$ 35,183	\$ 7,914	\$ 80,710	\$ 38,294	\$ 30,592
			135				

## Comparison of Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 and 2005

Castlewood reported consolidated net earnings of approximately \$11.0 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 compared to approximately \$3.8 million for the same period in 2005. The increase was primarily a result of higher investment income, higher consulting fees and increased foreign exchange gains, partially offset by increased minority interest expense, income tax expense and loan interest expense.

Consulting Fees:

	T	Three Months Ended September 30,					
		2006		2005	Va	ariance	
		(in thousands of U.S. dollars)					
Consulting Reinsurance	\$	14,265 (4,915)	\$	8,956 (3,776)	\$	5,309 (1,139)	
Kemsurance		(4,913)		(3,770)		(1,139)	
Total	\$	9,350	\$	5,180	\$	4,170	

Castlewood earned consulting fees of approximately \$9.4 million and \$5.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Included in these amounts were approximately \$0.3 million in consulting fees charged to wholly-owned subsidiaries of B.H. Acquisition, a partly-owned company, in both 2006 and 2005. The increase in consulting fees is primarily due to the increase in incentive-based fees earned by its U.S. subsidiary in the period.

Internal management fees of \$4.9 million and \$3.8 million were paid in the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, by Castlewood s reinsurance companies to its consulting companies. The increase in fees paid by the reinsurance segment was due primarily to the fees paid by Brampton in the quarter. Brampton was acquired by Castlewood on March 30, 2006.

Net Investment Income and Net Realized Gains/(Losses):

	Three Months Ended September 30,								
	Net	Investn	nent			Net	Realized		
		Income				Gain			
	2006		2005	Va	ariance	2006	2005	Va	riance
	(in thousands of U.S. dollars)								
Consulting	\$ 3	09 \$	143	\$	166	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$	0
Reinsurance	12,3	88	7,267		5,121	15	456		(441)
Total	\$ 12,6	97 \$	7,410	\$	5,287	\$ 15	\$ 456	\$	(441)

Net investment income for the three-month period ended September 30, 2006 increased by \$5.3 million to \$12.7 million, as compared to \$7.4 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2005. The increase was

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

attributable to the increase in prevailing interest rates quarter on quarter along with an increase in average cash and investment balances from \$918.9 million to \$1,095.5 million for the quarters ended September 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The increase in cash and investment balances was due primarily to the acquisition of Brampton which was completed on March 30, 2006.

The average return on the cash and fixed maturities investments for the three-month period ended September 30, 2006 was 4.64%, as compared to the average return of 3.42% for the three-month period ended September 30, 2005. The increase in yield was primarily the result of increasing interest rates in the last three months of 2005 and the first six months of 2006. The average Standard & Poor s credit rating of Castlewood s fixed income investments at September 30, 2006 was AAA.

Net realized gains/(losses) for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were \$15,000 and \$456,000, respectively. Based on Castlewood s current investment strategy, Castlewood does not expect net realized gains and losses to be significant in the foreseeable future.

### Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Liabilities:

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were \$3.9 million and \$1.0 million, respectively. The net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for both three-month periods was primarily attributable to the reduction in estimates of loss adjustment expense liabilities to reflect 2006 and 2005 run-off activity partially offset by reductions in estimates of reinsurance balances receivable. The following table shows the components of the movement in net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

	Three Months Ended September 30,			
	• ·			2005 s of
	U.S. dollars)			
Net Losses Paid Net Change in Case and LAE Reserves	\$	(16,315) 12,042	\$	(19,912) 1,497
Net Change in IBNR		8,193		19,458
Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Liabilities	\$	3,920	\$	1,043

The table below provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. Losses incurred and paid are reflected net of reinsurance recoverables.

	Three Months Ended September 30,		
	2006 2005 (in thousands of U.S. dollars)		
Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, July 1	\$ 772,010	\$ 695,292	
Incurred Related to Prior Years Paids Related to Prior Years	(3,920)	(1,043)	
Effect of Exchange Rate Movement	(16,315) 3,596	(19,912) (9,569)	
Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, September 30	\$ 755,371	\$ 664,768	

Salaries and Benefits:

Three Months Ended September 30, 2006 2005 Variance (in thousands of U.S. dollars)

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

Consulting	\$ 6,812	\$ 5,634	\$ (1,178)
Reinsurance	1,184	499	(685)
Total	\$ 7,996	\$ 6,133	\$ (1,863)

Salaries and benefits, which include expenses relating to Castlewood s discretionary bonus and employee share plans, were \$8.0 million and \$6.1 million for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Salary costs have increased quarter on quarter due primarily to growth in staff numbers from an average of 157 for the three months ended September 30, 2005 to 186 for the three months ended September 30, 2006.

Castlewood expects that staff costs will continue to increase in 2006 and into 2007 as it continues to grow and add staff. Bonus accrual expenses will be variable and dependent on the overall profit of Castlewood.

### General and Administrative Expenses:

	Three Months Ended September 30,							
	2006 2005 (in thousands of U.S.							
Consulting Reinsurance	2,596 \$ 1,558	2,260 979	\$	(336) (579)				
Total	\$ 4,154 \$	3,239	\$	(915)				

General and administrative expenses attributable to the consulting segment increased by \$0.3 million during the three months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2005. This increase was due primarily to increases in rent and rent related costs due to an increase in office space along with an increase in professional fees and travel relating to due diligence work on potential acquisition opportunities. Castlewood expects that general and administrative expenses attributable to the consulting segment will increase in 2006 and into 2007 due to growth in its U.S. operations, continued growth in staff resources and additional costs associated with its reporting obligations as a public company if the merger is completed.

General and administrative expenses attributable to the reinsurance segment increased by \$0.6 million during the three months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2005. The increased costs for the current quarter relate primarily to general and administrative expenses incurred in relation to the legal costs associated with arranging a loan facility with a London-based Bank. Castlewood does not expect a significant level of costs in the reinsurance segment as the majority of costs incurred are covered by the management agreements in place with the consulting segment, including those related to new acquisitions.

### Foreign Exchange Gain/(Loss):

		Three Months Ended September 30,							
		2006 2005		Variance					
	(in	n thousan	ds of U.S	.S. dollars)					
Consulting	\$	61 \$	80	\$	(19)				
Reinsurance	8	86	(303)		1,189				
Total	\$ 94	47 \$	(223)	\$	1,170				

Castlewood recorded a foreign exchange gain of \$0.9 million for the three-month period ended September 30, 2006, as compared to a foreign exchange loss of \$(0.2) million for the same period in 2005. The gain for the three-month period ended September 30, 2006 arose as a result of having surplus British Pounds at a time when the British Pound strengthened against the U.S. Dollar. For the three months ended September 30, 2005, the foreign exchange loss arose primarily as a result of the holding of surplus net Euros in one of the reinsurance subsidiaries along with the weakening of the Euro against the U.S. Dollar.

# Table of Contents

Share of Income of Partly-Owned Companies:

	Three Months Ended September 30,								
		2006 2005 (in thousands of U.S.							
Consulting Reinsurance	\$	0 232	\$	0 63	\$	0 169			
Total	\$	232	\$	63	\$	169			

Castlewood s share of equity in earnings of partly-owned companies for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, was \$0.2 million and \$0.1 million, respectively. These amounts represent Castlewood s proportionate share of equity in the earnings of B.H. Acquisition.

On consummation of the merger, B.H. Acquisition will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood and, as a result, Castlewood will consolidate the results of B.H. Acquisition rather than report its proportionate share of B.H. Acquisition s income.

## Income Tax Expense:

	nree Mon 2006 (in thou	2	005	Va	riance
Consulting Reinsurance	\$ 935 99		279 6	\$	(656) (93)
Total	\$ 1,034	\$	285	\$	(749)

The consulting segment incurred \$0.9 million of income tax expense in the three-months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to a \$0.3 million tax expense for the same period in 2005.

The variance between the two periods arose primarily as a result of Castlewood booking an increased tax expense relating to income earned in the quarter from its U.S. subsidiaries.

Minority Interest:

	Three Months Ended September 3 2006 2005 Varianc (in thousands of U.S. dollars)					
Consulting Reinsurance	\$	(2,619)	\$	(439)	\$	(2,180)
Total	\$	(2,619)	\$	(439)	\$	(2,180)

Castlewood recorded a minority interest in earnings of \$2.6 million and \$0.4 million for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, reflecting the 49.9% minority economic interest held by a third party in the earnings from Hillcot and Brampton. The large increase in 2006 over 2005 is attributable to the net earnings of Brampton which was acquired on March 30, 2006.

Interest Expense:

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

	Th	Three Months Ended September 30,					
	2006 (in tho	2006 2005 (in thousands of U					
Consulting Reinsurance	\$ 362	\$	\$	(362)			
Total	\$ 362	\$	\$	(362)			

Interest expense of \$0.4 million was recorded for the quarter ended September 30, 2006. This amount relates to the interest on the funds that were borrowed from a London-based bank to partially assist with the financing of the Brampton acquisition.

## Comparison of Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 and 2005

Castlewood reported consolidated net earnings of approximately \$35.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared to approximately \$7.9 million for the same period in 2005. The increase was primarily a result of higher investment income, higher consulting fees, increased foreign exchange gains and the recording of \$4.4 million in negative goodwill, partially offset by higher salaries and benefits costs, minority interest expense and loan interest expense.

## Consulting Fees:

		Nine Months Ended September 30,								
	2006			2005	Va	ariance				
	(in thousands of U.S. dollars)									
Consulting Reinsurance	\$	34,687 (13,737)	\$	25,364 (11,839)	\$	9,323 (1,898)				
Total	\$	20,950	\$	13,525	\$	7,425				

Castlewood earned consulting fees of approximately \$21.0 million and \$13.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Included in these amounts were approximately \$0.9 million in consulting fees charged to wholly-owned subsidiaries of B.H. Acquisition, a partly-owned company, in both 2006 and 2005. The increase in consulting fees is primarily due to the increased fees generated by the consulting companies from both new internal and external clients along with increases in incentive-based fees for the period. In particular, Castlewood (US) Inc., which commenced operations on April 1, 2005, had fee and incentive income for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 that was \$7.0 million higher than for the same period in 2005.

Internal management fees of \$13.7 million and \$11.8 million were paid in the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, by Castlewood s reinsurance companies to its consulting companies. The increase in fees paid by the reinsurance segment for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was due primarily to the management fees paid by Brampton in the period offset by a reduction in fees paid by Hillcot Re. Brampton was acquired by Castlewood on March 30, 2006.

Net Investment Income and Net Realized Gains/(Losses):

				N	line M	lontł	ns Ended	-				
		Net Inv	estn ome		t				Net Ro Gains/(			
		2006		200	)5	V	ariance		006	005	Va	riance
	(in thousands of U.S. dollars)											
Consulting	\$	886	\$		386	\$	500	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0
Reinsurance		32,616		20	,203		12,413		(64)	560		(624)
Total	\$	33,502	\$	20	,589	\$	12,913	\$	(64)	\$ 560	\$	(624)

Net investment income for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2006 increased by \$12.9 million to \$33.5 million, as compared to \$20.6 million for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2005. The increase was attributable to the combination of an increase in prevailing interest rates between September 30, 2005 and September 30, 2006 as well as an increase in average cash and investment balances from \$925.8 million to \$1,018.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 and 2006, respectively. The increase in cash and investment balances was due primarily to the acquisition of Brampton which was completed on March 30, 2006.

The average return on the cash and fixed maturities investments for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2006 was 4.38%, as compared to the average return of 3.05% for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2005. The increase in yield was primarily the result of increasing interest rates in the last three

months of 2005 and the first six months of 2006. The average Standard & Poor s credit rating of Castlewood s fixed income investments at September 30, 2006 was AAA.

Net realized gains/(losses) for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were \$(0.1) and \$0.6 million, respectively. Based on Castlewood s current investment strategy, Castlewood does not expect net realized gains and losses to be significant in the foreseeable future.

Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Liabilities:

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 were \$10.7 million and \$6.5 million, respectively. The net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for both nine month periods was primarily attributable to the reduction in estimates of loss adjustment expense liabilities to reflect 2006 and 2005 run-off activity partially offset by reductions in estimates of reinsurance balances receivable. The following table shows the components of the movement in net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005.

	Nine Months Ended September 30,						
		2006		2005			
	(in thousands of U.S. dollar						
Net Losses Paid	\$	(43,771)	\$	(59,963)			
Net Change in Case and LAE Reserves		28,163		36,775			
Net Change in IBNR		26,308		29,654			
Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Liabilities	\$	10,700	\$	6,466			

The table below provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005. Losses incurred and paid are reflected net of reinsurance recoverables.

	Nine Months Ended September 30,					
		2005				
	(	in thousands o	of U.S. (	dollars)		
Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, January 1	\$	593,160	\$	736,660		
Incurred Related to Prior Years		(10,700)		(6,466)		
Paids Related to Prior Years		(43,771)		(59,963)		
Effect of Exchange Rate Movement		8,434		(23,325)		
Acquired on Acquisition of Subsidiaries		208,248		17,862		
Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, September 30	\$	755,371	\$	664,768		

Salaries and Benefits:

### Table of Contents

		Nine Months Ended September 30, (in thousands of U.S. dollars)							
	2006	2005	Variance						
Consulting Reinsurance	\$ 17,633 4,803	\$ 17,178 1,351	\$ (455) (3,452)						
Total	\$ 22,436	\$ 18,529	\$ (3,907)						

Salaries and benefits, which include expenses relating to Castlewood s discretionary bonus and employee share plans, were \$22.4 million and \$18.5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively. On May 23, 2006, Castlewood entered into a merger agreement and a recapitalization agreement,

which agreements provide for the cancellation of the current incentive compensation plan and replaces it with a new incentive compensation plan. As a result of the execution of these agreements, the accounting treatment for share-based awards under Castlewood s employee share plan changed from book value to fair value. As a result of this modification, Castlewood recognized additional stock-based compensation of \$15.6 million in the three months ended June 30, 2006. As a result of the cancellation of the current annual incentive compensation plan, \$21.2 million of prior years unpaid bonus accrual was reversed during the three months ended June 30, 2006. The expense associated with the new annual incentive compensation plan was \$6.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 as compared to an expense of \$1.4 million relating to the prior plan for the nine months ended September 30, 2005.

Castlewood expects that staff costs will continue to increase in 2006 and into 2007 as it continues to grow and add staff. Bonus accrual expenses will be variable and dependent on the overall profit of Castlewood as they will, in accordance with the annual incentive plan, be equal to 15% of after tax earnings of Castlewood.

## General and Administrative Expenses:

	ine Mont 2006 (in thou	2005	Va	ariance
Consulting Reinsurance	\$ 8,600 3,687	\$ 7,138 2,241	\$	(1,462) (1,446)
Total	\$ 12,287	\$ 9,379	\$	(2,908)

General and administrative expenses attributable to the consulting segment increased by \$1.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2005. This increase was due primarily to increases in rent and rent related costs due to an increase in office space, increased computer related costs and an increase in professional fees and travel relating to due diligence work on potential acquisition opportunities. Castlewood expects that general and administrative expenses attributable to the consulting segment will increase in 2006 and into 2007 due to growth in its U.S. operations, continued growth in staff resources and additional costs associated with its reporting obligations as a public company if the merger is completed.

General and administrative expenses attributable to the reinsurance segment increased by \$1.5 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2005. The increased costs for the current year relate primarily to general and administrative expenses in relation to the integration of Brampton into Castlewood as well as legal costs associated with arranging the loan facility with a London-based bank. On an ongoing basis, Castlewood does not expect a significant level of costs in the reinsurance segment as the majority of costs incurred are covered by the management agreements in place with the consulting segment, including those related to new acquisitions.

Foreign Exchange Gain/(Loss):

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006 2005 Variance (in thousands of U.S. dollars)

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

Consulting Reinsurance	\$ (1,188) 10,102	\$ 43 (2,461)	\$ (1,231) 12,563
Total	\$ 8,914	\$ (2,418)	\$ 11,332

Castlewood recorded a foreign exchange gain of \$8.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to a foreign exchange loss of \$2.4 million for the same period in 2005. The gain for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2006 arose primarily as a result of having surplus British Pounds as a result of Castlewood s acquisition of Brampton at a time when the British Pound strengthened against the U.S. Dollar. On May 8, 2006 Brampton converted its surplus British Pounds to U.S. Dollars. For the nine

months ended September 30, 2005, the foreign exchange loss arose primarily as a result of the holding of surplus net Euros in one of the reinsurance subsidiaries along with the weakening of the Euro against the U.S. Dollar.

Share of Income of Partly-Owned Companies:

	Ν	Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	2006	2005	Variance			
	(in the	Dusands of U	J.S. dollars)			
Consulting	\$ 0	\$0	\$ 0			
Reinsurance	495	142	353			
Total	\$ 495	\$ 142	\$ 353			

Castlewood s share of equity in earnings of partly-owned companies for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, were \$0.5 million and \$0.1 million, respectively. These amounts represent Castlewood s proportionate share of equity in the earnings of B.H. Acquisition as well as, for the nine months ended September 30, 2005, Castlewood s proportionate share of equity in the earnings of Cassandra, a twenty-seven percent owned equity investment that was disposed of in March 2005.

On consummation of the merger, B.H. Acquisition will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Castlewood and, as a result, Castlewood will consolidate the results of B.H. Acquisition rather than report its proportionate share of B.H. Acquisition s income.

Income Tax Expense:

		Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	2006	2005	Va	ariance		
	(in thousands of U.S. do					
Consulting Reinsurance	\$ 184 55		\$	950 423		
Total	\$ 239	\$ 1,612	\$	1,373		

The consulting segment incurred a tax expense of \$0.2 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to a \$1.1 million tax expense for the same period in 2005. The variance between the two periods arose as a result of Castlewood booking an increased tax expense relating to income earned in the 2006 period from its U.S. subsidiaries.

The reinsurance segment incurred \$0.1 of tax expense in the nine months ended September 30, 2006, as compared to a \$0.5 million tax expense for the same period in 2005. The tax expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2005 was an adjustment of prior year taxes.

Minority Interest:

	Nine Mont	Nine Months Ended September 30,					
	2006	2005	Variance				
	(in thousands of U.S. dollars)						
Consulting	\$	\$	\$				
Reinsurance	(7,805)	(1,430)	(6,375)				
Total	\$ (7,805)	\$ (1,430)	\$ (6,375)				

Castlewood recorded a minority interest in earnings of \$7.8 million and \$1.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005, respectively, reflecting the 49.9% minority economic interest held by a third party in the earnings from Hillcot and Brampton. The large increase in 2006 over 2005 is attributable to the net earnings of Brampton which was acquired on March 30, 2006.

Interest Expense:

		Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	2006	2005	Variance			
	(in thou	sands of U	J.S. dollars)			
Consulting	\$	\$	\$			
Reinsurance	894		(894)			
Total	\$ 894	\$	\$ (894)			

Interest expense of \$0.9 million was recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2006. This amount relates to the interest on the funds that were borrowed from an international bank to partially assist with the financing of the Brampton acquisition as well as interest on the promissory note that formed part of the acquisition cost for Brampton. Prior to September 30, 2006 the promissory note was repaid in full and the bank loan was reduced.

Negative Goodwill:

		Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	2006	2005	Variance			
	(in tho	Isands of U	J.S. dollars)			
Consulting	\$	\$	\$			
Reinsurance	4,347		4,347			
Total	\$ 4,347	\$	\$ 4,347			

Negative goodwill of \$4.3 million, net of minority interest of \$4.3 million, was recorded for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 in connection with Castlewood s acquisition of Brampton. This amount represents the excess of the fair value of net assets acquired of \$117.9 million over the cost of \$109.2 million. This excess has, in accordance with SFAS 141 Business Combinations, been recognized as an extraordinary gain in 2006. The negative goodwill arose primarily as a result of the income earned by Brampton between the date of the balance sheet on which the agreed purchase price was based, December 31, 2004, and the date the acquisition closed, March 30, 2006.

### Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

Castlewood reported consolidated net earnings of approximately \$80.7 million in 2005 compared to approximately \$38.3 million in 2004. The increase was primarily a result of higher income arising from the net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities and higher investment income, partially offset by higher salaries and benefits expenses and foreign exchange losses. Net income for 2004 also included an extraordinary gain of \$21.8 million for negative goodwill.

Consulting Fees:

	Year Ended December 31,					
	2005		2004	Va	ariance	
	(in thousands of U.S. dollars)					
Consulting	\$ 38,046	\$	32,992	\$	5,054	
Reinsurance	(16,040)		(9,289)		(6,751)	
Total	\$ 22,006	\$	23,703	\$	(1,697)	

Castlewood earned consulting fees of approximately \$22.0 million and \$23.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Included in these amounts were approximately \$1.3 million in consulting fees charged to B.H. Acquisition, a partly-owned company, in both 2005 and 2004. The reduction

in consulting fees during 2005 of \$1.7 million was primarily due to a reduction in incentive-based fee engagements partially offset by an increase in fees from new fixed fee recurring engagements.

Internal management fees of \$16.0 million and \$9.3 million were paid in 2005 and 2004, respectively, by Castlewood s reinsurance companies to its consulting companies. The increase in fees paid in 2005 by the reinsurance segment to the consulting segment was due primarily to the acquisition of new reinsurance entities by Castlewood in 2005 and late 2004.

Net Investment Income and Net Realized Gains/(Losses):

	Year Ended December 31,							
	Net Inv	estment		Net Re	alized			
	Inco	ome		Gains/(l	Losses)			
	2005	2004	Variance	2005	2004	Variance		
		(in thousands of U.S. dollars)						
Consulting	\$ 576	\$ 460	\$ 116	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 0		
Reinsurance	27,660	10,642	17,018	1,268	(600)	1,868		
Total	\$ 28,236	\$ 11,102	\$ 17,134	\$ 1,268	\$ (600)	\$ 1,868		

Net investment income for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased \$17.1 million to \$28.2 million, as compared to \$11.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was primarily attributable to having a larger average cash and investment balance in 2005 (\$913.5 million) versus 2004 (\$497.1 million) along with an increase in prevailing interest rates period on period.

The average return on the cash and fixed maturities investments for the year ended December 31, 2005 was 3.2%, as compared to the average return of 2.1% for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase in yield was primarily the result of increasing interest rates in 2005. The weighted average Standard & Poor s credit rating of Castlewood s fixed income investments at December 31, 2005 was AAA.

Net realized gains for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased \$1.9 million to \$1.3 million, as compared to a net realized loss of \$0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Based on Castlewood s current investment strategy, Castlewood does not expect net realized gains and losses to be significant in the foreseeable future.

# Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Liabilities:

Net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 were \$96.0 million and \$13.7 million, respectively. The net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for 2005 was primarily attributable to a reduction in estimates of ultimate losses of \$65.3 million that arose from the completion of approximately 68 commutations of assumed and ceded exposures, the settlement of losses in the year below carried reserves, lower than expected incurred adverse loss development and the resulting reductions in actuarial estimates of IBNR losses. In 2004, the estimate of net ultimate losses increased by \$1.0 million primarily as a result of adverse development of incurred asbestos and environmental losses partially offset by the completion of approximately 36 commutations of assumed and ceded exposures and settlement of losses below carried reserves. As a result of the collection of certain reinsurance receivables, against which bad debt provisions had been provided in earlier periods, Castlewood reduced its aggregate provisions for bad debt by \$20.2 million in 2005. There was no

# Edgar Filing: Castlewood Holdings LTD - Form S-4/A

change to the provisions for bad debts in 2004. During 2005, Castlewood reduced its estimate of loss adjustment expense liabilities to reflect 2005 run-off activity by \$10.5 million compared to a reduction of \$14.7 million in 2004. The lower reduction in 2005 was due to an increase in the ultimate length of time, and therefore cost, by which management expects to conclude the run-off of certain liabilities.

The following table shows the components of the movement in net reduction in loss and loss adjustment expense liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.

	Year Ended December 31,			
	2005 2004 (in thousands of			
	U.S. dollars)			
Net Losses Paid	\$ (69,007)	\$ (19,019)		
Net Change in Case and LAE Reserves Net Change in IBNR	95,156 69,858	33,745 (1,020)		
Net Reduction in Loss and Loss Adjustment Expense Liabilities	\$ 96,007	\$ 13,706		

Net change in case and LAE reserves comprises the movement during the year in specific case reserve liabilities as a result of claims settlements or changes advised to Castlewood by its policyholders and attorneys, less changes in case reserves recoverable advised by Castlewood to its reinsurers as a result of the settlement or movement of assumed claims. Net change in IBNR represents the change in Castlewood s actuarial estimates of losses incurred but not reported.

The table below provides a reconciliation of the beginning and ending reserves for losses and loss adjustment expenses for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004. Losses incurred and paid are reflected net of reinsurance receivables.

		Year Ended December 31, 2005 2004 (in thousands of U.S. dollars)				
Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, January 1 Incurred Related to Prior Years Paids Related to Prior Years Effect of Exchange Rate Movement Acquired on Acquisition of Subsidiaries	\$	736,660 (96,007) (69,007) 3,652 17,862	\$	230,155 (13,706) (19,019) 4,124 535,106		
Net Reserves for Losses and Loss Adjustment Expenses, December 31	\$	593,160	\$	736,660		